

ELINA NIINIVAARA

Carving out Possibilities Refugee Background Young Men and Mundane Political Agency

ELINA NIINIVAARA

Carving out Possibilities
Refugee Background Young Men and
Mundane Political Agency

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Social Sciences of Tampere University, for public discussion in the auditorium K 103 of the Linna building, Kalevantie 5, Tampere, on 18 March 2022, at 12 o'clock.

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

Tampere University, Faculty of Social Sciences

Finland

Responsible Professor Laura Huttunen supervisor Tampere University

and Custos Finland

Supervisor Professor Tarja Väyrynen

Tampere University

Finland

Pre-examiners Professor Garbi Schmidt

Roskilde University

Denmark

Associate Professor Marko Juntunen

University of Helsinki

Finland

Opponent Associate Professor

Synnøve Bendixsen University of Bergen

Norway

The originality of this thesis has been checked using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

Copyright ©2022 author

Cover design: Roihu Inc.

ISBN 978-952-03-2283-0 (print) ISBN 978-952-03-2284-7 (pdf) ISSN 2489-9860 (print) ISSN 2490-0028 (pdf) http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-03-2284-7

PunaMusta Oy – Yliopistopaino Joensuu 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Gratitude is a belittling expression to describe my indebtedness to those refugee background young men who have been my research companions in this journey. Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax, you have not only welcomed me in your lives, told me your stories and considered me worthy of your confidence, but also dedicated hours of your lives—busy as they are—to discussing my analytical observations and reading and commenting on parts of this dissertation. Your input has been indispensable and I respect it greatly. I am also indebted to other refugee background youths who have been involved with this research project—such as Denis and Adel—or who have let me into their lives during my years in social youth work and entrusted me with their worries, hopes, and struggles. Without you, this dissertation would have never come into being. Heartfelt thanks to all of you.

I am also deeply grateful to those professionals who have granted me access to central arenas of the youths' everyday lives. I cannot mention names because of the anonymization of my research participants, but you probably recognize yourselves: you are professionals of youth work, social work and education, working in youth services, educational institutions, family group homes and NGO projects. I sincerely thank you for opening doors for me and making this research possible.

I remain equally thankful for the academic support I have received during this research process. In the Faculty of Social Sciences at the Tampere University I have had the privilege of working among researchers from several fields: anthropologists, peace and conflict scholars, and human geographers. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Professor Laura Huttunen and Professor Tarja Väyrynen. You have both consistently supported me by reading, re-reading and giving constructive feedback on my drafts, by inspiring courage in me at moments of uncertainty, and by believing that my work is worthwhile and that I am able to carry it out despite my illnesses. There was a moment I was seriously considering giving up due to my disabilities, but you both encouraged me to continue—and here I am, writing my acknowledgments to you!

Associate Professor Marko Juntunen at Helsinki University and Professor Garbi Schmidt at Roskilde University: I am immensely grateful to you for being my preexaminers. Thank you for taking the time to meticulously read and comment on my manuscript. I didn't foresee how important this process would be: that two esteemed scholars familiarize themselves with my work and give both encouraging and constructive comments to help me improve it. It has given me a great deal of confidence in this final phase of the process. Likewise, that Associate Professor Synnøve Bendixsen from the University of Bergen agreed to act as my opponent in the public examination makes me feel both encouraged and honoured. I already look forward to our debate (as do some of the butterflies in my stomach)!

A special thanks goes to Eeva Puumala, whose invitation to a research group she was working in was the original impetus for my seriously considering striving for a PhD degree. That research group was led by Tarja Väyrynen, who became my supervisor, and also included Anitta Kynsilehto, Tiina Vaittinen and Samu Pehkonen. Thank you all for welcoming me, and for including me in the Academy of Finland application *Mundane Practices of Peace*. This project provided funding for my work for a luxurious period of four years and has been a fundamental source of security for me. Due to my sick leave and other obstacles I was never able to work very closely with you in practical terms, Anitta, Tiina, Samu and Eeva, but your work has been of notable intellectual inspiration to me, as you will notice when reading this work. Also, the simple fact of you being there has been of great importance. I have never felt alone, and I have always known who to ask when in doubt. Sincere thanks to you all for that.

Another special person at Tampere University to whom I am deeply grateful is Anna-Kaisa Kuusisto. Thank you, AK, for hiring me as your research assistant in your research project. I learned a great deal during the period we did fieldwork together—not least about research ethics and love. I greatly appreciate your research and your way of interacting with research participants and (younger) scholars. You are one of the people who have made me feel at home in the academic world.

Of fundamental importance in this respect has been the community of anthropologists—doctoral, post-doctoral and senior researchers—at Tampere University. Thank you all for the collegial spirit, for reading my always overly long papers and for giving invaluable feedback on them in our seminars. A special thanks to Anna Rastas for acting as my supervisor for a short period and for showing genuine interest towards my project throughout. Your advice, especially on questions concerning race, racism and racialization, has been extremely useful, and my work would be much poorer without it. Another special thanks goes to Maarit Forde for encouraging me at a moment when I dearly needed it. In the spring of 2019, I truly

thought it would take me another six years to take this project to its end, but you managed to assure me that this was not the case. And you were right!

I would also like to express my gratitude to James Day for editing the copy of this dissertation. I respect the thoroughness of your work and am thankful for the marked improvement of my text—and for your effort to stick to the deadline despite catching COVID-19! All errors left are results of changes I have made after James completed his work (sorry for messing it up again!).

In addition to the Academy of Finland project *Mundane Practices of Peace*, my work has been funded by the Faculty of Social Sciences at Tampere University. Furthermore, it has been supported by the Mustarinda Society, in whose wonderful residence in the beautiful old-growth forest of Kainuu I had the opportunity to work for one month in 2017.

However, it is not only the academic community and other institutions that have been vital for both developing my argumentation and for finding the stamina to continue working. There are many people to whom I am grateful for inspiring discussions that have both concerned this project and exceeded it. To name but a few: Timo Takatalo, Salome Tuomaala-Özdemir, Teemu Takatalo, Kati Nieminen, Selina Tuomaala, Heidi Kokko, Laura Koskinen, Santeri Hurnanen, Tommi Taipale and Irina Niinivaara. A very special thanks to Petri Alanko for sharing extraordinary working and living spaces with me and, along with them, invaluable moments over a cup of tea. I guess you really don't have a clue how much our informal discussions regarding some small or big issues I have been struggling with have helped.

Another group of people whose support has been of fundamental importance for me and finalizing this work are the specialists of different medical fields: gynaecologist Päivi Härkki, neurologist Marja-Liisa Sumelahti, urologist and neuromodulation wizard Martti Aho, general practitioner Päivi Erkkilä, psychiatrist Johanna Kruus, psychologist Inka Vaalamo, psychotherapist Tarja Vapalahti, and physiotherapist Outi Paldanius. I would never, ever have been able to carry out this work without your dedicated treatment as well as that of other professionals of physical and mental health. I also wish to thank all the nurses that have treated me, especially (but not only) those who work in gynaecological ward 4B of Tampere University Hospital, for gently pushing me back on my feet time and again. Your work is invaluable.

Finally, I thank my extended family from the bottom of my heart for everything. Thank you, my partners and comrades, sisters, brothers and others, my mother and my father, and the children of my heart Vilho, Vilja, Hilla and Vilma, for making me feel both loved and loving.



ABSTRACT

The driving question of my research is how young refugee background men try to affect their lives and possibilities. What issues emerge as problematic and important in their everyday lives, currently based in Finland yet transnationally interlinked, and how do they act upon them? By taking these questions as the premise of my research, I open a novel vantage point on the political agency of such young people. I do not define what is political—and how one is expected to carry out political acts—in advance, which enables me to inquire into what emerges as political in their lives and to recognize ways, reasons and aims of acting that have previously been blind spots. There are prominent academic and public discourses—in Finland, but also elsewhere—that describe these young men as having worryingly low levels of participation in society and little interest in politics, and as acting instead in disturbing or worrying ways. Their presence appears frequently as disorderly; a risk to others or to themselves. In these discourses, the young men tend to be approached as Others of Finnish society, which leaves their own experiences of society and their agency out of sight.

My approach to the young men's agency draws theoretically from anthropological conceptualizations of the political as pervasive in the practices and relations of social life, as well as from anthropological and feminist new materialist conceptualizations of agency. I understand agency both as a capacity of human beings with complex subjectivities—of fully culturally and socially constructed, but also resourced, beings—and as a capacity of material bodies, relating with other bodies. Methodologically, my research relies on the ethnographic fieldwork I carried out over a time span of over two years, both in various social settings—such as youth spaces, a vocational school, free-time activities and public city space—and in close-knit cooperation with five key research participants. My fieldwork had two foci: first, detailed observation of the young men's bodily choreographies in everyday encounters, and, second, sustained engagement in their efforts and reflections regarding their own life projects. In order to understand the young men's political agency, I inquire in this dissertation into how they are encountered by other Finnish (non-)citizens in the surroundings of their everyday lives, how they react to the

subject positions proposed to them in these encounters, and what kind of alternative subject positions they aspire and work for.

I suggest conceptualizing "mundane political agency" in the following way: 1) the young people's attentiveness to power relations vested in the subject positions available to them in everyday situations, 2) their immediate bodily strategies that aim at reconfiguring these positions (however subtly), and 3) their long-term projects that aim to carve out alternative subject positions. Building on this proposition, my key findings are twofold. First, in their everyday encounters the young refugee background men are constituted as different recurrently and in multiple ways. These are often, but not always, directly linked to racialization. The subject positions proposed to them are strikingly often both categorizing and constricting, something to which they are attentive, if not always consciously aware. Second, if the political agency of refugee background young men is investigated from their vantage point, they appear to be highly active: dealing with Othering and its implications is all but perpetual. In their encounters with Finnish society and its other (non-)citizens the young men are almost incessantly alert. They struggle with the subject positions that are available for them and attempt to stretch, transform or reject them, or to carve out other possibilities. This struggle happens on two levels: the visceral level of the material body and its immediate choreographies, and at the level of the intentional, future-oriented projects of human beings capable of conscious reflection. The repertoire of strategies the young people deploy and of the projects they further is large.

My research sheds light on the agentic capacities and strategies of young people in a disadvantaged situation where there is no readily available space for political agency. It thus contributes to new conceptualizations of agency and underlines the importance of the concept in anthropology and the social sciences at large. It also highlights the potency of ethnographic fieldwork as a method of producing knowledge together with research participants. The knowledge produced with young refugee background men brought forwards in the dissertation turns the tables on the discourse on participation. It suggests that Finnish society could and should participate in the project my research participants are engaged in: a project of desiring and working for another kind of society, one in which representatives of minorities as well as the majority are encountered in an open, caring, and respectful manner.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tutkimustani ohjaa kysymys siitä, miten nuoret pakolaistaustaiset miehet pyrkivät vaikuttamaan elämäänsä ja mahdollisuuksiinsa. Mitkä asiat nousevat esiin ongelmallisina ja tärkeinä heidän jokapäiväisessä elämässään, joka tällä hetkellä paikantuu Suomeen joskin transnationaaleihin yhteyksiin kytkeytyen, ja miten he toimivat niiden suhteen? Nämä kysymykset lähtökohtanani avaan uuden näkökulman nuorten poliittiseen toimijuuteen. En määrittele etukäteen mikä on poliittista ja miten poliittisia tekoja tulisi toteuttaa, vaan kysyn, mikä nousee esiin poliittisena nuorten arkielämässä. Tämä mahdollistaa aiemmin katveeseen jääneiden toimijuuden muotojen, syiden ja päämäärien tunnistamisen. Suomessa – ja myös sen ulkopuolella – käydään akateemisia ja yhteiskunnallisia keskusteluja, joissa näiden nuorten miesten osallistumista yhteiskuntaan pidetään ongelmallisena joko määrältään tai laadultaan. Heidät kuvataan usein vähäisessä määrin osallisiksi, osallistuviksi tai politiikasta kiinnostuneiksi, ja sen sijaan huolestuttavilla tai häiritsevillä tavoilla käyttäytyviksi. Heidän läsnäolonsa vaikuttaa näin usein häiriötekijältä; riskiltä heille itselleen tai muille. Kyseisissä diskursseissa näitä nuorukaisia lähestytään usein suomalaisen yhteiskunnan Toisina, mikä jättää syrjään heidän omat kokemuksensa siitä sekä heidän toimijuuteensa.

Oma lähestymistapani nuorten pakolaistaustaisten miesten toimijuuteen ammentaa antropologisesta teoriasta, jossa poliittisuus ymmärretään sosiaalista elämää ja käytäntöjä läpäisevänä ilmiönä, sekä antropologian ja feministisen uusmaterialismin kehittämistä toimijuuden teorioista. Ymmärrän toimijuuden sekä monitahoiseen subjektiviteettiin pohjaavana kykynä, joka ihmisillä läpikotaisin kulttuurisesti ja sosiaalisesti rakentuneina mutta myös resursoituina olentoina on, että materiaalisen kehon kykynä, joka kumpuaa suhteista toisiin kehoihin. Metodologisesti tutkimukseni nojaa etnografiseen kenttätyöhön, jota tein yli kahden vuoden ajan erilaisissa sosiaalisissa ympäristöissä – nuorisotiloilla, ammattiopistossa, vapaa-ajan toiminnoissa ja julkisessa kaupunkitilassa – sekä tiiviissä yhteistyössä viiden keskeisimmän tutkimukseni osanottajan kanssa. Kenttätyölläni oli kaksi fokusta: ensinnä, tarkka kehollisten koreografioiden havainnointi nuorten arkielämän kohtaamisissa, ja toiseksi, pitkäjänteinen sitoutuminen heidän omien elämänprojektiensa eteen tekemänsä työn ja reflektoinnin seuraamiseen.

Ymmärtääkseni nuorten pakolaistaustaisten miesten poliittista toimijuutta selvitän väitöskirjassani, miten muut Suomessa asuvat kohtaavat heidät arkielämän erilaisissa tilanteissa, miten he reagoivat näissä kohtaamisissa heille tarjolla oleviin subjektipositioihin ja minkälaisia vaihtoehtoisia subjektipositioita he tavoittelevat.

Ehdotan "arkisen poliittisen toimijuuden" käsitettä seuraavalle: 1) nuorten valppaudelle havaita heille arkielämässä tarjolla oleviin subjektipositioihin ujuttautuneita valtasuhteita, 2) heidän välittömille kehollisille strategioilleen, jotka tähtäävät näiden positioiden uudelleen järjestelyyn (usein hyvin hienovaraisesti), sekä 3) heidän pitkäntähtäimen projekteilleen, jotka raivaavat tilaa vaihtoehtoisille subjektipositioille. Tutkimukseni keskeiset löydökset rakentuvat tämän ehdotuksen Väitän pohjalle. ensinnä, että jokapäiväisissä kohtaamisissaan pakolaistaustaiset miehet asemoidaan erilaisiksi toistuvin ja moninaisin tavoin. Tässä on usein, vaikkakaan ei aina, kyse rodullistavista käytännöistä. Nuorille tarjotut subjektipositiot ovat erittäin usein kategorisoiva ja rajoittavia, minkä suhteen he ovat valppaita – joskaan eivät aina täysin tietoisesti. Toiseksi, jos nuorten pakolaistaustaisten miesten toimijuutta tarkastellaan heidän näkökulmastaan käsin, he osoittautuvat varsin aktiivisiksi toimijoiksi. He ovat alati valmiustilassa kohtaamisissaan suomalaisen yhteiskunnan ja sen muiden jäsenten kanssa, ja ponnistelevat vaikuttaakseen Toiseuttamiseen ja sen seurauksiin. He kamppailevat heille tarjolla olevista subjektipositioista pyrkien venyttämään, muuntamaan tai torjumaan niitä ja luomaan tilaa muille mahdollisuuksille. Tämä kamppailu tapahtuu kahdella tasolla: materiaalisen kehon ja sen välittömien strategioiden lihallisella ja vaistomaisella tasolla sekä tietoiseen reflektioon kykenevien ihmisyksilöiden intentionaalisten ja tulevaisuuteen suuntautuvien projektien tasolla. Nuorten käyttämien strategioiden ja edistämien projektien kirjo on laaja.

Tutkimukseni lisää ymmärrystä toimijuuden mahdollisuuksista sellaisten nuorten kohdalla, jotka ovat marginaalisessa asemassa, vailla vaivattomasti tarjolla olevia tilaisuuksia poliittiseen toimijuuteen. Näin työni tarjoaa panoksensa toimijuuden käsitteellistämiseen uudelleen ja alleviivaa käsitteen merkittävyyttä antropologiassa ja yhteiskuntatieteissä laajemmin. Tutkimukseni korostaa myös etnografian vahvuutta tiedon tuottamisen menetelmänä yhdessä tutkimukseen osallistuvien kanssa. Väitöstutkimukseni esiintuoma, pakolaistaustaisten nuorten miesten kanssa tuotettu tieto kääntää osallistumis-diskurssin päälaelleen. Se ehdottaa, että suomalaisen yhteiskunnan pitäisi osallistua projektiin, johon tutkimukseni osanottajat ovat jo heittäytyneet: toisenlaisen yhteiskunnan toivomisen ja edistämisen projektiin, yhteiskunnan, jossa niin vähemmistöjen kuin enemmistöjen edustajat kohdataan avoimella, välittävällä ja kunnioittavalla tavalla.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Transdisciplinary reference points: inspirations, discrepancies, contribution	16	
	1.2	Research questions and method	21	
	1.3	Locations and positions: temporal, geographical, social	22	
	1.4	Outline of the dissertation	27	
2	Inclu	sion/exclusion: Finland as a liberal welfare state	29	
	2.1	Encountering the sovereign state: sorting bodies to be provided from bodies to be exposed to death	30	
	2.2	Encountering governmentality: categorizing bodies, practicing Othering	35	
	2.3	Across the Finnish border: global migration & transnational ties	43	
3	Field	& work: methodology, sites, ethics	46	
	3.1	Conducting fieldwork	46	
	3.2	Pondering ethical questions	68	
	3.3	Analyzing and interpreting data	81	
4	The	oretical framework	87	
	4.1	Political anthropology: from system to power	87	
	4.2	The problem of agency	90	
	4.3	My approach: mundane political agency	100	
5	Setti	ng the stage: subject positions of differentness	107	
	5.1	Mamu—a stranger stranger: Emanuel at school I	108	
	5.2	Vulnerable young person: Manasse on stage I	132	
	5.3	Peer mentor—an ascribed representative: Afrax at work I	147	
	5.4	Reflections	168	
6	Reactions and acts: immediate strategies			
	6.1	Turning around the subject position: Emanuel at school II	171	
	6.2	Rejecting the subject position: Manasse on stage II	182	
	6.3	Transforming the subject position: Afrax at work II	198	

	6.4	Reflections	220
7 I	Long	g-term projects: working for alternative subject positions	223
	7.1	Big Man, Black Man: Emanuel at school and at home	224
	7.2	Professional African performer: Manasse always on stage	252
	7.3	Big questions, deep confusion: Afrax at work with himself	271
	7.4	Reflections	307
	Cone	clusion	310
	8.1	Connecting threads: three key findings	311
	8.2	Acknowledging the message: one major implication	318
Refe	erences		320

1 INTRODUCTION

After a long break, Emanuel has come to visit me. We exchange news from each other's lives, but our number one aim is to go through the argument I make in my dissertation and discuss the parts that concern him directly in more detail. As Emanuel's English skills are not at the level of reading academic texts fluently, I alternate between explaining what I have written and reading parts out loud, sometimes translating into Finnish while reading and, sometimes, as in the case of the field excerpts, which he knows very well, reading the original text. He listens intently, making a few comments here and there, pointing out that I have chosen a good example from his school (a baking task, described in chapters 5.1 and 6.1) and reflecting on how staggering it is to go through his story like this, with its many twists and turns, some of which he had already forgotten himself.

Last, I read out two field excerpts I am a bit worried about myself. They go to an intimate level, describing situations of deep anxiety or depression (describing the rediscovery of his disappeared mother and finding himself at a dead end in his studies, described in chapter 7.1). I can see that Emanuel reacts strongly to these texts; his eyes moisten and he is deeply concentrated. After reading, I ask the question that bothers me:

Elina: 'How do you feel about this kind of text, can I write like this? Is it too much in a way...'

Emanuel: 'In what way too much?'

Elina: 'I mean, does it come too close. I am writing about very personal stuff and in a way that exposes your feelings, you know, very openly.'

Emanuel: 'I don't think it is too personal or too much, it is a fact. It describes the whole struggle. It is not self-evident that I have gotten this far.'

This dissertation is about these struggles: struggles that Emanuel and other refugee background young men wage as part of their everyday lives in Finland. The question driving this research is to understand how they seek to affect their lives and possibilities. To me, this question is in essence about political agency. In public discourse, these young people (often along with other youths with "immigrant background") are frequently described as having worryingly little interest in politics and Finnish society, and instead as acting in disturbing or worrying ways. Their low voter turnout is lamented (e.g. Borg & Pikkala 2017; Wass & Weide 2015), their marginalization or radicalization fretted about and studied (e.g. Juntunen et al. 2016;

Koivunen 2016; Myrskylä 2012). Their presence and situation in Finnish society is often described in public discourse as disorderly, as a risk to others or to themselves (e.g. Laitinen et al. 2016). In some cases (mostly in the realm of lay public discussion), such problems are located in the youths themselves, while, in others, they are recognized as societal problems; structures and practices that marginalize such youths and set up obstacles to their participation (e.g. Harinen et al. 2009; Rättilä & Honkatukia 2021). The latter approach, and research related to it, is necessary unconditionally, if equal opportunities for participating in the functioning of Finnish society is considered a value. One could, for example, ask whether the fact that people who are not (yet) Finnish citizens do not have the right to vote in any but municipal elections—regardless of how long they have lived in Finland, and the slow and difficult process of gaining citizenship—has an effect on their voter turnout.¹

Nevertheless, in approaches that set participation as the premise, these young people tend to be approached as Others of Finnish society; their participation in it is, for various reasons, either seen to be problematically low or of problematic kind. Notwithstanding the importance of gaining insight into these dynamics, this approach inevitably leaves something highly relevant out of sight. This something is precisely the agency of the young people themselves, their efforts to affect their lives that are currently based in Finland. Thus, in this research, I turn the set up around. The vantage point is that of the youths', and living in Finnish society is approached from their perspective. From this point of view, society materializes in the everyday encounters these young people experience in the mundane surroundings of their lives: both with state/municipality officials or NGO workers and with other (non-) citizens, who they interact with in such environments as school, work, free-time activities and the public space of the city. Of fundamental importance, moreover, are the transnational ties such youths have due to their pasts as migrants and present as members of diaspora communities, and also, perhaps, because of their aspired futures. From their perspective, living in Finland does not mean that Finnish society would be the only, nor necessarily even the most important, point of reference for them. On the other hand, approaching the issue from this perspective brings the controversial position of these young men in Finnish society to the fore, a position they are perfectly aware of, and which plays a role in their everyday encounters in various ways.

_

¹ The participation of refugee background people is in effect also limited in municipal elections, as only EU-citizens and citizens of Norway and Iceland have the right to vote on registering as residents of some municipality in Finland. Others have to live in Finland for two years before gaining the right.

The importance of taking the youths' perspective as a starting point of research is underlined by other researchers too, such as Häikiö & Snellman (2017) in the case of marginalized youth in general, and Laakkonen & Juntunen (2019) and Rogstad & Vestel (2011) in the case of immigrant background youth in particular. Apart from this, I also find it imperative not to define what counts as political in advance, nor how the young people should participate in it or express their views. Instead, I investigate these issues through the ethnographic data I gathered over a time span of over two years. In approaching the political in an open way, I follow Verdery (1999, 24) and Häkli & Kallio (2014, 183), who hold, on one hand, that the political by definition concerns matters of particular import, but, on the other, underline that what is considered particularly important very much depends on who one asks. Häkli & Kallio (2018, 64) conceptualize the political, understood in this way, as the *political* ordinary, which stands in contrast to the conventional understanding of the political as matters recognized as having particular import in society at large. This approach resonates strongly with anthropological understandings of the political as pervasive in social life, and not merely as an autonomous sphere of institutions and governments. Power rests in the practices and relations of everyday life that, however, tend to be inchoate and unremarkable. Their political aspect is thus easily ignored. (Gledhill 1994, 20–21; 70–71.) A corollary, for me, then, is the question: what emerges as political for my research participants.

The second overarching aim guiding my work is understanding what kinds of acts these young men perform to try to affect the issues they find pressing in their own lives. In other words, I inquire into the *political agency* of these young men. Theorizing agency has turned out to be a tough task for the social sciences. Nevertheless, I find approaching the political in these young men's lives from this angle a task worth probing, as it enables me to shift perspective from their participation in a predefined community to their acts in their everyday surroundings. The theoretical framework I develop in the following dissertation draws both from feminist new materialist understandings of the agentive capacities of material bodies, human and non-human alike (Barad 2007; Coole & Frost 2010; Väyrynen et al. 2017), and from anthropological conceptions of complex human subjectivity as both produced by power relations and culturally resourced, and thus capable of reflection and agency (Keane 2003; Ortner 2006). I believe that combining these two ways of exploring agency provides a fruitful avenue for better understanding the political ordinary and agency of people in disadvantaged positions.

1.1 Transdisciplinary reference points: inspirations, discrepancies, contribution

The following dissertation is theoretically and methodologically rooted in my own discipline, sociocultural anthropology, but draws from other fields besides the aforementioned feminist new materialist theorizations as well: from youth research, especially Finnish research on multicultural youth, migration and diaspora studies, and research on racism and racialization. The ethos of my research, certain methodological choices I have made and concepts I utilize, are informed by discussions in these fields, although my conclusions do not always correspond with theirs. It is by building on this critical engagement that I wish to contribute to these fields as well. Below, I briefly sketch out these transdisciplinary reference points. I outline my theoretical framework proper in depth, however, in chapter 4.

To begin with, the ethos that has guided my research throughout is inspired by scholarly approaches in migration and youth studies that call for more emphasis on the agentive capacities of children and young people with refugee background, instead of simply positioning them as helpless victims (Crawley 2009; Malkki 1996; Rättilä & Honkatukia 2021; Wernesjö 2011). One line of thought gaining prominence in this branch is research around the so-called resilience of refugee background people in general (e.g. Coleman et al. 2012; Hutchinson & Dorsett 2012), and children and young people in particular (e.g. Chatty 2013; Fader et al. 2019; Luster et al. 2010).² While I appreciate the intention of recognizing the strengths and abilities to deal with adversity of people of refugee background, I find the concept and discussion around it somewhat problematic. As Ahonen and Kallius (2019, 104) write, emphasizing resilience, endurance and optimism mirrors the narrative that emphasizes victimhood by simply inverting the set up. In its binarity (helpless victim versus resilient survivor) it lacks sensitivity with regard to the way people are both weak and strong, resilient and vulnerable, agentive and helpless, and how these features are not individual abilities, but build on relations between people. It is especially blind to understanding how these aspects can be intimately tied to each other; what is interpreted as resilience can actually turn out to be a coping strategy in a situation where there is little room for acting otherwise, a strategy that might conceal fragility and despair, and that might, in the long run, turn out to be a

-

² The concept of resilience has been in use for quite some time in psychology and in ecological theory, where it is understood as abilities for positive adaptation and withstanding the stress and shocks that human beings and societies or ecosystems register (Olsson et al. 2015, 1). In recent years, the concept has gained increasing interest in the field of social sciences, including youth and migration studies.

destructive strategy. Furthermore, as research regarding resilience is often concentrated around adapting to the situation and coping in a new home country despite a traumatic past, there is a tendency to a normative understanding of what being resilient actually means: it is about "bouncing forward" (Sleipen et al. 2013) or "moving on" in life in the new country (Hutchinson & Dorsett 2012, 58-59), in a word "successful adaptation" (Luster et al. 2010). In its normativity, it risks reconstructing the oft-seen division between "good immigrants" and "bad immigrants": those who integrate well, learn the language, get educated and employed, and act in a way that is comprehended and valued by the majority white society, and those who do not integrate, but are marginalized, radicalized, or form so-called "parallel societies" instead, in which they go on living among people who share their culture and ethnicity, separated from the majority society.³ In my view, concentrating on resilience is thus of limited use when questioning how people in marginalized situations are positioned and categorized, and how this in turn affects their possibilities to act and to be seen and heard, as well as in deconstructing problematic understandings of integration. I wish, therefore, to make a clear distinction between research on resilience and my own approach. The concept I deploy and try to develop in the following dissertation is that of agency; I find inquiring into its possibilities, restrictions and modes a far more potent tool in conceptualizing both the acts of refugee background youth and the multifaceted situations in which they find themselves. It is by developing this concept of agency that I wish to contribute to youth and migration studies.

As for methodological choices, a central question for me has had to do with limiting the scope of my research. "Refugee background youth" is highly heterogeneous group in terms of the geographical and ethnic origins of its members, their religious convictions and worldviews, social classes and educational backgrounds and aspirations, ages and routes of coming to Finland, as well as the situations and locations of their family members. Very early in my research I found it necessary to limit the group I was to concentrate on in some way. In the context of Finnish youth research, it has not been uncommon to focus on one ethnic group (e.g. Hautaniemi 2004; Isotalo 2015; Marjeta 1999), but this would have kept experiences that are shared by refugee background youth out of sight. Instead, I decided to limit the scope of my research on the basis of gender. My reasons for choosing boys and young men are in part practical—as I had worked with immigrant background young men before, I had useful existing contacts—and partly based on existing research. Firstly, in Finnish youth and migration studies, slightly more

_

³ See v. Freiesleben 2016 for a thorough analysis of the discourse on "parallelsamfund" in Denmark.

emphasis has been given to research regarding immigrant and refugee background girls (e.g. Honkasalo 2011; Isotalo 2015; Marjeta 1999; Nisula, Rastas & Kangaspunta 1995) than boys (e.g. Hautaniemi 2004; Honkatukia & Suurpää 2012). And, secondly, my previous employment in the sector of multicultural youth work made me realize the pressing need—both in the field and in society at large—for greater knowledge of the agency of young refugee background men, which, in my experience, is commonly misunderstood and, at least in a Finnish context, remains under-researched. As these reasons for focusing on only one gender imply, this study is not a study of gender as such. Nevertheless, gender is a significant aspect in it, and I have tried to be sensitive to gender issues both during my fieldwork and analysis, and I touch upon them in the dissertation in instances where it seems particularly relevant for understanding and interpreting the data. In these instances, my take on gender is analytical rather than empirical (Peterson 2005, 502): I pay attention to masculinities (and femininities) rather than to the empirical categories of boys/men as opposed to girls/women (or other genders). I try to analyse how gender is at play as a social structure in certain instances in the everyday lives of the young men, an approach that draws on the branch of research that has grown out of Connell's (1995; 2005) theorization of masculinities and hegemonic masculinity.

Finally, a few words on my conceptual choices. Instead of utilizing the concept commonly employed by many of the researchers mentioned above, namely that of "immigrant (background) youth", I have chosen the term "refugee background youth". This decision, too, has both research-based and practical reasons behind it: Firstly, over the course of my research I have increasingly started to find the concept of immigrant (background youth) problematic, as it risks reconstructing a stereotypical image of the "imaginary immigrant" (Lundström 2017, 79), and therefore an essentialist understanding of immigrants as a specific, homogenous category, separate from other Finnish (non-)citizens (Haikkola 2014, 88–89). Secondly, my research participants are all refugees, which makes me even more skeptical of the benefits of using a definition that would emphasize their immigrantness. As refugees they are, of course, *also* immigrants, but deconstructing, rather than reproducing, this essentialist category is an important aim of this work.

This is not to say that this choice is unproblematic. When I started to plan this project, I initially used the term "immigrant background", and throughout the whole research process I have hesitated and pondered over the terminology. I am aware that my research participants might choose another term; in Finland, the word refugee carries at least as heavy stigma as the word immigrant, and many young people, who do not necessarily avoid the word when talking about their past, are,

however, critical of being called refugees after living in Finland for a considerable length of time. Hence the supplementary word "background", which I stick with throughout the dissertation. Perhaps, in its very clumsiness, it brings out the feelings of uneasiness I constantly experience with regard to the choice of terms. Indeed, discomfort is one of the central threads of the whole work: being recurrently categorized as refugees has a considerable effect on the way these young people are encountered by other Finns and on the space that is available for them to act and define who and what they are themselves.⁴

Two other concepts that I use recurrently, and which may require clarification at this point, are those of "race" and "racialization". My research participants are people of colour living in a Finnish society in which they are in a clear minority position, both in terms of numbers and of power relations. Discussion of race, moreover, has been avoided for decades in Finland, as in other Nordic countries, in which there is a widespread perception of "Nordic exceptionalism": of being outsiders to colonialism and histories of scientific racism, and thus also innocent of racism and Eurocentrism (Loftsdóttir & Jensen 2012). I acknowledge the controversy around using the term race (e.g. Gilroy 2000, Miles 1988; Rastas 2005, 82; Rastas 2019, 373–375), and it is not without difficulty that I use it myself. Yet race remains salient in the lives of many minority groups in Europe, as "an inescapable social fact" (Silverstein 2005, 364). On the other hand, the discourse of race can enable resistance by people in excluded positions when it works as a base for forming collective political identities (Miles 1989, 72-73; Rastas 2019). In line with Bashi (1998), Cowlishaw (2000) and Keskinen & Andreassen (2017, 65), for example, I consider the concept necessary in order to be able to speak about its effects on people's lives. This choice has also been impacted by the emerging discussion on race brought forward by people who themselves belong to racialized minorities in Finland. In recent years, collectives like AfroFinns or Ruskeat Tytöt ("Brown Girls", initiated by Koko Hubara) and individual activists have increasingly started to underline the importance of acknowledging the significance of race and racialization in their lives.

Nevertheless, to the extent that I see race as a social fact, I also see it as a social construction. Races are socially imagined, not biological entities (Miles 1989, 71). Race is a category of difference, understood to be essential, natural and defining, irrespective whether it is based on alleged biological differences, cultural differences, or both (Molina 2005, 95; Silverstein 2005, 364; see also Keskinen & Andreassen

⁴ I will return to these questions in chapter 3.1, in which I discuss my methodological choices more profoundly.

2017, 65). In the latter case, in which races are constructed on the basis of cultural differences, these are understood to be determinative. Races are, thus, imagined to be biological groups of differentiated human populations or social collectivities (Miles 1989, 71-75). These can be explicitly defined as "races", though this is not, however, always the case (Miles 1989, 71), as, "ethnicity", for example, is often used instead of race in Finland and other Nordic countries (Andreassen & Ahmed-Andresen 2014, 27). Here, discourse on differences between ethnic groups tends to present them as essential and natural, and hence immutable and determinative, in much the same way as the discourse on differences between racial groups (Hall 2000, 224–225; Rastas 2005, 86–87; Souto 2011, 24). As social and political constructions, racial categories are historically flexible and constantly (re)formed. With the concept of racialization, I refer to the work of "making races" or racial formation (Omi & Winant 1986); "[...] to the historical emergence of the idea of 'race' and to its subsequent reproduction and application" (Miles 1989, 76). By "application", I understand instances in which a particular person or group of people is categorized as belonging to a specific racial group. This process of categorization, of defining an Other, is dialectical as it entails defining a Self by the same criterion (Miles 1989, 75).

Whiteness is thus just as much a social construction as other racial categories: it is not a skin colour, but a constructed hegemony of power (Keskinen & Andreassen 2017, 66) that grants privilege to people who meet the social ideal of whiteness (Krivonos, 2017). White skin as such does not necessarily grant access to this category (on "colourless" racial categories see e.g. Souto 2011, 25), and, on the other hand, people categorized as white are also racialized. In this, my use of the concept differs from those usages in which only people categorized as non-white are understood to be racialized (e.g. Kurki 2018). As Rastas (2019, 375) writes, this usage is problematic in its tendency to erase the racial nature of the category of whiteness. In the sociohistorical context in which we live, where a particular kind of "racial regime" (Mulinari & Neergaard 2017, 90) prevails, we are all "racialized people"—although the consequences and processes of being racialized as white or as black (for example) are different.

-

⁵ Opening up the relationship between race and ethnicity is beyond the scope of this introduction. Here, it suffices to note that as socially and historically constructed categories they are intermingled in complex ways, yet obviously not the same thing (e.g. Bashi 1998, Hall 2000). Some researchers and activists have started to use terms race/ethnicity and racial/ethnic in order to express the complex interlinkage of these concepts (e.g. Andreassen & Ahmed-Andresen 2014, 27–29), and in some instances I also use that solution.

1.2 Research questions and method

In order to answer the overarching question of the political agency of refugee background young men, I ask the following subquestions:

- 1) What kind of subject positions are proposed to the young men in their encounters with Finnish society—with the state and its other (non-)citizens? I concentrate on encounters, as it is here—if anywhere—that their position as Others is made manifest to them: as Ahmed (2000, 9) notes, differences are not found on the bodies of others but are *constituted* in encounters in which some others are recognized as familiar and other others as strange. This holds both for encounters with other (non-)citizens and for the young men's encounters with state officials—teachers, social workers, police, health personnel, immigration officials, and so forth. It is through these encounters that the state, and the relationship between it and its (non-)citizens, comes into being: the state is "experienced in an intimate way where power is experienced close to the skin, embodied in well-known local officials [...]" (Aretxaga 2003, 396–398). It is thus the face-to-face, skin-to-skin (Ahmed 2000, 7) encounters of material bodies that are the focus of my research.
- 2) How do the young men act and react in relation to the subject positions proposed to them? This question springs from the attention Häkli and Kallio (2018, 65) pay to human beings' capacity to become attentive to power relations embedded in the particular subject positions they are offered in the flux of everyday life. In their view, political agency is constituted when people react to the subject positions proposed to them and to the power relations embedded in these: when "[...] they end up accepting, averting, or transforming [...]" them (Häkli and Kallio 2018, 65). The subject positions available for my research participants are often (though not always) affected by their constitution as different due to being young, male, refugees and racially Other.
- 2 a) What kind of "immediate strategies" (Väyrynen et al. 2017, 91) do the young men adopt *on the spot* in reaction to the subject positions proposed to them? What kind of bodily choreographies (Puumala et al. 2011, 86)—gestures, facial expressions, touch or avoiding touch, relating or refusing to relate with others—do they deploy? And what do these choreographies work for?

2 b) What kind of long-term projects do the young men develop in order to carve out subject positions they find desirable, in the sense that they open up more possibilities for them? This question is empirically driven: during the analysis phase, my data compelled me to give attention to the considerable effort and work the young men put into what, following Ortner (2006, 144), might be conceptualized as the "agency of projects", as: "[...] intentions, purposes, and desires formulated in terms of culturally established 'projects'." These projects are conscious long-term efforts that have to do with the contradiction between the way the youth are positioned and the way they see themselves and wish to be positioned.

For me, sustained ethnographic fieldwork is an indispensable method for answering such research questions. Understanding political agency, as manifested both in bodily choreographies and long-term projects, necessitates observing what people do as well as paying attention to what they say. Observing what people do means, in this case, both examining their ways of being and moving in space, and relating to other people in it, as well as following the ways they lead their lives over a longer span of time; what kind of aims they pursue, the choices they make, or what frustrations they encounter. Furthermore, gaining contextual understanding of these "doings" and their meanings requires a sustained research relationship, one that is not based on interviews, but on spending time together in various situations and on engaged interaction. There is a limit to the questions that can be asked, and to the explanations that can be given, in the form of discourse at a given point in time. Ethnography is the method by which a researcher can try to reach beyond language and grasp what is not and cannot be verbalized. The multifaceted data I have gathered with my research participants via extended fieldwork reaches beyond this limit, providing unique, in-depth insight on what occurs in the embodied encounters of refugee background youth with Finnish society and on the youths' long-term aspirations.

1.3 Locations and positions: temporal, geographical, social

Finland is relatively young, both as a nation state and as a country of immigration. Historically, the area has been multicultural and there are still minorities with long histories of living in the area, including the Sami, Roma, Jewish, Tatar, Karelian and Swedish-speaking minorities. (Martikainen et al. 2013, 33-35; Saukkonen 2013, 91.) Since gaining independence in 1917, Finland has been a country of emigration to a

far greater extent than immigration; over 1.3 million Finns have emigrated during last 150 years (Martikainen et al. 2013, 26). Low levels of immigration have contributed to the image of the Finnish nation as ethnically and culturally homogenous (Saukkonen 2013, 90). It was only towards the end of 1970s that the first refugees from more distant countries started to arrive, and, in 1990s-in correlation with joining the EU—that the amount of foreign people immigrating to Finland started to rise. Before that, immigration consisted mainly of the remigration of people with Finnish origins (Martikainen et al. 2013, 37). The growing number of immigrants was fast reflected in legislation and governmental practices: new laws were passed during 1990s that gave non-citizens basic rights, and legislation on, and practices of, integration were put in place. From the outset, these were guided by multicultural ideals inspired by Sweden and the Netherlands (Saukkonen 2013, 91-92). The amount of both quota refugees and asylum seekers has risen during the 2000s compared to earlier decades, yet remained very low in comparison to many other European countries: most years the quota has been 750 people, and Finland has received less than 5,000 asylum applications per annum (Saukkonen 2013, 87). However, during the first decade of the new millennium, right-wing populism started to gain impetus, and criticism of multiculturalism and immigration-not lacking racist undertones—has since become prominent, despite the relatively low numbers of immigration. According to the statistics on native language, at the end of 2020 there were over 432,800 non-native speakers in Finland, amounting to 7,8 percent of the whole population. The biggest groups were speakers of Russian, Estonian, Arabic, English and Somali (Statistics Finland, 2021).6

As in most EU countries, a rapid increase in the numbers of asylum seekers took place in the fall of 2015. Coincidentally, this was also the period during which I did the main part of my fieldwork, about 2014–2016, and thus stretches from the period before this so-called refugee crisis, through it, and into the period immediately after it. While the absolute number remained modest in Finland—about 32,000 asylum applications in 2015 (Migri 2015a)—this did mean a considerable growth in relative terms: the number is almost ten times the figures of 2014 (Migri 2015b). Again in line with other EU countries, this provoked strong reactions, from a considerable solidarity movement towards people in flight to a rise of new far-right and even neo-Nazi groups. This course of events has affected the lives of all my research participants: while their presence in Finland was controversial before the "refugee

_

⁶ Finland does not keep official statistics of ethnic/racial groups. The population statistics include information on people's citizenship, native language, and country of birth. Thus, estimates on the size of different ethnic groups have no basis other than this information.

crisis", it grew ever more prominent during and after it. Some were involved in the solidarity movement themselves, in organizing material help for asylum seekers accommodated in poor conditions, for example. For the most part, these events are not the subject matter of this dissertation as such, but the consequences that the "crisis" had, and has, are highly relevant for the everyday lives of my research participants.

Geographically, I carried out my fieldwork in a few Finnish cities, all of them belonging to the group of the ten biggest cities in Finland, but none of them located in the capital region (which consists of the cities of Helsinki, Espoo, Vantaa and Kauniainen). In all these cities there are some suburbs, such as Varissuo in Turku, Hervanta in Tampere, or Kontula in Helsinki, that might be called super-diverse (Vertovec 2007). Interest in studying such suburbs, in which the population is comprised of various groups with regard to race/ethnicity, nationality, religion, age and social class, has grown in recent years both internationally and in Finland. Indeed, research projects have been carried out in all the aforementioned Finnish super-diverse suburbs (Huttunen & Juntunen 2018; Puumala et al. 2021; Tuominen 2020), and emphasis has been given, for example, to the way the inhabitants of these areas, often stigmatized in the eyes of other city dwellers, can develop a strong sense of belonging and take pride in being residents of these special city spaces. I acknowledge the importance of this research and the way it opens eyes to vernacular realities in contemporary urban spaces. However, during my research I realized that none of my research participants actually lived in these areas themselves (despite some of them moving around relatively often). Instead, they all tended to live in suburban areas that are neither stigmatized nor held in high regard, which in practice means that their everyday lives took place outside areas where diversity is, if not the norm, then at least normal. In the areas in which they spent the majority of their time, the Finnish "white landscape" (Huttunen 2002, 124) still prevails in the sense that it is quite common for a person of colour to find themselves alone among white Finns while waiting at a bus stop, working out in a gym, dropping by a library or a café, and also in such environments as at school, work, or hobbies. Inspiring as the development of the super-diverse areas are, I thus consider researching mundane life in these non-diverse surroundings very much worthwhile. Not that the experiences of living in one or the other stand completely apart; both the stigma and the fame of certain areas is well known among residents of other areas, too, and some of my research participants consciously avoided moving to these areas in order not to reproduce the stereotype of immigrants acting in certain ways and living in certain areas.

Who, then, are my research participants? Some basic information is of use at this point to give a general idea of the group with which I worked, but I will save a detailed account of my fieldwork and a full presentation of the most central participants for chapter 2. I conducted the most intense and long-lasting (from one to two years and more) fieldwork with three young men, to whom I have given the pseudonyms Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax for the purposes of this dissertation. In addition, I worked closely, but for a much shorter period (about two to three months), with two other young men, whom I have named Adel and Denis. Apart from these individual research relationships I conducted ethnographic fieldwork in a multitude of surroundings, including a youth space, an institutional home for unaccompanied minor asylum seekers, as well as at schools, places of work, and hobby environments. In these fieldwork situations I was naturally in contact with lots of young people, but in the pages of this dissertation these youths are present either in passing or as background characters, and I will thus not dwell on the details concerning them. The five young men that I worked with in person and for longer periods had come to Finland either as unaccompanied minor asylum seekers, quota refugees with their families, or first fled from their native country and subsequently arrived in Finland via the family reunification process. They were all around twenty when we started to work together, some a bit younger, but all nevertheless of age. None of them had come directly from their country of origin to Finland, but had resided for longer or shorter periods in another country, or in other countries, in between. Most of my research participants are originally from different countries in Africa, but Adel's family is from the Middle East. These young people were about ten-sixteen years old upon arrival in Finland. Three of them are Christian and two Muslim; all profess their religion, though some are much more devout than others. Some come from disadvantaged backgrounds in terms of livelihood and education, while other's families have been or still are better off. Some have family members in Finland, some do not, and, of the latter, some have contact with family members living elsewhere, while some have lost contact for good and do not know whether their families are still alive. One has gotten married in Finland, though this happened after we finished the fieldwork proper. When I started to work with these five young men, all but one were studying either in comprehensive or vocational schools, the exception having already graduated from a vocational institution and searching for employment.

I got to know three of these young men while working as a research assistant in Anna-Kaisa Kuusisto's (hereafter "AK") project *Transcultural Memories of Childhood*

Displacement—Tracing the Emotive-Spatial Tactics of Belonging.⁷ In this research project, my job was doing ethnographic fieldwork together with AK in a family group home for unaccompanied minor asylum seekers who had been granted residence permits, and work in person with three young people who had come of age and moved out from the home. These were Emanuel, Denis, and Adel. AK has agreed to my using ethnographic material gathered together in the family group home and the material I produced together with the three young men. With Emanuel, we decided to continue working together in the framework of my own research project, and with him the fieldwork has in some respects continued to the present date.

Another point of reference for me beyond my fieldwork proper is my previous employment in the sector of social youth work. For three years I worked as head of a small NGO-based social work unit whose target group was immigrant background boys and young men. The initial idea for this research project grew out of the lessons I learned over those years, and in several parts of this dissertation I refer to some particular events or experiences I underwent while working in the field. In most cases I do this to provide context and contrast to my actual data, but there are some instances in which I use some particularly clear memories (I also wrote notes of some especially disturbing events or thoughts during the job) as data. Furthermore, Afrax happened to choose youth work as his vocation and started work during my fieldwork period, and analysis of data gathered in his work environments forms a considerable part of my research. My background as a professional within the field has informed the way I perceive work done in the family group home and in other social youth work contexts, such as NGO projects targeting specific youth groups. I have found scrutinizing practices in these fields of great import, as these environments are central to the lives of many refugee background youths. Especially during their first years in Finland, these institutions, NGOs and projects might provide the only contact—in addition to school—for such youths with other Finnish (non-)citizens.

I highly appreciate the work done by professionals in these fields. As an exworker I also appreciate the insight such professionals have regarding their work and practices, insight that seldom lacks criticism and self-reflection. Often these workers do need neither grand theories nor research projects to make sharp evaluations and measured conclusions of their own field, and, for many, some of the arguments I make may well seem rather predictable. Nevertheless, as an ex-worker within the field, I also dare say that there are certain blind spots that can be hard to discern if you are in the midst of the work, which often is hectic and under-resourced. Some

⁷ Academy of Finland project SA 266161.

of these blind spots are damaging, also with regard to the aims of the work itself, as they tend to reproduce certain problematic understandings and ways of encountering refugee background youths. In this dissertation I wish to unpack some of these kinds of practices and understandings. When doing so, I am also aware that, in part, these practices are reproduced because the professionals are themselves caught between a rock and a hard place: in designing projects and activities they obviously have to take into account what possible backers are likely to grant funds for, or what they are told to prioritize by people above them in institutional hierarchies. All in all, my critical eye regarding social youth work is most certainly also directed towards my own work in my previous employment, and I hope the results of this (self-)criticism might prove useful for other professionals of the field.

1.4 Outline of the dissertation

The structure of this dissertation is as follows. In the next, rather brief, chapter, I introduce the sociohistorical context in which my research participants' lives take place in more detail, including a sketch of Finnish immigration policies and integration practices. In chapter 3, I present my methodological choices: my approaches to fieldwork and the analysis of data, and dwell on ethical questions. In chapter 4, I lay out the theoretical premises of my work. I briefly introduce the past and present history of political anthropology, before moving on to concentrate on the concept of agency and its problematics in more detail. I look at three different ways of approaching agency, and on that basis delineate my own approach in subchapter 4.3.

Following this outline of the empirical context and theoretical framework for the dissertation, I present my ethnographic material and analysis. This section is divided into three main chapters that each concentrate on an aspect of agency: the first on encounters of differentiation (answering research question 1), the second on the young men's immediate strategies in these encounters (research question 2a), and the third on their long-term projects (research question 2b). These chapters are, in turn, each divided into three subchapters, concentrating on a given situation in the lives of my three main research participants, Emanuel, Manasse, and Afrax, but also opening from that particular example to a more comprehensive view of the ways young refugee background men are encountered in Finnish society and on the ways they react and act in response. All the subchapters follow the same logic: In the beginning, a brief excerpt from my fieldwork is presented to crystallize the subject

matter of each chapter and to indicate to the reader which young person and what situation the chapter deals with. In the body of the text, I analyze what is going on in these situations, expanding the scope of my analysis to other situations and youths in order to provide context and depth. Some subchapters also include an epilogue: these introduce the young persons' interpretations of the themes addressed in the chapter, which, in some cases, differ from my own, and also contrast the analysis with the subsequent course of their lives. The last chapter of the dissertation pulls together my analysis and argument and sketches out their implications.

A note on personal pronouns: I use the singular they (they/them/their) when speaking of persons whose gender I either don't know or don't want to reveal due to anonymization, or who use they as their pronoun themselves. A note on quoting discussions in my data: I have both recorded discussions, notes taken on the spot during discussions, and notes written afterwards. In order to distinguish between verbatim quotes from quotes relying on my memory, I use double quotes ("quote") to mark the former, and single ('quote') for the latter. In longer dialogues, the absence of quotation marks indicates verbatim quotes; use of single quotation marks quotes that might not be exactly verbatim (as for example in the opening vignette of this introduction).

2 INCLUSION/EXCLUSION: FINLAND AS A LIBERAL WELFARE STATE

Emanuel: My personal social educator, my sweet personal social educator. Elina: Sweet personal social educator.

Emanuel sends small kisses to a woman in a photo he shows me, making me laugh.

Elina: She was really important for you. Here in the family group home. Emanuel: Yeah, and still is.

In the photo, Emanuel stands next to a blonde, middle-aged woman. They both smile a little and look straight at the camera. As quite a tall young man he is considerably taller than she is. She stands in a very upright position, one knee slightly bent, the other leg tall and straight. She has put her left arm around his waist, which is at a comfortable level for her. Her fingers peek from between his left side and left arm. Emanuel, for his part, has put his right arm around her shoulders, and his palm rests on her right upper arm. He leans slightly on her shoulder and rests his right temple almost on the top of her head. He has to bend both knees a bit to be able to hug her this way, and his right side and her left side touch each other for the whole length of their sides and thighs. She stands there carrying slightly the weight of his body, which he rests on her head and shoulder, and, a little plump, she seems all the more strong, steady and trustworthy—somehow keeping her professional role even in this intimate hug. Emanuel, on the other hand, leans on her, almost curling around her: a tall, slender and slightly collapsed figure.

The context for this research is Finland, a liberal welfare state, one of the Nordic countries that all (albeit varyingly) have followed the "Third Way" policy: that of reconciling extensive welfare systems with liberal markets. As Sipilä et al. (2009, 182; 187–188) argue, while globalization, transition to post-industrial society and an ageing population have challenged the (Finnish) welfare state in considerable ways and inflicted deterioration in public services, it has not been abandoned and the principle of universalism—the assurance of the availability of benefits and services to all citizens—is still pursued. Also, non-citizens are granted some services: citizens of other EU-countries, nationals of a so-called "third country" (i.e. non-EU country) who have a residence permit in Finland, and asylum seekers waiting for a decision on their asylum applications are all entitled to get certain public services and benefits. What these rights are depends on the status of the individual, and the system is rather

complicated in its precision and detail. These details are not the point here, and I will not go into them; what is essential is the way the welfare state structures the lives of my research participants in Finland. For a brief description of this one could paraphrase Barker (2012, 16), who argues that the Swedish (which, she underlines, is at one and the same time exemplary of and in some details different from Nordic states in general) welfare state "[...] functions as both a universal but exclusionary model." By this she means that the Nordic welfare state is very generous, if you belong to it, and marginalizing and depriving if you are not recognized as belonging to it. Moreover, the welfare state itself is, "[...] preserved and made sustainable for those in the inside by limiting the access from the outside", and the structural barriers to belonging are high and hierarchical, "[...] particularly to those deemed 'other', 'undeserving', or members of particular ethnic groups." (Ibid., 17.) In this sense, the Nordic welfare state can be understood to be Janus-faced: its generosity towards the people recognized as insiders is one side of the coin, the other side of which is the exclusion and criminalization of others.

2.1 Encountering the sovereign state: sorting bodies to be provided from bodies to be exposed to death

The excerpt with which I started this chapter illustrates the generosity the Finnish welfare state displays in certain instances towards refugee background youths aptly. The photo Emanuel showed me presents an embodiment of the caring face of the state: in it, a smiling staff member of the family group home for unaccompanied minor asylum seeker youth embraces and supports Emanuel, whose asylum application the state has accepted, and to whom refugee status has been granted along with a residence permit. In the photo, Emanuel is literally held in the arms of the state. A considerable number of resources are allocated to ensure his (and other youths' in a similar situation) well-being in all possible ways: besides accommodation and nourishment, he is provided with schooling, health care, hobbies and free-time activities, the support of professionals working in the home, and even psychotherapy to tackle his traumatic past. In Emanuel's case, all this work seemed to achieve its aim: he was a happy, optimistic and self-confident young man when I first met him.

A few years later, however, the Finnish state showed its other face to Emanuel: his mother, presumed to have perished, is found alive back in their home country, but she has been maltreated and is seriously sick. Emanuel starts to work for family reunification, but the process turns out to be long, burdensome and with little hope.

I visit Emanuel after a couple of months' break, and realize the joy he had found while living in the family group home is gone. The first two family reunification applications Emanuel submitted with the help of his former legal representative were deemed somehow flawed, so they have had to submit it three times, paying the application fee each time. In Angola, his mother has to travel several hundred kilometers to another country every time she needs to visit a Finnish embassy, as there is not one in their home country. Emanuel has worked hard during the summer to earn money for application fees, travel to and from the embassy, and accommodation costs during the visits. Recently, it has come out that his earnings cut the social benefits he receives for the rent of his apartment and his studies, and he is left with no income for the coming months. It is the last year of his degree, and he is supposed to finalize his studies and pass major exams. He is exhausted, penniless, and deeply worried about his mother, whose health is wavering. He looks as though he has grown several years older; his face drawn and tired, his hair worn out due to the constant tousling of it he seems to direct his anxiety in. He offers me a simple and cheap but uncompromisingly healthy meal made of rice, onions and frozen fish. While cooking it in a slow and uncoordinated way as if his thoughts were somewhere else all the time, he sighs: What is that Immigration office, is the purpose of it simply to keep people out of Finland?'

Emanuel pretty much hits the nail on the head here: the purpose of the Finnish immigration service is precisely to keep some people out of Finland, while letting other people in. It is a border wall-not a physical wall in the sense of the geographical border in, say, the forest between Finland and Russia—but the keeper of a legal barrier any migrant wishing to enter has to pass. And border walls, Ticktin argues (2017), work not only to defend, but also to define; not only to keep all kinds of things in place, but also to reorder them; not only to hold bodies still (to prevent them from entering), but first and foremost to sort bodies. Border walls separate the ones that can enter from the ones that cannot, or the ones that can, but only with certain conditions. This sorting of bodies takes very concrete forms: for example, the physical border walls erected by the United States and Spain are designed to let certain animal bodies pass. There are holes constructed in the wall for this purpose, big enough for the desired animal body to pass, too small for the unwanted human body to pass—though at the Spanish–Moroccan border Ticktin was told that migrant children occasionally get caught in these holes in an effort to force their bodies through. This way of designing border walls has the purpose of sorting out the bodies whose life matters from those whose life does not matter, Ticktin argues (ibid.). She calls the bodies sorted as unworthy as those deemed "killable", paraphrasing Agamben (1998). I would rather call these unworthy bodies as the ones that can be "let die", paraphrasing Foucault (2003, 241–247) and Das & Poole (2004, 25), or as the ones that can be "exposed to death", paraphrasing Mbembé (2003, 12).

Herein resides the ultimate expression of sovereignty in the age of Foucaldian biopolitics, Mbembé (ibid., 11–12) argues: "To exercise sovereignty is to exercise control over mortality and to define life as the deployment and manifestation of power." This interrelation of biopower and necropower lies at the heart of modern sovereignty, but it is much more visible on the margins of the state than at its centre (Das & Poole 2004, 25; see also Stepputat 2014, 18).

All the young people who have participated in this research have crossed the border wall of the Finnish state and been sorted as bodies whose lives matter. Most of them have claimed refugee status, either as asylum seekers upon entering Finnish territory (as Emanuel, Adel and Denis did), or by registering to the UNHCR in the country to which they had first fled in order to be resettled in some European country as so-called quota refugees (as was the case for Manasse and his family in Rwanda). Some have family members who arrived in Finland first, and the youths in question have followed via a process of family reunification (as with Afrax, whose father came to Finland as an asylum seeker while the other family members fled from Somalia to Kenya, where they waited for the decisions). Nevertheless, while these youths have managed to cross the border wall, many of them have family members who have failed in their attempts to do so. Some have tried to follow their family or relatives as individual asylum seekers, but have not been granted refugee status by the Finnish state. In other cases, family reunification has been applied for but not granted. The family reunification policy of Finland has been tightened several times during the 2000s, with the result that almost no unaccompanied minor asylum seekers get positive decisions in response to their applications (Kuusisto-Arponen, 2016b). It is difficult to put into words the grief, agony, guilt, and extreme loneliness these negative decisions inflict on the youths whose lives the Finnish state has recognized as worthy, thus separating them from their families and other kin deemed unworthy. Adel's advice to other youth facing a similar situation to his was as follows:

Adel: Try to forget everything that has happened before. Try to think a new life. Think positive. I know it is difficult, I have myself tried but have not been able to, but it can help a lot if you think this is gone, this is gone and now it is new and let's try a new life. That can be a really good starting point. I myself tried like forget the family completely, because when I talked about the family I started to really bad... [Pause.] [When] I talked about the family I started to feel bad.

[Pause.]

Elina: Mmm. But can one forget?

Adel: No, one cannot. Elina: One cannot forget?

Adel: One cannot forget. One cannot, I didn't call my family for a long [time]. I said, I will forget completely that family. But I could not.

The case of Emanuel's mother is extreme: in the end they did get a positive decision on their application for family reunification, but, after his mother had spent some two years in Finland, her application for its extension was refused and she was told to leave Finland. In this way, the family reunification policy of the Finnish state inflicts an intensification of the interrelation of biopower and necropower within families in the margins, as the sovereign exercises its power by cutting through family ties, sorting the bodies of the family members into lives that matter and lives that do not, separating the body that is to be fostered and nurtured from the bodies that are to be exposed to death. Rousseau et al. (2001, 40; 56) argue that family separation (of spouses from each other, or of children from their parents) is a key aspect in the psychological well-being of forced migrants, as integral as the (possible) traumas of war itself. Prolonged family separation caused by legislation and bureaucratic practices, Leinonen & Pellander (2020, 119; 124-126) underline, "[...] can be regarded as administrative violence against refugee families." Ironically, the caring face of the state then seeks to heal the traumas caused by the violence effected by its exclusionary and punitive face.

But how is this cut made? Why is Adel categorized as worthy while his sister is not? Why is Emanuel recognized as a refugee, while his mother has so much trouble gaining the status? The arbitrariness or even randomness of the family reunification process (when, say, one out of five siblings is granted a residence permit, but the others are not) serves to expose the fact that the lives of non-European displaced peoples are not considered worthy as such, that they do not have a right to life. As Fassin (2005, 380-381) makes clear, the Schengen Covention of 1985 defined the core European Union member states as a zone that should be defended against aliens: this "racial security"—difficult to name since often masked—"[...] has to do with the protection of a European, Christian, and white civilization against Third World, Muslim, or black populations [...]. [...] asylum seekers and aliens in general are seen as potential threats to [...] European security." Besteman (2019) uses the concept of "militarized global apartheid" to refer to the structural violence enacted by the Global North that cause people from the Global South to die and promotes a particular, hegemonic racial identity. The undesired racialized populations can be exposed to death, and, exceptionally, have their lives spared: Denis is an exception. Adel is an exception. Emanuel and his siblings are exceptions. Afrax and Manasse are exceptions, as are certain members of their families. But what, then, are the grounds for making these exceptions? "Why," asks Fassin (2005, 366), "in societies hostile to immigrants and lacking in concern for undesirable others, there remains a sense of common humanity collectively expressed through attention paid to human needs and suffering?"

According to the Finnish Ministry of the Interior (webpage, emphasis mine): "In its quota policy, Finland emphasises the resettlement of the most *vulnerable* groups, such as families with children and women in a difficult position [...]." The body threatened by violence and its right to life, Fassin notes (2001, 4–5), is being displaced from the political arena, while the suffering body is gaining greater importance and the right to life becomes a humanitarian question. Fassin terms this the "biopolitics of otherness": when the social is reduced to the biological and "the body appears to be the ultimate refuge of a common humanity", the right to healthcare becomes "[...] more comprehensive than any civil or political right, greater than all other social rights" (ibid., 5). Hence, "[...] the suffering body manifests itself as the ultimate [...] resource, supplanting all other social justifications for immigrants to be granted legal status [...]" (ibid., 7).

Under these conditions, it is more acceptable for the state to reject an asylum application by declaring it unfounded than to reject a suffering body by denying it indispensable care (ibid., 4–5). Indeed, during the years I conducted fieldwork, Finland made negative decisions even in asylum cases that the immigration officials deemed *founded* in cases where they estimated that applicants could live in some part of their home country as "internally displaced persons". Asylum has lost much of its legitimacy, the Geneva Convention is implemented in a more restricted way, and asylum seekers are viewed with systematic suspicion, Fassin notes (2005, 368–369). Simultaneously, the management of asylum seekers has been "humanitarianized". In this way, contemporary biopolitics oscillates between sentiments of sympathy and concern for order, "[...] between a politics of pity and policies of control" (Fassin 2005, 366), and refugees, "[...] oscillate between being objects of repression and compassion" (ibid., 376).

The recognition of refugees' political rights is replaced with displays of sympathy: recognition of someone's refugee status turns thus from a fulfillment of a political obligation to "citizens of humanity" (Malkki 1994) into an act of generosity toward a "suffering stranger" (Fassin 2005, 377). These exceptional acts of generosity are performed in order to show a humane face that veils the general state of repression and hence, in the longer run, such acts benefit Fortress Europe and its protected citizens far more than the undesirable migrants (ibid., 382). Finland follows this general European trend dutifully: its refugee quota has been as small as 750 persons

⁸ http://intermin.fi/en/areas-of-expertise/migration/refugees-and-asylum-seekers/quota-refugees

per year during the 21st century (except for 2015 and 2016, when it was augmented to 1050 due to the war in Syria), and in 2009–2011 the centre-right government tightened asylum legislation with several regulations that, taken together, made the process very rigid indeed (Keskinen 2016, 357). This took place before the so-called refugee crisis of 2015–2016, which led to considerable further tightening of asylum policy.

2.2 Encountering governmentality: categorizing bodies, practicing Othering

As several border scholars have argued, bordering does not stop at borders (e.g. Johnson & Jones 2014; Mezzadra & Neilson 2012; van Houtum et al. 2005; Yuval-Davis et al. 2018). Externalization of border regimes, Mezzadra & Neilson (2012, 68) write, "[...] involves the displacement of border control and its technologies beyond the territorial edges of formally unified political spaces", as, for example, when the European Union involves third countries in cooperation regarding the surveillance and control of migratory flows. Simultaneously, internal bordering processes have also proliferated (Yuval-Davis et al. 2018, 230). Such territorial displacement of borders contributes to the emergence of "[...] different degrees of internality and externality, which substitute and blur the clear-cut distinction between inside and outside that was produced by the traditional border of the nation-state" (Mezzadra & Neilson 2012, 68). For my research participants and companions, being granted refugee status and the first residence permit in Finland has not, thus, been a one-off ticket to inclusion in the Finnish nation. As Yuval-Davis et al. (2018, 230-231) argue, these bordering processes are intimately linked to boundaries and political projects of belonging—and, as Barker (2013, 17) brings out, in the Nordic welfare states the structural barriers to belonging are both high and hierarchical. Hierarchies of belonging are partially related to people's formal citizenship status, but not only to that; they profoundly affect their citizenship rights, even if they have been granted formal citizenship (Yuval-Davis et al. 2018, 240).

2.2.1 Hierarchies of formal status

If one enters Finland as a refugee, the first residence permit is usually only valid for one year. Since the application process takes months, one has to apply to extend the first permit pretty much upon receiving it. Taken together, applying for the first and second permits means that one's status is uncertain for the first two or even three years in Finland. The second permit, the so-called extended, or A-permit, is also temporary, and it is valid for four years. After that one can apply for permanent residence—or for citizenship if one also fulfills the other criteria than five years continuous residence in Finland: a sufficient level of language skills in either Finnish or Swedish, 10 which has to be proven by taking a test for the "National Certificate for Language Proficiency" or by providing a certificate of comprehensive/upper secondary/vocational/higher education; establishment of identity, meaning that one has to confirm one's identity with valid proof, e.g. a valid passport issued by the country of origin;¹¹ integrity, meaning that one has not committed any punishable act (offences punished by petty fines are not counted); establishment of livelihood, meaning that one has to report one's source of livelihood and provide a list of all sources of income for the entire preceding period of residence in Finland; and, finally, one must have taken care of so-called "payment obligations under public law", such as taxes, hospital fees, student loans or fines. If one does not fulfill this criteria, one can apply for the permanent "P-permit", which does not need to be renewed: even though one lacks some rights citizens have, at least one's legal status in Finland is finally stable—as long as one doesn't commit major crimes.¹²

In this way, my research participants—along with all other foreigners willing to migrate to Finland—have been, and are, constantly and repeatedly constructed as aliens by the Finnish state. They have to apply for the right to stay in Finland several

-

⁹ This, along with other details in this chapter concerning Finnish policies, were accurate during the years I conducted fieldwork and started writing the monograph. For the most part I have not included possible changes in legislation and practices, since, for the lives of my research participants, the most relevant are the ones they encountered personally.

 $^{^{10}}$ Swedish is also an official language in Finland, and in some areas of the country the majority of the population speaks Swedish.

¹¹ For many refugees from collapsed states, such as Somalia, this considerably complicates (though does not altogether block) the process of obtaining citizenship in Finland.

¹² There are plans for changing this system, as EU countries are negotiating about new harmonized regulations concerning immigration policies. Negotiations have not proceeded very fast due to internal frictions, but part of the plan is to stop giving permanent residence permits to people with refugee status altogether, so as to be able to deport them immediately when the situation in their home countries becomes better.

times, and the temporary nature of their stay is spelled out and extended to last at least five years from the date the first permit has been issued. When submitting their applications, they deal either with so-called "foreigner police" or with the Finnish Immigration Service, Maahanmuuttovirasto, the literal translation of which would be "Immigration Bureau"—though after the initial interviews communication with the state becomes impersonal and indirect, happening mostly by the intermediation of different kinds of forms and applications, often via internet. It is in these continuous applications, letters that declare the decisions, and the documents issued to the young people that their status as a refugee and alien materializes: at the level of everyday life, Das & Poole write (2004, 16), the population, "[...] encounters the state through documents such as ration cards, identity cards, criminal complaints, court papers, birth and death certificates [...]. These documents bear the double sign of the state's distance and its penetration into the life of the everyday." When I started to work with the youths, Afrax and Manasse had already been granted Finnish citizenship, while Emanuel, Denis and Adel carried residence cards marked with either an A or P, signaling the temporary nature of their legal status. When traveling abroad, they carried either an alien's passport or a so-called refugee travel document in their pockets. Once, another young person, who had lived in Finland for nearly ten years but still had not gained citizenship, described his feelings about carrying an alien's passport like this:

Every time I take out my alien's passport I feel strange, I feel like I am not even from planet earth, that I am from outside. They label me alien. Am I not a human?

The power to name, Brubaker and Cooper write (2000, 15–16), to monopolize symbolic force in order to "[...] identify, to categorize, to state what is what and who is who," is sought by the modern state, and it sure is powerful in imposing "[...] the categories, classificatory schemes, and modes of social counting and accounting with which bureaucrats, judges, teachers, and doctors must work and to which non-state actors must refer." Even if the state cannot create identities in the sense of self-identification (ibid., 16), its identifying practices nevertheless have profound effects. "I feel strange", the young man says. It is through these kind of practices, Das and Poole (2004, 17) argue, that the state's pedagogic aspects are manifested; they make subjects "[...] learn the gap between membership and belonging." The practice works: the alien's passport makes one feel that "I am from outside." In Ahmed's (2000, 21; 39) vocabulary, such youth are recognized by the state as strangers, as not belonging, as bodies out of place. Ahmed (ibid., 23–24) writes: "[...] to address somebody as a stranger constitutes the 'you' as the stranger in relation to the one who

dwells [...]", differentiating between the bodies at home and the bodies out of place. When a person has to take out their alien's passport time and again, they are "continually reinterpellated" as a stranger to the Finnish nation.

2.2.2 Daily practices of the state: "integrating immigrants"

It is not only the applications, papers and statuses that do the work of categorization, but also daily welfare state practices, aimed at integrating those refugees it has granted formal status—now considered "immigrants", along with other people who have migrated to Finland for various reasons—as dictated in the Act on the Promotion of Immigrant Integration. In this section, I draw attention to the categorizing effect of this grassroot level integration work. By doing so, I am not implying that newly arrived immigrants should not be offered services in order to learn the language and understand how things in Finland work. Of course this needs to be done. My point here is to point out how the concepts and categories used in this work also repeatedly reinterpellate immigrants as strangers. Also, while all immigrants, regardless of their background, are, in principle, included in the sphere of integration work, in practice this means quite different things for a migrant from a Western country who comes to Finland to work, study, or raise a family than for refugee background people.

In the case of quota refugees, the municipalities that have agreed to receive them also commit to taking care of their integration. During the first years following their arrival, Afrax's family received support from the "Bureau for Foreigners" [ulkomaalaistoimisto], which provided social services for new quota refugees in his home city. Manasse's family, placed in another town, received similar services from "Immigrant Services" [maahanmuuttajapalvelut]. As unaccompanied minor asylum seekers, on the other hand, Denis, Adel and Emanuel were transferred from their respective reception centres to so-called family group homes (and thus, again, to cities new to them) upon receiving a positive decision. The family group home is, in addition to taking care of the basic material needs of the children and supporting them in daily life, responsible for "supporting the children in integrating into Finland," as a leaflet presenting the home in which I conducted fieldwork explains.

Upon their arrival to Finland, Afrax and Manasse started to go to comprehensive school. There, they first attended so called "preparatory teaching" [valmistava opetus]: children with "immigrant background" who do not have the language and/or learning skills considered necessary for attending normal teaching are usually placed

in separate classes with special curricula. Usually, the children attend preparatory teaching for about one year, but they can be transferred to ordinary classes earlier too, if they are thought ready for it.¹³ The same holds for unaccompanied minors, but, as Emanuel, Denis and Adel were already near the age limit for compulsory education (16 in Finland at the time) when receiving residence permits and being placed in their new home cities, they attended basic education designed for "adult immigrants", which includes a preparatory stage and, after that, a compressed curriculum of basic education.¹⁴ When I started my fieldwork, Emanuel and Adel were doing the final courses of this compressed basic education, while Denis and Afrax had started vocational education (in ordinary classes—vocational schools have classes with special curricula for immigrants too, both preparatory and at degree level), and Manasse, who has proved to be an extraordinarily fast learner, had already graduated from vocational school (ordinary curricula), was unemployed and looking for a job. During fieldwork, Emanuel completed his compressed basic education and started to study at a vocational school (ordinary curricula), while Afrax graduated from vocational school (ordinary curricula) and started to work.

A special "integration plan" [kotoutumissuunnitelma] has been made for Emanuel, Denis and Adel, as they are unaccompanied minors. In the case of other immigrants, the integration plan is made if the person is unemployed or receives supplementary benefits for a longer period, if the person asks for such a plan, or if social workers think it necessary. It can also be made for whole families if the family needs extra support, which is the case for both Manasse's and Afrax's families. The integration plan is made with either the job centre or with municipal social workers, and includes plans for language education, other education or job seeking, and other measures that are seen as supporting the integration of the person/family.¹5 If a person has an effective integration plan, they are entitled to receive so-called "integration support" [kotoutumistuki], a benefit equivalent to unemployment benefits. At the beginning of my fieldwork, this was the main source of income for Emanuel, Adel and Denis. Paradoxically, though, the system for applying for integration support was so

¹³ Both children who have migrated themselves, and children whose parents are immigrants, are admitted to these classes. The reasons for migrating have no importance: children with refugee background study together with children whose parents have moved to Finland for work or other reasons. The curricula is compiled by Finnish National Agency for Education [Opetushallitus] (2017a).

¹⁴ All of them, as underage asylum seekers, were also attending school during the asylum process. When they move to their new hometowns, the municipality in question estimates what kind of schooling fits the child's skills and needs. The compressed basic education curricula is also compiled by the Finnish National Agency for Education (2017b).

¹⁵ On integration plans, see the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment's special integration webpage (2017).

complicated (you were supposed to fill in a convoluted online application independently every twenty days, which thus does not follow any calendar logic) that at least Emanuel never quite learned to use it—I once found him totally out of money, relying on a big stash of bananas and oatmeal porridge, since no one had had time to help him with the application. Manasse and Afrax, on the other hand, who already were Finnish citizens, relied either on incomes from work or on the general social security system. Even so, I learned from Afrax that in cases of unemployment they could get special services designed for "immigrant youth" from the local job centre, provided by an "integration team" [koto-tiimi]. The official services organized by the state are supplemented by numerous NGO projects that offer a wide variety of support services to immigrant background people, and all my research participants have been involved in these kinds of projects either occasionally or almost continuously.

As has perhaps become clear in the above, the concept used extensively for integration work in Finnish is *kotoutua*, to "become at home". ¹⁶ It is used in two senses: as the work done by Finnish officials for the immigrants in order to make them feel at home [*kotouttaa*], and as the work the immigrants are expected to carry out in order to make themselves at home [*kotoutua*]. When advancing in this work of becoming at home, the immigrant moves gradually from the realm of special services to the realm of general state services. This is a slow process, however, and the need to work fervently for integration year in, year out, serves to intensify the effects of being categorized as a body out of place, still not quite at home. Kurki (2018, 63) proposes the concept "immigrantization" for integration policies and practices that work to produce "immigrant subjects". ¹⁷

2.2.3 Never full citizens?

Some of my research participants have indeed managed to climb relatively high in the hierarchy of belonging. Some already have, and others are currently applying for, Finnish citizenship. The majority speak very fluent Finnish and write quite well. Most have a vocational degree, and some are aspiring for higher education. Many have,

_

¹⁶ Kotoutua is a neologism invented solely for describing the integration process of immigrants, and as such it is difficult to translate.

¹⁷ For some, this process is never-ending. This is especially the case for illiterate immigrants, such as Afrax's mother, who tend to get stuck in a cycle of courses and support services that never lead to a level of "education" that would be recognized in Finland, or for employment in anything other than underpaid support jobs (such as "work try-out practice" or the like).

after some struggles, gotten employed, and some even have steady jobs—though all in low-paid service or manual work. The majority have friends, both ethnic Finns and others. Still, when I met one of them just a couple of days ago, he told me that he feels like he has reached his limits and cannot bear living in Finland, as he feels that he will never be accepted as a member of this society as he is. The final straw was finding out that the fact that he studied Finnish as a second language, instead of as his mother tongue, in vocational school has consequences for his chances of gaining university education. I can bear with everyday street racism, he said, but facing discriminatory structures in central institutions of society feels overwhelming: I feel powerless.

Another clear manifestation of the hierarchy of belonging is the ethnic profiling certain officials tend to commit. As the young men who participated in this research project know themselves, and as recent research has shown (Keskinen et al. 2018), the Finnish police, the Finnish Border Guard and private security companies—to whom some policing tasks are delegated—all practice ethnic profiling. It is especially young men belonging to racialized minorities who are targeted by practices of ethnic profiling, an effect of which is that they "[...] make the persons stopped aware of the fact that they are perceived of as 'others'—those not belonging to the country where they live and perhaps were also born—and in some cases, as those expected to commit criminal acts because of their ethnic or racial backgrounds." (Ibid.) Schclarek Mulinari & Keskinen (2020, 16) argue that this stems from the Nordic welfare states themselves, which, while they are officially based on colour-blind universalism and egalitarianism, are in practice organized along lines of racial hierarchies that equate whiteness with nation state belonging.¹⁸

As young and male, my research companions are also targets of other kinds of governmental practices that, despite perhaps benevolent intentions, also often work as Othering. Young people as such are often seen either to be at risk or as risks; either especially vulnerable or threatening—the latter especially holds for young Muslim men—and thus in need of the intervention of social and youth services (Horton & Pyer 2017, 13). As Rättilä (2006, 52) claims, the Finnish discourse on the (non-)participation and (wrong kind of) activity of youths constructs them as categorically untrustworthy "not-quite-citizens". This, in turn, legitimizes a top-down relationship between authorities and the youth, who are then studied, disciplined, and guided towards the right kind of citizenship (ibid., 52).

¹⁸ It is worth bringing up, though, that certain features of Nordic states point to fractures *within* European whiteness, with certain groups—such as Russians in Finland—being perceived as less white than others (Schclarek Mulinari & Keskinen 2020, 17).

Last, but not least, are the relationships with people who are higher up the hierarchy of belonging: those citizens whose belonging to the Finnish nation state, and entitlement to its welfare services, is unquestioned (at least on racial/ethnic grounds). As several studies have shown, racism is recurrent in everyday life in Finland, from early childhood education (Non-discrimination Ombudsman 2020), to schools (Souto 2011), working life (Ahmad 2020; Larja et al. 2012; Lehmuskunnas et al. 2020; Pohjanpää et al. 2003; Wrede & Nordberg 2010) and in general (FRA 2019; Jasinskaja-Lahti et al. 2002; Non-discrimination Ombudsman 2020; Rastas 2007). It is not only hostility or fearful attitudes that produce Othering; exoticizing admiration (Loftsdóttir 2017, 75) or well-meaning compassion can contribute to racialization and an experience of being seen as essentially different (Rastas 2002, 11). On the other hand, racialized minorities are currently creating forums and communities of people with whom they can share their experiences of racism and act politically in order to make the meanings of the category of race visible (Rastas 2019, 367-368). In this way, as Yuval-Davis et al. (2018, 230) argue, bordering processes are intimately linked to political projects of defining who belongs and who does not, championed by individuals and collectivities.

This is just a brief sketch of the sociohistorical context in which my research participants and their families live their everyday lives, and of their "precarious inclusion" (Karlsen 2015) in the Finnish welfare nation state. The empirical chapters of this dissertation will dwell on these issues in more depth, unfolding them from various vantage points anchored in particular, mundane moments. It is these kinds of processes of governance, bordering, and politics of belonging that work to categorize the young people this research concerns. Such categorizations have a profound effect on the subject positions that are available or offered to such youths in particular situations. Different intersections of such categories as male, person of colour, refugee, immigrant, Muslim or Christian, and young person produce various positionings that very often—though, it is worth underlining, not always—emphasize the difference of the person who is placed in them. These positionings are not always racialized, though often race/ethnicity does play some kind of role in their formation. The differentiating subject positions under scrutiny in this study are in some way Othering, and thus excluding. Furthermore, they are often on one hand restricting—they allow certain kinds of acts and behaviour, while being resistant to others—and, on the other, formative—they foster the formation of certain kinds of subjectivities (as proposed, for example, by Kurki [2018] with her concept of immigrantization). How young people react to and act upon or against the subject positions offered to them is the primary focus of this study.

2.3 Across the Finnish border: global migration & transnational ties

In this chapter, I have chiefly examined what happens after young people have managed to cross the border wall. In order to understand refugee background youths' lives, it is also necessary to acknowledge what happened before crossing the border. The experiences of the youths are embedded in a large constellation of global migration, of which forced migration is an intrinsic part. Finland, as a nation state, is a part of what Malkki (1995) calls the national order of things: a global system of territorial national states, a cultural grammar that speaks the language of nationhood. The national order of things secretes displacement, Malkki argues (ibid., 516): as a system based on an idea of sedentary culture, it presupposes borders and governance of cross-border mobility. As I have shown above, it is those very borders that sort bodies, categorizing some into extremely vulnerable positions. The immigration laws of the Global North, de Genova (2002, 439) argues, produce "illegal" subjects; denial of residence permits (whether the application is based on seeking asylum, labour, or family ties) generates undocumented migrants whose very presence is criminalized and fundamental human rights denied. Furthermore, de Genova (ibid., 438) claims, deportation is a putative goal of this apparatus, which thus works to produce a condition of deportability: "The category 'illegal alien' is a profoundly useful and profitable one that effectively serves to create and sustain a legally vulnerable—and hence, relatively tractable and thus 'cheap'—reserve of labor" (ibid., 439–440). Fear of deportation or ending up undocumented is (or has been at some point in time) palpable in the cases of the young people this research is about, either concerning themselves or some of their family members.

Manasse's family managed to enter Finland via the quota system, and Afrax, together with his mother and siblings, as a family member of a recognized refugee. In this sense they were lucky in comparison with Denis, Adel and Emanuel. Due to a lack of other ways of entering Finland, they had first to cross the border clandestinely and subsequently seek asylum. Here, they have had to set foot in the grey zone of irregularized migration; between what is considered legal and what is considered illegal. Entering EU countries without the necessary documents is illegal, even though seeking asylum is a human right. Facing this contradiction means putting oneself at risk. In Emanuel's case, the risk was moderate as soon as he got out of Angola: he was helped by people with resources and selfless motives, and did not have to cross the Mediterranean Sea, as he traveled mostly by plane. As for Denis and Adel, I know very few details of their journeys to Europe and Finland. I know

that Adel took the so-called Eastern Mediterranean migration route, finding his way from the Middle East to Greece and then onwards. The Central or Western Mediterranean route was Denis' most likely passage. Knowing how vulnerable underage asylum seekers are to different forms of exploitation on these trips, I did not want to question them about this issue at all, and neither were they eager to talk about it unprompted. As the travel has to be done clandestinely, it happens via dangerous routes over land and sea, and deaths and disappearances are not uncommon. Taking these routes often presupposes getting involved in the unregulated markets of organized human smuggling. "A growing body of evidence is beginning to highlight the scale and scope of exploitation experienced by migrants along these routes, including human trafficking", Galos et al. (2017, xiv) write, stating that 37% of the migrants interviewed for their report had experienced human trafficking or other exploitative practices. Children, Galos et al. (ibid., xvi) underline, "[...] are exposed to similar risk factors as adults but are less able to address their own vulnerabilities." In another report concerning unaccompanied Afghan children seeking asylum, Mougne (2010, 21) states that the "[...] risks encountered by children who use the services of such networks [of organized smuggling] are incalculable [...]." The smugglers often intimidate the children, keeping them under tight control, treating them violently and controlling their possibilities for keeping in touch with their families. While crossing the Mediterranean in overcrowded vessels is generally among the most traumatic experiences for these children, being detained in difficult conditions in different locations while waiting for the next part of the journey to begin, working during the trip in order to cover costs (in cases where the family is not able to pay the whole fee) or being mistreated because of failing to pay by an agreed deadline and crossing dangerous mountain areas are also reported as very difficult experiences (ibid., 18).

To understand refugee youths' struggles after crossing the border wall, it is essential to bear these large constellations of global migration in mind, along with their highly vulnerable position in the national order of things. Furthermore, it is equally essential to remember that what exists and has happened across the border does not cease to exist after crossing it. All the young people who have taken part in this research have transnational family ties, even though some are—at least for the time being—broken, as family members are now missing. Most have at least some contact to their country of origin, and some have plenty. Some interact with other members of their diaspora communities as well, both physically in their current home surroundings, and virtually via social media (though, it ought to be mentioned, not all of them have these kind of networks: some are surprisingly alone). These

transnational contacts come up here and there in the course of this study. However, I have not discussed transnational aspects at length for two main reasons. The first is the focus of this dissertation; it focusses on what happens here, inside the border wall, in the embodied encounters of everyday life. I thus aim to point out the importance of transnational ties, though I cannot dwell on them. The second has to do with my research participants' wishes and anonymity: in most cases, when they asked me to leave something out of this dissertation, it concerned their family members or certain details about them. In many instances I would not write about these issues even if the youths themselves would allow me to: there are too many details that would risk their anonymity too gravely. I will go into this and other methodological and ethical questions in detail in the next chapter.

3 FIELD & WORK: METHODOLOGY, SITES, ETHICS

In this chapter, I move from the sociohistorical context of this research to its more immediate surroundings. First, I describe the ethnographic fieldwork I have carried out, shedding light on both my methodological choices (and those imposed on me) and actual fieldwork settings, and introduce my research sites and participants in more detail. Following that, I scrutinize ethical questions faced during this research project, before opening the process of analyzing and interpreting my data.

3.1 Conducting fieldwork

Since my research topic is mundane political agency, which, as I understand it, covers a wide range of acts, from bodily reactions and strategies to more articulate expressions, long-term ethnographic fieldwork has felt like a necessity. From the outset, I aspired to gather data which is not only discursive, but also comprises detailed observation of what people actually do and how they relate to each other. On the other hand, concentrating on these bodily choreographies (Puumala et al. 2011, 86) alone would bypass the ways the young people themselves understand and explain their acts and aspirations, and their longer range efforts—hence the necessity of long-term interaction with my key interlocutors. My understanding of what ethnographic fieldwork can mean, however, has changed considerably along the way.

I started my training in anthropology at the end of the 90s, at a time when classical anthropological fieldwork was both cherished and critically re-examined. Our professor's answer to criticisms from undergraduate students—that they gained insufficient experience of fieldwork practices during their education—was that they would love to do fieldwork trips with students, if only the department had sufficient funding, as, "the climate in the field is so pleasant." Another lecturer told us to carefully consider which kind of recording devices we would take to the field with us, as minidiscs, then popular, are vulnerable to humidity and therefore were not a good solution for working in "the tropics". For them, "the field" meant certain islands in the South Pacific, and, accordingly, we were trained to appreciate the kind of fieldwork Gupta & Ferguson (1997, 11–12) call "archetypal": the kind in which a

lone, white fieldworker, able in a masculine way, lives for an extended period (we were told that three months of fieldwork was the minimal period for an MA thesis, and two years for PhD theses) among "natives" in a clearly delimited field site far away from "home". Of course, not everyone accommodated this ideal and nor were they reproached for this. Still, we heard only echoes of discussions already taking place in other arenas regarding the exoticizing and Othering implications of classical anthropological ideas about "the field" as radically separate and different from "home" (e.g. Amit 2000; Gupta & Ferguson 1997), or the needs to adjust fieldwork practices and constructions of "the field" in a "world in motion" (Rapport 2000, 73), in which not only ethnographers but also their subjects move and increasingly have transnational connections (Marcus 1995; Olwig & Hastrup 1997).

It is thus not surprising that my research plan for this dissertation was informed by ideals central to archetypal fieldwork. Because of planning to do fieldwork in Finland, and, in that sense, "at home", I felt the need to emphasize that I nevertheless sought to "immerse myself in the field"—by which I probably meant roughly the same thing as Amit (2000, 2), when she describes the familiar picture of fieldwork, "[...] where the ethnographer will immerse him/herself in personal face-to-face relationships with a variety of natives over an extended period of time." I already had trouble defining what my "field", and who my "natives", were. Having worked with refugee and immigrant background youth, I was intently aware of the diversity of their backgrounds and situations. Treating them as a "target group" would be violent, in the sense that it would work to (re)construct them as a specific category, separated from other Finnish (non-)citizens (Haikkola 2014, 88–89), which is pretty much the opposite of what I wished my project to contribute to. Also, I did not want to limit my research participants on the basis of their ethnic origins, partly because this kind of "methodological ethnicity" risks essentializing, and naturalizing, ethnic groups, over-emphasizing the significance of national or ethnic background (ibid., 87; Glick Schiller 2008, 3-4), and partly because I believed that there were many experiences that immigrant background youth in Finland shared, despite the notable diversity of the group. Hence, I could not plan to do classical fieldwork in the sense of concentrating on certain cultural areas or language groups either: the youths with whom I wished to work came from a vast geographical area and spoke various languages. It also meant that I could not use their mother tongues when conducting fieldwork, since learning several languages to the extent necessary would have taken years; I mainly spoke Finnish with the youths, supplementing this with a few words of English or Spanish when that helped our mutual communication.

Faced with such problems, I decided to "let the field site construct itself during the fieldwork process" when designing my research plan: I adopted the idea of the site as social rather than geographical from Hage (2005, 465–466), and was hoping to gain understanding of the community/ies my research participants align with during my research. From the outset, I delimited the group I planned to work with in one way: by limiting the research to one gender only, choosing boys and young men for the reasons described in the introductory chapter. At this point, I planned to work with a rather large group of young immigrant background boys and men in one city only. I had a vague idea that this group might, at least to an extent, be thought to form a kind of subculture, or at least a social group, in the sense that there would be some pattern to the places or communities in which they experience a sense of belonging or non-belonging, which they align with or against.

Unsurprisingly, things did not work out quite as planned. My endometriosis aggravated the very autumn I got a position as a PhD candidate, and in a couple of months I was on a sick leave waiting for major surgery. It took a year to return to work: I then started working as a research assistant on AK's research project regarding the transnational memories and sense of belonging of unaccompanied minor asylum seeker background youths. My main task was to do ethnographic fieldwork in a family group home for minors who were granted asylum together with AK, and to work individually with three young men who had come of age and moved out from the home (I will describe both in more detail in the next subchapter). This period came closest to my initial understanding of "immersing myself in the field": working in the family group home approximated classical fieldwork in that it was a bounded setting with a culture of its own, the youths and staff of the home had longstanding social relations with each other and, for several months, with us as participating observers. During the four-month period I worked with AK it became clear, however, that the operation I had gone through did not have the results hoped for. This meant that I also needed to rethink my research plan. Instead of either abandoning my research project or working with a large group of young people, I decided to try to carry on by working individually with a few young men whom I already knew and could work with in a dialogic and flexible manner, adjusting the intensity of the work with my fluctuating energy levels. I was feeling uncertain about proceeding in a condition in which I could not know if I could actually bring my research to a conclusion; I found it ethically problematic to involve youths in a project that was on such shaky ground, and felt that the only solution was to work with youth I was on close enough terms with to be open about my physical condition and its consequences.

This meant that I had to abandon my initial ideal of "immersing myself" in "the field". There was no field, really: I ended up working with three young men who had very different backgrounds, life situations, aspirations and social lives, and who lived in different locations—all in the biggest Finnish cities (one or several, since work or studies made some of them move during the fieldwork), but none in the capital region. The idea of "letting the field construct itself" during the process was obviously unworkable in a context in which the only common factors shared by these young men were that they were all refugees from the Global South, all identified as male, were all young, and all lived in Finland. Furthermore, my initial idea had been to do fieldwork with the youths as extensively as possible, encompassing all the areas of their lives to the extent they would allow me to. This was far too ambitious for my sick body, and I had no choice but to settle for something of much more limited scope. In the end, this turned out to be a combination of meetings in private and conducting participant observation in one area of the lives—either at school, work, or free-time activity—of my research companions (I will describe this in more detail in the second subchapter below). In the beginning, I was quite disappointed by this turn, and felt that my fieldwork would inevitably be somehow lacking. I found it surprisingly difficult to let go of my ableness in relation to the youth. In the case of both Manasse and Afrax, whom I had gotten to know in the context of youth work, I was accustomed to being the person who is, in the last resort, responsible for what happens, how it happens, and why it happens. Emanuel, in turn, is one of the young people I worked individually with in AK's research project, and even though we were thus used to being in a research relationship with one another, AK's project was far more concise and my role in it was clearly to be the one leading the work. But now I was in a situation in which continuing the research required me to show my fragile condition and the subsequent uncertainty around my project and the way of carrying it out: "It is darned difficult to change my role from being the person who takes care, knows, is able and guides others, to someone who doesn't have strength, doesn't know and isn't able, but asks the young people to join as companions in a very uncertain journey", I wrote in my field reflections.

Letting go of my fieldwork ideals and my role as an able researcher turned out to be inspiring and instructive as well. Not having a clear idea of how to conduct my project, and having to be open with the youths about the possibility that I might not be able to see it to an end at all, served to clarify what was most important: that which mattered most to the young people themselves, and a way of working that would either be useful for them, fun, or both. I realized that the project could not

only be something that I wanted to carry out, and for which I would carry the responsibility alone, but that it should be something that the youths wanted to do, too, and that they would support for their own part. This opened some leeway for much more participatory working methods than I had initially thought would be possible; it helped me to orientate fieldwork less as a necessary research task, to be carried out as efficiently as possible, and instead concentrate more peacefully on being together and sharing those parts of the youths' lives that they wanted me to see and understand and that I was able to participate in. This, I slowly realized, fitted well with my understanding of the political as matters that have particular importance to the people in question; working with a loosely defined framework actually gave space and time for those matters to emerge at their own pace and catch my attention. This led to an awareness, too, of the way my sickness on one hand limited the scope of my fieldwork, but on the other facilitated a deep involvement in these three young men's lives. Perhaps I was not immersed in "the field" in quite the way I had pictured—some kind of deep dive into some pre-existent, separate life-world of the youths in question—but I was certainly, and partly still am, immersed in our mutual relationships. From this realization grew an understanding of "the field" as encompassing myself as part and parcel of the lives of these young people, and vice versa. As Amit (2000, 6) writes, "[...] in a world of infinite interconnections and overlapping contexts, the ethnographic field cannot simply exist, awaiting discovery." In my research, this was particularly clear as I conducted fieldwork "at home" in two senses: both in my home country (and partly in my home city), and with familiar young people, in many instances in situations and surroundings with which I was already acquainted. Yet, despite the benefits brought about by my disabilities, they also inflicted considerable limitations. First, I was, for the most part, unable to participate in the free-time hanging around of my research participants, and thus my observations of their informal interaction with their peers are few and far between. Second, to limit the scope of my fieldwork, I did not actively follow the youths' self-expression on social media forums. As the few glimpses I did catch of these areas of the young people's lives indicate, both would be significant in understanding the scope of their political agency. This is a lack in my work that I certainly hope I or other researchers can address in future.

Furthermore, considering the semi-big Finnish cities we all lived in as "the field" did not free me from issues regarding "methodological control", as Passaro (1997, 152) puts it. What kind of "field site" is this? What kind of fieldwork can one do in a setting which is, on one hand, a somewhat unbounded environment, and, on the other, strictly limited in terms of the number of interlocutors? In her own research

among homeless people in New York, Passaro struggled with similar problematics: she did not want to delimit the boundaries of her field site in advance by focusing either on some "manageable" subgroup, such as residents of a certain homeless shelter, or by imagining the homeless to form somewhat coherent social group(s), a kind of subculture(s) of their own (ibid., 151–152). Originally, I had planned to do something in the direction of the former: of working with a bigger group of youth that would be "anchored" somehow and somewhere, and thus possible to handle as a unit of analysis. Now, with these three individual young men living apart, this did not work out. Nor did I want my research to reconstruct them in terms of a category, as explicated above: I could not, and nor did I wish to, treat them in any one-sided way, merely as representatives of some such unit as "immigrant youth" or "refugee youth", imagined to be somehow coherent. Instead, I wanted to inquire what kind of consequences these very categorizations have in their daily lives and how they act on those consequences.¹⁹

Instructed by Ahmed's (2000; 2004) work on everyday encounters as moments in which difference and similarity are constituted, I chose to focus on observing the embodied encounters of my research participants with the people around them in the variety of sites that I worked in. I paid specific attention to how people related to each other; how they addressed one another by such various means as touch, speech, facial expressions and gestures, and how they withdrew from interaction. This focus developed during research with AK in the family group home, and, as I found it useful, I continued along the same lines in my own research project. In this way, my "field site" turned out to be embodied and momentary, and its central focus came to be the very processes of (re)constructing and challenging the categories that work to objectify immigrant background youth as a bounded group of Others. I did not limit my observation of these kinds of encounters only to situations in which one of my three key research companions were present and in a central role, though of course these situations comprise a notable part of my data as I spent time with them systematically. My data regarding encounters in which difference and similarity are constituted, however, encompasses a much larger number of youths and variety of situations. Thus, I find it safe to claim that the selection of Othering encounters that emerges from my data is, while not exhaustive, at least all too familiar to many

⁻

¹⁹ Notwithstanding this aim, using the terms "refugee background" and "immigrant background" in research risks reconstructing the categories in problematic ways. Yet, as Haikkola (2014, 96) points out, as researchers we have to use some terms that name these kinds of societal positionings in order to make structural inequalities visible.

immigrant and refugee background young people living in Finland, and not only to my key research companions.

What is unique to my data, however, and applicable only to my key research companions, is the way they acted in these encounters. When observing this, I focused on their bodily being in space and its ways of relating with other people. Being deeply involved in the lives of these three young men permitted a thick description of the bodily choreographies they each deployed in their everyday encounters, as well as reflecting my observations and interpretations. As my relationship with Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel evolved, and our discussions of, and my understanding about, their personal aspirations and projects gained depth, the modes of agency discernible in these long-term endeavours cropped up as another focus of attention along with the more immediate forms of agency that arose in momentary encounters. Working with a bigger group would not have allowed this, and in the process I learned to value the nuances and profoundness of the data our cooperation yielded. While the specific ways of acting of these three particular young men are not generalizable as such in any way, they testify to some of the means and modes of agency young people in this kind of situations deploy, and something about the agility with which they are used. At the same time, the unique avenue I found each young person pursuing helped deconstruct the image of immigrant and/or refugee youth as forming a coherent social group.

In the end, then, my fieldwork was temporally and geographically sporadic and comprised various settings. In the following two sections I will delineate these in more detail to give a more comprehensive picture of the situations and environments in which I worked, and after that introduce my key research participants.

3.1.1 Institutional homes as field sites

I started fieldwork with AK in the family group home in autumn 2014. The home was located in one of the big cities in Southern Finland (not in the capital region); a biggish, old, brick building, in which there were two floors, two spacious kitchens and a living room, and in which each young person had their own room. Some fifteen young people lived at the home at the time, about two thirds of them boys and one third girls (the numbers kept changing, as new young people move in sporadically and the ones who turn 18 move out), all of them young people who had come to Finland as unaccompanied minor asylum seekers and who had been granted refugee status and residence permits. Most of them were teenagers, but there were also a few

children around the age of ten. A couple of young people only spent their afternoons in the home, as they lived with relatives. A few of the others also had relatives in Finland, though most were completely alone in the country. The majority came either from Somalia, the Democratic Republic of Congo (hereafter DR Congo), Afghanistan or Iraq. We were not informed about details of their backgrounds beforehand, and nor did we ask about them, unless the youths themselves wanted to tell us—though some information on their situations inevitably reached our ears during the time we spent in the home. Some had lost their families for good, some did not know whether their family members were alive or not, and some had families either in their home countries or in some other country and kept regular contact with them. As for the home itself, its aim was, on one hand, to support the youths' integration to Finnish society, and, on the other, to teach them the skills they would need when coming of age and moving out of the home. This meant teaching basic skills such as cooking and cleaning, taking care of bureaucracy and one's economy, and supporting the youths in their studies and free-time activities (sometimes it almost felt like an obsession that each young person should have a hobby). There was an educated and dedicated group of staff, a nurse and a regular social worker, and many of the youths were offered psychotherapy, or at least conversational therapy with a psychologist.

We visited the home regularly, once or twice a week, sometimes together and sometimes individually. Each time we spent several hours in the home, and we took care to visit both on regular days, when the everyday life of the home was running its own course, and on special occasions, such as monthly house meetings, parties (birthday parties and Christmas celebrations), and a one-day event in which the staff and the youth planned the coming year's activities and events together. During the special days, our role was more observational, though of course we also helped out with some of the preparations when needed. During regular days we spent time in the house, mostly in the kitchens (there were two: one for the younger ones, for whom a chef prepared their meals, and another for the older ones, who cooked for themselves), in which the youth tended to gather, or together with one or two young people in the living room or in the youth's own rooms, if invited to enter. There were moments when the house was very quiet and the young people were either out or wanted to stay alone in their rooms, and on these occasions we spent time speaking to staff members. But there were also times when the house was full of life and we were occupied doing homework or household chores with the young people, or surfing around for music videos they liked and wanted to show us, or just chatting and joking. We kept a common field diary, where we both wrote our own description

of the day and a reflection of our feelings or observations. I carried a notebook with me in the home, sometimes jotting notes down openly, not only because I found it useful to have at least some conversations written down verbatim, but also to remind the youths that I was constantly doing research and to discuss that with them. AK did not find this practice natural to her, so her notes are written afterwards and quotes are not verbatim.

Even though the time I spent doing fieldwork in the home was relatively short—of my four-month period as AK's research assistant, it took almost two months to negotiate our access to the home as researchers, and I thus participated in the everyday life of the home for about two months—many of the common, yet dramatic, issues regarding these young people's lives in Finland came up. Two turned eighteen and had to move out, which was a very difficult and frightening step for both of them. One received a negative decision on his family reunification application. Two had arrived to Finland and the home recently, and were going through a difficult period adjusting to the new situation. There were also some problems with aggressive behaviour, either concerning some of the youths living in the home, or guests that came to birthday parties, and the police were called at least once during our fieldwork period. On the other hand, there were also lots of moments of joy and expressions of care and togetherness—the Christmas celebration I was present at has, in particular, stayed in my mind as a moment of extraordinary warmth and happiness. And, of course, there were ordinary days when nothing special seemed to go on, everyone was occupied with their own things, and we went along with this common flow.

Along with my work with AK in this institutional home, I also worked in three other homes, roughly two to three months in each, about once a week or two. These were the homes of three young men who had already moved out of the group home and lived on their own, supported by a so-called aftercare youth worker, who visited them each once a week to check how they were doing and help with bureaucracy and practical issues. I was introduced to these young men by this aftercare worker, after explaining what the research was about and asking their willingness to participate. The flats the youths lived in were rented either by city, student, or other organizations that aim to provide inexpensive housing, and the support offered the youths was organized by an NGO and funded by the city council. All of these young people preferred to meet me in their homes; I also met each a couple of times someplace else (such as a café or restaurant), but that was exceptional. They all lived in suburbs, none of them in the areas immigrant background people tend to concentrate in in this particular city, but in small, somewhat characterless areas in

which a dozen or so blocks of flats are crammed between major roads and small patches of greenery, accompanied by a small grocery store, one or two bars, and perhaps a gym.

Even though these were the young people's own homes, they were, in a sense, extensions of the family group home, liminal spaces between the institutional home and private, personal homes. When the young people move out from the home, they are legally entitled to receive "aftercare", which, in practice, means support finding housing, gaining education, maintaining social capacities and psychological wellbeing, and guaranteeing sufficient income and health care. Even though the youths are, in principle, allowed to have a say in these things, they were heavily pressured by the staff of the family group home and the aftercare workers to accept the first flat offered them, regardless of whether they liked it, or the area in which it was located, or not. The aftercare worker helped the youths find the necessary furniture and in decorating what were the first homes of their own, and the rationale of her weekly visits was also to monitor how they coped with household tasks and with keeping up with the rhythms of daily life. When I first visited the three young men I worked with, I was astonished by the likeness of their homes: All were single flats decorated with black and white furniture and textiles-there were even similar curtains in two of the flats. All had a big, black, artificial leather sofa, a coffee table made of glass with a TV set behind it, long curtains covering all the windows, and otherwise simple furnishings; nothing but the necessary bed and table at which to eat and work. All kept their flats very tidy and organized. They were flats in which the youths were supported, and guided, in the work of building a home of one's own-according to Finnish norms. None of these young people had ever lived alone, and probably never expected to do so, coming from large families and backgrounds far removed from the Finnish norm of moving out at the age of eighteen and living alone until forming a nuclear family of one's own. Now they were all located in one bedroom flats in average suburbs in a semi-big Finnish city, and feeling at home in these flats was anything but self-evident for them. Some of them seemed to adjust to this situation and gradually make themselves at home, but others did not. These three homes, then, constituted part of a field site for me, the nucleus of which was the family group home.

As I started working with these young men, I offered them two possibilities: the first was to do things they found either useful for themselves, or which were fun to do together, and the second was doing specific research tasks. In each case we ended doing both, though emphasis was definitely on the useful things: all of them wanted us to study together, primarily maths, and I spent hours doing homework and

preparing for exams with each of them. The fun part consisted mainly of eating and chatting, and I also did some driving practice with one of the youths; he had recently gotten a drivers' license, but had no car to maintain his skills, so I requisitioned AK's to provide him this opportunity. As for the research tasks, AK and I had thought of different methods in advance, and I suggested four possibilities to the youths (leaving the door open, of course, for their own suggestions): first, that they would take photographs of their daily life, which we would then discuss together; second, that we could compose maps of the important places of their life; third, that we could do walks in the areas of the city that are meaningful for them and talk while doing so; and, fourth, that I could provide them access to equipment for producing some creative stuff around the research questions (like music, drawing, or writing). Two of the young people chose to use photos, and the discussions around them proved extremely illuminating. One was not very keen on doing research tasks, but did once compile a map of important places in his life, showing some genuine interest in the task. With all of them the most fruitful way of working—unsurprisingly—was simply spending time together, often starting with homework and then, when we ran out of steam, continuing chatting in an informal atmosphere over a cup of tea. Mostly I did not use a recorder when spending time with the youths, but memorized our discussions as best I could, writing notes straight after our meetings. I did use a recorder when discussing the photos they took, and when doing a semi-structured interview I conducted with each of them at the end of my fieldwork. I let the youths know that they could turn the recorder off whenever they wanted, or say aloud if they happened to say something they did not wish us to use in our research, though none of them did so.

This field site does not play a big role in this dissertation, however. It has, nevertheless, been of significant importance for me, especially for understanding the position of refugee background youth in the Finnish liberal welfare state, and I use material that sheds light on this specifically in chapters 5.1 and 5.2. The encounters between the youths and the staff at the family group home have been particularly illuminating. They visit these pages only in passing, however, and I find it unnecessary to dwell on their particular situations and backgrounds here. Instead, I introduce the three young men who were former residents of the home and who appear more regularly within the pages of this work. Their backgrounds and life situations are accurate examples of the other youths residing in the home, too, and give the reader sufficient information on what it means in practice to have a background as "an unaccompanied minor asylum seeker" in Finland. Before introducing them, however, I will first outline my fieldwork proper.

3.1.2 Field sites as home(s)

In comparison with the period of fieldwork as part of AK's research project, my own fieldwork was of quite different nature. As mentioned, it was both temporally sporadic and geographically dispersed, though, on the other hand, I was in some ways always in the field during it, as I came to understand that I actually shared a home with my research companions. It was not only the same country, and sometimes the same city, we lived in, thus sharing the national and local sociocultural context, but also often localities that we all were quite familiar with: multicultural youth spaces and projects, sports and music venues, such as futsal halls and football fields, on the one hand, and subcultural concert joints on the other, Finnish schools, and public city space with its parks, libraries and cafés for example. We also literally shared our homes as fieldwork sites, with Emanuel, especially, preferring to meet either at his place or mine, and I often met and worked similarly with Afrax too. Manasse is the only companion of this research whose home I have never visited, and who has not visited mine—for some reason, he preferred to meet either at his (or sometimes at my) favourite café, or at my office. In addition to working closely with these three young men, I also did some fieldwork alone, visiting youth spaces and happenings I knew to attract immigrant background youth. These were quite occasional appearances for my part, however, and do not form a considerable part of my fieldwork, even though they sometimes back up my observations and interpretations in notable ways.

To say that we shared a home or familiar spaces is not to say that our experience of these environments would be similar; it is a different thing, for example, to feel at home in a youth space as a young person to whom it is a sort of second home, or as a professional social youth worker, for whom it is a former working environment—or as a young professional currently transitioning from the former to latter. Or, consider the experience of "going to school" during the period I conducted fieldwork in Emanuel's class: the moment I sat at the school desk, surrounded with the all-too-familiar buzz of the students and the never-ending lecturing of the teacher, I returned to the emotional state of a Finnish teenager trying to bear the monotonous sequence of classes and sluggish minutes spent slouched in the back row. For Emanuel, as the only immigrant and person of colour in the class, the situation has been quite far removed from that, as I try to detail in the chapters on his school. Exactly herein lies the gist of doing anthropological fieldwork "at home": "[...] 'home' is from the start a place of difference," as Gupta & Ferguson (1997, 33) crystallize. They define fieldwork as "location work": as the self-conscious shifting of social and/or

geographical location in order to discover phenomena that would otherwise remain invisible, or to acquire new perspectives on things considered familiar (ibid., 36–37). Frequenting places I thought were familiar to me with my research companions was, for me, an exercise of this kind of "dislocation" (ibid., 37), and it taught me a great deal about the multiplicity of our home(s), of our different positionalities and their effects. Since these places comprise quite a variety, I clarify the scope of my fieldwork with each young man below, while introducing them to the reader.

3.1.3 Research participants and companions

I will first introduce Denis and Adel, the research participants with whom I worked individually in AK's project. Then comes Emanuel, who I also got to know as a participant in AK's research, but who continued working with me during my own research. Finally, the reader will be acquainted with Manasse and Afrax. As already mentioned briefly, I have developed quite deep bonds with the latter three young men, who were my main companions in this journey, and they have also had an active role in this research. My relationship with Denis and Adel (not to speak of other youths that I have briefly encountered along the way), on the other hand, was clearly structured by AK's research and we never got onto very close terms. For them, I was one of those many adults that make a brief visit in their lives and then disappear: social workers, teachers, psychologists and so on-including other researchers, an issue I will return to in chapter 5.1.3. Against this background, it feels even more significant that I was able to work closely, in a participatory fashion and at length with Manasse, Emanuel and Afrax. With them, my role developed into a big sister like position: we have had quite intense and personal discussions, some of which might be surprising for young men to share with an older woman. My openness about my health condition perhaps partly contributed to the development of mutual trust. In this sense, my gender and my vulnerability due to my illness, which I considered as possible obstacles for fieldwork at the beginning, turned out to be enabling, at least in some respects.

As to participation in the research process itself, I spoke with Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax about which areas of their lives they find most important on one hand, and, on the other, possible for me to participate in, and they each invited me to do fieldwork in one area (or some originally two or more, but in practice with each one became most prominent) in addition to our meetings and discussions in private. I have occasionally showed them my notes, and I have had at least one data session

with each of them, during which we discussed my preliminary reflections. Some of these have been quite informal and unstructured conversations, but in some sessions we have read parts of my notes, listened to excerpts of my recordings, and looked at photos taken from field situations, discussing the thoughts arising from and reflecting on these samples of data. During the writing process I have given each the possibility to either read my text themselves or to get an oral explanation of the central argument, which they all wanted to do. In this phase, I have asked the youth to tell me if there are things they wish me to leave out, either to ensure their anonymity or for other reasons, such as unwillingness to reveal personal issues, for example, or details concerning their family members. There were not many things they asked me to omit, and of course I followed their wishes in these few details. All in all, the research process with these three young men has been quite participatory, and I therefore refer to Manasse, Emanuel and Afrax as research companions rather than interlocutors or research participants.

Denis

When I got to know Denis, he was around twenty and had lived on his own for about one and a half years. He had arrived to Finland some four years ago, first to a reception centre in a remote small town, and from there to the family group home in his current home city. Denis is originally from the south of Sudan (today South Sudan); I know nothing of his route to Finland, nor many other facts about his background. In Sudan, he had lived with his family, which consisted of both parents, younger siblings and some pets. He had not gone to school, but had learned basic reading, writing and counting skills at the local church. The family is Christian, but Denis did not practice his religion much; during the time he spent at the reception centre he used to go to the local church and knew the priest personally, but in his present home city he didn't go to church regularly. The family was dispersed due to the political unrest in Sudan. Denis's father was involved in armed conflict, but he did not know exactly what had happened to his family, and was not in contact with any family members, whom he missed dearly. He always had a bunch of soft toy animals on his bed, which he took a photo of for our research task. Upon discussing the photos he told me, laughing a bit embarrassedly, that he considers them his family: each of them represented one of his siblings or family pets. In another photo there was a bowl of popcorn, the meaning of which Denis explained by telling me that when he is alone at home, he tries to kill time by watching movies and eating popcorn so that he would not feel so lonely and miss his family so bitterly.

Denis, in any case, seemed to spend very little time at home: for one thing, the vocational school he studied the hotel and restaurant trade at was located far away and transport connections were bad, so what with getting there and back it ate up twelve hours of his day, and, for another, he was extremely sociable, and seemed to know half the city (both people of immigrant and Finnish backgrounds), and spent a lot of free time hanging out with friends and acquaintances. He had active contacts with the family group home where he said he had felt happy, visited there often and told me he considers the residents of the house to be his new family. Moving out had been difficult for him, and living alone was tedious—he told he would rather live with some friend, but organizing this seemed difficult, and his aftercare worker was not keen to further this solution. With Denis, I spent a lot of time studying maths, discovering that he did not have problems with the tasks as such, but that understanding assignments in Finnish was a problem. I enjoyed working with Denis, but he seemed to be a little reserved in relation to me and never quite relaxed, and, partly due to this, partly due to his overwhelming daily schedule, our work together did not last longer than two months.

Adel

Adel was also around twenty years old at the time we worked together. His parents are Iraqis, but he has never lived in Iraq himself. His family fled before he or his younger siblings were born, and, before he traveled to Europe to seek asylum, they lived together in another country in the Middle East, in which their life was very tough. They were poor, Adel had worked with his father since he was five or so, and the children didn't go to school. They met discrimination and bad treatment, but Adel also has some dear memories of the places in which they spent joyous moments together, picnicking or in other leisure activities. Adel had arrived to Finland about five years earlier via Greece. He has some clear memories from the trip that crop up suddenly, taking bodily form—once, for example, he described how dirty the place in which he was staying in Athens was, and showed me how his skin still got goose bumps when thinking about it. Otherwise, he shared many detailed memories with me that seemed to arise associatively, evoked by some music, photo, bodily posture or something like that, and we spent hours talking about his past.

In Finland, Adel was first placed in a reception centre located in a small town in the south of the country. His asylum process took quite long, about one and a half years, and he said he had had a hard time in the remote place the centre was located. After gaining asylum and a residence permit Adel asked to be placed in the family group home of his current home city. He got the place, but the two friends he had made during his time in the reception centre were sent to other parts of Finland. Adel went through a tough period in the family group home: he was close to committing suicide, but hid his torment from the staff, who did not quite know how to approach him. Instead of showing his agony, he behaved aggressively: 'I was like the devil himself, he told me. But then he got support from a youth psychiatrist, decided himself that he would change, and was now a polite and talkative young man who expressed his emotions vividly. Adel, however, never got very close with the staff of the family group home, and felt abandoned by them upon moving out—only the director had visited him once, otherwise there had been no contact after he was dropped off at the new flat with his few belongings. Luckily, after coming of age, his two friends from the reception centre had moved to the same city as Adel, and the three shared their everyday life to a large extent, often sleeping in each other's homes. Adel did not have other friends—acquaintances, yes, but not friends, and he openly told that he feels very lonely. For a while he had a Finnish girlfriend, but they broke up.

Although Adel is a professed Muslim—he had, for example, a print of the ninetynine names of Allah on the wall, though he said that he didn't know that much about his religion, and would like to know more—he did not have ties to any local mosque. Adel's family had returned to Iraq, they were all alive and in regular contact with him. He felt constant worry and distress for them having to live in that "hell", as he described the situation in Iraq. Adel's legal representative had not recommended applying for family reunification, and so they had not done so. Adel was still furious about this decision, telling me that even though the chances are minimal and the costs large, they should have at least tried. At the time we worked together, Adel was studying the last courses of the compressed comprehensive curricula for adult immigrants and was pondering his choice of vocation. He told me he would like to help others, and was considering becoming a nurse, but was also worried about this choice: 'Then people will say that all immigrants want to become nurses.' We had an easygoing and relaxed relationship, and Adel seemed to consider me a trustworthy adult from the outset, but also to take it for granted that I would only visit his life as so many other people. We worked closely together for almost three months, but he showed few emotions when we met for the last time and I bid him goodbye, gave him a small present and also my personal phone number in case he wanted to keep contact (he has not).

Emanuel

When we were introduced to each other, Emanuel had quite recently moved to his first flat and was about to turn nineteen. He had lived in Finland for a relatively short period; he had difficulties remembering dates and years, but from the patches of information I got, I concluded that he had arrived to Finland less than three years earlier. Emanuel's home country is Angola, where he had lived with his siblings and parents. The family was rather well-off for most of Emanuel's childhood, but ongoing political turmoil broke it up when Emanuel was in his teens; his parents were lost and believed to have perished, and some of his siblings were known to be dead. The events were violent, dramatic and traumatic. After some complications, Emanuel managed to flee, first to a neighboring country and then to some European country, from where he came to Finland. He was sent to a reception centre, which (again) was in a remote area in a small town, but his asylum process was fast, and after just a couple of months he was told he would move to a family group home on the other side of Finland. At first he objected, feeling overwhelmed by the idea of moving yet again to an unknown city where he knew no-one, but was persuaded by the staff to move. Subsequently, he was happy about that decision.

In the family group home, Emanuel had a very hard time at first: he told me he had felt deeply depressed, regretted coming to Finland, was withdrawn, easily irritable and behaved somewhat rudely. He got some psychological support and described to me how he somehow just changed: "I found my joy again." Following this, Emanuel had felt happy in the family group home, felt that the group spirit was good, and, only half-jokingly, called the director of the house "papa", and the chef "mama". There was still regular, mutual contact between him and the staff of the home. As a devout Christian, Emanuel was also an active member of a small Pentecostal church, attending services weekly and getting joy, support and strength from participating in this community. Of massive importance to Emanuel's well-being had been the information that two of his siblings were alive, and he managed to get in contact with them, and applied—successfully—for family reunification. Of the minor unaccompanied asylum seekers I met during the fieldwork we did with AK, he was the only one whose application had been successful.

When I met him, Emanuel was friendly, warm, self-confident and open, and we quickly got onto quite close terms. He was completing the compressed comprehensive curricula for adult immigrants, was dedicated to his studies, and already had a plan to first study to become a nurse, then a registered nurse, and finally a doctor. Coming from an educated family and having a good school background

himself, he received quite good grades at that time and was progressing relatively fast in his studies. He had a growing social network comprising both immigrant background youth and Finnish people, and he spent a lot of time communicating with people via different social media channels. He also had a Finnish girlfriend whose parents welcomed him in their home, and some other Finnish adults around him who supported him in one way or another. I met Emanuel later than Adel and Denis, and we only had about two month's working together, but, as we were about to finish, he openly brought out his sadness about that. He kept active contact with me after the research period, and we developed a close bond. Thus, it felt natural to ask him to continue working with me for the purposes of this dissertation, and he agreed without hesitation.

The first time I spoke about my own research plans, and asked Emanuel's initial thoughts on participating, was in spring 2015, but it took about half a year before we made a clear agreement on working together. This was partly due to my health problems, which were acute during that period, and partly due to Emanuel's situation, which was always somehow straining. This period was still useful, in the sense that during it some of the issues that were central in Emanuel's life kept regularly coming up and started to attract my attention. I was intrigued by the way Emanuel talked, on one hand, about his situation at school, and, on the other, of how he used considerable amounts of his time and energy pondering on and working for his social relationships. I suggested participant observation in the school as one of many options for doing fieldwork together, and, after considering this suggestion for some weeks, Emanuel told me that he thought it was a good idea, and he welcomed me into the class. After gaining a research permit, I frequented Emanuel's class about two days a week for eight weeks, the period left of the semester. In addition to following classes (I usually sat somewhere at the back or side of the classroom, writing notes fervently), and school life in the corridors and cafeterias, we met regularly to study together. During these meetings we spent, of course, a lot of time chatting about many other issues, too, and generated invaluable data for this dissertation during these discussions. I pretty much never used a recorder with Emanuel—recording hours and hours of studying maths, or cardiovascular diseases, or whatnot, didn't feel like a practical way of catching what was essential. I sometimes showed my notes to Emanuel, just to be sure he knew and remembered what I was doing, but that was probably a bit patronizing: on many occasions he reminded me himself of my position, noting, for example, that, 'now you got good material for your research'.

After the period of doing participant observation at Emanuel's school, I considered our research cooperation as closed. We were still in regular contact as friends, but I felt we had pretty well covered the essential issues and stopped writing notes. His situation changed drastically next spring, that of 2017, however, as his mother was unexpectedly found alive back in Angola. At the same time, Emanuel was supposed to pass his first baccalaureate exams, and was under extreme stress. This situation, and the way it developed, brought out some issues that we both found significant with regard to this research project. I thus started to make notes again, regarding this particular issue, and continued to do so until spring 2020. In addition to the intensive period of working together, which lasted for about ten months, then, this research has in some way been present in our relationship until the very last phases of writing.

Manasse

Manasse's origins are in the DR Congo, but his family (or most of it—some of his siblings stayed, while others followed their parents) fled political turmoil to Rwanda when Manasse was less than two years old. He is from an educated and, back then, well-off family, "semi-rich" in Manasse's own words. His parents are devout Christians, and Manasse describes himself to be a "true believer" too, though he does not practice his faith overtly, and religion is not a subject he would discuss with me of his own initiative. In Rwanda, Manasse's family lived in the proximity of a large and well-established refugee camp, situated next to a rather big city, in a house owned or rented by his parents. Manasse's parents and older siblings were involved in the organization of the refugee camp, and the younger children—including Manasse—went to the camp's school.

Manasse does not have many memories from DR Congo, but, as I am acquainted with some of his other family members, I have heard some stories regarding their circumstances and flight—stories about gunfire, bullet wounds, running among corpses, fear and death. In contrast, the memories Manasse has from Rwanda sound quite happy and safe; the family's life there seemed to run along quite steadily, and the siblings had the possibility to pursue some hobbies in addition to getting some quite good quality education. Manasse's love for music, dance, and football was born during these years. It was still a refugee camp, however, and his parents chose to register at the UNHCR in order to find a new home country via the refugee quota system. They were chosen by Finland, brought here when Manasse was about 14, and placed in a town in eastern Finland, close to the border, in which other refugees

from DR Congo were already settled. Manasse fared alright in his new home town, acquiring friends with whom he was still in contact years later, when I worked with him, and, contrary to many other refugee background children, proceeding with his studies so fast that he was actually allowed (upon his own request) to move up a class to study with Finnish children who were a year older than him. A bit later, one of Manasse's older siblings moved to a bigger city in the south of Finland to study at a vocational school, and the rest of his family soon followed, Manasse moving along with the others.

I got to know Manasse soon after the move to the south of Finland through my job as a social worker. He participated in a few of the many projects I led at that time, on each occasion showing commitment and enthusiasm for the project in question, be it an international youth exchange or some initiative of smaller scale. During these years, Manasse completed comprehensive school with excellent grades, started to study in vocational school, and graduated (after some complications, since 'it is not exactly my thing' as he himself formulated) from the field of HPAC. Later on, he worked odd jobs in construction, cleaning and youth work sectors, finally acquiring a steady job in the field of logistics. During the years we knew each other in the framework of youth work, our relationship developed into an open and trusting one, which made it easy for me to ask him to participate in my research: I could trust him to be frank in his views about it and his willingness to participate or not. He was immediately interested in my project and expressed a willingness to work together.

We started out in spring 2015 and met regularly for about a year. Manasse was especially willing to let me familiarize myself with his free-time activities: his music projects, sports activities and general social hanging around. I participated in all these, but Manasse's music came to form the most prominent part of our work together. I was personally present at some of his gigs, and have watched videos of several others, followed one music project he participated in targeted at disadvantaged youth (chapters 5.2 and 6.2 are based on this project), and collected lyrics written by him. After we finished meeting and working together regularly, I continued to follow his music via the internet, where he publishes songs, videos and photos in different forums. When meeting in private I rarely used a recorder with Manasse, partly because we tended to meet in cafés and other public spaces, partly because it did not feel natural as our discussions tended to be quite personal and to flow to all directions. I did use a recorder on occasions where we had some specific research related issue at hand, such as in our data sessions. During Manasse's gigs, at their soundchecks and other preparations, I sometimes made notes openly with a

laptop, as he seemed to feel completely at ease with this practice, coming sometimes to have glance at what I was doing. We had another, more intensive, period of working together during the phase of writing the chapters concerning him: he read big chunks of my text, and we had profound discussions on them. Otherwise, we are not in active contact, yet meeting him after long breaks has always felt easy and natural, and we quickly return to our accustomed, rather confidential, way of conversing.

Afrax

Afrax spent most of his childhood in Mogadishu in Somalia. His family was not particularly well-off, though it was not particularly impoverished either: Afrax's grandmother owned a house in and around which the extended family was concentrated, they had enough to cover basic living costs and needs-food, for example, was simple, but there was enough—and some of the family were educated. Nevertheless, in order to secure their livelihood, Afrax's parents were forced to travel in search of work, and, for long periods, Afrax was reared by other relatives. He was not happy with this situation and ran away from home, spending some months living on the streets of Mogadishu. Perhaps surprisingly, he now looks back to those times with some nostalgia, saying that they were the most carefree times of his life: he did not have to worry about anything but earning a few coins to buy some food and of finding some corner in which to sleep. He sold fish, flip flops, or whatever else he was given the opportunity to sell by some adult street vendor, and slept in mosques, coal heaps, or wherever he felt safe enough. When not on the streets, he lived in the family house, went to Quran school and, at least occasionally, to a UNICEF run school where basic literacy and arithmetic were taught. His family are professed Muslims, and so is Afrax—though later, as he was growing up, he started to question some of the religious practices and rules, if not the religion itself.

Afrax was around ten when his parents decided to flee Somalia. His father found his way to Finland as an asylum seeker, while his mother, two of their children (some siblings stayed behind), and a cousin, raised as one of the siblings, crossed the border to Kenya.²⁰ Afrax remembers the journey—first by plane, to a town near the border, then by lorry across the border at a spot they had heard to be safe for clandestine crossing—as an exciting and fun one, though looking back at it as an adult he

-

²⁰ Fostering (relatives') children is a rather common practice among Somali people, whose understanding of "family" is much more extended and dynamic than the model of the Western nuclear family (Tiilikainen et al. 2016, 47; 61).

considers it risky. In Kenya, his mother and the children lived in Nairobi for about a year while waiting for a decision on their family reunification application. When it came, it was positive, and the family arrived in Finland and settled in the city in which the father was already living in southern Finland.

I got to know Afrax perhaps a year after they had arrived in Finland, when he was in his teens and studying in a normal class in the upper level of comprehensive school. His was one of the most regular faces to be seen in our youth work unit, and he came almost every day the youth space was open to participate in futsal, other activities and to do homework. Afrax's family was struggling to make ends meet in Finland: being illiterate, his mother never got employed, despite her considerable working experience from abroad, and his father was unemployed at times, having serious issues with his health. Afrax could not count on getting economic support from home and was always one of the keenest to find summer jobs or any other opportunities to make a few euros. He did alright at school, being a smart young man when he could find the willpower to concentrate, but also finding studying at that point somewhat frustrating and the call of the streets and football fields at times too tempting. He was still determined to gain education in order to ensure a decent income, and around the time I was finishing my work in this unit he was about to finish comprehensive school and was pondering some vocational training. I might have something to do with his decision to start studying youth work: I had been impressed by his social skills and ability to tutor younger peers and had warmly recommended social work to him.

By the time I started to work with Afrax in the framework of this research project, he was about to graduate as a youth worker and was working in a peer mentoring project (chapters 5.3 and 6.3 are largely based on this period). My fieldwork with Afrax lasted for about two years, and it comprises participant observation of his work, which I did in quite sporadic and unsystematic fashion over a period of about a year; our common exploration of African history and its representations, including two "field trips" we did together, one to Helsinki and one to London; and a series of our profound and deeply personal discussions. As Afrax had more trouble than the other youths regarding our relationship, which was a mix of friendship and research (an issue to which I will return in the section regarding ethical questions), I developed a habit of using a recorder with him very early on, and continued to do so whenever possible, to make my role as a researcher more visible and present. In addition to our conversations specifically related to certain themes of my research, I have thus also recorded several completely spontaneous conversations we had during the time we worked together. I always kept the recorder visible, and told

Afrax that he could stop it any time he wished to do so. He did not do so, but there were times when I did, when the discussion turned towards issues I found too delicate to be recorded or used in this research. The data we generated in this way is thus very rich and highly personal, offering unique insight to his life, yet demanding sensitivity when used as research material.

3.2 Pondering ethical questions

This leads me to the ethical quandaries I have encountered during my research process. As presupposed by the general ethical principles of research (e.g. TENK 2019, 50), I have tried to prevent causing any harm to my research participants or companions, their families and intimates or other relevant communities. I have sought to fulfill this principle both from a point of view based on Finnish and EU legislation and guidelines given by the Finnish National Board on Research Integrity (TENK), but also by reflecting and evaluating ethical issues more widely—since, simple as the principle may sound, following it in ethnographic research often turns out to be uncertain and ambiguous. As I conducted fieldwork in many different settings—in institutions, such as Emanuel's school, in informal situations that involved large and continuously changing groups of other young people and adults, such as Manasse's music project, and individually with each research companion—I have had to consider ethical questions from multiple perspectives. The clearest difference between research settings concerns the fieldwork I did as AK's research assistant and my own fieldwork. I will thus first briefly treat the ethical issues that arose with regard to AK's project, and then move on to the specific questions regarding the work I have conducted independently.

3.2.1 Research with vulnerable groups: children, youths, and refugees

As laid out above, ethnographic work in AK's project consisted of two parts: participant observation in a family group home, where all the residents were minors, and my individual work with three young men who had arrived in Finland as unaccompanied minors, but had already turned eighteen and moved out of the family group home. Since the target group of AK's study was, arguably, extremely vulnerable, she had to show greatest care in considering ethical issues, applying for research permits, and when asking for consent forms either from the youths

themselves, or, in cases where they were under fifteen years of age, from their legal representatives.²¹

Unsurprisingly, the latter turned out to be somewhat problematic. Approaching these youths, some of whom had only just arrived in Finland and who had all recently gone through traumatic experiences, with a consent form first did not work out too well. For those who had already moved out of the home, whose language skills were rather good, and with whom I also had plenty of time and peace to discuss the meaning of the form thoroughly, filling it out and signing it did not prove to be too great an obstacle. In the case of some of the youths residing in the home, however, we soon realized that not only would it be impossible, but also unethical to stick to the ideal of getting the forms signed during the first weeks of our research. As AK writes, when one works with unaccompanied minor asylum seekers, one has to be able to separate "official ethics" from "lived ethics" and appreciate the contextual nature of the dividing line between these two. In her estimation, instead of trying to push the consent forms in a compulsory manner, it was better to act in a more flexible way, adapting the official ethical procedures more to the situation of each young person and inch forward accordingly. In the end, all but three of the sixteen young people residing in the home gave their consent, even though some signed the form only during the last weeks of AK's fieldwork period (I worked in the home for a bit less than three months, after which she continued for another four months). (Kuusisto-Arponen 2015, 85.)

This meant that we were conducting fieldwork in a situation in which some of the young people present either had not been able to digest the information regarding the research, were still considering whether they wanted to participate in it, or were simply unwilling to do so. In discussions with the director of the home it was decided that these youth would not be shut out from the social situations and common activities we shared with the residents of the home. That would have felt unfair and thus unethical, especially with regard to those youths still considering their participation. Hence, these youth were often present in the situations that we observed, and we treated them as parts of the social milieu rather than as research participants, as part of the general phenomena in which our actual participants were enmeshed. Private discussions that we had with these youths and other information concerning them were not included in the research data so as to respect their wishes not to be considered participants in the research (ibid., 85). For me, working as a research assistant in this project was an enlightening experience as to the

_

²¹ See Kuusisto-Arponen 2016 for a more detailed description on ethical procedures regarding her project as a whole.

problematics that "official ethics" sometimes cause; despite aiming to the contrary, in some cases procedures such as informed consent forms can turn out to be obstacles, and actually work against conducting ethical research. In the next sections, I will look at these issues with regard to my own research project, and then move on to ethical issues that reach beyond "official ethics".

3.2.2 Informed consent

In research with human participants, informed consent is a central ethical principle according to the Finnish National Board on Research Integrity (TENK 2019, 51) and numerous other similar organizations. While "[...] energetic critiques have been mounted of the autonomous, rational individual evoked by the concept and the fetishization of informed consent at the expense of broader moral issues [...]" (Bell 2014, 511), anthropologists have largely embraced the principle, to the extent that it "[...] has reached the status of an unassailable value [...]." (Ibid., 513.) In my research project, I have also treated it as such, despite (yet acknowledging) the criticism that Bell (ibid.) and others (e.g. Murphy & Dingwall, 2007) have raised. I did so for two reasons: first, I found applying the practice to my particular research project possible and useful, and, second, when I started out I could meet the requirements of the legislation regarding research in which personal data is processed as part of the same procedure (see the next subsection on the legal requirements).

At the beginning of our work together, I made a written and signed agreement with each of my research companions. That informed consent is preferably done in writing, and signed by the research participants, is a practice that many ethnographers have criticized, arguing, for example, that ethics committees "[...] don't understand anything about the different cultural meanings of 'paper'" (Wynn 2011, 102). Others have pointed out that, in ethnographic research, a form signed at the beginning of the research is problematic, as, on one hand it might disrupt the process of building rapport with interlocutors and, on the other, it is problematic to assume that a consent form signed at the beginning of an extended period of fieldwork will be remembered by the research participants at later stages of the research (Bradburd 2006; Murphy & Dingwall 2007). Furthermore, one of the greatest problems with the use of consent forms in ethnographic research is the very nature of this work: as Murphy & Dingwall (2007, 2227), for example, stress, "[...] the research focus and the research design typically emerge during the course of the research [...]". Also, analysis of ethnographic process is typically an iterative process,

in which the lines of analysis emerge along the way, and which is therefore impossible to explicate in the necessary detail beforehand in the informed consent form (ibid., 2227). Malkki (2007, 180–181) underlines that this open-endedness is not to be understood as an awkward by-product of ethnographic work, but that "a tradition of improvisation" is fundamental to anthropological fieldwork practice, and as such is a "risk and responsibility" that the ethnographer must take.

These issues were relevant in my research project as well, but not to an extent that would have made signed informed consent forms futile or completely problematic. Informed by these criticisms, I have not given too much weight to the forms I signed with the youths at the beginning of our work together, but I have considered them a useful if evidently partial tool. When signing the forms, I had a thorough discussion with each of my research companions, explaining to them the points in the form written by me, and asking whether they had other points to add. All of them wanted to stress the possibility of either having breaks from, or ending, our research agreement if their life situations so required, the right to which I naturally also wanted to be clear for them. One of them also asked me to add a point whereby I would promise not to consume myself too much with the research work (he was well informed about my health problems), a point which I did indeed add to the agreement, and to which he referred at times when he was of the opinion that I was stretching my limits too far. Instead of a one-off situation in which an official form is signed and stowed away, we thus spent quite some time discussing these issues over more than one meeting. I am not claiming that my research companions would have gained a comprehensive understanding of the research at this point—due to the open-ended nature of ethnographic research, I didn't have one either. But I did find the moments we spent sitting with the form in front of us a welcome rather than a disruptive break, one which signaled to all of us that we were now truly starting a research collaboration, in which I took our agreement and the information they would disclose to me seriously, and that ensured that they have certain rights, which it was highly important for me that we took care to respect together. Signing the form worked as a starting point for reflecting these issues together throughout the research process.

3.2.3 Personal data and legislation versus ethnographic research

From the initial stages of my research project, I have tried to take as much care as possible to protect the youths' anonymity. I used pseudonyms in my notes from the outset, stored my data on separate hard disks in a locked space, and I will destroy it after use. As long as it exists, it is considered to contain sensitive personal data according to Finnish law as it includes both direct and indirect information on my research participants' personalities (Kuula 2006, 82–83). Thus, I have had to follow legislation regarding the handling of this data, as well as when writing and publishing results that are based on it. However, the Personal Data Act (523/1999), which was my guideline at the beginning of the project was changed to bring it into line with new EU regulation, and the new Data Protection Act (1050/2018) came into force in May 2018. Signed consent forms, for example, were required under the old act, but the criteria regarding their content are stricter in the new act. The new act specifies simultaneously, however, that if personal data is collected for research purposes, then this can be done without express informed consent (this is also the case for delicate data), the legal basis for which is the research being in the public interest (DPA 4\(\); 6.1\(\), 7).

In my estimation, my research fulfills the minimum requirements of both the old and the new laws. In addition to the written agreements and reflection of ethical issues during fieldwork, I gave the youths the opportunity either to read all the parts that concern them or to get a thorough explanation of their contents from me in the writing up phase, especially around issues that might be delicate. I have underlined their right to ask me not to write about issues they do not wish to have published. Some asked me to leave certain details out—as mentioned in chapter 2, above, these were mainly issues that not only concerned themselves, but also members of their families—and obviously I respected these wishes. Unlike Kuula (2006, 136) suggests, however, I did not simply leave it up to my research companions to decide which details are too delicate and which are not for themselves: I have brought out my concerns regarding some of the issues these young people have not found problematic, we have discussed these together, and, sometimes, I have decided to leave something out even though the young person considered it unproblematic to publish themselves. Also, I have omitted references that would reveal either direct or indirect personal information.²²

 $^{^{22}}$ I have listed these references separately, and can provide more information on them upon well-founded request.

Nevertheless, according to the new act, when it is deemed that personal information is handled in the public interest, questions of anonymization have to be considered with the greatest care. Even before the law changed, anonymization was the issue that caused me most trouble, as I was trying to balance the need to ensure it with the specificities of conducting ethnographic research. Taken at face value, the requirement that "an outsider cannot recognize the participants" is met in this dissertation. All names are pseudonyms; specific field locations are not revealed; and I have also intentionally altered some non-relevant details (for example exact age, education, or details in background, such as the route of refuge or family details) in order to avoid giving away too much indirect personal information. However, it is somewhat unclear what is meant by "outsiders". As Murphy & Dingwall (2001, 341; emphasis original) note, in ethnographic research it is practically impossible "[...] to give absolute guarantees that the identities of people and places will remain hidden." Since fieldwork often is, and for ethical reasons aims to be, overt (so as not to conduct covert research) "[...] many people come to know that it is taking place and will be able to identify the source of data after publication." At the very least, the participants are likely to recognize themselves and to some extent each other. As I conducted parts of my fieldwork in institutions or settings in which (almost) everybody present knew that I was there as a researcher, and as some of the young people I worked with were themselves open to their friends, colleagues and families about participating in my research, inevitably there are people who can at the very least recognize my research companions from the pages of this dissertation. Furthermore, even though none of the young people are readily recognizable for complete outsiders to my research, it is still possible that someone keen to find out who they are might succeed in doing so with some intent googling, other background research and reasoning. This applies especially to those among my participants who have appeared publically under their own name, with their own face and giving their own opinions. Even though the EU regulation on which the new Data Protection Act is based gives freedom to handle delicate data in case the person in question has gone public themselves (General Data Protection Regulation EU 2016/679 9.2 e), the fact of fulfilling legal requirements does not free me from pondering the ethical quandaries raised by these issues.

On the other hand, commitment to the ethics of ethnographic research in some cases goes against the grain of current legislation regarding anonymization. For thorough anonymization risks both eradicating significant nuances in the data, and erasing the research participants as *persons* who are variously socially and culturally positioned. This, in turn, means compromising the analytic value of research, as it is

the very richness and thickness of description that yields understanding of the lifeworlds of different groups of people. Wholesale anonymization might thus turn out to be ethically problematic, if it hinders the right of the research participants to be understood and seen. In my project, the group being studied-young men categorized as refugees and immigrants—have more at stake than most as participants in this kind of research. Their presence and belonging in Finland is contested, which means, on one hand, that having their opinions and acts published might provoke some anti-immigrant and/or racist individuals to actually try to find out their identity for purposes of hate speech. On the other hand, exactly because of these young people's contested status, it is especially important to conduct research concerning their lives. As Honkatukia et al. (2006, 314-315) point out, in research with groups that are in vulnerable positions, serious tension between their right to be seen, heard and recognized, and the need to safeguard them from any harm the research might cause prevails. There is no unambiguous solution to this problem, they stress, hence the researcher should be aware of it and stay sensitive to its different nuances in varying situations. In some cases I have felt it necessary to respect my research companions' explicit wishes to reveal information that might compromise their anonymity, but which is of great relevance for understanding their situations and the grave effects certain practices have on their lives, such as issues related to family reunification policies.

3.2.4 Ethical questions beyond legislation and "official ethics"

As the above suggests, simply following legislation is no guarantee of ethically sound research. I have reflected on each difficult decision on whether to include, or omit, issues that might compromise either the anonymity, or the right to be heard, of my research companions thoroughly myself, together with the research companions, and with my supervisors. In the kind of project that I conducted—in which I had relatively few research companions—this has been possible despite its time-consuming nature, and, in my opinion, it has been the best way to balance the tension articulated by Honkatukia et al. (2006). There were also some ethical issues that have preoccupied me during the research project to which legislation does not provide ready answers, two of which have been the most central: the first has to do with the aforementioned question regarding "insiders and outsiders" of the research, and the second my position and role in relation with my research companions.

How overt can ethnographic fieldwork be?

While being open about conducting research is, as Murphy & Dingwall (2001, 342) point out, one of the ethical cornerstones of ethnographic research, they also underline that distinguishing between covert and overt research is by no means straightforward: since ethnographers often have limited control over who enters their field of observation "[...] in complex and mobile settings, it may simply be impractical to seek consent from everyone involved." Thus, ethnographic research tends to lie on a continuum between overtness and covertness. The balance between being as overt as possible and the need to be covert in order to protect my research companions' anonymity has been an issue that has preoccupied me throughout my work. For example, when I was starting fieldwork in Emanuel's school, I was pondering whether his classmates and teachers should be counted as research participants, and treated accordingly with regard to informed consent, or not. Applying the premise of informed consent would have meant the loss of Emanuel's anonymity and put him in a difficult situation with regard to his classmates. It would, most likely, also have affected situations in the school and hence the results of my research. In this case, I discussed the issue with the education coordinator of the school who granted me permission to carry out my research. The coordinator suggested that I inform the whole school of my presence as a researcher studying interaction among students and teachers in the school space, but not to inform anyone else than herself that my special focus was the encounters of one (immediately recognizable) refugee background student with other students and teachers. I followed her recommendation, and no-one in the school-including the coordinator herself, as she never asked, and I never told her, Emanuel's name nor which class I was going to observe—knew that I was there because of Emanuel, and the students and teachers of his class did not know I was only observing that particular class. I didn't participate in the lessons every day, but on random days of the week, so they could not draw any conclusions on that basis either. As time passed, however, Emanuel started to seek my company during breaks and after the lessons, and his classmates might have guessed that my research was somehow connected to him particularly. That was Emanuel's own choice, though, and we did reflect on it together at times: he said that it didn't matter anymore what the others know or what they think of him.

A somewhat similar problematic came up when I was observing Manasse's music project, in which other young people and instructors were involved. Manasse explicitly asked me not to tell the others about his participation in my research, so I

never negotiated with anyone else than Manasse about "access" to this field, not to speak of applying for research permits. In this case, my fieldwork observations in which other members of the group are present are only from public situations, in practice from the live performances the group did. We did have a plan for me to come to their rehearsals as well, but this never materialized. I did not enter a backstage or practice space, and hence avoided ending up in a situation in which the ethical contradiction between Manasse's right and the other youths' would have become pressing. Afrax, on the other hand, was quite open about his participation in my research with his colleagues, friends and the youths with whom he worked, and I did not face similar issues as in the cases of Manasse and Emanuel. I negotiated access to the NGO unit with its head, who granted it readily, and when I participated in Afrax's job situations, we informed his colleagues about my role in advance as well as in the situation itself. In addition, the youths with whom Afrax worked in the youth space itself were informed—though I am quite certain that this information did not reach all of them, as the users of the space kept changing, and their willingness to concentrate on the content of such official information tended to fluctuate. In some other (semi)public field sites—such as youth spaces or sports or art venues—there were also people who either did not necessarily know I was conducting research, or were not aware of exactly what I was conducting it about, as it turned out to be impossible to inform everybody, either due to constant changes in the group present, or because of the need to protect my research companions' anonymity.

With regard to the presence of under-informed participants in all the aforementioned sites, I have applied a similar solution to that used with AK in the family group home with regard to the staff and the youth who had not signed the research agreement: I have not treated them as research participants, but as parts of the milieu, of the general phenomena in which my actual participants and research companions were enmeshed. I have not gathered information that would include personal data concerning these people, and I have taken care to ensure that any of their anonymity is under actual risk. Their presence has certainly informed this research, as I have learnt from them too. But these people only appear in the pages of this dissertation in passing, mostly as characters constructed from bits and pieces of real persons: I have left out some details, changed others and added some in order not to reveal too much information about any one person. In this way, I have tried to ensure no harm was inflicted on them because of this research.

Another question was the kind of implications this setting had for Manasse and Emanuel. Being aware of my observing eye among a group of peers who were not aware of exactly what was going on might put them in a peculiar position. The feeling I got was that they were more at ease with it than I was. Both sought my company in certain situations in the field, interacting with me openly, and, on the other hand, often seemed to be able to be absorbed in their tasks and other interactions without taking account of my presence. This issue never really came up in our discussions about our cooperation, either: I sometimes tried to ask how my presence felt, but got quite brief answers to the effect of 'it is nice to have you around'. Nevertheless, I find it difficult to estimate how the setting may have affected their behaviour in, or experience of, the situations.

Ethics of engagement

Ethical issues regarding my position and role in relation with my research companions preoccupied me especially in the initial stages of my fieldwork. In the beginning, this concerned mostly Afrax and Manasse, both of whom I previously knew as their youth worker. I was worried about how our existing relationship might influence them and the way they related to the research project. I knew Emanuel beforehand too, but that was a bit different; we had initially gotten to know each other through AK's research project, and thus being in a researcher–research participant relationship was much clearer to us already. With Afrax and Manasse, I had to think about such issues as how the authority I used to have over them as their youth worker, or the emotional bonds that already existed between us, might affect our work together. Later on, as my relationship both with Emanuel and Afrax clearly started to develop into a form of friendship, I started to ponder over the problems of the "friendship and fieldwork link" (Cerwonka & Malkki & 2007, 97).

With each of these young persons, with whom I worked closely for more than a year, the course of our (research) relationship and the ethical issues linked to it developed in distinct ways. With Manasse, my worries turned out to be mostly groundless. From the initial stages of our work together he took an active role in defining the ways we worked together, and the way he communicated gave me the impression that he had a pretty clear idea of the kind of things he wanted to disclose to me. His ways of being around me spoke to an experience that we were of pretty much equal standing in relation to each other. Sometimes, he made me realize that my worries about my relationship with the youths was, to some extent, patronizing. As Cerwonka & Malkki also note (2007, 94), "[...] the ethnographer's relationship with an informant is not authored or defined by the ethnographer alone. Informants, too, continually observe and learn things about the ethnographer as a social being, a

person—and decide how they want the relationship to develop, or not." Manasse might, for example, answer my sms in which I suggested a meeting time and some topics to discuss with: "Let's see tomorrow then what we will talk about." He tended to have clear opinions about who to inform about my research (as will be clear from the above), and about which areas of his life he welcomed me to share. At times he also took initiative to gather data he considered relevant for me (such as taking a video of his band's gig), and he wasn't shy about bringing out his disagreement with my interpretations in the writing phase of this dissertation. He brought out his ready awareness of the value working with him had to my research, but he also felt that it was in some ways useful for himself: it was a chance for self-reflection, for somehow summing up his life and projects in Finland, and also for learning how this kind of research is conducted. The longer we worked together, the stronger my feeling grew that he "knows exactly what he does and doesn't want," as I once wrote in my field reflections.

Things were different with Emanuel and Afrax, with whom balancing my roles as a researcher and as a friend-confidante became an issue to some extent. With Emanuel, it was an issue mostly for me, not for him, as he repeatedly brought home to me when I raised my concerns. I sometimes felt the need to remind him that he does not need to tell me certain details of his background, or that if he does tell me, he should be aware of my being a researcher and possibly using this information in my work. On such occasions he would look me solemnly in the eye and tell me that I should not worry about these things: he knows what he is doing, he trusts me, and as long as I keep my promise to go through the things I have written about him together, he has no worries about my being a researcher. Also, some of his spontaneous remarks made it clear to me that despite the intimacy of our friendship he had not forgotten my other role: for example, he sometimes noted that "now you got more data for your work" when we were discussing some recurrent crisis in the residence permit situation of his family members.

In the case of Afrax, my pondering was more worthwhile, and we used considerable time reflecting on our relationship that evolved increasingly towards genuine friendship. During quite an early stage of our work together he once noted that I 'don't feel like a researcher'. When I asked him what he meant, he first said that I should, at the very least, have spectacles, before turning serious: 'No but truly, you are not like distant.' This remark indicates that it was at times hard for him to remember that I was conducting research while spending time with him, and that this was to some extent problematic. We discussed the issue time and again, but for quite a while felt sufficiently at ease. To make my methods of working more

transparent, I showed him passages of my field notes, and in our common data session we also listened excerpts of the recorded discussions and went through other material I had chosen from the data. I persistently underlined to Afrax that we could end our common project whenever he wished to do so, and that it was important to me that I could trust that he would say so, did he indeed wish to. And, in the end, he actually did:

It is beginning of the summer and we have met in order to have ice cream together in our regular ice-cream-in-the-summer park. First, we talk about all kinds of things that we have been up to or thinking about lately. Then, we turn to topics regarding my research project and plans that we have made related to it. We had applied for funding for a study trip to London during Black History Month, but it was not granted. I ask Afrax if he is disappointed, and he admits that he is. We start to consider alternative sources of funding, but don't come up with much. It starts to rain, first just a little, and we stubbornly sit on my picnic blanket continuing our conversation, but the rain gets suddenly harder and we have to escape fast. We run towards the nearest house and find refuge in a doorway. We stand on opposite sides of the door so as to be as well covered from the rain as possible while not hindering people in walking in and out. In this somewhat uncomfortable moment, Afrax starts a new topic: 'I would like to talk about this work.' He tells me how, the closer we become, the more difficult it is for him, that he does not know who I am, a researcher or a friend. We talk about this for a while, and I apologize to him for not being able to be clearer about my position—I find it complicated myself. Again, I tell him that he is free to decide any time that we should finish the research part, and finally he says that he thinks we could still do some things that we have already planned, and then finish or re-evaluate the situation. I feel uncomfortable the rest of the day about causing him distress, and in the evening I send him an sms underlining that I personally see our friendship as more central than our research relationship. He answers: "Yeah I also think first and foremost so and I feel that we are quite close friends. This is why I started to think how our roles change and so on. But yeah, let's see if we can treat these [issues] together."

We did as he suggested; continued working together around some topics during that summer and, the next autumn, we traveled together to London, where we participated in the Black History Month celebrations and finished our common fieldwork. Our friendship still prospers.

Being emotionally engaged with Manasse, Afrax and Emanuel was, thus, not ethically unproblematic. But as Cerwonka & Malkki (2007, 97) note, social situations can never approximate laboratory situations, hence the researcher cannot neutralize themselves in the research process. This means that research ethics need to be thought from the perspective of an "ethics of engagement", of remaining consciously aware of "[...] one's investment in and even fusion with the 'object' of inquiry." (Ibid., 31–32.) Ethnographic research is not, Malkki (2007, 178) underlines,

a straightforward matter of working but a matter of living, a way of being in the world with senses and emotions. Ethics of engagement was my guideline in this research project, in which the love (partly professional youth worker kind of love, partly sisterly) I felt towards my research companions was a factor I could not even imagine "neutralizing". Instead of trying to do that, I chose to be as open about my research practices as I could, and to involve the youths in the research process as much as I could and to the extent that they themselves wanted to.

Yet I do not want to suggest that the experience of closeness, emotional bonding and relative equality with my research companions does away with the power relations that inevitably structured our work together. Even though the youths have participated, to some extent, both in defining the contexts and forms of my fieldwork as well as in the analysis and writing phases, this process of knowledge production has still principally been in my hands, and has been both informed and controlled by academic practices. In this sense, it would be dishonest to claim that we could have been "equal partners" (McBeth 1993, 162) in it, or that my research companions have acted as "co-authors" (Clifford 1986, 17). As Ahmed (2000b, 56) notes, these redefinitions risk simply concealing power relations: in this "postmodern fantasy", the ethnographer is still authorized, but this time as "[...] the 'I' of the ethnographer that can undo the power relations that allows the 'I' to appear." The hands that have carried this research process out are those of a white, middle-aged Finn—by both ethnicity and nationality-with a middle-class background and a position as a doctoral researcher at a university. As these social facts in some ways influence even my personal relationships with my research companions, they inevitably have positioned us in asymmetrical power relations in this research project. In comparison with these young people, I am privileged in many ways, and I cannot undo the effects of that privilege by engaging in dialogue and using participatory research methods—their value as such notwithstanding. In a way, then, this privilege is a disadvantage: since the differences between us are at least partly impermeable, there way for me to overcome the boundaries-racial, educational—between us (Ahmed 2000b, 58). Even though spending time together with my research companions surely has been instructive for me, for example regarding what it means to inhabit a black body in a white Finnish landscape, I still cannot inhabit that body and cannot claim to know what it is like. And even though inhabiting a chronically sick body has forced me to know what it means to be a nonnormative body, and thus sensitized me to the different faces of non-privileged experience, I don't believe, as Hedva (2016) suggests in their Sick Woman Theory, being disabled by a chronic illness enables me to overcome racial boundaries and

truly know that experience. I don't know. I have tried to incorporate awareness of this "not knowing" as a part and parcel of the ethics of engagement that have guided my work.

3.3 Analyzing and interpreting data

"Not knowing", Hakala & Hynninen (2007, 213) argue, is the basis on which an ethnographer defines the questions they ask. As they determine what they don't know in a specific context of knowledge, time and place, their questions in turn determine the field-or at least what they observe and what kind of data they produce. Malkki (2007, 171; emphasis original) writes: "The 'facts' or 'data' are not, in other words, objets trouvés waiting to be discovered and recorded. They are made [...]. They are a social product, whether expressed in numbers, words, images, or other media." Understanding this, Malkki (ibid., 171–172) underlines, is not a novel insight in anthropology: long before postmodern reflections on the social construction of knowledge, Malinowski wrote about the need for constantly switching from observation and data collection to moulding theory and, vice versa, having plastic theoretical ideas that adapt to empirical data. On one hand, observations are impossible without theory, but, on the other, theories must be remoulded, and even dispensed with, in the course of observation and analysis. (Malinowski 1935, 321; ref. Malkki 2007, 172.) In addition, ethnographic truths have long been recognized to be "partial" (Clifford 1986, 7) or "particular" (Leach 1967, 78; ref. Malkki 2007, 167): they are in essence "situated knowledges" (Haraway 1991). This, Cerwonka (2007, 26) argues, is relevant not only in the sense of acknowledging how one's positionality and sociohistoric situatedness affects one's research, but also in the sense of understanding that without the mediation of a researcher situated in a particular way the information would be meaningless and uninterpreted. "This point bears on the important question of how one's personhood is also a condition for knowledge claims, rather than a deterrent to understanding" (ibid., 28; emphasis mine).

Continual tacking between empirical data and theoretical concepts has formed the backbone of this research process as well, especially during the analysis phase. On one hand, I have read and re-read my data through different kinds of theoretical lens, asking what emerges from it as especially interesting from a particular conceptual vantage point. On the other hand, I have let the data challenge the concepts by asking what they do not recognize, or the ways in which my data does

not fit a certain theoretical framework, but sticks out as disturbing and demanding attention. Thirdly, I have tacked between my own field notes, material which is not based on my interpretation, such as recordings, videos, photos, or reports written by others, and my research companions' reflections regarding the interpretations I have made on the basis of this body of material. The movement back and forth between theory, empirical material and interpretations of it has, as the literature quoted above emphasizes, been a continual process throughout this research process, and it would be impossible to unfold all the layers of this work. In the following section, then, I will concentrate on describing those dimensions of my analysis that are more prone to explication.

3.3.1 Coding

When I first wanted to distance myself from the fieldwork and get absorbed in my data as a mass of information, I started out by doing some quite fervent coding. As encounters had emerged as my primary focus already during my fieldwork, I started coding by going through all the encounters that I could find in my data: encounters that I had witnessed, and encounters I had been told about. At this point, I included all my data in the process, from the fieldwork I had done in larger settings (like the family group home, or a youth space) to more detailed individual work with my research companions. I started the analysis from such an encompassing vantage point to tease out themes that would be relevant with regard to refugee background young men more generally, not "just" from the vantage point of my three main research companions. I tried to pinpoint all the various types of encounters that the youths had, and ended up with a following list:

- encounters with other Finns
- encounters with family members and relatives
- encounters with "foreign" friends/other people of colour/Africans
- encounters with officials (such as teachers, social and youth workers, job office workers etc.)
- encounters with me (as a researcher)
- encounters with other people, not defined (e.g. non-defined friends or colleagues)
- encounters with no-one: loneliness

- encounter with oneself: self-reflections, encountering different social roles in different situations
- encounters with difference, either in other people or in oneself (situations in which the youths underline difference themselves)

In the midst of this rather mechanical work, I also spent time with my data in a fashion that could be described as "hermeneutical hanging around" (Kankkunen 2007, 189): I read, listened and watched time and again extracts of the data that I felt intriguing or bothering, transcribed and corrected transcriptions that called for attention, and wrote short analytical texts about some photos, moments and details that inspired me and felt important. For example, I wrote several short texts regarding skin and touch: moments in which I had seen skins touching each other either on purpose or not, reactions to that, and touches that I had seen being avoided. Few of these initial analytical texts appear in this dissertation, but it was by writing them that the importance of touch became evident to me and that I started to look for theoretical concepts regarding touch (e.g. Manning 2007).

Then I went back to coding again. Now I went through all the different kinds of encounters listed above, trying to track what happened in each. On the basis of earlier coding work and hermeneutical hanging around, I had formed the following questions that I asked of the data: How were the young men treated in each encounter? Were they categorized somehow? If yes, did this categorization include differentiation? If yes, how did this manifest in the encounter in question? How did the young people themselves act in these encounters? I drafted different kinds of tables on the basis of this work, in which I tried to create thematic categories out of the mass of data. For example, as an answer to the question of how the difference of the young people was manifested in different encounters, I made a table that specified all the encounters of my five key research participants, and ended up organizing the way they were treated in these encounters into eight categories:

- as being different by their very being, by essence
- as behaving differently and thus being objects of integration work
- as being in need of support or protection: being vulnerable
- as being immigrants
- as being in need of encounters: being alone
- as being objects (and subjects) of research
- as being successful in integration and thus not that different anymore
- as being (almost) similar/included/equal with others

Other tables I compiled treated, for example, the encounters the youths had with officials, or the reactions and actions of the young people in different kinds of encounters specifically. Here, I did not go through all my data with as much precision, however; at some point it became evident that the results started to repeat each other and I felt that, in this sense, I had exhausted my data. Also, some themes had already risen as most relevant from the mass of data: they kept on repeating themselves with more density and intensity than others, or stuck out as somehow disturbing in their difference in relation to others. At this point I moved on to reading the material related to each theme that I had dug out analytically, and to theoretical reflection on the concepts that had arisen through coding and categorization (Coffey & Atkinson 1996, 26–27).

3.3.2 Building interpretations

At first, I tried to approach the themes and concepts in an all-encompassing fashion, aiming to write analytical texts that would cover basically all relevant themes in a systematic way. It didn't take me long to realize that this wouldn't work, neither economically (in the sense of the working time and pages needed to do so), nor intellectually (in the sense of the result being a list more than a thorough analysis). I thus changed my approach and returned to hermeneutical hanging around with the data, searching for moments that would at the same time crystallize some larger theme and bring out something specifically intriguing with regard to it. There were, of course, several captivating and inspiring moments to start working with, but quite soon three emerged as the ones that I found both most suitable and had enough data about. These three moments form the backbone of this entire dissertation: in them, Emanuel struggles with a baking task at his school, Manasse performs on the stage of Finlandia Hall, and Afrax gives a presentation to a steering group of a project he works in. In the first, Emanuel is encountered by his classmates and teachers as a racialized immigrant; in the second, Manasse is encountered by social workers as a vulnerable refugee youth; and in the third, Afrax is encountered by his colleagues as a representative of racialized immigrant youth. I started out from these three moments, reflected them in the light of other excerpts from my data and research literature, and in this way worked towards conceptualizing what was going on in each moment. The empirical chapters of this dissertation are written on the basis of this work, shedding light on the ways the young people are constantly categorized in their everyday encounters, and how the youth, each in their particular way, try to work on

those categorizations and carve out space for alternative positionings for themselves. Thus, while I claim that the setting from which I start in the case of each young person is a typical one, and hence to some extent generalizable, the way each young person reacts and acts in the setting is a unique example of the strategies young people who find themselves in this kind of position can deploy.

Nevertheless, smooth as this solution seemed to be, I had trouble with some themes that had popped up during coding, but that did not fit into my tabulations regarding the different encounters and their particularities. I had odd lists around themes that didn't fall under any neat file in my computer directory, but kept leaping out. They were lists I had somewhat intuitively named, for example, "scraping coins" or "emotional labour". The former consisted of excerpts of my data that had to do either with earning money from odd jobs or saving money with different techniques, either to make ends meet (like Afrax, who had serious difficulties, for example, paying the train trips from his home city to the town in which he studied; students were not allowed to spend weekends in the dormitory, so he had to travel about seventy kilometres back and forth), to be able to send some money to family or other relatives who were in difficulties, to be able to have some hobby, decorate their home or have some nice clothes, or to be able to finally travel to meet family members living far away that they had not seen for years ('It's seven years that I saw my parents last time... No, wait... it's nine years already!' one young boy of Afghan background, working hard in order to buy flight tickets, told me while we were watching a football match). The latter comprised situations in which I found the young people working hard with their emotions, trying to push away memories of, and worries about, their family, for example, in order to concentrate on school work, or forcing themselves to behave politely in situations in which discrimination occurs so as to be able to get away, or to get what one needs, or trying to find the courage and stamina to build social relationships in a place where they knew no-one, to participate in activities they found interesting, and to maintain self-respect and hope. What I found to combine these odd lists, in the end, was the fact that in one way or other they all required work or labour from the young people in question. I started to realize how much they worked in order to achieve longer-term aims, and to see connections between this work and the categorizing subject positions they kept been positioned in. I thus started working on conceptualizing this labour, which I now understood as a form of agency too. This forms the analysis of the third chapter regarding each young person.

As I have already mentioned, I conducted a kind of "second round" of fieldwork with Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax, going through what I had written regarding them

and discussing my interpretations. This was the most unnerving part of the analytical work for me: I was both worried and excited about the way the youths would react to my interpretations and my way of writing. These discussions turned out to be both fruitful and vital: in many cases in which I had been hesitant about my interpretation I got confirmation from the youth, and, in some cases, they disagreed with me, bringing out their own interpretations and the grounds for them. Inspired by these discussions, I have, in some cases, re-moulded my analytical work, and in some other cases—in which I have deemed my own interpretation as, if not the only right one, then perhaps just as valid as the young person's—written our dialogue or its results in the text, most often in the epilogues. Including our dialogue about the interpretations is, in this sense, also an attempt to unwrap our power relations that, despite the involvement of my research companions in the analysis and writing phases of this work, positions me as the person who has had the final say on the interpretations and arguments of this dissertation.

4 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

In this chapter, I begin by briefly sketching out the development of the anthropology of the political, and position my research within this field, giving emphasis to the way anthropologists have approached the question of political agency. I then move on to inquire in more detail into the concept of agency itself, the ways in which it has been defined, and the problematics its theorization has recurrently stumbled upon. Thereafter, I outline three approaches to political agency: one, currently pivotal in anthropological study of the political, in which political agency is approached through the optic of citizenship; feminist new materialists' posthumanist approaches to agency, which have been a central source of theoretical inspiration for this dissertation; and a more classic anthropological discussion of political agency as it pertains specifically to this research project. Finally, in the last subsection of this chapter, I will outline my own approach towards the subject matter of this dissertation, which I, following Häkli & Kallio (2018), in combination with insights from new materialisms and the anthropology of the political, conceptualize as *mundane political agency*.

4.1 Political anthropology: from system to power...

There is some strange beauty in classic political anthropology. Think, for example, of *The Nuer* (Evans-Pritchard 1940), the way it lays a society out in front of the reader's eyes, clear and concise like a mathematical equation. Those early years of political anthropology—the time of the structural-functionalist paradigm, stretching from 1940 to about the mid 1950s (Lewellen 1983, 8)—were marked by enthusiasm for and pride in the theoretical value of this newly formed subdiscipline. "We have not found that the theories of political philosophers have helped us to understand the societies we have studied and we consider them of little scientific value," Fortes and Evans-Pritchard (1950 [1940], 4) boldly stated in their introduction to *African Political Systems*. And system, indeed, was the word of the day. "Classic political anthropology was greatly concerned with definitions of its subject matter, formal models, and typologies," Spencer crystallizes (2007, 36). But the messiness of the

world inevitably filtered in. Gluckman and Leach's work during the 50s on conflict and oscillation as internal to political systems made them transitional figures (Lewellen 1983, 9). Later on, Gluckman's students developed his ideas further, forming the so-called Manchester School and the new processual paradigm—or, to be more precise, paradigms, since subdivisions soon emerged—which concentrated on process and conflict instead of structure and function (ibid., 9–10).

Give messiness an inch and it will take a yard. In the mid 1960s, the new paradigms severely challenged the whole disciplinary specialization of political anthropology. It "[...] first decentred and then deconstructed," according to Vincent's (2010 [1996], 546; see also Vincent 2002, 3) summary of its brief history, defining political anthropology laconically as a "[...] late and comparatively shortlived subfield [...]." Not that anthropologists haven't found political phenomena interesting ever since—rather, they have found it everywhere, "[...] underlying almost all the discipline's concerns [...]" (ibid., 644). Still, to paraphrase Spencer (2007, 34; 38), as a subdiscipline, political anthropology seemed to run out of steam somehow and was, by the 1970s, in "something of a rut." Simultaneously, along with other social sciences, anthropology faced the post-68 challenge (Mukherjee 2011, 341). Theoretical inspiration emanated from other disciplines: the poststructural turn that took place in geography, social history, literary criticism, feminism and elsewhere, revitalized anthropology's interest in power relations (Vincent 2002, 3). In the postcolonial landscape it was argued that "[...] concepts like society, community, clan and nation had to be reread as political fields wherein the motor of human life was power" (Mukherjee 2011, 340). The focus of anthropological work on the political from the 1970s on thus became the anthropology of power and resistance: "[...] recognition of power as the principal dynamism in all forms of human relating [...]" (ibid., 340; see also Spencer 2007, 38). In its first phase, such research concentrated on major social changes in the context of decolonization and nation-state building, but a new focus soon emerged: "the micropolitics of everyday resistance" (Gledhill 2009, 14).

4.1.1 ...and from power/resistance to an anthropology of the state and citizenship

A number of monographs concentrating on power relations and resistance came out in the 1980s, including Comaroff's *Body of Power, Spirit of Resistance* and Scott's *Weapons of the Weak* (both 1985), Ong's *Spirits of Resistance and Capitalist Discipline: Factory Women*

in Malaysia (1987), and Boddy's Wombs and Alien Spirits: Women, Men and the Zār Cult in the Northern Sudan (1989). All these works were concerned with showing how people in positions of subordination—peasants, factory workers, women, colonial subjects—carry out political acts and contest power relations in everyday situations. The proposition of agency as a subject's capacity to act even in the most disadvantageous situations began to gain impetus. My research on young refugee background men's political agency is obviously greatly indebted to this field; not only to resistance studies itself, but also to the criticism it has occasioned. Abu-Lughod (1990, 41–42), for example, warned of a tendency to romanticize resistance: "[...] to read all forms of resistance as signs of the ineffectiveness of systems of power and of the resilience and creativity of the human spirit in its refusal to be dominated." She inverted Foucault's famous proposition thus: "where there is resistance, there is power", and proposed looking at instances of resistance not as signs of human freedom, but as signs of power, helping us understand its different forms and the ways people are caught up in them. Mahmood (2005, 22), on the other hand, argues compellingly against conceptualizing political agency simply as synonymous with resistance, as norms are not only reaffirmed or subverted, but "[...] performed, inhabited, and experienced in a variety of ways". Concentrating solely on resistance, she argues, "[...] ignores an entire dimension of politics that remains poorly understood and undertheorized within the literature on politics and agency." (Ibid., 35.) Problematic presumptions about freedom, power, and human subjects remain central questions when theorizing agency. I will return to them in the next subchapter.

Spencer (2007, 45–46) and Gledhill (2009, 14) criticize resistance studies from a slightly different angle: in its concentration on the political acts of everyday life and understanding of power as ubiquitous, it tends to leave the whole world of organized politics, its institutions and spectacles, outside the frame. "In the literature on resistance, the state is never a resource, or a place to seek justice, let alone a zone of hope, however distant or deferred, in the political imaginary. It is, if it appears at all, an 'absolute externality', a source of coercion, violence, or fear; and thus the only theoretically correct response to the state is resistance." (Spencer 2007, 45–46; 136.) And, indeed, after the turn of the millennium, political anthropology began to reemerge in the form of "the new anthropology of the state" (Gledhill 2009, 17). Strong interest in research regarding the state and citizenship is reflected in the publication of several readers, such as *State Formation: Anthropological Perspectives*, edited by Krohn-Hansen and Nustad in 2005; *The Anthropology of the State: A Reader*, edited by Sharma and Gupta in 2006; and *The Anthropology of Citizenship: A Reader*,

edited by Lazar in 2013. This has not meant that questions regarding agency have disappeared from the scene altogether, but rather that they are now approached from a different theoretical framework. Lazar & Nuijten (2013), for example, argue for an expansive notion of citizenship that refers to political belonging and political agency in a very wide sense (instead of understanding citizenship simply as legal status and rights). "Thus," they write, "citizenship might be [...] an analytical category *denoting political agency generally* even where not specifically and explicitly articulated around questions of citizenship [...]" (ibid., 4; emphasis mine).

4.2 The problem of agency

"The term agency, variously defined, has become ubiquitous within anthropology and other disciplines," writes Ahearn (2001, 109) at the beginning of the millennium. She posed the question of why "[...] so many scholars in so many fields are currently interested in the concept of agency", and called for greater care and clarity from scholars using the concept (ibid., 109; 130). Her own "bare bones definition" of agency denotes a "socioculturally mediated capacity to act", an ability to act in ways that bear transformative potential (ibid., 112-113; 120). Agency, thus understood, stands in opposition to routine action or habitus (the Bourdieuian one), activities performed in customary fashion in accordance with a social order, hence reproducing it (Arendt 1958, 8; Häkli & Kallio 2018, 69; Isin 2008, 15; 2012, 131). Ahearn, however, not only underlined the need to define the concept carefully, but also to become aware of certain kind of "[...] assumptions about personhood, desire, and intentionality that might unwittingly be built into their analyses." Mahmood (2005, 5), for her part, has argued openly against certain key analytical concepts in liberal thought—including agency—that "[...] enjoy common currency across a wide range of disciplines, in part because liberal assumptions about what constitutes human nature and agency have become integral to our humanist intellectual traditions." And, finally, Fausto & Heckenberger (2007, 4) wrote: "If it is true that anthropology has focused primarily on the normative and structural aspects of social life during the heydays of the nation-state and the planned economy, it is also not by chance that it has recently glorified flexibility, history, and individual agency along with the neoliberal momentum in the global economy." They called individual agency one of "our [meaning Anglo-American] own most cherished cultural notions", noting that agency,

[...] connotes the capacity of individuals qua individuals to consciously guide their lives and act upon the world. This culturally specific concept stems from a particular notion of the person, predicated upon self-identity and self-consciousness, in which free choice is the model of action and property relations characterizes the agents' connections to their acts [...]. (Fausto & Heckenberger 2007, 4; endnote 3.)

While these anthropologists criticized the concept of agency on the grounds of its inbuilt individualism and its assumption of an autonomous subject, other scholars (in anthropology and other fields) were approaching the same problematics from a different angle. An understanding on power as productive—as forming the subject whose condition of existence it thus provides—had developed from Fanon (who wrote about being overdetermined from without as a "black man", 2008 [1967]; see also Fassin 2011, 422–424), to Althusser (interpellation as the discursive production of the subject, 1971) to Foucault (assujetissement, 1991 [1975]; 1990 [1976]; 1982; 1980) and Bourdieu (habitus, 1977), and finally to Butler (2011 [1993]; 1997). This insight on the process of subject formation—of subjectivation (or subjectification)—is ill at ease with a notion of agency based (however subtly) on any kind of free will exerted by subjects. There is no pre-existing subject, no outside of structuring structures (as Bourdieu would put it), or practices of governance (as Foucault would have it), since the subject is produced through power relations that form the necessary conditions of its possibility. This is what Butler (2011 [1993], xxiii) calls the paradox of subjectivation; the means of becoming a self-conscious agent are the very same processes and conditions that subordinate the subject, they are "constituting constraints". Mahmood (2005, 17) neatly summarizes: "[...] the set of capacities inhering in a subject—that is, the abilities that define her modes of agency—are not the residue of an undominated self that existed prior to the operations of power but are themselves the products of those operations." It follows that agency is not about external opposition to power but has to be understood as immanent to it (Butler 2011 [1993], xxiii).

For some scholars, this does not mean an end to human agency, understood as a capacity for transformative acts. Mahmood (2005, 18; emphasis original), for example, conceptualizes agency as "[...] a capacity for action that specific relations of *subordination* create and enable." Tsing (1993, 232), for her part, claims that subjects "[...] play with, pervert, stretch, and oppose the very matrix of power that gives them the ability to act [...]." And Butler (1997, 17; emphasis original) writes: "[...] the subject is *neither* fully determined by power *nor* fully determining of power (but significantly and partially both) [...]." Yet, developing a theoretically solid understanding of human agency that is, on one hand, a product of operations of

power, and still capable, on the other, of disrupting that very matrix of governance has turned out to be difficult. If the subject is constituted by power (as Foucault and Butler would put it) or socioculturally constructed (as Ahearn and social constructivists would say), how to account for the capacity not only to reproduce governance/structure but also to do surprising, creative and transformative acts? Ahearn (2001, 117) called this problem a "recursive loop": as actions are products of social structures, they thus necessarily (re)create those very structures, and noted that despite the efforts of practice theorists (like Giddens, Bourdieu and de Certeau), the question of how any habitus or structure could produce actions that fundamentally change it remains insufficiently answered (2001, 117–119).

Due to these problematics agency is, perhaps, not quite as ubiquitous a term these days as it was when Ahearn wrote her article. Not that the potential for agency or disruptions and transformations of the social order as such doesn't continue to intrigue scholars in many fields. But, to avoid the impasse described above, it is often approached either from quite distinct analytical angles or from a down-to-earth ethnographic starting point that concentrates on the possibilities, constrictions and nuances of empirically situated action. In what follows, I will consider three approaches to agency—one that has gained notable interest in recent political anthropology, but which I am critical of to a certain degree, and two that I have found both more compelling and fruitful with regard to my own research. Following this, I move on to delineate my own approach to political agency and the reasons I find it worthwhile sticking to this somewhat problematic concept.

4.2.1 Citizenship as denoting political agency

As mentioned earlier, certain anthropologists suggest using citizenship as an optic for political agency and subjectivity. (Lazar 2013b, 16; Lazar & Nuijten 2013, 4.) They have found the concept of citizenship a productive means for focusing on political action analytically, on the ways individuals relate to their political communities and on the practices of making individuals full members of a given political community (Lazar & Nuijten 2013, 3; 5). In this line of thought, citizenship is understood to be more than "the legal status of member of a national political community with certain rights and responsibilities" (ibid., 3): "For people are members of varying political communities, not just those governed by national or even local states, and they are subject to forms of government that originate from different entities" (Lazar 2013b, 5). At the same time, Ong's (1996) argument about

citizenship as both top-down processes of being made and bottom-up processes of self-making, as well as Rosaldo's (1994) understanding of "cultural citizenship" as a right to be different without compromising one's right to belong, are of fundamental importance for this new anthropology of citizenship (Lazar & Nuijten 2013, 4; Lazar 2013b, 8). Lazar thus argues for enlarging the concept of citizenship to name political belonging in general, for studying citizenship as an inquiry into "how we live with others in a political community" (ibid., 1), and for understanding political citizenship as political agency (Lazar 2013c, 122).

Dislocating agency as something that individuals either have or do not have, and concentrating instead on the processes of living together and negotiating belonging in various political communities has most certainly been a fruitful way to circumvent the problem of agency. A focus on what is actually going on in the processes and practices of citizenship making anchors the discussion on agency in detailed ethnography (Lazar & Nuijten 2013, 4), forcing it beyond simple dichotomies. Also, I embrace the idea of understanding citizenship as something larger than the liberal view of it as simply the legal status of an individual in relation to a nation state (Lazar 2013b, 1). Nevertheless, I find using citizenship—even in this extended sense—as the frame for inquiring into political agency circumscribing. No doubt it can produce insightful results on political agency—but only up to a point. When trying to grasp the political agency of non-citizens or not-quite-citizens analytically it leaves one with only meagre tools.

Lazar (2013b, 13-14) underlines that, as citizenship names membership of, and belonging to, a political community, "[...] it is also a means of excluding others from that membership." It follows that, for those excluded, citizenship is a language for claiming membership—either formally, for example when certain groups of "illegal" migrants claim national citizenship in their new home country, or substantially, when marginalized second-class citizens claim better or full membership of a political community (be that a state, a local political formation, or some other political community-Lazar, for example, studies trade unions). But this is all. "Constituting non-citizens as other can lead to a positive politics of dissent and resistance and to the broadening of citizenship [...], but can also be highly restrictive, not to say violent," Lazar (ibid., 15) concludes. This leaves limited scope for non-citizens' or not-quite-citizens' agency, as all there is for them to do is to claim (better) membership, or to be violently excluded. This, of course, is an important struggle, and it is relevant for my research participants too. But is there nothing else they might be pursuing or struggling against than claiming membership or resisting exclusion? Might their agency not reach in other directions than inclusion in the political community they are—to some extent—excluded from? I believe that approaching political agency solely via the framework of citizenship risks leaving other, highly important aspects of my research participants' political agency, its different nuances and the young people's various and sometimes contradictory strategies and aspirations out of sight.

In its emphasis on belonging to political communities (however broadly defined), I feel that understandings of agency based on notions of citizenship risk presupposing what is actually political for the young people in question. As, in this dissertation, I am inquiring into what Häkli & Kallio (2018, 64) conceptualize as the political ordinary—the ways in which the political unfolds in everyday life, in mundane events that may seem commonplace or unremarkable—using citizenship as an analytical lens might, therefore, turn out to be misleading. The concept of the political ordinary stands in contrast to a conventional understanding of the political as matters that are recognized as having particular import in the society at large and, thus, as something that one immediately recognizes as politics. The issues at hand in the realm of the political ordinary are, however, certainly of importance to the people involved; with Häkli & Kallio (2014, 183) and also Verdery (1999, 24), I hold that the political can be defined as matters of particular import. What is at stake, however, depends on who one asks: "[...] the way in which, and by whom, this importance is recognized" (Häkli & Kallio 2018, 64). Citizenship, or belonging to a given political community, might not work as the best analytical starting point for asking what the issues that are of particular import to my research companions are.

4.2.2 Agency in new materialisms—quantum physics and relating bodies

[...] agency is cut loose from its traditional humanist orbit. Agency is not aligned with human intentionality or subjectivity. [...] *Crucially, agency is a matter of intra-acting; it is an enactment, not something that someone or something has.* It cannot be designated as an attribute of subjects or objects (as they do not preexist as such).

Above, Barad (2007, 177–178; emphasis original) crystallizes her posthumanist take on agency, developed in the context of feminist new materialisms. As with new materialists in general, Barad turns to matter to reposition humans among the nonhuman. She draws on quantum physics to contest a human-centred concept of agency, arguing for an understanding of matter as a congealing of agency; matter is not a fixed essence, but "[...] substance in its intra-active becoming—not a thing but a doing [...]." (Ibid., 183–184.) Building on modern physics and life sciences—such as particle physics, chaos & complexity theory, new biology & genetics—new

materialist ontologies move towards post-Cartesian understandings of matter not as a passive, inert substance, but as active, self-creative, productive and unpredictable. "Matter becomes" rather than "matter is" (Coole & Frost 2010, 9–10; 15–16). Hence, agency is dislocated from being the "property" of discrete, self-knowing and sovereign human subjects, and is instead understood as agentic properties inherent in the natural environment and its material forces, as ontological capacities for agency all bodies—human and non-human alike—evince (ibid., 10; 20–21).

This provides a fruitful approach to political agency, detached from the burden of inbuilt liberal assumptions and any scent of "free will". Instead, new materialisms "[...] emphasize the active, self-transformative, practical aspects of corporeality as it participates in relationships of power" (Coole & Frost 2010, 19). Such elements as creative contingency, meaning, difference, efficacy, improvisation and resistance are introduced to nature itself, "before cognition begins" (ibid., 20). While new materialists do not ignore the role of social construction, they "[...] stubbornly insist on the generativity and resilience of the material forms with which social actors interact [...]" (ibid., 26). Coole & Frost (ibid., 20) underline the significance of the effects of corporeal capacities on social and political processes:

Thus bodies communicate with other bodies through their gestures and conduct to arouse visceral responses and prompt forms of judgment that do not necessarily pass through conscious awareness. They are significant players in games of power whenever face-to-face encounters are involved [...].

Building on Barad's, Coole & Frost's and other new materialists' insights, Väyrynen et al. (2017, 4; emphasis original) develop an understanding of how "[...] deeply disadvantaged and vulnerable bodies that are not assumed to have any agentive capacity, let alone political agency, can obstruct and resist the smooth functioning of practices of governance, and thus open a space of political resistance and action." They explore case studies that deal with Filipino migrant nurses in the global care economy, undocumented migrants and asylum seekers, and Roma beggars in Europe, arguing that even the most disadvantaged bodies possess "ontological agentive capacities" (ibid., 35; 96). These capacities emerge from the body's "[...] materiality and movement that both, to a large extent, are beyond the control of networks and practices of power [...]" (ibid., 37): the mobile body, relating with embodied others, is, according to them (ibid., 27), an "outside" of governmental discursive power. The ontological, material body has an inherent capacity to relate to other bodies, and it is by "[...] engaging with and relating or refusing to relate to other bodies [...]" that it creates the potential for politics, even in circumstances where there is no readily available space for agency

(ibid., 37). For each and every time mobile bodies relate with one another, a possibility for surprises opens. As they write:

Although bodies are moulded by the practices of governance in neoliberal economies, relating with other bodies, they can play with these practices in ways that transform, disrupt, ridicule and even rewrite the scripts of governance. These acts of playfulness are not simply the same thing as collective action taking place outside and against the formal institutions and procedures of the state, and neither is it the same thing as intentionally ridiculing the law through acts of nonconformity. Rather, it is much more subtle, and often unintentional. (Ibid., 96.)

This approach offers a much broader and more nuanced framework for analyzing political agency than, for example, Lazar and Nuijten's suggestion of approaching political agency through the lens of citizenship. With regard to my own work, new materialist approaches are especially useful in their emphasis on the political potential of acts that are not easily recognizable as such at first glance. Acknowledging the political potential of all material bodies and their face-to-face encounters (instead of a preconceived understanding of what counts as political, such as claiming membership of a political community, or participating in institutional politics, or collective action outside and against it) has been of crucial importance to my work with refugee background young men. However, as I will detail in the last subsection of this chapter, new materialist approaches turned out to be lacking in other respects. I thus have found it necessary to look for analytical tools from anthropological discussions concerning agency, to which I now turn.

4.2.3 Human subjectivity and agency—the quantum of culture and relating human beings

Barad's position suggests a radical reconceptualization of our being in the world. In engaging the world as agents, we do not act as monads endowed with *potentia*, but as entangled phenomena that are part of what exists. We do not preordain material dynamics as a result of aspirations dictated by reason. Instead, we participate in processes of materialization of which we are a part but do not control. (Zanotti 2017, 372.)

As the quote above suggests, Barad's (and other new materialists') thinking has, for many scholars, brought about a profound change in conceptualizations of human and non-human agency. From an anthropological point of view, however, it is perhaps not quite as radical. As Keane (2007, 52–55) points out, the liberation of a self-aware, sovereign subject is central only to the modern narrative, and is not a

universally shared view of human beings. While it is quantum physics that teaches the lesson of entanglement and non-human agency for Barad, for anthropologists it has been encountering various local understandings of "persons" and "agency". Strathern (2004, 223–224), for example, writes the following of Papua New Guinean relationalism:

But whole bodies are, in another sense, part-persons; from a second perspective which these other persons have, what they see is divided substance. For as well as being singular, persons can also be plural. Since the 'whole' person is detached from other relations, then taken together these relationships compose the person as an entity with a multiple or plural character. This produces another perspective on the body. [...] As a result, a person's substance may be thought of as body which is a part of other bodies.

On the other hand, Fausto and Heckenberger (2007, 13) describe what they call the "shamanic action" of indigenous Amerindians, to whose "[...] animist ontologies an ontological separation between humans and nonhumans [...] fits awkwardly [...]." In this way, problematizing the idea of the individual sovereign subject and their inherent self-awareness as a precondition for freedom and thus agency has grown out of ethnographic practice and is therefore not, as such, a novel insight in anthropology. Keane (2003, 241), for example, snaps that: "This parochial perspective is not only theoretically problematic, it is ill-equipped to deal empirically with people who would deny that they themselves are or would want to be humanist or liberal subjects." The insights provided by peoples for whom the modern narrative is not central has led anthropologists to question prominent Western understandings of human subjects and their agency.

This, however, does not automatically lead to questioning subjectivity as a specific dimension of human existence. Acknowledging non-human agency and seeing human beings as parts of processes of materialization is not, I firmly believe, incompatible with recognizing human subjectivity and certain kinds of agency it enables. I align with Ortner (2006, 110) in her insistence that subjectivity is a major dimension of human existence; ignoring it theoretically would impoverish the sense of the human. I also follow Ortner in her view that subjectivities are complex (in a way elaborated below), and as such are the basis of forms of agency specific to *human beings*; existentially complex bodies that are capable of reflecting their situation and desires. As important as I find the approach described in the previous section, there is another level to the young men's agency that I find just as crucial. For while these young people inhabit material bodies that possess ontological agentive capacities, they are simultaneously human beings among others who, as Ortner (2006, 56; 110)

would put it, feel, think, reflect, seek and make meaning, interpret and evaluate their situation in relation to others, and formulate their own projects that they try to enact.

This is not to say that human agency is about acts of freely choosing individuals—quite the contrary. The way anthropology offers for getting around the liberal assumptions baked into the concept of human agency is culture, or cultures. As Ortner (2006, 57) writes: "[...] the answer to the reified and romanticized subject must be an actor understood as more fully socially and culturally constructed from top to bottom." This might not sound as radical a reconceptualization as Barad's—it is not so novel to point out that subjects are socially and culturally constructed. As brought out above, this is exactly one reason why agency is such a tricky concept—remember the loop: if the subject is socially constituted, how could they be truly reflective or create anything "new"? But, to understand people as fully socially and culturally constructed is to get rid of the assumption that, "[...] agency is naturally located within pre-existing individuals [...]" (Keane 2003, 240-241). Keane (ibid., 241) proposes that agency can be understood as "forged among" human beings-who, in turn, following Strathern and Barad, can also be understood to become determined via such "forging" or intra-action (Barad 2007, 139), as, for example, singular subjects or plural persons (Strathern 2004, 223-224). If agency is not conceived as a "thing" that preconceived individuals "have", such formations as families, institutions and societies seem less deterministic, Keane (ibid., 241) argues. To summarize his elaborate argument in somewhat simplistic fashion, intra-action means that action (among other things) is semiotically mediated: there is social communication about and around it and its interpretations, and this makes the interpretations of action subjects of objectification (ibid., 231; 239). Objectification, in turn, allows for reflection, as it enables simultaneous understanding of, and distancing from, varying interpretations and, thus, their comparison. Keane (ibid., 233-234) calls this a movement between "epistemologies of intimacy and estrangement":

To understand the non-explicit features of action, the habitual or the covert, requires an epistemology of intimacy—but to take them as anything other than obvious, natural, self-contained, and unshakeable requires an epistemology of estrangement. This further level need not derive from something "external" to a community, since it builds on pervasive capacities for self-reflection, inherent to the semiotic mediation of action. (Keane 2003, 240.)

Hence, while culture is constraining as, "[...] people in a particular society are constrained by their cultural frameworks to be as they are and act as they do [...]" (Ortner 2006, 14), it is simultaneously enabling. On one level, it is enabling in the

classic sense developed, for example, by Geertz (2000 [1973], e.g. 79–83; 214–218): without the frameworks of symbols and meanings provided by shared culture, people would not be able to think, understand what they see, feel, or imagine at all (see also Ortner 2006, 14-15). But, on another level, culture is enabling, in the sense that it provides resources for reflection, as described by Keane above. Ortner (2006, 125) underlines that culture, even in its most dominant forms, is never "pure", in the sense of being without internal tensions and contradictions: within any given cultural formation, "countercurrents", alternative cultural formations, coexist with the hegemonic cultural formation. This is partly due to the element of instability that power itself introduces within cultural formations; power differentials within groups, supposed to share goals, are a basis for their ultimate instability, Ortner (2006, 149) argues. Importantly, cultural formations are also mobile phenomena—they are not moored to particular groups, but geographically and temporally "traveling" (ibid., 13; 15; on the question on how culture moves, see also Urban 2001). As human beings relate with each other, they are influenced not only by the constraints and resources of their "own" culture but by others as well, whether we talk about subcultures, Cultures, in the sense of classic anthropology, or large historical regimes (such as Jameson's [1991] "late capitalism" or the like).

This means that while culture/s have deeply constraining power (Ortner 2006, 15), they are nevertheless necessarily internally and externally multilayered—and that enables a reflective movement between epistemologies of intimacy and estrangement. Taking the suggestion of human beings as fully socioculturally constructed seriously implies taking them to be able to reflect their situation: to be at least to a certain extent "knowledgeable" (Giddens 1979, 5), equipped with some reflexivity about themselves and some "[...] 'penetration' into the ways in which they are formed by their circumstances" (Ortner 2006, 111). As Das (2017, 200) puts it, subjectivities are thus not fully "colonized" by the processes of subjectivation. Ortner (2006, 126–127) calls this complex subjectivity: "[...] a subject partially internalizes and partially reflects upon [...] a set of circumstances in which she finds herself." And this, in turn, is the basis for specific types of human agency: it enables people to react against their circumstances—or, one could add, to try to maintain, transform, stretch, or play with them. Understood in this way, as a capacity forged among relating sociocultural beings, agency does not presuppose an outside (of structure, governance, or culture), since cultural multilayeredness introduces "estrangement" inside itself. Ability for reflection is immanent to it. Ortner (2006, 127) writes:

What I prefer to emphasize here are the complexities of consciousness even in the face of the most dominant cultural formation. This is not to say that actors can stand "outside of culture," for of course they cannot. But it is to say that a fully cultural consciousness is at the same time always multilayered and reflexive, and its complexity and reflexivity constitute the grounds for questioning and criticizing the world in which we find ourselves.

I have found this discussion helpful, although not an all-out solution, with regard to some of the theoretical problems around the concept of human agency discussed above. I was prompted to return to this classic discussion by my ethnographic material, which refused to comply to interpretations based on major currents in anthropologies of the political—that of an anthropology of the state and citizenship—or solely on posthumanist understandings of the agentive capacities of material bodies. As I will explicate in more detail in the next subsection, I find this understanding of human agency—as based on complex subjectivity, enabled by cultural multilayeredness and intra-active reflection—a useful tool when investigating the political agency of my research companions, and I use it alongside new materialist conceptualizations.

4.3 My approach: mundane political agency

In this subchapter I pull the threads discussed above together and delineate how I conceptualize political agency. As suggested by the anthropology of power/resistance and by new materialisms, there are numerous ways of acting politically, and some of them can be deployed in extremely subordinate positions. In this dissertation, I contribute to this discussion, albeit taking into consideration the criticism resistance studies has occasioned and the problems surrounding the concept of agency. In order to do this, I deploy theoretical tools from both posthumanist new materialisms and from anthropological and other humanist theorizing to recognize forms of political agency that are not readily visible. From this point on, this understanding structures the rest of the dissertation: this chapter is followed by a set of three empirical chapters—all of which comprise three subchapters—that concentrate on one aspect of agency.

The first set of three subchapters (chapter 5) sets the stage by shedding light on the circumstances in which young refugee background men find themselves in Finland—circumstances that do not provide them with a "readily available space of agency" (Väyrynen et al. 2017, 37). On one hand, their lives and bodies are objects of prominent practices of governance, which categorize, and sort, them, and apply

different measures to differentially categorized groups (as brought out in chapter 2.2). On the other hand, the networks and practices of power that permeate their daily lives and their encounters in Finnish society—with its officials, citizens and noncitizens—also work to constrict the space available to them, configuring them in disadvantaged and vulnerable subject positions. The subchapters show what this means in practice, concentrating on the subject positions (here understood as social locations and identities) proposed to Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel (and other young people similarly categorized) that in many ways turn out to be subjectivating; both constricting and formative.

The second empirical chapter (chapter 6) is written from the point of view of new materialisms, dealing with the ways Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel each act and react to the subject positions proposed to them as material bodies that are "[...] part of the world-body space in its dynamic structuration" (Barad 2007, 172). The view, developed in new materialisms, of the "agentic properties inherent in nature itself", and thus of the ontological capacities for agency all bodies—human and non-human alike-evince (Coole & Frost 2010, 20-21), is of central importance for the understanding of political agency I utilize here. That the body, as a material organism, is "[...] recognized as exhibiting capacities that have significant effects on social and political situations [...]" (ibid., 20), reasserts the proposition made by resistance studies in the 1980s, without constructing a romanticized image of an ever-resilient and creative human spirit. New materialisms in general, and the insights of Väyrynen et al. (2017, 28), in particular, in studying political enactment at the level of the material body, which is often not easily recognizable, visible or articulate, have been crucial for my own work. During fieldwork, it helped me to pay attention to the ways my research companions relate, or refuse to relate, with the other bodies that people their everyday life-citizens, non-citizens, and governmental bodies. It also prompted me to reach beyond the discursive level, and to give at least as much weight to observing the mobile bodies of the young people as to their speech. During the analysis phase, this insight has encouraged me to scrutinize acts that seem unintentional with as much detail as those that seem intentional, and to ask what kinds of "immediate strategies" (Väyrynen et al. 2017, 91) the young people deploy in the mundane, yet always surprising, situations they face in the encounters of their everyday life.

As inspiring and fruitful this take on agency has proved to be, however, I became increasingly aware of its limitations during my fieldwork, and the early stages of analysis, as well. For while my research companions certainly deployed a multitude of "immediate strategies" in their everyday encounters, many of which were not

intentional or consciously planned, their ways of relating to the world, others and themselves was also indicative of another "type" of agency which I find difficult to interpret solely as "bodies communicating with other bodies through gestures and conduct" (Coole & Frost 2010, 20). I therefore started to think of these as different types of agency; one as the capacity of material bodies, and the other as a specific capacity of human beings, that by their very nature are sociocultural beings with complex subjectivities. This does not go against the grain of new materialisms—as Coole & Frost themselves note, while not privileging the human body and its cognitive capacities and reflexivity, new materialisms do not deny them either. Rather, they are seen as "chance products of a self-generative nature from which they never entirely emerge", and thus the difference between humans and the rest of nature is seen more as a question of degree than of kind (Coole & Frost 2010, 20-21). Similarly, I understand the difference between these "types" of agency as one of degree, and consider them as constantly "bleeding" into each other: it is hard to imagine one could separate acts as springing up purely from either the agentive capacities of the material body or from complex human subjectivity. For, as Parkins (2000, 62) underlines, subjectivity is also embodied: it does not exist in a vacuum, but "[...] arises from the experience of embodiment in both time and space."

Working with Manasse, Afrax and Emanuel, who each invited me to be present in some area of their life, pushed me to understand that they did so at least partly because there was something there that they wanted me to see, recognize, and understand, and possibly also to write about publicly. This is also why I have found the concept of human agency—despite its insufficiencies and problems—essential for grasping what was going on: their very willingness to get involved with this research project is, I believe, a sign of agency. In this way, this dissertation is driven by my ethnographic material; the way my young research companions maneuver through and around the constraints, possibilities and compulsions they encounter has led me to conceptualize agency along the lines of the "agency of projects" developed by Ortner (2006, 139). She draws attention to the two "faces" of agency-agency of power and agency of projects—of which the latter is about "[...] intentions, purposes, and desires formulated in terms of culturally established 'projects'." (Ibid., 144.) Each of my three research companions had projects that they tried to pursue in circumstances that were, in many ways, constraining. They had dreams and goals they aimed for, and they all worked hard in order to proceed with their projects—and inviting me to see and understand their efforts was part of that work. Not that all of these projects would have been wholly conscious or thoroughly articulate for the young men themselves, and indeed our work together was also about exactly this: finding articulation, understanding one's situation and goals better, and even searching for the project itself. Nevertheless, there was a strong sense of orientation towards the future, of imagining another kind of life and circumstances, and of finding ways to implement these desires, step by step. "The agency of projects [...] is about people having desires that grow out of their own structures of life, including very centrally their own structures of inequality [...]," Ortner (ibid., 147) writes. The projects Manasse, Emanuel and Afrax tried to work for all welled from their personal lives, its struggles and possibilities, and as such were simultaneously deeply personal and immanently tied to larger structures. What could, in the words of Biehl & Locke (2010, 335; emphasis original), be described as: "[...] stubbornly alluding to—and sometimes [...] living, in seedling state—*hope* for something different [...]" is intimately linked with a much larger "desire for a different world" (ibid., 334). Biehl & Locke understand this "ever-thwarted but never-extinguished" desire as an everyday life force that enables people to curve around or push through impasses, "[...] carving out small life chances against the odds." When seeking to break through foreclosures, this life force aims "[...] to define a kind of subjectivity that is as much about swerves and escapes as about determinations." (Biehl & Locke 2010, 333-334.) In the last of the three empirical chapters (chapter 7) of this work I immerse myself in just this: I explore the projects that grow out of the young men's desires and hopes and which aim at carving out alternative subject positions, as well as the fragility of their hopes in the face of the constraints of their lives.

4.3.1 Agency—always political?

As ought to be clear by now, my approach to political agency is in line with the mature anthropological understanding of the political as pervasive in social life (not as an autonomous sphere of institutions and governments), and of power as resting in the practices and relations of everyday life (Gledhill 1994, 20–21). This pervasiveness of the political makes it a difficult phenomenon to grasp: as Spencer (2007, 36) puts it, the "[...] problem we are trying to analyse is in part the very uncontainability of the political, its tendency to overflow its banks and wash through all areas of social life [...]." Since political action in the sphere of everyday social relations tends to be of inchoate and non-remarkable quality, it is in constant danger of slipping out of view and being ignored (Gledhill 1994, 21; 70–71). As already noted, I have adopted the concept of the political ordinary from Häkli & Kallio (2018, 64) to denote the way the political unfolds in everyday life, in mundane events

that may seem commonplace or unremarkable. On the other hand, understanding the political as pervasive in social relations risks diluting the concept of the political as some "political everything" (Dean 2000, 5-8). In some ways, all agency can be understood to be political, if one embraces the definition of agency as a capacity to have an effect on the world and thus either to maintain, or disrupt and transform, a social order. For the purposes of this dissertation, however, I find a higher resolution necessary: since my starting point is that the young men in question do have agentive capacities—both as material bodies and as humans with complex subjectivities—my question is what the issues are that are of particular import to them and that push them to act. Or, as Häkli & Kallio (2018, 58) put it: "How do we know what is political for whom in the flux of everyday life, in its multilayered spatial and temporal complexities?" It is not only that these aspects of everyday life are often seemingly of non-political nature in conventional political analysis, but they might be so to the people themselves as well. How, then, to recognize the moments when political aspects of living together are animated—to tell the difference between ordinary social coexistence and the political ordinary (ibid., 64)?

Häkli & Kallio (2018, 65) suggest that the political ordinary is animated when people "[...] become attentive to social power relations embedded in particular subject positions [...]" proposed to them, experience them as more or less agreeable, and end up "accepting, averting, or transforming" them. In this dissertation, I take this proposition as my starting point in recognizing and analyzing the political agency of my research companions. I ask how they are categorized in their everyday encounters, what kind of subject positions are available to them as a result of these categorizations, and how they relate to the positions proposed to them. I utilize a term borrowed from Häkli & Kallio, of political practices in the realm of the political ordinary, that of mundane political agency, to conceptualize the ongoing work of my research companions to affect their circumstances, welling from their "[...] responsiveness to a situation based on attentiveness to power relations vested in subject positions encountered in everyday life". Unlike Häkli & Kallio, however, I understand mundane political agency as both bodily responses to immediate situations and as future-oriented, purposive (though not necessarily intentional) acts animated by complex subjectivity (cf. ibid., 68–69).

4.3.2 Mundane political agency—always relational

Another aspect that has cropped up frequently by now is a fundamentally relational understanding of human beings, both as material bodies and as sociocultural beings. Manning (2007, xv) writes: "[...] there is no such thing as a body that is not relational." And Kapferer (1997, 1–5; 222–223), for his part, that human life is fundamentally social, as people tend towards each other, reach across the space that separates them and, while doing this, break individual organic unity. The whole anthropological discussion of agency and subjectivity, on the other hand, stems from the stance that there are no pre-existing individual subjects, but that our very perception of ourselves (be that individualist, or, for example, relational) is socioculturally constructed. And if one moves into the realm of new materialisms, the whole universe (as, for example, in Barad's theorization), is relational: for them, relations pre-exist relata—there is no prior existence of independent entities that would then interact with each other, but it is exactly the intra-action of "agencies" that determines the boundaries and properties of the components of a phenomenon (Barad 2007, 139).

To descend from these theoretical heights to a concrete level, in my analysis I give attention both to encounters, touch, and also to their avoidance. I find this a relevant point of departure not only when taking the relational nature of (human) existence into account, but also as a way of understanding how my research companions' difference with regard to Finnish society is (re)constituted and is manifested to them. Ahmed (2000, 9) writes about everyday encounters as moments in which some others are recognized as familiar and other others as strange: difference or similarity are not found on the bodies of other people, but are constituted in these encounters in which bodily and social space are defined and re-defined. In these encounters, it is not simply that any body is recognized as strange or hated: "[...] particular histories are re-opened in each encounter, such that some bodies are already read as more hateful than other bodies." (Ahmed 2004, 32–33.) Furthermore, as Manning (2007, 7) notes, while moments of contact re-open such histories, they also open for exchange and hence a possibility of change: "As I reach toward, I reach not toward the 'you' I ascertain but toward the 'you' you will become in relation to our exchange." Touch—the act of reaching toward—thus enables the creation of worlds, of inventing relations that affect and change all parties involved (ibid., xv).

This holds for encounters with other citizens and non-citizens, but also for encounters the young men experience with state officials: teachers, social workers, the police, health personnel, immigration officials, and so forth. It is in these

encounters that the state and the relationship between it and its (non-)citizens comes into being: the state is "experienced in an intimate way where power is experienced close to the skin, embodied in well-known local officials [...]" (Aretxaga 2003, 396–398). It is thus the face-to-face, skin-to-skin (Ahmed 2000, 7) encounters of material bodies with both other (non-)citizens and officials that are the focus of my research. An emphasis on the material body leads to an understanding of inherent capacity of bodies to relate to other bodies. As Väyrynen et al. (2017, 37) write: the potential for politics is created by bodies relating or refusing to relate to other bodies.

5 SETTING THE STAGE: SUBJECT POSITIONS OF DIFFERENTNESS

This first empirical chapter comprises three subchapters, each presenting an encounter my research companions had with other Finnish (non-)citizens and/or officials. I start with a snapshot of these encounters, and then proceed to dissect what, in my understanding, is actually taking place in these various moments. In this first section, I do not confine my analysis to the moment described in the beginning, but draw heavily on my data at large as well as other academic writing to reach a contextualized and thorough understanding of what is at stake in each encounter. For this purpose, I treat these moments as still frames from which to open up a wider perspective on similar kinds of encounters. It is first in the next set of subchapters that I move on to "what happens then", digging into the agentive strategies each young person deploys in these situations.

The difference of my research companions from other Finns is constituted in each of the encounters I present in this section in one or several ways. I am looking at questions such as: what kinds of differences are attached to the youths? How are these differences constructed; what kinds of acts and situations work to mark them as different? And, especially, what kind of subject positions are offered to the young people constituted as different in different ways? The moments that I have chosen to set the stage on which the agency of the young people plays out are, as already brought out in the discussion on analysis (chapter 3.3), at the same time particular and typical encounters in the everyday life of refugee background young men in Finland. Their particularity lies in the way each aptly crystallizes one or several ways that difference is attached to these young men. On the basis of my data, encounters in which these young people are essentially treated as similar to other Finns are an exception. They do happen, but they are not as prominent in the flux of everyday life as encounters that constitute, and re-constitute, difference. In the majority of the encounters I recorded, one (or most often several) of the following broad types of difference were discernable: essential differentness (due to being an immigrant and/or racially Other) or behavioural differentness (due to not knowing how one acts in Finland); differentness related to particular types of vulnerability (due to being a refugee and/or unaccompanied minor asylum seeker); and differentness that took

as form being encountered as almost-but-not-quite-similar as the consequence of successful integration work. I don't claim this to be an exhaustive list; as I have underlined, my research has not aimed to be all-encompassing, it cannot be thought to be representative of the everyday life experiences of all refugee background young men in Finland. Still, I do feel able to claim that the encounters I have chosen from the cases of Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax are typical experiences, in the sense that they are familiar, or at the very least recognizable, to many refugee background youths. This also means that at least some, or possibly all, of them are also familiar to the reader—I am certainly not the first researcher to write about these kinds of categorizing subject positions. Nevertheless, it is necessary to dwell on them for a moment so as to make the way the youth maneuver in relation to these positionings understandable, which is the subject matter of the chapters that follow this, which sets the scene.

5.1 *Mamu*—a stranger stranger: Emanuel at school I

It is a lesson on nutrition: the students are taught both theory and practical skills regarding healthy diets. Gluten-free diets are the theme of this lesson, and the students are expected to prepare different kinds of gluten-free pastries, both salty and sweet. The students are each given a recipe and are divided into pairs, so that they can help each other. For some reason, the boy who is Emanuel's partner mostly works together with one of the girls, and doesn't help Emanuel too much. And he sure needs a lot of help—he does not have enough mastery of Finnish to be able to follow the teaching in general, and in this class his mis- or non-understanding becomes evident for all as there is a concrete baking task to carry out.

He has great trouble understanding the recipe and finding the right ingredients. He doesn't know that there is a special cupboard for gluten-free flours, for example, and spends long minutes in front of the wrong cupboard looking for ingredients, slowly reading through the labels on the bags and comparing them with the recipe. He understands from the instructions that he is supposed to whip the eggs and sugar together, but not that he should do so using a machine. Parts of the baking task become all the more difficult for him as the teacher gives him rapid advice that differs from the recipe (for example, they tell him to use liquid margarine—in Finnish, "running"—instead of solid, but don't explain what the term means), and because some of the items have different names in the recipe than on the actual package (like baking paper/baking sheet). The teacher moves around in the space a lot, helping students out here and there, and does not give Emanuel any more attention than the others. Emanuel is forced to shout for them several times across the class when he doesn't know how to progress. My heart

aches every time, as I know he is himself very aware of sticking out from the class like a sore thumb—as different from all the others.

Finally, one of the other boys of the class—the one who most often helps Emanuel out in lessons—finishes his own dish and comes over to walk him through the baking task. He guides Emanuel with a firm voice that turns slightly snappish towards the end of the kitchen session, telling him to concentrate, or to put the stove on when melting butter—correcting whatever he is about to do wrong, like adding cocoa flours to the dough just like that. He snaps: "Through a sieve! Get a sieve! A big sieve!" With his advice, Emanuel manages to finish his pastries, a little burned, though, since he accidentally put the oven on air circulation. It bakes faster, the teacher explains afterwards, joking about the brownies that became "a little too brown".

Emanuel often talked to me about his awareness of standing out—not favourably—from the rest of his class. He was not the only one of the young men to talk about this experience, though. As Rastas (2002, 7) writes, for people who are conscious of being seen as racially Other in Finland, a heightened awareness of one's difference is a daily experience, and in public spaces it can be constant. Consider how Denis described his feelings about starting at a new school: he told me he was "nervous" about not knowing anyone at the school, and was afraid what the others would think about him, "[...] as I am different and of different colour too." While Denis was saying this, he gripped the back of his left hand, pulling his skin outward with the thumb and forefinger of his right hand. The gesture made it loud and clear that the second difference, that of his colour, was attached to his skin. But what about the first? I believe it is important to hear the other difference he is trying to bring out as well: Denis's statement can be read as him being categorized as different twice, a double Other.

What might this other difference be? Denis did not spell it out, but Emanuel did. 'Oh, how they made me feel like a mamu again,' he once sighed to me after spending hours filling in a citizenship application form in one of the offices of the Finnish Immigration Service. Mamu is an abbreviation of the Finnish word for immigrant: maahanmuuttaja, a person who has moved into the country. While Emanuel's tone suggests that the connotations the term carries nowadays can be questioned (an issue to which I will return later on in this chapter), at this point I would like to draw attention to the word again in Emanuel's utterance. In the case of certain people in certain contexts, immigrant-ness seems to turn into a chronic condition rather than a passing phase of life, a condition that Sadeghi (2017) calls "perpetual foreignness". At the point at which Emanuel was filling in the application, he had lived in Finland for about seven years, roughly a third of his life—but, "once an immigrant, always an immigrant," as the phrase goes. In case of some people, immigrant-ness is thus

understood to be an essential difference, as the often used and almost equally often problematized (e.g. Turjanmaa & Haikkola 2020, 57–58) term of "second-generation immigrants" (or even third!) also indicates.

Another occasion on which Emanuel used the term suggests, interestingly, that it is possible to recognize a *mamu* by their appearance. He once told me of a weekend he had spent in Helsinki, and his first trip to Hakaniemi, an area filled with Asian and African grocery stores and congregations. 'And there we walk in the street,' he explained, 'and there comes a mamadou! And, after a minute, another one! And yet another, and another!' I laughed at the exaggerated astonished faces he made and asked (even though I guessed) what mamadou means. 'Mamadou, it is like *mamu* you know,' he answered, 'but a nicer *mamu*, a little more beautiful.'²³ This story suggests not only that *mamus* are not so very nice and beautiful, but that they can be recognized exclusively by their looks—you do not even need to hear if the person speaks Finnish fluently or not, or ask them about their background; the appearance is enough to tell whether someone is *mamu* or not. On the other hand, this works to underline that not all immigrants are *mamus*—though it is not explicit, it is still obvious from Emanuel's story that he was talking about an unusual experience for him: of walking on a street among several other persons of colour.

Together, Denis's and Emanuel's reflections speak of the complex relationship of racialization and migration (Erel et al. 2016); as in many European countries, categorizing (some) immigrants as Others is interlaced with processes of racialization in Finland, as Emanuel stresses, yet being a person of colour is not the same thing as being an immigrant, as Denis observes. Also, as both make clear, being considered different from the majority of Finns in these ways is not unproblematic—at least potentially it means that one is met with exclusion, whether by classmates at school or by state institutions and officials. This chapter is an inquiry into how these Othering processes materialize in the everyday encounters of my research participants, and how these encounters work for subjectivation, in the sense that one starts to categorize oneself as different, as Denis above, or feels like a mamu once again, as Emanuel. I am especially interested in the subject position available to Emanuel in his class, but I approach the topic from an encompassing perspective, using my data at large, in order to understand better what kind of position Emanuel's "being different from the rest of the class" is. The first two sections are about the school context and deal with encounters with teachers and classmates. In the third section, I step out of the school environment to inquire into encounters that aim to

²³ Mamadou is a common first name in West Africa, derived from the name Mohammad.

be inclusive, but still work for Othering, such as certain integration practices—and, for that matter, certain research practices.

5.1.1 Teachers constructing differences: superficial, essential, disparaging

I start from the school context, probing what happens in the encounters Denis and Emanuel have with teachers, students and the larger material and social environment of the school. My aim is to illustrate how the difference of Emanuel and Denis from the other students gets manifested in these encounters. I begin by presenting three examples of the ways in which they were encountered by their teachers, two of the examples being exceptional and one typical. The typical example aligns with the opening vignette of this chapter, in the sense that while difference is not explicitly pronounced, it is still prominent because of the way the teacher acts. As for the exceptions, difference is pronounced, though with opposing results. Let me start with one of the exceptional cases:

It is a maths lesson, feared by many students. The lesson differs from others: there is very little mucking around; the class is quiet, the cheeks of the students blushed with concentration. It is the last lesson before the exam, and the teacher goes through the solutions to their homework fast, trying to cover all the central issues during the precious minutes of a single lesson. The course is about calculating the right doses of different kinds of medicines for patients of different weights, and the teacher makes it clear that mastering this is a matter of utmost importance: they tell a story about a nurse who screwed their calculations up, with the consequence that the granny they were taking care of died. Emanuel looks at me when the teacher tells the story and smiles, and I smile back—we have been studying maths together and making a lot of bad jokes about the consequences of working the doses of medicines out wrongly. The teacher goes on to assignment number twenty-six, and one of the girls of the class exclaims: "It was when the suppositories appeared that I quit [doing the assignments]." The teacher asks: "Why are the suppositories so difficult? Emanuel, did you understand what this suppository is?" "No, I did not," Emanuel answers, shaking his head and smiling, eyes fixed to his desk. The teacher asks the active girls in the front row to explain "in such a way that Emanuel also understands," then completes their explanation, which Emanuel in turn checks one more time to be sure he understood correctly. "Once more," the teacher winds up the off-topic discussion, "think about [studying] this course in Portuguese!"24 He finishes the assignment on the blackboard, and a girl next to me looks at me smiling and shaking her head—it is too difficult even in Finnish.

111

²⁴ The lingua franca of Emanuel's home country, Angola, is Portuguese.

The teacher's request to the students to explain the word to Emanuel in such a way that even he might understand it made my hair stand on end. I expected this to turn into a moment outspokenly underlining his difference from the rest of the class, which would have felt quite over the top, as his difficulties in following teaching in Finnish were obvious enough. But, instead of that, the teacher reduced the difference to a superficial question of language, managing to turn the situation upside down: if this is difficult for you in your mother tongue, then imagine how difficult it would be in another language! Fleeting as the moment was, the importance of this gesture, done in front of the whole class and accentuating the skills Emanuel has in being able to follow teaching in a foreign language at all, felt remarkable. In its exceptionality, this encounter made me understand that sometimes treating refugee background youth differently to others actually works to undo the hierarchies of difference. And vice versa: if one compares this situation with the one described at the beginning of this chapter, in which Emanuel did not receive special attention from the teacher in order to understand what he was supposed to do, it becomes clear that sometimes treating the youth similarly to others actually works for the contrary, as inconsistent as this might feel at first. Another frustrating moment that I experienced with Denis, also while studying maths, will perhaps help make the point clear:

Denis has asked me to help him with his maths, for, as he says, 'I suck at maths.' This honest explanation makes me laugh, which he probably misunderstands, as he starts to explain why he sucks, reminding me that, in his home country, he never attended a real school. He shows me his assignments and asks if I am able to help. They are on basic geometry, and I say no problem, asking what kind of help he needs. He says that he would just like to understand better in general, as he 'does not know which way is up.' So, we start to go through his last exam, in which he scored three points out of thirty—no wonder he feels he sucks! I read the first assignment: 'A merchant ordered six boxes and thirteen sackfuls of goods...', and, as my first deed as his "maths" teacher, I ask which words of the assignment he understands. Apart from the numbers, he finds barely one word familiar. I explain what the assignment is about, and then he figures out how to do it. I continue in the same way, and, at first, he seems uncomfortable as he has to say so many times that he does not understand this or that word. But, as we proceed, he sees that the assignments are a piece of cake once I have explained the words and he understands what they are actually about. His frustration changes character, he starts to grunt and squirm and then he exclaims: 'Now that [math] teacher thinks that I am totally stupid!' I tell him that the teacher should understand that he is not stupid but that he simply does not know the meaning of the words in the assignments—words that are quite distant from spoken Finnish, the assignments seem to be remnants of some maths book of bygone days. Denis is not convinced, though; he says that the teacher is new and does not know him, and probably just thinks he is stupid.

Here we are, then, with Denis who is convinced that the teacher sees the problem to reside in Denis's intellectual inferiority, not in his different mother tongue. That this teacher did not treat Denis differently from the others in the class by making sure that he understands the expressions used in the assignments made Denis deeply and uncomfortably aware of being seen as unskilled and inferior, again. Exactly the same happens in the nutrition class described at the beginning of this chapter: the fact that the teacher didn't pay attention to whether Emanuel understood the recipe and the instructions they gave him worked to create a situation in which Emanuel appears to be inept in comparison with the other students. It is impossible to guess what these teachers' intentions were—maybe they did not even think about the issue, or maybe they thought making assumptions about their students' language skills on the basis of their looks problematic, or that it would be uncomfortable for them to be treated differently from the rest of the class, or that ensuring that they understand would take too much time and energy (both are in a normal curricula class, where students are supposed to have basic language skills—which indeed they both do, but the vocabulary needed in some courses is way above basic level). Their intentions might very well have been good (or at least not bad), but the effect certainly was not. This was, as I already hinted, typical of the way the teachers encountered Emanuel in class: not openly pronouncing his difference, yet, by not taking into account his language problems, letting difference appear prominently.

Before going into this more deeply, let me present a third encounter, the other exceptional one in my data. Here, Emanuel was not exactly singled out as different, as the teacher was speaking on a general level, but their choice of words and expressions, however, inevitably involved Emanuel too:

It is a lesson in a course called "Health, Safety and Well-being", and the teacher is trying to map out different aspects that promote people's (especially patients') well-being and abilities. In order to illustrate the significance material environment has on these, the teacher asks: 'How do you find these surroundings [the location of the school's premises] as a psychological environment?' They get a ready answer:

Student: Peaceful. It feels that, even though we are so many students here, there is enough space for one to be in peace.'

Teacher: [Sounds of agreement.] 'So is that a positive thing for you? That it is peaceful.'

Student: 'Yeah, it is. Also the library is really nice, there is always such a peaceful atmosphere there, one can go there during the day to study or to use a computer, it is nice.'

Teacher: 'Yeah... but today when I visited the library there was quite a different social environment there, there was some kind of game session among "the *mamu* students, there was an awful hullabaloo [hirvee älämölö]."

The teacher makes a disapproving face, rolling their eyes.

So, we bump up into the figure of the mamu again, a concept that, as Emanuel knows only too well, is often attached to him. When I heard the teacher's comment and saw their face expressing disapproval and dislike, I bit my lip, looking at Emanuel's back in the first row right in front of the teacher. I couldn't see his face from where I was sitting, nor see him react in any way. I was angry with the teacher, yet, at first, considered this expression just a slip of the tongue, and also felt guilty about condemning them so harshly for one mistake, as they usually seemed to treat Emanuel quite well. As it is, the word mamu was, most likely, originally coined for practical purposes and did not have immediate negative connotations; especially at the beginning of the millennium, countless third sector projects targeted at immigrants used the abbreviation in their titles, and, in the field of education, for example, preparatory classes for immigrant background people were quite generally called "mamu-classes". Furthermore, the dictionary of standard Finnish, maintained by The Institute for the Languages of Finland (2020), still contains the abbreviation and describes it neutrally as a term used colloquially.²⁵ During recent years, however, awareness of the negative connotations of the abbreviation because of its use in racist slurs and hate speech has grown, and consequently its use in official language has dwindled. The same holds for the vocational institution in question: the concept of "mamu-teaching" had previously been in use here, but, at the time this incident occurred, the abbreviation was not often used, even colloquially (the only time I encountered it was the incident described above), and a discussion on whether the term should be banned altogether was unfolding at the school. This discussion reached a conclusion around 2018, when a decision was taken to consciously avoid the word in all contexts (personal communication with head of immigration education, 2020). Against this background, and considering that a person the teacher knew to have immigrant background was sitting in front of them, it is difficult to consider their choice of expressions wholly accidental and innocent.

I would like to make the following observations after contrasting these encounters with each other: first, intentionally or not, the two latter encounters construct the difference of refugee background students as essential, as something

.

²⁵ Nonetheless, the definition has changed over the years: originally (the word was added to the dictionary in 2004), both the use of the abbreviation as a part of compound words and as an independent word were defined as part of the standard language. In a 2012 update, its use as an independent word was defined as colloquial, and, in 2020, an update defined its use in compound words as colloquial as well. These changes signal the changing connotations of the word. (Personal email-exchange with the Institute, 2020.)

that they are in nature. In the last incident, the teacher's description makes the "mamu-students" appear to be of their own type, which, by their very presence, breaks the peaceful atmosphere, disrupting the harmony of the school environment with their inappropriate behaviour and unpleasant and unintelligent sounds [älämölö]. In the second incident, Denis is constructed as "totally stupid", to borrow his own words. Here, as in the opening vignette of this chapter, the unskillfulness of the student comes into being when they fail to meet a standard set by the teacher, a standard that presumes near perfect Finnish skills, both in its written and spoken forms (which, in the case of Finnish, differ considerably), and including both old-fashioned and recently coined vocabulary. Yet, as the first encounter suggests, it does not necessarily demand that much of the teacher to undo this otherwise invisible standard: even in a hectic lesson just before an exam it is possible to check whether the most important terminology is understood by everyone, and, with a small gesture, to remind everybody present how impressive it is that someone manages to study difficult subjects in a language that is not their mother tongue.

Why do I find these class settings, which work to essentialize refugee background youths' failures to follow teaching in Finnish into a general intellectual inferiority so relevant? It is because coming from non-privileged backgrounds, from cultures and areas associated with pre-modernity (read: uneducated, ignorant, having different values) to "our" country in search of a better future is an integral characteristic of what Lundström (2017, 79) calls "the imaginary migrant" (see also Gullestad 2002, 59; Leinonen 2012, 218). Lundström writes in the context of Sweden, but in present day Finland, too, the colloquial concept "immigrant" does not refer to all immigrants, but to people who are thought to share certain characteristics and experiences.²⁶ As Haikkola crystallizes (2014, 93–94): "[...] everyday understanding of an 'immigrant' means predominantly a migrant who is non-western, non-white, Muslim, and has arrived to the country on humanitarian grounds." This image is colonizing in the sense that people categorized as immigrants are subsequently often seen as a uniform, undifferentiated mass, Leinonen (2012, 218) argues. This is reflected in how, for example, professional and highly skilled North American migrants in Finland try to distance themselves from the category of immigrant, and how, on the other hand, the larger society fails to see them as such. Or, in the way in which, in Norway, migrants from Iceland are perceived as "kin", or even "genuine Norwegians", who share genes, culture and values with Norwegians and whose belonging is not questioned (Guðjónsdóttir 2014, 179), while, at the other extreme,

.

²⁶ Similar kind of images of "the immigrant" prevail in many Western countries, as for example Gullestad (2002) and White (2002) bring out with reference to Norway and Ireland.

for example, Swedish citizens of Latin American descent (Lundström 2017), non-white Danish citizens (Andreassen & Ahmed-Andresen 2014), and Finnish citizens of Asian or African descent (Rastas 2005b, 152–153) are constantly categorized as immigrants and/or refugees, and regularly questioned about their nationality by being asked where they are "really" from.

Leinonen (2002, 218–219) concludes that the category "immigrant" is racialized to refer to people originating from "poorer", non-white areas of the world who are seeking to gain residence in rich Western countries. Some groups, such as the educated and white North American migrants Leinonen studied, are (more) able to pass as "one of us" (ibid., 2016), as (becoming) members of the Finnish nation constructed and imagined to be white (Ruuska 2002, 67-71). Some other groups are racialized as "immigrant Others", and, as Erel et al. (2016, 1352) underline, in the way this group is constructed "[...] the physical movement of people is less important [...]." It is not migrants as such that get racialized as Others, it is through racialization that various categories of migrants are produced; hence, the belonging of Finnish citizens whose phenotype is not white is recurrently questioned. However, while persons of colour whose parent/s are Finnish, or who are themselves international adoptees can negotiate—at least to some extent—their belonging to the Finnish "us" on the basis of their parent/s' ethnicity, mastery of Finnish and their citizenship, my research companions cannot. And, while immigrants from Western countries are either not even recognized as such because of their phenotype (if they happen to be white) or country of origin, or gain better positioning in the racial hierarchy by, for example, being highly skilled professionals, my research companions do not. The way racial thinking and nationalism articulate with each other (Miles 1989, 89) in present-day Finland position them at the bottom of the hierarchy of belonging: they are racialized as Others twice, as both persons of colour and as immigrants. As the only people of colour and the only immigrants in their classes, Emanuel and Denis have no way of escaping these categorizations. They constantly stick out from the others because of their bodily visibility, as well as being "audibly visible" immigrants as non-native Finnish speakers, and by virtue of their having "foreign-sounding" names (Leinonen 2012, 217; Toivanen 2014, 195). There is very little space for them to negotiate their position as double Others in this hierarchy, as they constantly find themselves put in the intersection in which the figure of the mamu comes into being: the intersection of skin colour (black), migratory status (refugee, not yet citizen), origin (Global South), and social class (non-privileged, uneducated by Finnish standards).

Outright racism and other kinds of Otherings

In hindsight, Emanuel's teacher's decision to use the *mamu* word, accompanied with a verbal and gestural expression of contempt, in front of a class in which one student was a person of colour and of refugee background, cannot be considered a "slip of the tongue". Or, if it were indeed a slip of tongue, it was a telling one. It is a rare but clear instance in my data in which a teacher acts in an openly racist manner.

As such, this is not a surprise: I have heard numerous stories recounting racist acts by teachers or other adults in positions of power-also from Manasse, who ended up changing the team he played football in due to a racist coach, and Afrax, who quit one job partly due to having a racist boss. In my experience, situations in which adults in positions of authority act in a racist way are often singled out by young people who belong to racialized minorities as those that are most hurtful. One more or less learns to put up with racism from other young people, or by strangers on the street, but racist acts by adults who one is supposed to respect never cease to appall. And, as Emanuel noted regarding another adult in a position of power, a supervisor in a place in which he did his first vocational training, youths cannot defend themselves in these situations, some of which have tangible consequences. This supervisor gave Emanuel the worst possible grade of the traineeship, and did the same later to a friend of his, who is also a person of colour. There were no real grounds for these grades to be this bad as both are good students and did their best, and they started to suspect that the person responsible of grading the trainees is racist. It is so sad,' Emanuel said. You should be fair, I think, you should give the grade one deserves, if you get bad grades in your practical training how can you get employed? It affects your whole life.'

There is extensive evidence on the recurrence of racism in Finland to back up these numerous stories, both of everyday racism, structural racism, racist acts by authorities such as the police, and discrimination in job markets (Ahmad 2020; Busk et al. 2016; FRA 2017; Keskinen et al. 2018; Non-discrimination Ombudsman 2020; Rastas 2007; Souto 2011). There is no need to repeat exercises other researchers have done before me to prove this point, and I will thus not concentrate profoundly on the outright racism my research participants recurrently meet. These experiences do pop up here and there in this dissertation, reminding us of this fact and its significance in my research participants' lives: their belonging to Finland is, time and again, questioned simply on racial grounds, because of their being persons of

colour.²⁷ Here, however, I am trying to dig out other, and more subtle, ways that also work to Other and that are, perhaps, more difficult to recognize and resist than openly racist behaviour or clearly discriminating structures.

For example, the question asked by the teacher above could be used to inquire into the material and social environment of the vocational institution and the role it played in constructing Emanuel as an Other. A case in point: in the classes in which the students practiced the physical tasks of care work, such as lifting patients, changing sheets and so on, there were hospital beds with human size plastic dolls as patients. In other classes there were torsos, both adult and children, displaying the anatomy and viscera. It almost goes without saying that all these dolls, representing typical patients and normal bodies, were white-skinned with imitation blonde, straight hair. Another case in point: all the teachers I met working at the school were white. As a matter of fact, the other personnel were white too—with two exceptions: the school social worker was a person of colour, and some of the cleaners were black. Otherwise, the only position people of colour occupied in the school space was as students, so far as I could observe. In this sense, Emanuel's experience of the school environment in its normative whiteness was quite different from what the student described above: that there is space to be in peace. In the next section, I will move on to inquire how he was encountered by the other students in his class and what that reveals about the position available to him at school.

5.1.2 Classmates constructing differences

Denis's fears about starting at the new school turned out to be unnecessary in the case of his classmates: 'They are real nice and we have fun together,' he told me. Emanuel's class proved to be different. A couple of days after starting my fieldwork at his school—which I did in the spring semester of their first year—I remarked to him that the class seems nice and that the students are not mean to each other. Emanuel then told me that it was different at the beginning, some of the boys were mean to him. 'I guess they had some kind of prejudice,' he reflected, and explained how, in general, his classmates act differently to him now. In the beginning they laughed at his mistakes and misunderstandings, but, after the form master had had

.

²⁷ In the case of Finland, it is important to keep in mind the existence of "colourless" racial categories as well (Souto 2011, 25). As Puuronen (2011) and Krivonos (2018) have argued, Russian people, for example, face racism in Finland too. In any case, while people whose phenotype is white can sometimes "pass" as Finnish, my research companions cannot use this trick due to their visibility as non-white.

individual discussions with each student, they ceased to do so. 'I think they must have talked about me with them and told them that I have only been in Finland for a short while.'

At the point I was doing fieldwork, he already felt that the class had more or less accepted him, and so it seemed to me too. There were quite strong cliques in the class, and it happens that Emanuel spends most time with the clique in which the three boys of the class are also in—two of them those he pointed out as being the most "prejudiced" towards him in the beginning. In a class in which the boys clearly cluster together, it was, perhaps, still the easiest clique for Emanuel to get in—the others are "girls only" cliques. All of them seem to get along alright now, even though it is the third boy with whom Emanuel is in most contact, and who helps him out more than the other two. In addition to the three boys, two girls belong to this group, and one of them in particular often sits next to Emanuel and works together with him. It is this group Emanuel most often joins for lunch or spends time with in the corridors between lessons, sits next to in class, and does pair or teamwork with when required. It is also the members of this group that most often help him out when he cannot follow the teaching due to difficulties of language.

Yet it is also remarkable that he is often not actually involved in chitchat or whatever the group is currently bustling about, but merely stands or sits quietly nearby. The others never seem to touch him either. Two of the other boys have constant play fights with the girls of the group, sometimes quite physical, but Emanuel is never involved. Everybody keeps a certain distance from him. This practice seemed so inviolable that I almost held my breath when I once noticed it being broken, making the following note in my diary:

Emanuel and the girl student are both making notes and lean their arms on the table, writing. His elbow is resting on her table, very close to hers, and they chat quietly for a moment, exchanging intensive eye contact as well. Soon, she turns towards the other young man on her left side and starts to talk with him. While doing it she leans slightly to the right, and her and Emanuel's elbows meet. They do not withdraw from the touch but let it happen until, after a few minutes, both change position slightly and their elbows depart.

It is as if there was an invisible bubble around Emanuel that separates him from the other students—a bubble that breaks when he meets some friends or acquaintances of his who are also persons of colour and study in some other class; they always greet each other by shaking hands and touch each other otherwise too, which serves to further accentuate the avoidance of touch that prevails between Emanuel and his own classmates. As Rastas (2005, 87) notes, in everyday encounters the supposed

difference, or Otherness, of someone is constructed not only by openly racist acts, but also in less obvious ways such as gaze (looking at or looking away), treating someone differently from others, or including some and excluding some others. Ahmed (2000, 48; emphasis original), for her part, brings out the importance of touch in social differentiation thus: "[...] bodies are touched by some bodies differently from other bodies." Though not outspoken (anymore), Emanuel's difference from his classmates is made manifest, and reproduced, through small but continuous gestures. As weeks go by and the class spirit gets better, this differentiation turns slowly neutral or even amiable in its tone. There is even relaxed joking about some classmate acting racist, for example, if they accidentally treat Emanuel differently from the others (like handing him a spoon instead of a fork at the lunch table). Nevertheless, differentiation still takes place: a peculiar kind of friendly distance seems to be the attitude adopted by most of his classmates. Or, some might even help him out when they see he needs it, but get irritated when they have to do so repeatedly, as in the baking situation in the opening vignette of this chapter. It is not his difference as such that provokes the classmate helping him out, but the trouble it causes him, and this serves to manifest the difference all the same.

Emanuel's position as *the* Other in the class is also built, perhaps completely unintentionally, through acts that construct the belonging and similarity of the two other students in the class who have multicultural backgrounds with the majority. Both of these girls speak and write flawless Finnish, and they do not differentiate from others by their looks either—they have maybe slightly darker hair than the other brunettes in the class, but not so much as to catch attention. They also dress and act in line with the other girls, and I might not have noticed their backgrounds were it not for their "foreign-sounding" first names and two small incidents. The first was kicked off by the very name of one of the girls, when a teacher, new to the class, asked her how to pronounce it and then asked where she came from. The girl took this as questioning her country of origin, and answered: "I am right from [the city in question], my father is Finnish." With this trained sentence she promptly confirmed her belonging twice, both to the Finnish nation and to the local hoods. The second incident, involving the other girl, was even more interesting, as it exhibited a more contradictory stance:

I sit alone in the class, enjoying a peaceful moment and correcting my notes. Soon some girls come in and go to their places in the back row to chitchat. After a while, another girl comes in and starts explaining in a loud voice how she had been talking to another student in the corridor, when the teacher of the other class had arrived and asked the other student to come in. 'That Turkish girl won't let me in,' the other student had then said. The girl goes over to the sink to wash her hands, looks at

herself in the mirror and asks the other girls: "Am I white? They called me white." The other girls respond immediately in a serious tone: "Yes." "Yes you are, very fair[-skinned]."

The discussion was unfortunately interrupted here, as the teacher walked in and asked the girls about the progress of their group work. Still, one can make a few remarks on the back of this short conversation: first, the other girls were quick to confirm the "Turkish" girl's whiteness, and their tone made it clear that this was not a subject to joke about. But, second, the girl herself used the expression "they called me" hinting in a way that she finds it insulting to be categorized as white. Third, there was something in her tone, in her way of bringing this under discussion and voicing the question itself—"Am I white?"—that did not support the interpretation that she was upset. Contradictory as the girl's sense of belonging perhaps is for herself, it is something that she can negotiate with herself and others—and, in this class, her belonging to the white majority was not questioned in the slightest, quite the contrary. Thus, these little incidents, in which the girls were reconstructing the limits between white and non-white, immigrant and native, served to make Emanuel's position as the black immigrant Other of the class all the more clear. As Ahmed (2000, 100) writes, and as I have tried to bring out above, in the section concerning the racialization of immigrants, belonging and Othering are not constructed through simple divisions between "us" and "the Other", but differentiating "Others" into those who are familiar, are assimilable and touchable, and those who are strange, are unassimilable and untouchable.

At a more general level, that of constructing a nation, Ahmed (ibid., 96), describes this as a "[...] double and contradictory process of incorporation and expulsion: it may seek to differentiate between those strangers whose appearance of difference can be claimed by the nation, and those stranger strangers who may yet be expelled, whose difference may be dangerous to the well-being of even the most heterogenous of nations." Ahmed wrote this text in an Australian context in which multiculturalism was (two decades ago) explicitly embraced at the level of state policies and discourses. While the Finnish context is different, a similar double process has been identified by Finnish researchers, too: two discourses concerning immigration (Huttunen 2002, 13–14) and two forms of Othering (Lehtonen et al. 2004, 258–259). On one hand, a need to open up to the world is acknowledged, becoming more international is seen as a positive development, and immigrant Others who are seen through this lens can be thought of as *includable others*; part of the Finnish "us" or even part of a desired identity in their exciting difference. On the other hand, immigration is portrayed as something that needs to be controlled

and the difference of migrants assimilated. The migrants seen through this lens are not considered to be part of the positive internationalization of Finland, but instead *excludable others* at the margins of society: opposite the Finnish "us".

Although Emanuel is aware that even though his classmates might have accepted him as a member of the class, they still have prejudices when it comes to other "foreigners". He told me, for example, of how they spoke meanly about an Afghan boy who goes to the same school, making pejorative jokes about his hair. Emanuel had interrupted, and told them to quit talking like that, telling them they should understand that 'I was similar [to the Afghan boy] to you before you got to know me.' Emanuel's reflection shows how, in the eyes of his classmates, he has been recognized as a person instead of merely a representative of the category of racialized immigrants, but also how this recognition does not deconstruct the category itself: other Others are still recognized as essentially strange. Among his classmates, then, Emanuel feels in an ambivalent way accepted, though only as an exception, and hence only to a degree.

5.1.3 Compassionate constructions of difference: encounters with professionals of integration work

I have inquired above into how Emanuel's and Denis's difference as racialized and immigrant Others was constructed in their encounters in school environments, in which the attitude of the other parties was either hard to interpret, neutral, or in some cases prejudiced or openly racist. Difference, however, can be constructed with openly benevolent intentions too. One instance would be the kind of admiring exoticizing of, for example, people of African descent, which I have sometimes seen to shape the encounters Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel have with some Finns. Such association with exoticism and excitement is, of course, intertwined with racism (e.g. Loftsdóttir 2017, 75), but is nevertheless often without pejorative intentions. Another instance can be found in the work done in the institutions that are responsible for the young people's integration. Most of the Finnish adults with whom the refugee background young people have encounters, especially during their first years in Finland, are professionals of this sort: reception centre and family group home staff, social workers, teachers, youth workers and social educators, police officers, healthcare personnel, coaches, priests and researchers. Some also meet volunteers who act as mentors, and, with time, develop informal relations with some other adults, like their friends' parents. The overwhelming majority, however, are either state or municipality officials or third sector professionals whose job is more or less directly related to integration work. The significance of these encounters in terms of the young people's sense of how they are seen—and, if we listen to Denis, how they *feel* themselves to be—is weighty. In this section, I now move out from the school environment and delve into these encounters to better understand their profoundly subjectivating effects. Benevolent intentions often motivate these acts, aimed to support the youths' inclusion in society either by instructing them in how one is supposed to act in Finland (first subsection below) or by gaining understanding of their life situations (second subsection). Nevertheless, on closer scrutiny these acts of inclusion turn out (also) to work for constant Othering.

Educating and training

We are looking at the photographs Denis took of his everyday life for me last week, a task he seemed to embrace immediately. He has taken photos at home, at school, and during his free time, hanging out with friends, and we talk about each photo for quite a bit. One of the photos is a selfie he has taken at home, wearing one of the ten top-notch baseball caps he cherishes. He looks straight at the camera, eyes wide open, a peculiarly tense smile on his face. It catches my attention and I say that he looks happy in the photo, a remark that provokes a short burst of slightly awkward laughter from his part and a lengthy explanation.

Denis: Well, at least I can say that I have learned something here in Finland, actually at school, when I was in S [the location of the reception centre where he waited for a decision on his application for asylum]. When I am over there, where I come from, we take a photo like this [Denis makes a solemn face]. Over there one does not laugh or like that in these sorts of situations. But I remember, like, the first day when I went to school here in Finland, at S, where I used to live, and at school I was like [in the school photo], probably I was [makes the solemn face again], and then the teacher was like "hey, you should like smile". I was totally like "what, this is a photo, teacher, why should I smile?" They took me to one side and we went to some other room and they said that here we act like this and this, a photo should be like happy, one cannot be like this...

At this point I cannot help interrupting him, I am so puzzled:

Elina: So they took you like...? Denis: To like another room.

Elina: And they actually explained you that?

Denis: Yeah, they explained me that. Well, from then on, when a photo is taken, so

[he makes a happy face with a strained grin].

Elina: So you always have to smile!

Denis: Yeeaah. Yea but over there where I come from, in a photo no-one like laughs...

This is integration work in a small, detailed sense of teaching and learning the right "techniques of the body". As Mauss lectured (1973 [1934], 70), "[...] from society to society men know how to use their bodies." This knowing, he later points out, does not come naturally, but is the result of both imitation on the part of, and of the education given to, children on the right ways of walking, swimming, ways of holding one's hands, running, and so on (ibid., 71–74). The appropriation of Finnish techniques of the body is given considerable attention in the daily encounters between refugee background youth and state officials. School is one of the most important environments in which this work is done, as exemplified by Denis' story. Another is the family group home, in which the minutiae of daily life is organized accordingly. Times to wake up and to go to sleep, times to eat and not to eat, how and what to eat versus what and how not to eat, when to have and what to do in free time and when and how to throw a party—everything follows the Finnish norm.

On one Sunday evening AK is visiting the home by herself. Almost all the children are out. One is at home, though, tired, sad and with a bad headache. The educators try to find something for her to do and suggest watching TV together. There is some Finnish dance program on, and one of the educators suggests that, because it is so popular among Finns: 'If there are five million inhabitants in Finland, about one million of them watches this program, so that is also integration.' Another social educator suggests Moomin cartoons, but the young person objects, saying that they are for small kids. Nevertheless, the social educators end up screening winter episodes of the Moomin cartoons, so that the young person will learn what winter is like: 'Moomins are also about integrating,' they say.

Another time I am in the downstairs kitchen with one of the social educators, who starts to prepare an evening snack—there is a cook in the institution, but she only works the day shift, so the educators are responsible for serving the younger children food in the evening. The educator puts an apron on and takes a bag of flour from the cupboard, telling me that "Finnish people usually eat some bread with a cup of tea in the evening, but they [the youth living in the home] expect something more substantial." She explains that they would like a proper meal, but, as a "Finnish rhythm is followed" in the home, she will only bake some bread and not cook anything else.

Training the young people's bodies to follow the "Finnish rhythm," so self-evident for professionals, requires a good deal of practice. Learning not to wake up at five, in order to be in time for church, for example, as Emanuel used to do only a few months before moving into the home, or sitting and studying at school every day instead of going to work on construction sites (like Adel, who worked with his father from around the age of five) or roaming the streets selling shoes (as Afrax did at some point), or having special hobbies like Thai boxing or playing the kantele

(Finnish zither) instead of meeting up with friends to play football in some vacant lot, or not eating a meal in the evening, but only having a piece of bread and a cup of tea—the list goes on. Thinking about this incessant training from the point of view of bodily encounters can help understand how the feeling of "being different" is constructed. In these encounters, the difference of the young people is located in their material bodies: in their gestures and habits, and even in their biological functions, their feelings of hunger or sleepiness. Differences, in these encounters, are framed as something that need to be ironed out by training oneself to live and act according to the Finnish norm. "How one acts," Denis summarized for me once, "is the kind of thing that I learned here [in Finland]."

Simultaneously, the professionals of integration work are well aware of the importance of the young people's "own culture" for their well-being. Supporting the young people in maintaining at least some traits of their culture, for example their skills in their mother tongue, is seen as an integral part of integration work. How to do this better is one issue that was tackled together with the staff and the youth in the family group home in a special session. I followed the discussions on the issue in couple of small groups, and in one of them especially the tension between the staff's understanding of maintaining "own culture" and the youth's perspectives surfaced clearly:

One of the Muslim boys starts to talk immediately very fast and in an angry tone: "The educators do not respect our culture!" He explains how they had told staff earlier in the autumn that they had a religious holiday, a holiday for mourning, and, for that reason, could not participate in some activity the staff had organized (with quite a lot of effort), and one of the educators—"that irritating Joonas", the boy calls him-had said that: "It does not matter, we will have a party and dance." "We said that we would be MOURNING," the boy says, and underlines the importance of this particular day for Muslims, going on to say that no-one goes to school or work that day. Jaana, the other social educator in this group, says that in Finland, "that will not succeed in working life." The boy disagrees, saying that you can inform your boss in good time and agree your shifts so that you can be off duty, but both the educators highlight how difficult that is. Reetta, the other educator, says that, "anyway, as we live here in Finland and there are all the Finnish holidays, of course, it is a bit difficult if there are to be others as well." Jaana agrees, saying that different groups of Muslims also have different kinds of holidays, one cannot take them all into account. The boy still doesn't give way, and resolutely writes on flip chart that if one is away because of a religious holiday, one can provide that information in advance. The educators then try to redirect the discussion, asking what other things than religion are related to one's culture, suggesting language or music, but with little success. Another lad who has earlier withdrawn from the discussion, lying on a pile of pillows, now exclaims: "One has to forget one's own language, has to forget one's own religion, that is how Finland is."

In other groups, the tensions were less evident, as the discussions turned more fluently into sessions in which the social educators mapped out elements of the young people's cultures that they considered possible and worthy of preserving, in the sense that they could be fitted into Finnish working life or the Finnish daily rhythm. "Own culture" as a whole does not fit, as Jaana and Reetta make clear, but some parts can be cut out and turned into appropriate activities, such as a drumming club, or posters about each young person's home country, as suggested by the educators in other groups. The way "own culture" is presented in these discussions by the staff is, in this sense, objectifying: culture becomes an object that can be eaten, hung on the wall, listened to, or had as a kind of a hobby. hooks (1992, 21) crystallizes the commodification of Otherness thus: "[...] ethnicity becomes spice, seasoning that can liven up the dull dish that is mainstream white culture." While some parts of the young people's cultures are constructed as worthy and interesting and celebrated in the name of multicultural pluralism (ibid., 25-26), others are not considered as enriching the Finnish mainstream dish but rather as messing up the whole table. Issues such as the socially sanctioned use of headscarves in the case of girls, or Muslim celebrations and holidays that disrupt the rhythm of mainstream society, were presented as problematic. Cultural diversity should remain an exception that confirms the rule; not shaking but reinscribing the status quo (ibid., 22): "anyway we live here in Finland." In this way, holding on to one's own culture turns into one more thing one can learn to perform correctly and according to the Finnish norm.

Monitoring and researching

When I began fieldwork with AK in the family group home, we were cautious, as we considered the place as a kind of a safe zone—it is the children's home! We asked the youth for the permission to hang around in their home outspokenly, explaining that while we were there we were always doing research, and were surprised about the ease with which they gave us permission. But later, observing how the staff members and their substitutes, security personnel and other professionals walk in and out of the house monitoring the youths, we understood that, in their lives, being under detailed observation is a normal condition:

I am sitting and chatting with some of the young people and one social educator in the upstairs kitchen, reserved for those who are supposed to cook for themselves. One of them has just finished cooking and now serves for two: himself and a girl who is visiting the home. The educator pretends to whisper me that the girl is the young man's girlfriend, to which I respond in a normal voice that I had guessed as much, as he serves her like a true gentleman. Another young man offers me some food too, as

they always do—it seems to be a rule that food is shared around this kitchen table, often in a non-ceremonial fashion by simply laying several forks around one plate and saying "welcome". I decline as politely as I can, explaining that I have just eaten. Suddenly, another social educator rushes into the kitchen and asks straightforwardly what the young people have cooked. Pasta with beans, they reply, at which point she walks across to the stove, asking what the dish contains other than beans, taking the lid off the pot. She scrutinizes the food, trying to guess the ingredients, then asks aloud: 'Beans and ketchup?' The cook answers that it is onion and tomato mash. The educator then drops the subject and goes on to discuss the young man's first lesson in driving school, about to start soon.

Furthermore, it is normal practice at the home to write detailed reports on each young person living there. There are obvious practical reasons for this: the purpose of the reports is to keep staff up to date in regard to each young person's situation. There is a lot of different people working there, often substitutes, and they work in three shifts—the reports help make these changes of shift and staff as smooth as possible. Continuous reporting, however, has other kinds of effects too, intentional or not:

One day, AK tells me about a brief conversation she had had with the municiple social worker responsible for the social security of the youths living in the home. She had spoken to them in order to agree an interview, and the social worker had asked if we had managed to involve youth who are of age and had thus moved out of the home, as we had hoped to do. AK told them that yes, we had managed to find three, at which point they said that, actually, they had already read that we had met with one former resident of the house in the report. AK was, and probably looked, astonished, so they explained that the daily report mentioned that one other young person had been accompanied by a social educator but then left in our company—our meaning me, AK, and this former resident of the home. AK tells me that she feels confused about this: why is our presence marked in an official report regarding the young person? I, for my part, get quite pissed off, as I have only recently told the young man we were with that no-one in the home knows he is participating in our research, but now the whole staff of the home can, and will, read this information in the report. AK feels bad and writes in her reflection: "We haven't done anything [wrong] at this point, but I think this is a clear evidence of the limits of the life and privacy of these children and young people, and the institutional care that restricts this, producing strange situations."

On the other hand, we also wrote our reports, even if we called them field notes, and had different reasons for them and uses for the information. From the youths' perspective, however, how far are these practices from each other? In both situations they are encountered as something that needs to be monitored and have information gathered about, information that is then passed on and used for purposes that more often than not remain obscure for the youths themselves.

I have come to a multicultural youth club to present my research. There is a house meeting this evening, and there are other issues on the agenda and other visitors as well. When it is my turn, I get up from the circle of people sitting on pillows and mattresses around the floor, stand in the middle of the room next to a flip chart, and present myself to the people who don't already know me (many do, as I used to work in this place). I then tell them briefly about my work as a researcher at the university and my research project, trying to emphasize that I would like to do it together with some of the young people, researching issues that they find important. At this point, one of the older lads-Samiullah-suggests: "For example, how we deviate from the majority population [valtaväestö]?" I am stupefied at this suggestion and stumble on my words, trying to find an answer that would not confirm what he said without ridiculing it. I cannot really come up with anything, so I say: "For example—or, how you do not deviate." Perplexed, I sit back in the ring on the floor to listen to what the other two visitors have to say. The first is from the city youth services, and she presents a project called "Keys to Success" that aims at enhancing healthy lifestyles among young people through the activities of sport clubs. The second is from one of the local football clubs, and he starts his session by saying that, "we also have activities aimed at immigrant youth." He first tells them about the possibilities of training to become a referee, or even of doing an internship at the club, and then about the coming week against racism and an event that the football club has decided to organize during it: "As it is part of that week against racism, it would be great if you would like organize it."

Samiullah wanted to be polite, to show that he was listening and participating in the house meeting. ²⁸ If he had known the level of uneasiness his suggestion provoked in me, he would not have said anything. Oh, how awkward I felt! For sure, I am not studying the ways that immigrant young men deviate from the majority Finns! Or am I? Because, of course, the biggest reason behind my embarrassment was that Samiullah actually got to the heart of the matter, or very close to it, to say the least. I did say that I was researching the life of immigrant young men in Finland, and, for that category to be of interest, there is supposedly something that makes it worth studying (instead of, say, the life of young men residing in Finland in general). Despite my interests to the contrary, using this category as a tool of analysis *also* does the work of categorizing itself (Brubaker 2013, 6), and the practice of research has an effect on the people it has as its objects, no matter how participatory the ethos of one's research. So, there I was, as a visitor in the house meeting among other visitors, and we all categorized the people we were talking to as immigrant youth in need of this or that: advice on healthy lifestyle, opportunities for internships, anti-racist

.

²⁸ Interestingly, an almost exactly similar comment was made by an immigrant background young man to Laakkonen & Juntunen (2019), who were conducting research in a multicultural suburb in Finland. In their case, however, the comment was saturated with irony: "What are you researching? Like what's wrong with us *mamus*?"

events, or research on issues they find important. This incident pushed me to profoundly reconsider my research setting and concepts, and was among the reasons I chose to use the term refugee background youth instead of immigrant youth (as outlined in the introductory chapter).

It is not only the concepts of research that are relevant for the processes of the subjectivation of these young people, but the practice of research itself. It was nothing new for them to be objects of research, it was a repeat occurrence. Several theses have been written about the multicultural youth club in question and its regular visitors. The family group home where I did fieldwork with AK had, until then, not been an object of research as an institutional space, but some of its residents had participated in research projects-Denis and Adel, for example, who had been working individually with a student doing their master's thesis some years before they started working with me. While we were doing our research, another anthropology student was carrying out fieldwork with former residents of the home for their master's thesis, and we had to communicate with them in order to make sure we were not working with the same youths or otherwise confusing things. It is not uncommon for youths to be asked to give some account of their experiences at events aimed at professionals or students of social work, in newspaper articles, or to participate in different kinds of panels regarding migration, racism, equality, or the like.

Thus, Samiullah's suggestion should not have surprised me: being observed by the questioning eye of a researcher precisely because of their difference from the majority population is not uncommon for these young people. If training the young people's bodies to meet the Finnish rhythm and norm works to build a feeling of being different, so does monitoring and researching—albeit with a slightly different twist. The latter constructs them as something not enough is known about, something one needs to get more information about—something that is strange and unfamiliar in its difference. Here, the difference is located somewhere even deeper than in cultural education and the training of bodily behaviour, since, in the latter, the idea is that it is possible to eliminate difference and that similarity is achievable. But, in case of monitoring and researching, it remains unclear what the difference actually consists of, and where it resides, and in its very vagueness seems to turn into an essential feature of the young people.

Acts of inclusion producing Othering

The instances described above—the slow process of gaining recognition in everyday encounters with classmates, bodily encounters with state officials in integration work, and being repeatedly encountered as strange by practices of reporting and researching—are cases in point as to how acts of inclusion can, and do, work for constant Othering (Ang 1996, 37). Among his classmates, Emanuel feels, in an ambivalent way, accepted, but only as an exception: he is painfully aware of the exclusion of other racial and immigrant Others, and of the fact that he is constantly (in other situations) categorized as such. On a structural level, the integration work of institutions that cherish multicultural values and preserving "own culture" not only contributes to feelings of being essentially different, it can actually serve to mark out the limits of multicultural tolerance by defining what kinds of differences are valued and which cannot be tolerated. As Stratton and Ang (1998, 114; emphasis original) write: "[...] multiculturalism can be seen as a policy, not to foster cultural differences but, on the contrary, to direct them into safe channels. [...] Seen this way, the idea(l) of unity-in-diversity is itself, ultimately, an exclusionary ideological construct." The discussions about "own culture" in the family group home described above bring to light the tensions that cultural practices seen as "too different" create (see also ibid., 114). A group discussion, originally framed as a moment of finding ways for the staff to support the young people in preserving their cultural practices, turned into its opposite: a moment in which the staff drew clear limits to the toleration of difference, explicitly pointing out that difference can only be tolerated so long as it doesn't interrupt the "Finnish rhythm". Finally, the way Samiullah perceived my research project forced me to recognize how I was unwillingly reproducing the otherness of "immigrant youth".

The latter moment served not only as a necessary intervention, making me rethink my own work, but also as a reminder of how difficult it is to act against this logic. In my experience, professionals working in the field of integration have generally not swallowed the "fantasy" of multiculturalism (Ahmed 2000, 110) whole and are aware of these problematics. Awareness alone, however, doesn't undo them. Ang (1996, 37) writes: "[...] racially and ethnically marked people are no longer othered today through simple mechanisms of rejection and exclusion, but through an ambivalent and apparently contradictory process [...]," and it isn't easy to grab hold of this process, let alone to turn it around. My intention in this section has not been to point a finger at professionals acting "wrongly", but to help unfold and gain understanding of these processes.

5.1.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, I have shown how the difference of my research companions as racial and immigrant Others is constructed (and sometimes deconstructed) in their everyday lives, in encounters both with state officials and other professionals, and with other (non-)citizens. I have especially tried to dig into the ways in which the difference can be built not only in openly racist or xenophobic encounters, but also in encounters that seem neutral, amiable or motivated by benevolent intentions. Another aspect I have tried to highlight is how difference is not constructed "only" at the level of language and discourse, but in embodied encounters in which the material bodies of the young people are approached as different and strange. I thus suggest that, along with visibility in terms of phenotype and appearance (being a person of colour/dress code), and audible visibility (accent/"foreign-sounding" name), visibility in terms of "techniques of the body" (not fitting "the Finnish rhythm") can play a significant role in the racializing processes of constructing immigrant Others (cf. Toivanen 2014, 195). Practices of monitoring and researching the young people's lives further work to manifest their essential difference, contributing to subjectivation. A "feeling" of "being different" develops, and is explicitly expressed by some of the young people: "I am different," says Denis. "We deviate," says Samiullah.

I have also tried to highlight how these processes of Othering are not simple and easily recognizable, neither at the level of everyday encounters nor that of institutional structures and discourses. Ahmed (2000, 106) summarizes this as follows:

Multiculturalism as an official discourse hence involves narratives of partial assimilation or incorporation (through which the "we" of the nation can appear different) as well as narratives of partial expulsion (through which the "we" of the nation defines the limits of what it "can be"). Both the narratives of incorporation and expulsion involve differentiating between others, which produces simultaneously, two figures of "the stranger" [...]. [...] In one figure, the stranger appears different, but is the same underneath; this stranger can be assimilated, and even welcomed, insofar as it enables the nation itself to appear as different. In the other figure, the stranger's dress can reveal only a strange being; this stranger stranger cannot be assimilated.

Hence, while the notion of "the immigrant" has, to some extent, been racialized in Finland, this is not a straightforward process, but a double and contradictory one in the sense described above. Perhaps the immigrants from North America studied by Leinonen (2012) do not call themselves immigrants in order to secure their position in the racial hierarchy, but they are categorized as such officially, and they do interact

with the Finnish Immigration Service, just as racialized immigrant minorities do. Instead of a simple racialization of immigrants as a category, two figures of the immigrant seem to be produced: the assimilable stranger or includable other, and the unassimilable stranger stranger or excludable Other—*mamu*, the perpetual foreigner.

As pointed out by Emanuel and his teacher, mamus are not beautiful and they are not nice, their presence is disruptive and they make an awful hullabaloo; it is not comfortable to feel like a mamu, and they can be recognized on the basis of their phenotype. Whereas immigrant, as a term, is contradictory in regard to racialization, mamu—despite its original use—is not: it has become a widely used dysphemism through which the non-belonging of stranger strangers is made explicit.²⁹ I am unwilling to use the word in the rest of this dissertation, and will thus refer to this figure, which comes into being in the intersection of non-whiteness, refugee-ness, third-world-ness, and underclass-ness, as the "imaginary immigrant", following Lundström (2017, 79). As I have brought out in this chapter, Emanuel is very aware of being recurrently categorized in this way, and of the subject position available to him at school as someone on the limits of this category—as almost, but not quite, accepted in the "us" of the class. This emerges as a central issue of the political ordinary in his everyday school life. The next chapter devoted to him (chapter 6.1) delves into his agency, as he balances on this limit. Before that, in the following two chapters, I will introduce the subject positions offered to Manasse and Afrax.

5.2 Vulnerable young person: Manasse on stage I

On a freezing cold winter day, Manasse performs in front of hundreds of people. The moment is extraordinary: he enters the stage at Finlandia Hall with one of his bands. The building is a congress and event venue, but not just any old venue. It is one of Finland's most important symbolic buildings, designed by renowned Finnish architect Alvar Aalto, and located in the heart of the capital city Helsinki. While performing in the house is most likely a once-in-a-lifetime experience for Manasse, what has taken him there is quite typical for him.

The band he is with is part of a project initiated and coordinated by a third sector organization. The organization runs an art school that aims to provide equal opportunities for studying the arts. In principle, the school is open for all, but its main target groups are "[...] people who need special support, like the mentally disabled and *people in vulnerable*

²⁹ Acts of reclaiming the word also take place, and they indicate some of its connotations. Racialized rap artists Prinssi Jusuf and Musta Barbaari ("Prince Jusuf" and "Black Barbarian") have, for example, used the word in an ironic sense in some of their works.

positions [...]" (emphasis mine). In the case of this band, maybe three or four of its members have mental disabilities (the composition of the band changes a little during the project), while the other youths involved are considered to be vulnerable in other ways.

From the outset, the project was designed to concentrate on world music and different cultures, which is reflected in the name of the band, the costumes the members appear on stage in, the dances they perform, and also in the music—though not in any strictly traditional sense, more in the sense of finding inspiration for their own music and performances. Manasse was invited to participate, since, as a young refugee, he was considered to fall into the category of vulnerable youth, and, as he was born in, and lived in Africa during his childhood, he could bring the needed original African element to the band. Manasse agreed to join, as he almost always does: participating in different kinds of projects has turned out to be a useful way of learning new skills and networking for him. He sure has participated in several projects, although, as he remarks to me, he does not take part in any project, it has to be interesting and fun, "not something boring".

It is in this position that Manasse enters the stage of Finlandia Hall and performs in front of a full house. In addition to the actual band members, the instructors—one Finnish person working for the art school, one African background person working as a musician and dancer—perform too, supporting the young people with mental disabilities in particular. The event itself is arranged by another third sector organization that works with people with mental disabilities, and, according to the organizers, all the performers are "musicians and artists with mental disabilities". That there are youths in this particular band whose vulnerability is of a different nature is not mentioned in the information about the event. In this way, being placed in the category of vulnerable youth ends with Manasse entering the stage of Finlandia Hall in the role of a person with mental disabilities.

Among the many projects Manasse has participated in, this one is not exceptional with regard to its target group.³⁰ Several, if not most, of them have been especially designed for "vulnerable", "disadvantaged" or "refugee"/"immigrant" youth. Indeed, I have been part of two or three of them myself in my previous job. In addition to the projects Manasse took part in, I have applied for funding for several larger undertakings to fund the social work unit I worked in, or some other long-term project. In all the applications, I have either explicated or implicated the position of refugee/immigrant youth as more vulnerable than that of other young people. I always felt uncomfortable doing this, but did so nevertheless as it works; most of the applications were successful. The young people themselves, who were thus categorized as refugees/immigrants, and by implication as somehow more problematic than "normal" youth, didn't like it either. "Why do we have to write in this application about us being refugees? We don't want to be refugees, we are not refugees anymore, are we?", they would object. And I would explain that this is how

_

³⁰ I have left details of the project and organizations involved out of the text (including references) in order to protect Manasse's anonymity.

they will get money for their projects: 'Use it,' I would tell them, 'you don't have to think of yourselves as refugees, but the fact is that by using this label you will get funding more easily.' And they would comply, and we would get the money, and use it for a weekend camp, or an international youth exchange, or some music or sports event.

"Using it", of course, is not innocent, it has its costs. In this chapter, I ask the following questions: What does it mean to think that someone is vulnerable? What kind of subject positions are constructed by categorizing people as vulnerable? Even though these questions are inspired by working with Manasse, I approach them here mostly by drawing from other field experiences, my previous job in social work, and academic writing. Towards the end of the chapter, I return to Manasse, to show what being categorized as vulnerable means in his case and in the project in question.

5.2.1 Vulnerability, care, and power

Fine (2005) defines vulnerability as a *bodily incapacity*. It means the person is *in need of care*, and giving care is a social response to this. Fine (ibid., 253) writes:

[...] just as the body provides the material foundations of our existence as humans, so must care be understood as a necessary social response to the vulnerability and incompleteness of individual bodies at different points in the life course. The need for care is linked to unavoidable bodily incapacities experienced at different points in the life course—infancy, ageing, disability, mental illness, as well as to episodes of acute and chronic illness.

To be vulnerable is, thus, to have incapacities, not to be able, to be disabled. One of these incapacities is the inability to protect oneself—in Fine's wording explicitly from other people (ibid., 253), but implicitly also from oneself in an unable, unstable mental state. To be vulnerable is to be in need of care, which, in turn, is to be in need of support and protection from others and oneself.

One might add the condition of refugee-ness to the list Fine presents above (infancy, ageing, disability etc.). More than twenty years ago, Malkki (1996, 387–388) argued that conventional images of refugees are a "[...] spectacle of "raw," "bare" humanity [...]" that, because of the depersonalization of the actual people it concerns, produces "anonymous corporeality". These anonymous, bare human bodies are in a condition of pure helplessness, which—Malkki argues—is internationally and institutionally expected to characterize "the refugee". Images of women and children are conventionally used as embodiments of refugee-ness (ibid., 388). Going one step

further, Ticktin (2016, 257–260) links the refugee child as an ideal embodiment of refugee-ness to the children's presumed *innocence*: they are represented as innocent victims of wars and disasters. "Innocence is about purity, vulnerability, and naiveté [...]." The figure of the refugee child, then, is vulnerability become flesh. This kind of understanding of "the refugee child", Ticktin continues (2016, 260), "[...] carries the desire to protect and take responsibility for those who [...] cannot take care of themselves."

As I brought out in chapter 2, the children and youths recognized as refugees by the Finnish state are certainly cared for, both by governmental institutions and numerous third sector organizations. In what follows, I will take a closer look at what this means at the level of practices, and at the way warmth and affection on one hand, and power and control on the other, are interwoven in these practices.

Institutional care as a soci(et)al response to vulnerability: the professional hug

It is a grey November day, but not only that, it is also the Great Gathering of the family group home. The social educators at the home have organized, together with some of the young people, a common afternoon-long session to plan the next year. The youth have gotten permission to skip school that day, and all but one are present at the planning event. The day starts with a shared meal, and then the young people are asked to work in smaller groups on different themes: "own culture", "program and trips", "well-being", "rules and sanctions", "school and homework", and "my personal social educator". After working for a couple of hours, there is a break: time for ice cream and massage. The educators take the initiative and start to massage the young people; they have brought a bagful of tennis balls to the meeting room for this purpose.

The director of the home massages one of the older boys, who lies on pillows on the floor, face down. The director gives him a long, thorough back massage, and, at one point, one of the other boys comes and starts to massage the director's back with a tennis ball while they are still working on the back of the boy lying on the pillows. When the director has finished massaging his back, another boy comes and starts to continue the massage. Soon the massaging turns into a play fight, nearly a wrestling match. Other blokes begin to join the human pile, and the director goes to pacify the situation.

Some other young people also lie on the floor receiving a back massage, while others sit on chairs and have their shoulders massaged. Some of the youths also massage each other or the educators. One of the social educators massages one of the girls who sits on the floor in front of her. After a while, one of the other young people comes and sits behind the educator, starting to massage her back. Soon, others join them and there is maybe five or six people sitting in a queue, each massaging the back of the person sitting in front. In a while they start larking around with each other,

there is giggling and a few shouts, someone tickles someone else's side and the queue starts to collapse towards the sides and finally disperses in general laughter.

AK writes in her notes of the day: "There is a peaceful atmosphere in the room. Somehow, the constant bustle of [the group home] ceases for a moment. I nearly start to cry when looking at the young people who, each in their own way, let themselves be touched or, on the other hand, refuse. Words one could use to describe the situation: trust, caring, warmth, touch, respect for boundaries, intimacy, being close, peace, daring, but also nervousness, timorousness, fear, rebuff."

Later, in an interview, the nurse of the home explains to AK how they have realized how important touch, especially in the form of massage, is to these young people:

"And then, nowadays, I have started to massage them! Yeah. As they always ask for it. [...] I have, like, imagined that it is not, like, my thing, but as I noticed that while I massage them, they start to speak about all kinds of things, and that is what they miss anyhow: closeness, touch, as no-one ever touches them. They miss their mothers of course, but that is how they get something like that. Yeah, so I have started to go in for it, and it has, well, felt somehow real nice."

Caring is the job of the staff of the family group home, as it was my job as a youth worker in the third sector, and as it is of numerous other institutions and projects too. In welfare state structures it is care workers who embody the state's taking care of the lives it has committed to foster. As I described above, at the lowest level, caring takes very bodily forms. The professional hug replaces the motherly care the young people are seen to lack. This does not only hold for the unaccompanied youth: touching is something that I also learned to appreciate as an important element in my work with immigrant background youth. It took a while for me to understand its importance, though, as I initially thought that touch by an older woman would be awkward for the youth—at best! However, in time, I learned how much the young men lacked being touched, and how a considerable reason for their play fights and mucking around was just a need to be close to each other, close to someone. "As no-one ever touches them." So I also started to do massages, to hug, to sit close to them, letting the youths lean on my shoulder, to caress them as casually as I could.

The professional hug is, of course, just one form of expressing care. Other examples: a constant flow of food that, despite the outspoken intention of promoting healthiness, often tends to include considerable amounts of ice cream and other comfort food, even plain sugar (in our unit, there used to be a huge bowl of sugar on the table to satisfy the cups of tea, each of which would swallow several tablespoonfuls), as if the workers could not resist wrapping the young people in sweet comfort in the form of foodstuffs too. Practical support in an endless stream of homework, unfinished theses, social security forms, outstanding bills, citizenship

applications, job applications and CVs; or in finding this or that: a football club one's parents can afford, a legal aid office, a vocational school to study in, the right place to charge one's bus travel card, friends. Being present, doing things together—whatever: playing a game, cooking, going for a walk—and while doing so, using the method AK started to call care-ask-listen during our fieldwork: show that you care, ask how the young person is feeling, and truly listen to what they tell you.

I have come to the yearly summer football cup my previous work unit organizes as a guest. I arrive early, to help the director and one of the educators at the unit, who are arranging things. A bit before the start of the first games, the youths start to arrive. A bunch of older boys, who have been regulars of the unit for quite some years, approach. 'My lads forever', says the director affectionately as they draw closer. They reach us, and prolonged greetings start: everybody hugs or shakes hands or does both with everybody and starts to exchange their latest news. We stand in a loose circle, in pairs or smaller groups that constantly reform, chatting and laughing and gesturing and shouting. I see one of the boys caressing the educator's arm, and, a bit later, giving a high five to the director, who has just stated with evident irony how much she loves football. I shout from further off, where I stand chatting with another young man: 'We almost believe you!', and the lad she is talking to shouts back: 'Yeah right!', laughing and winking his eye. I feel like resting on feather pillows: the warmth of this bunch of people, showing affection and care towards each other, carries me so softly, so comfortingly.

Care as a power relation: the compulsory hug

These kinds of affectionate moments that care professionals provide and work for are often deeply touching. Yet they also carry disturbing elements within them. This came out on an elemental level right at the beginning of the gathering of the family group home described above.

Two of the social educators, dressed to the nines, stand near the front door to welcome everybody entering the room. They hug all the young people, and many hug them back with affection—but some try to maintain as much physical distance as possible, keeping their body tense while giving a quick hug. One of the older youths does not want to hug them at all for some reason, and manages to bypass them and turn in the other direction. The educators shout their name with resentful voices—jokingly, but still making it clear that their behaviour was not quite acceptable. They pretend not to hear and walk around the room along the walls. I try to catch their eye to say hello, or at least nod, but to no avail: they salute only the other young people and dismiss all the adults in the room. This makes me puzzled and a little sad.

This little incident keeps on bothering me. Why did the young person refuse to hug? Why did the social educators reproach them for refusing to do so? To me, the compulsory nature of the professional hug on one hand, and the young person's

unwillingness to receive it on the other, speaks of a thread of power interwoven in the "purest" practice of caring, in the motherly hug. For, as Manning (2007, xiv) writes, "[...] touch is not simply the laying of hands." She defines touch as an act of one body reaching toward another, "[...] drawing the other into relation [...]." As bodies are by definition relational (ibid., xviii), touch inevitably means exchange and change. "As I reach toward, I reach not toward the 'you' I ascertain but toward the 'you' you will become in relation to our exchange." (Ibid., 7.) There is no "neutral" touch. The question, then, is what kind of relation the professional hug is? Into what kind of relation does a social educator reaching toward the young refugee draw them? And what kind of "you" is the young person becoming through hugging, what kind of subject position they are offered in this hug?

A hierarchical relationship is established between the ones who care and those who are cared for, between subjects who have power to protect and objects who are understood to need protection, Ticktin claims (2016, 257–260; 265). Similarly, Tronto (1993, 146) writes: "[...] care is rarely an activity engaged in by equals; the fact that A needs care and that B provides it, means that A is in B's power." That this happens is not due to the nature of care itself. It is the ideal of the modern subject as an autonomous being who does not depend on others in fulfilling their needs that is behind the unequal relationship of care. Neediness is a threat to the autonomy of this ideal subject: "[...] those who have more needs [...] appear to be less autonomous, and hence less powerful and less capable," as Tronto (ibid., 120) writes. She claims that as autonomous rationality is thought to define political life in modern societies (ibid., 117), weakness and neediness represent its opposite and thus people in need of care are constructed as pitiful others without political voice or recognition (ibid., 120; 123):

[...] our desire not to be unequal and dependent results in a treatment of those who need care as inherently different and unequal. The result is that those who receive care are often transformed into the "other", and identified by whatever marks them as needing care: their economic plight, their seeming physical disability, and so forth. (Tronto 1993, 145.)

Wernesjö (2011) notes that, in the case of unaccompanied minor asylum seekers, this logic seems to hold even in regard to academic research. She writes that studies about them "[...] tend to characterize unaccompanied asylum-seeking children as a particularly vulnerable category of children [...]", "outside the realms of a *normal*—or rather ideal—childhood [...]", and hence "[...] as *in need* of support and protection." She sees this as carrying the risk of pathologizing them as a deviants, who are at a greater risk of developing emotional problems and, as such, of constructing them

"[...] as passive and vulnerable, i.e. not seeing them as able—despite sometimes being in a vulnerable position—and as actors in their own right." (Wernesjö 2011, 504–505; emphasis original.)

5.2.2 Care and control: encouraging the right kinds of agency, uprooting the wrong kinds of agency

For, as it is, vulnerability and agency are often understood to be dichotomous (Verdasco 2017, 45). In the United Kingdom, Crawley (2010) found that if unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (especially those getting close to the age of eighteen) expressed political views, or described their political activities in their asylum interviews, their grounds for seeking asylum were not considered credible and they were not accepted as children at all (ibid., 167). As Verdasco (2017, 44) notes, this implies that agency is not compatible with the category of children. In her own research in Denmark, Verdasco noticed that the staff of units dealing with minors tried to restrict the agency of children, if it was seen to be in contradiction with their life stage: for example, taking responsibility and care of younger siblings was discouraged in order "[...] to let them know that 'You also have to be a child'," as one staff member explained to Verdasco (ibid., 53). In Verdasco's (ibid., 53-54) interpretation, in these situations, the agency of the young people contradicts the modern Western ideal of childhood, in which "[...] children ought to be safe, happy and protected [...]." Hence, the welfare state's attempts to remove the responsibilities the young people bear is an attempt to make them children again.

Yet, not all sorts of activities are restricted. In the situation Verdasco (ibid., 53) describes, the older brother was discouraged from taking care of his younger brother's clothes, while, conversely, the younger sibling was encouraged to take care of his own clothes himself. Taking care of oneself is exactly the kind of agency one is expected to develop. This was something I also came to understand during my fieldwork:

These are like thirteen—fourteen-year-olds in the skin of an eighteen years old', Reetta says, looking at me a little askew, 'and they should already live independently.' We are in the kitchen of the family group home, where she cleans the mess one of the older residents has created while cooking. Reetta had remarked how tough it is to move out and live on your own if you don't have basic skills like cleaning up after cooking, and my answer, that you soon notice the consequences when you live alone perhaps irritated her a little. To change the tone, I ask if it isn't the case that all the young people who move out of the home are offered so-called aftercare, and Reetta says that yes, they all get at least basic support (meaning that they live in normal rental

flats, but a social educator visits them every week), or, if necessary, move into special support accommodation units. 'And for this [young person]', she says, 'we are organizing a tailored solution with strong support measures.'

The Western ideal of normal childhood as careless and protected versus the Western ideal of normal adulthood as independent and autonomous seems to create a tension with respect to children's and young people's agency: they simultaneously "have to be children", and thus not carry too much responsibility for others, and grow up, in the sense of becoming independent adults who take care of themselves. It is not simply any kind of activity and responsibility that is discouraged by social workers, but certain kinds, while they expend huge amounts of effort cultivating others. Just as showing the wrong kind of (political, social) agency may disqualify you as a child, not showing the right kind of responsibility and self-management disqualifies you as an adult: as long as you need someone else to take care of you, you are considered a child, despite the age of your "skin".

Reetta's explanation helps me to better understand a discussion we had had in the kitchen earlier, while the young person was cooking—I had found out that they were about to turn eighteen soon and asked how they felt about moving out, and we had ended up talking about how they would like to live in Helsinki. At that point, another social educator had intervened, noting that moving to a big city like Helsinki it is not recommendable. I had opposed mildly, saying that I had lived there for thirty years and liked it, but that it is good to have friends over there before moving. The young person then told us that they have more friends over there than here, and that they think Helsinki would be better, as they find their present hometown rather boring. The social educator objected strongly: 'For you, this town is far better.'

Here, the unequal relationship of care that Tronto (1993, 146; see above) speaks of comes to the surface. That the young person did not clean up after themselves is seen as proof of their ongoing need for care, which, in turn, is a sign of their incapacity to understand where and how they should live. As Bacchi & Beasley (2002, 338) point out, in Western liberal thought political subjectivity is equated with *disembodied rationality*, which is interpreted to mean control over one's body. Consequently, showing deficiency when it comes to control of one's body allows illiberal treatment of the person in question, such as control over decision making (ibid., 332). It is worth noticing that, in Reetta's description, there was no room for other interpretations for the young person not cleaning after themself than their inability to do so, the mere fact that their childish body does not possess the necessary skills for taking care of themself. Reetta did not seem for a moment to ask whether not cleaning might be an act of rebellion against the staff of the unit, or a calculated way of making one's day a little less of a burden (maybe they knew very

well that someone else would clean up after them)—or, for that matter, the possibility that they were ravenous and simply wanted to eat before cleaning up. The way Reetta puts it, there is only one answer: inability, which in turn justifies the continuation of special protective measures that go against their wishes despite their coming of age.

Both in the situation described by Verdasco and in the one I experienced in the family group home kitchen, the young people in question are seen to be *at risk*—or feared for, as Horton & Pyer (2017, 13) put it. They are seen to be either too responsible and adult-like, or not responsible enough for their chronological age, which is understood to be a sign of their special vulnerability in comparison to normal youths. As Horton & Pyer (2017, 13) write, the other end of this still prevalent binary discourse is the figure of a young person as feared, as *a risk*. Both justify control as part and parcel of care, either in the sense of protecting the young person—seen as innocent in their immaturity—or in the sense of disciplining the unwanted behaviour of the young person—seen as potentially evil in their undeveloped state (Pekkarinen 2015, 17–18). While, at first glance, seeing young people as potentially evil might sound like a thing of the past, the discourse regarding the marginalization of immigrant youth and the radicalization of Muslim youth is not innocent of this understanding, and this discourse is very much present in Finnish social work contexts.³¹

"Participation" as a solution

The dichotomy of vulnerability and agency described above creates a contradiction that institutions working with children and young people have to grapple with. Seeing minors as immature, incompetent and irresponsible, and thus in need of protection and control tends to lead to "protective exclusion," as Pekkarinen (2015, 17–20) writes. Paradoxically, when protection invades all areas of life it restricts the children's possibilities to take responsibility, develop skills and become competent. Yet, letting children and young people's agency thrive untrammeled is problematic from the institutional point of view, especially if they start breaking behavioural or legal norms (ibid., 20). One attempt to settle this apparent contradiction, between treating children and young people as passive objects of care or as active subjects of their own life, is so-called "participation". As an idea and practice, participation has become increasingly popular in youth work and child development agencies since

.

³¹ Space does not allow me to give extended examples of this, but one way this came up during my fieldwork in the family group home was concern about the religiosity of young Muslim men in comparison to approval of religiosity in Christian youths.

the mid 90s (Theis 2009, 343), to such an extent that it is now orthodoxy, even hegemonic, in the sense that its value is unquestioned (Farthing 2012, 71). This upsurge has been strongly influenced by the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, which was opened to signature in 1989 and has since then been ratified by almost all states worldwide. Among other children's rights, the convention asserts their right to have a voice in decision making. Another important factor in the increase in popularity of participation is the sociology of childhood, which criticizes the simple understanding of children as objects of socialization, seeing them instead as active subjects and social actors (Thomas & Percy-Smith 2009, 1).

During my years in the youth work sector in Finland, participatory practices were gaining strong foothold, and participation was one of the catchwords when writing funding applications. I even designed a large-scale project around the idea, and it was successful—what started as a three-year project with one employee grew bigger and more stable than the youth work unit under which it was originally initiated. Participation was given a lot of weight in the practices of the family group home too: the staff, with quite some effort, organized monthly meetings to discuss common issues and make decisions together with the youths, and, in this sense, the Great Gathering described above was a big investment. Of course, some social educators were more into participatory ideas, while others seemed to be more skeptical, but I did hear many of them talk about the importance of "the voice of the youth being heard", or the possibility of their having an effect on the way daily life in the home was run. The young people were actively encouraged to take part in the meetings, and they were made more tempting by food and—of course—ice cream being served at them. In the meetings, the youths were asked their opinion and, sometimes, also feelings over some issue, and everybody was encouraged, but not pressured, to speak. Yet the monthly meetings were also situations where the frictions between the staff and the children tended to surface, and sometimes the meetings turned into moments for sanctioning the behaviour of the youths with rewards or reproaches.

This, perhaps, reflects the insufficient conceptualization of participation, and the underdeveloped theorizing of its practice (e.g. Checkoway 2011, 340; Farthing 2012, 72; Morciano et al. 2014, 82; Theis 2009, 343–344; Thomas & Percy-Smith 2009, 3). Theis and Farthing both draw on earlier efforts to define participation and develop its theorization in order to synthesize the concept with the practice. On this basis, both conclude that children and young people's participation is about active exercise of their citizenship rights: taking part and having decision-making power in the communities they live in and on issues that affect them (Farthing 2012, 73; Theis 2009, 344–345). Thus, fundamentally, children and young people's participation

concerns their right to exercise—and to be supported in being able to do so—active citizenship. Theis (ibid., 345–346) writes:

Children's abilities to exercise their citizenship rights and responsibilities evolve as they grow and learn. This is a gradual process that enables older children and adolescents to assume the full range of citizenship rights and responsibilities by the time they become adults. People do not suddenly become citizens on reaching a certain age. [...] Citizenship must be learned through everyday experiences of family and community life, education, civic and political awareness.

As this quote makes clear, and as Farthing (2012, 74) notes, defining participation as a method that takes young people towards active citizenship is "[...] inextricably linked to normative claims about the merits of an active democratic society." Enthusiasm around participation reflects an assumption that young people's active engagement in democratic society is intrinsically good—an assumption which, Farthing (ibid., 74) claims, is left little analyzed. I suggest this unquestioned assumption is strongly linked with the equally unquestioned assumption that growing up means learning how to take care of oneself, which is seen as equivalent to being independent and autonomous. As Tronto (1993, 117-123; see above) writes, to gain political voice and recognition—to become a citizen—one has to prove one's autonomous rationality by not being needy. As taking care of oneself must be learned while growing up, so must citizenship: the "right" way of participating in decisionmaking practices. Understanding participation as a method that has the reassertion of the agency of children and young people as such as its object would be a mistake. Rather, it should be understood as cultivating certain kinds of agency while uprooting others—in line with upbringing, in the sense of teaching children and young people to take care of themselves.

It is not surprising, then, that of the few criticisms of youth participation, one of the most dominant is what Farthing calls "the radical critique". According to this, contrary to its claims to be empowering, the practice of participation is but another form of governmentality: a "[...] tool for social control, or a cosmetic device designed to secure compliance with an existing power structure [...]." (Farthing 2012, 78.) I am unsure whether I share this criticism as it stands. As a professional of youth work (as well), I cannot think of it without participation as one of its cornerstones—what would that mean? Non-participation? And yet, I often feel slightly ill at ease when participatory methods are used. In situations where participation is obviously merely used as a cosmetic in the sense Farthing describes, this is not surprising. I was also awkwardly aware of the irony of designing my project to promote the participation and active citizenship of young people who were not even granted citizenship in

Finland—some not yet, others never to be. It holds, too, for projects like the one Manasse took part in, described in the opening section of this chapter. In the next section, I will consider this more closely, discussing its participatory ethos and the subject position offered to Manasse within it.

The band project as a participatory trial

The whole band project was designed to be participatory from top to toe: the instructors who led the project worked hard to support the young people involved so that all could use their potential, each according to their abilities. This goes not only for performing, but also for writing and composing the songs, as well as the overall planning of the show. Both the leaders and the participants were dedicated to the project, and the culmination of it—having an opportunity to perform their own music at Finlandia Hall—must have been wonderful for many of the members of the band. At the same time, this very performance crystallizes the central problematics of this, and many other, participatory projects. The fact that Manasse (along with those members of the band who did not have mental disabilities) had no other option than going on stage in the role of a person with mental disabilities (or not going on the stage at all) is deeply disturbing. Due to the way the band, and the whole event, was defined from above and outside there was no space left for the young people involved on the stage of Finlandia Hall for self-definition.

This speaks of the limited space they had for this in the course of the rest of project too. After I first visited it, and got to know what it was about, I wrote the following in the reflections in my field notes: "Interesting and thought-provoking project [...]. At the same time makes sense and irritates a little." Some colleagues found the project more than a little irritating; they read it as a way of collapsing different vulnerabilities and treating them as similar: 'Did they seriously make him [young person with refugee background] perform with disabled people?' Seen from this perspective, the project appears in a strictly categorizing and disempowering light. Others, on the other hand, have seen great potential in the way the project enabled breaking boundaries between people with mental disabilities and other (young) people—this is the way I also found it to "make sense". This, furthermore, was the perspective from which Manasse perceived the project.

It was apparent from the get-go that taking part in this project was not something Manasse considered self-evident for him. After the group's first official performance, I told him that I think it is wonderful he is taking part in it and that I guess that doing so requires some courage. He looked at me with a serious expression and confirmed:

Yeah, it does! But one can try out different kinds of stuff.' Some months later, in a longer conversation, he again defined the project as "different": 'I like to try out different kinds of things as you know, it was a good [project].' Also, he defined the members of the band as "different": 'That is exactly the message I want to give the audience, that I enjoy it and I feel good over there [on stage], even though there are different kinds of people, I want to pass on that message.' These reflections and Manasse's straightforward invitation for me to follow the project had the tone of being proud of oneself and of having the courage to do different kinds of things with different kinds of people. When we discussed the gig at Finlandia Hall, he dismissed the way he was positioned on stage, underlining instead that he had not thought about how the gig was "framed from outside" at all. Instead, Manasse explained, he had taken it as a challenge, had done his best on stage and had been satisfied with being able to offer the audience something different and entertaining.

Manasse's attitude towards the project brings out how there might be space for self-definition inside a given setting, even if it is strictly framed from outside. This is also the strategy I was hoping to utilize when carrying out projects for "refugee/immigrant" youth. However, whether this kind of leeway is available or not depends fundamentally on the way the care work professionals leading the projects or institutions work—at worst, participatory structures turn into what Paakkunainen & Mykkänen (2021, 17) call an "obligation to go through practices that imitate participation". Furthermore, regardless of the inner working culture, exploiting the category of "vulnerable youth" in designing projects at the very least works to reproduce this constricted subject position time and again, no matter how dedicated the professionals might be in using it for the benefit of the young people concerned.

5.2.3 Conclusion

As a method, then, participation does not undo the relations of power between the ones who care and the ones who are cared for, even though so many social and youth workers (including me) hope it does. Sometimes it works for the contrary, not questioning, but masking underlying power relations. The shape it takes is in practice defined by the adults and social workers, who—intentionally or inadvertently—assume the role of guiding the youths towards the right kind of agency as independent citizens. In this sense, participatory ethos does not undo the tension

between seeing children and young people as passive objects versus seeing them as active subjects, it is rather one of its outcomes.

Yet, I insist that some of the empowering potential claimed for participation is not just wishful thinking. As Vaittinen (2015, 102; 111) and Verdasco (2017, 54) write, the dichotomy of the vulnerable and thus passive and apolitical body versus the non-needy and thus agentive and political body is not real but categorically constructed. For, as Vaittinen (ibid., 104; emphasis original) points out, vulnerability and neediness are not exceptional points in the course of life (as Fine [2005, 253] formulates it), but corporeal vulnerability is *the* defining feature of each and everyone's embodied existence: "[...] there are *no* autonomous subjects *without needs*, only degrees of embodied vulnerability [...]." It is a powerful discourse, she (ibid., 102) underlines, as its purpose is to maintain the "fallacy of autonomous rationality" as the basis of political subjectivity. But I do think that, at their best, participatory projects can bring about a crack in this script, if only momentarily so.

Something like this happened in the band project Manasse took part in. Based on the way I heard him reflect, and saw him behave in the project (more on this in the next chapter on him), it is clear he didn't experience it only as categorizing in its emphasis on vulnerability, as if his refugee-ness would have been seen as a form of disability and, hence, a band of disabled youth a suitable project for him. In my interpretation, both Manasse and the instructors of the project could think beyond the vulnerable-agentive dichotomy and see the band as a common effort of different people, each agentive and vulnerable at different scales (Verdasco 2017, 54). For Manasse, working and performing with disabled people was something that required courage, and it was something he was proud of. The project provided him an opportunity to overcome his prejudice and show solidarity with people he described as "different"—a representation that speaks of the importance it has in the political ordinary of his life, expressing simultaneously foreignness (disabled people as strange for him in their difference) and familiarity (his awareness of being seen as foreign and strange in his difference by other Finns). This did not happen by itself, however, as carving out a subject position in the project that he felt comfortable with required a lot of effort. This is the subject matter of the next chapter on Manasse, chapter 6.2.

5.3 Peer mentor—an ascribed representative: Afrax at work I

It is a regular working day, and Afrax is chairing a meeting of the steering group of a project he works in. I sit with the others on mattresses on the floor in the premises of the NGO that runs the project, a third sector social work unit whose target group is immigrant boys. We form a loose circle: ten social sector professionals—all white, ethnic Finns, middle-aged and middle-class women (I include myself here, as all these definitions fit me too), all but one. Afrax, who sits on the opposite side of the room from me, is black, originally Somalian, but, for a couple of years, a Finnish citizen too, nineteen years old, male, and of working class background (if that—his mother is illiterate and his father has no formal education, but possesses an extraordinary selection of skills, like fixing any electronic equipment just like that). He studies youth work at vocational school, and has an apprenticeship contract, so working in this pilot project is a way for him to finalize his studies.

Only a few months back, Afrax would not have entered this space before two p.m., the official opening hour of the unit. Then, the room is filled with boys and young men from all over the world and with the gabble of many languages—though the majority of the youths will be refugees from crisis areas in the Middle East and Africa, and the most common languages (besides Finnish) will be Farsi/Dari, Arabic and Somali. But today, after about four months of work in a peer mentoring project, Afrax is the centre of the attention among his new colleagues. They listen intently as he explains the progress of the project and its results up to now, roughly the middle of the pilot project. For Afrax, this is a huge leap.

Partly, this leap is the fruit of his own labour: devotion to his studies, the talent he has already shown for social work, proper behaviour in the social work unit and commitment to its activities. But there is another reason, too, and perhaps it carries even more weight: the nine white women who fill up the room *need* him. The purpose of the project is to test whether peer mentoring could be a way of reaching immigrant youth, promoting their employability and preventing their marginalization. The idea is that a peer mentor can offer immigrant youth advice services with a so-called low threshold: as someone who is at the same time a friend and a professional, the peer mentor is supposed to work face-to-face with the youth, providing concrete help and easy access to state services, as well as acting as a role model. For this purpose, the white women had to find a young immigrant employee. Besides Afrax's studies and his talent for youth work, these are his most important qualifications for the job: he is young, he is immigrant, and he has a lot of friends—or "peers".

The reason for launching this pilot project was the experience of a gap between immigrant youths and state services. A city-run integration project had ordered a report on the situation of immigrant youth at regional level, finding that the risk of marginalization is considerably higher for immigrant than for Finnish youth, and, in the city in question, even compared to immigrant youth residing in the rest of

Finland.³² There was a concern—expressed several times during the meeting described above—that state/municipality services do not "reach" young people, who are left on their own and become so-called NEET-youth (not in education, employment, or training). On the other hand, the social work unit in question had recently held a theme evening of its own, in which the advice and services for finding employment and education available for youths were up for discussion, and during which the youths highlighted the difficulty of getting any advice at all. They were often unable to even find the right office or the right person, as services are increasingly provided via the internet and over the phone, which poses difficulties for those whose Finnish is not fluent-and those without online bank codes, necessary for identifying oneself when using online services (not being able to use online banking is a recurrent problem in Finland for refugees whose alien's passports are marked with a clause stating that it has not been possible to prove their identity). And even if they did manage to get an appointment with an official, the advice they got tended to be unclear, indeed often made matters more complicated, instead of easier. They articulated a strong wish was to get personal advice from one person, someone they could call directly and meet face-to-face, at least sometimes after office hours, and who would have a dialogic and supportive approach.

The pilot project was designed by the social work unit in question, as part of the city-run, ESF-funded immigrant integration project (the same one that had ordered the report mentioned above), to bridge precisely this gap; in the meeting, as well as in other contexts and project materials, Afrax's work was defined as "descending" [laskeutua] and "disembarking" [jalkautua] among the immigrant youth, and thus providing them "easy-to-approach" access to advice and services with a "low threshold".33 From the outset, the project was built around the idea of peer mentoring. This is not uncommon: peerness as an approach is increasingly adopted by ESF-funded projects that aim to promote immigrant employability, and ESFfunding in turn has become one of the major drivers of immigrants' integration into labour market in Finland (Heimo et al. 2020, 335-336). But what does working as a "peer mentor" actually mean? In this chapter, my intention is to explore the role and position Afrax was expected to embrace as a peer mentor. I base this examination on the events of the meeting mentioned above and—to a lesser degree—on other of Afrax's work situations I was present in, and the project materials (info leaflets and reports) I have gathered.

_

³² I have omitted the reference in order not to disclose the city I am writing about and thus risk Afrax's anonymity.

³³ ESF stands for European Social Fund.

5.3.1 Peer mentor: a representative of "immigrant youth"

It is a peculiar profession—that your job is to be what you are. Or, to be more precise, not who you are as a person, but as a representative of a certain group. In this case, the group is imagined to be "immigrant youth". There is something troubling in this setting, which crystallized in the meeting I described, in the presence of those material bodies, one of which was so clearly differentiated, marked as the representative of the Other. After this particular moment in my fieldwork, I found myself anxiously pacing back and forth in my office, thinking the situation over, but not being able to put my finger on what was "wrong" with it. I started to look for literature that could help me understand what was going on—but there seems to be surprisingly little research concerning these kinds of situations. There is plenty of research, and from various perspectives, on immigrants and their integration (or the problems around it) in working life as such—too much, indeed, to list references, but, for examples of Finnish literature on the topic, see Könönen 2015, Martikainen & Tiilikainen 2007, Tokola et al. 2019 and Wrede & Nordberg 2010. There is also some Finnish research on immigrants' access to particular professions, such as nursing (e.g. Calenda et al. 2019; Nieminen 2011), but nothing regarding immigrants working as professionals of immigration and/or integration. Internationally, I have only been able to find one monograph dealing with this issue, and it has been very helpful for me in thinking about Afrax's job: Lewis's 'Race', Gender, Social Welfare. Encounters in a Postcolonial Society (2002).

If one approaches the topic from another angle, one can find plenty of academic writing (theoretical and empirical) regarding group representation and its problematics—though mainly from within political science (e.g. Phillips 2007; Young 1997), or from a methodological point of view (e.g. Wilkinson & Kitzinger 1996)—and then there is the extensive discussion of the subaltern voice, especially in the context of postcolonial development work (Spivak 1988, Trinh 1989). To some extent, these are relevant for understanding Afrax's position, as will come out in this chapter. But I have had a hard time finding research—other than Lewis's study—that even mentions the issue of being a group representative as a profession, relating specifically to immigrant/ethnic minority background people. Even the presence of this phenomenon—that working in professions that concern immigrants or certain ethnic groups is one of the employment possibilities that are easier to access for immigrant/ethnic minority background people—is generally not stressed, even if it is mentioned here and there.

Canada seems to be an exception to this rule, and an understanding that such a phenomenon exists seems to be somewhat rooted in research concerning immigrant integration there. In Canada, pronounced multicultural policy has meant that third sector actors running "ethnospecific settlement services" have received financial support from the state and other bodies and become established actors in the field of integration (Ku 2009, 65-66; Valtonen 1999). These organizations readily employ immigrant background people, since their own resettlement experience and cultural background are seen as resources (Ku 2009, 66; Valtonen 1999, 481). On the other hand, Türegün (2012, 601) argues that, as an emerging and underprivileged sector, it allows "permeability" to access employment: since it is not yet professionalized, people without any education or work experience in the field can also find a job in the sector. Both Valtonen (1999, 480-481) and Türegün (2012, 600) see this mostly as a positive thing: it provides an "alternative gate to the labour market" or an option for "professional rebuilding or re-professionalization" for immigrants who have not found access to jobs in their own profession. As Türegün (ibid., 611) puts it, they "[...] reinvent themselves as practitioners of a new profession by making a strategic use of resources at their disposal."

Valtonen, who compares the integration of Vietnamese immigrants in Canada and in Finland, ends her article with a recommendation for the latter: "[...] the public resettlement service sector could open up employment opportunity and incorporate immigrants into its workforce." (Valtonen 1999, 488.) Nearly twenty years later, this recommendation is repeated in a report by Keva (Paakkinen 2016).³⁴ It is presented as necessary from a user-oriented point of view: as a growing number of the users of Finnish public services have "multicultural backgrounds", this should be reflected in the services and personnel. Immigrants' backgrounds are seen as a resource: their abilities as peer supporters and experts by experience, as well as their diverse language skills and cultural competence, are underlined. Employing immigrants is also seen as a one of the public sector's responsibilities, as immigrants' access to employment is recognized as "challenging", while, on the other hand, a "well integrated" immigrant population is seen to be a "great asset" (ibid., 25; 29).

Is it, then, a win-win situation? From a strict social policy point of view perhaps it is. However, my uneasiness during and after the steering group meeting compels me to think that something else is going on as well. As Keskinen (2012, 303–304) briefly notes, making strategic use of one's cultural competence as a method of legitimating one's expertise and professional skills has its contradictory sides as well. While it is one way of safeguarding a position in an excluding and unequal labour

³⁴ Keva is a Finnish pension provider for public sector employees.

market, it brings about tensions as well. One of Keskinen's interviewees described always being an immigrant in the eyes of one's Finnish colleagues, while always being an official in the eyes of their assumed peers, other immigrants. Wrede et al. (2010, 277; emphasis original) are more direct: they see the phenomenon as an integral part of the "ethnic disliking" that immigrants experience in Finnish working life. "A stranger has access to employment often only when there are no other candidates [i.e. low-income "dirty" jobs] or when they carry out an ethnospecific job which requires a certain cultural and linguistic background [i.e. work in immigrant integration services]." They see this as an important topic for further research, but the book itself-edited by Wrede & Nordberg-does not include articles on, or deeper reflection of, the issue. Fleeting as these references to the phenomenon are, they nevertheless serve to assure me that I am not alone in my observation that an ethnospecific job market is developing in Finland too. Perhaps it has appeared late in comparison to some other countries, and at a smaller scale (at least in absolute numbers). Yet it exists, and it is surprising that it has not become more of a topic for research so far.

The peer mentoring project Afrax was employed in was not explicitly ethnospecific—none of the texts or discussions defined it as a service targeted at certain ethnic groups. It was always described as a project targeted at all immigrant youth, with no further specifications. Nevertheless, it is also obvious that it was targeted at certain ethnic/racial immigrant groups, and that everybody involved knew that without ever saying it aloud. That this was so reflects the racialized nature of the category "immigrant" in Finnish society on one hand, and shows how the category of this "imaginary immigrant" (discussed in chapter 5.1) is reconstructed through daily practices and discourse on the other. To understand how the simultaneous racialization and silencing of race happened in the context of this project, we can take a closer look at how "peer mentoring" was thought to work in the project. As already mentioned, the main idea of the project was to provide "easyto-approach" and "low threshold" support for immigrant youth. There were two ways of achieving these aims: first, the mentor was supposed to spend time in the same surroundings as the youth, i.e. not in an office, but in youth clubs, schools and the like. Secondly—and more pronouncedly—the peer mentor was supposed to be young and "of immigrant background" and thus to "have personal experience of immigration, the Finnish education system and labour market". 35 Arguably, Afrax fulfilled all these criteria. But it is unclear how the services provided by Afrax in a

³⁵ These are direct quotes from the info material regarding the pilot project, but I have omitted the references in order to protect Afrax's anonymity.

secondary school for adults, in which immigrants without comprehensive education could complete a compressed curriculum, would be "easy-to-approach" for a young person of immigrant background who is, say, about to complete their IB degree in the international upper secondary school, and is currently wondering how to get on in life. Afrax neither visited, nor had any "personal experience" of, the kind of educational path provided, for example, by the IB Diploma Program. It is also unclear in which ways he is thought to be this young person's "peer"—what similarities are thought to exist between two young people who share experience of immigration, but whose social, geographic and cultural worlds differ remarkably.

And, of course, in reality Afrax is not thought to have similarities with such a young person. He is not considered their peer, nor would he be able to provide them any easy approach to services. It is not this young immigrant who the white social worker women see as difficult to reach and at risk of marginalization. If they did, they would have questioned the working methods and spaces in the meeting, as they did with regard to "immigrant girls" and youths who "don't know how to walk through the door": a long discussion took place concerning what "low threshold" actually means and how to put it into practice. How do we find the ones who do not know where to go at all?', one of the women present asked, emphasizing that working in youth clubs, for example, is not always useful in the case of girls, as 'immigrant girls often have duties at home [i.e. cooking, cleaning, taking care of younger siblings] and cannot participate in after school activities'. This heavily stereotyped understanding of the situation of "immigrant girls" was taken for granted, and, consequently, the importance of working in schools highlighted: "disembarking" in schools lowers the threshold for girls as well as for boys. Later in the discussion this was redefined as "descending" among the youth.

Who is Afrax's imagined "peer", then, for whom he is imagined to be easy to approach when, for example, visiting a vocational school? If a group photo had been taken of the meeting, and then contrasted with the photo that decorates the cover of the leaflet of the project, one answer would be indisputable: Afrax with nine white middle-aged women compared to Afrax with six young people of colour. As Afrax is a person of colour, his peers are assumed to be too. Ready as the answer is, it is hardly exhaustive. If the young immigrant completing their IB degree mentioned above were black, this would not make them Afrax's peer either, and the women in the meeting would still not worry about whether Afrax managed to reach them. So there is more to it than "just" being both an immigrant and a person of colour. What the photo does not say directly, but what it nevertheless implies, is the original nationalities of the young people in question. In the meeting, all the women were

white, and were Finnish by birth. The youths in the photo were born in Sudan, Somalia, Angola, Afghanistan and the DR Congo. All of them arrived in Finland as refugees or as family members of recognized refugees. This is what is meant by "having personal experience of immigration", and the imagined similarity shared by these "peers" is their being categorized as non-white refugees from the Global South.

But there were two more qualifications that Afrax promised to fulfill: experience of the Finnish education system and labour market. This is as vague a formulation as can be—one could fulfill it simply by completing comprehensive education and working in this very project. Printing this in the materials about the project hints that Afrax's experience is evaluated as being somehow especially useful and valid with regard to mentoring his presumed peers. When it comes to education, this could refer to the fact that he did not participate in formal schooling at all in Somalia—he went to Quran school and periodically to a UNICEF run school, where basic reading and counting skills were taught-and upon arrival in Finland he had to learn according to the rhythms of Finnish elementary school. Like other immigrant children, he first took part in preparatory teaching and was then transferred to a "normal" class, though at a grade two years below children who had started their schooling in Finland. He was an average student: he was motivated and had ambition, but sometimes playing football and hanging around with friends was too attractive for him to concentrate on school. His parents could not support him in his schoolwork, as his mother is illiterate, and her Finnish skills are not good, and the father's relationship with the family was rather tense. In practice, Afrax did most of his homework in our social work unit, where we tried to help out the best we could with our volunteers. In the end, Afrax completed comprehensive education with fair grades, but was determined to study as little as possible in the future. Thus, he chose vocational education in order to become a youth worker. He did not proceed in the most typical way, but ended up working in this project as part of his studies, in this way also getting personal experience of gaining a degree through the apprenticeship system and the problematics of adapting working with studying (which had turned out to be somewhat stressful, as, at school, "they don't understand that I really work").

With regard to his experiences in the "Finnish labour market", they might be described by the saying "good things come to those who wait". Or, perhaps it would be more accurate to say, "good things come to those who try and wait, and try and wait". In Somalia, he had been working irregularly in the streets already at the age of ten, but in Finland finding a job turned out to be much more complicated. At a very

young age, he was among the most eager to try applying for summer jobs that I ever met in my years in youth work. Countless are the job applications and CVs I have done with him with utmost care—without success. Sometimes he was invited to an interview, but most often not. And when he was, he didn't get the job. He actually got one of his first proper jobs through our social work unit—a local school had voiced concern about immigrant boys acting restlessly during and after school, and a sports club was set up to offer them meaningful free-time activities at school. Afrax was hired to run the club together with one of our qualified workers. And, from there on, he started to get odd jobs here and there—running other children's sports clubs, or sorting out returned bottles in the recycling room of a grocery store—and he was never picky when it came to job offers. When he started his vocational studies he started to get contacts when doing internships, and got summer jobs in disabled people's homes and the like. And now he finally had a steady job—part-time, but safe.

In sum, Afrax had really to start from scratch, both in terms of education and work. When he came to Finland, he knew how to read, write, and count, but not much more from the perspective of the Finnish educational system (which doesn't give much credit to remembering parts of Quran by heart or to being streetwise in the sense of getting along alone in Mogadishu). Studying was never easy for him, but he has tried his best to gain an education that can guarantee him a job, and he has succeeded. Making his way into the Finnish labour market hasn't been any easier, but he has persistently—stubbornly, I sometimes thought when finalizing yet another CV with him—tried until, finally, the doors have started to open. It is worthy of note that he got his first "real" job because of his background as an immigrant, not despite it: it was an ethnospecific job in the sense that the "immigrant boys" the school was concerned about were thought to share similar background with him.

Put the pieces together, and what do we have? A black, Muslim, uneducated, unqualified and unemployed refugee from the Global South, from a low-income family where the parents are either illiterate and unemployed or uneducated and work sporadically in low-income jobs. All this is true of Afrax during his first years in Finland. He perfectly fits the image of the "imaginary immigrant" discussed in chapter 5.1, and described by Lundström (2017, 79) as "[...] a non-privileged, non-white, non-western (refugee) subject in search of a better future in 'our' country." This is the imagined group of peers Afrax is thought to represent. My point here is not so much to prove (again) that the category of the imaginary immigrant is prevalent in Finnish discourse, but to show how the concept filters into practices that in turn reproduce it, and what kinds of effects categorizing people according to

this concept have. In this case, Afrax is firmly positioned as an immigrant in his job: being a perfect representative of the imaginary immigrant, a literal embodiment of them, is his number one qualification for his job as a peer mentor.³⁶

Or, perhaps, not quite, or not only, so. As Lewis (2000, 88) writes, "[...] the racialised bodies of, for example, liaison workers or development workers are simultaneously at one with, and differentiated from, the racialised populations they represent." The differentiation stems from standing in a position of a social worker. There is something about Afrax that made him the perfect peer mentor in comparison to other young people who share his background. One of the most important tasks of the peer mentor is defined as being a "role model" for other youths—someone who inspires them "to seek education, to relentlessly proceed and be successful in them".³⁷ Afrax himself described this, along with giving motivation to other young people, as his number one task. He related, for example, how one girl had complained about never getting a summer job despite years of trying, saying that she didn't have the energy to keep trying anymore. Afrax had told her that he had had at least as much trouble getting a job himself, and that though he did not succeed in the beginning, "one has to keep on trying, then, if you do succeed, it is rewarding." Who would be better for this kind of task than Afrax? Besides being a perfect embodiment of the "imaginary immigrant", he is also a perfect embodiment of the "good well-integrated immigrant"—the resilient young refugee who persistently works in order to get education and create a career despite all odds, and, lo and behold, succeeds in the end. Thus, Afrax was representative in two senses: both an "authentic" member of the minority, and recognized as prominent by the majority. Afrax was chosen to be the representative of "immigrant youth" in a fashion parallel to the "representative Negroes" of the late-nineteenth-century United States. (Mack 2012, 5.)

Interestingly, it seems that Afrax's immigrant-ness was considered to be a defining characteristic, to the extent that it overruled all other differences among the group he was thought to represent, even that of gender. While the spaces in which he worked in were evaluated from the perspective of gender, his gender was not considered an obstacle in itself with respect to being "easy-to-approach". At first thought this feels surprising, as all the members of the steering group were women,

-

³⁶ In their research on another ESF-funded project based on the idea of peerness, Heimo et al. (2020, 345) conclude, along the same lines, that peerness between immigrants, assumed to be a homogenic group, was taken for granted, which, in turn, "[...] builds unnecessary categories, can stigmatize or strengthen the otherness of unemployed migrants, and is thus unlikely to empower them for employment."

³⁷ Again, these are direct quotes from the project materials.

and Afrax's difference from them as a man was tangible. But, on second thought, perhaps this indifference speaks precisely of the gendered nature of social work on one hand, and of the feminization of migrant's bodies (Peterson 2005, 507–508) on the other. In Finland, nearly ninety percent of social workers were women in 2014 (THL 2018, 1), and, possibly, in this context, Afrax was seen more as a "feminized Other" (Peterson 2005, 508) than as a representative of the male gender. In any case, his gender was not discussed directly, though the result—that the pilot project did not reach many girls—perhaps wasn't a surprise, at least for those members of the steering group who had personal experience of working with young people. The inbuilt blindness of the project to gender differences (as long as they were not immediately tied to immigrant-ness, such as immigrant girls' assumed obligation to stay home after school) further underlines its essentializing conceptualization of immigrants as a "uniform, undifferentiated mass" (Leinonen 2012, 218).

5.3.2 Ascribed representation and its constraints

There are some obvious problems in this constellation. In reality, the young people with whom Afrax poses on the cover of the project's leaflet come from various locations across a vast geographical area, from different kinds of socioeconomic backgrounds, and even though they are all refugees, the reasons for their flight differ considerably. Furthermore, so-called second generation immigrant youth are often also categorized as immigrant youth. As Lewis (2000, 91) writes, it is unclear what similarities exist between the needs of "[...] young people who share the same skin colour but who inhabit widely differing social, geographical and cultural worlds." To suggest an essential similarity between these categories, she argues, "[...] is to confuse an enunciation of *political* 'sameness' with cultural 'sameness'." Why is Afrax, who doesn't even have a vocational degree yet, thought to be better than an educated and experienced social worker at "reaching" and "mentoring" a young person who is, say, from an Arabic speaking, Shia Muslim, upper class Iraqi family? Or one whose parents speak Farsi and belong to the revolutionary secular group of Iranians who fled Khomeini's regime at the beginning of the nineties?

Lewis's (2000, 89) argument is that in this kind of essentializing and racializing discourse, professional qualification is not considered necessary because "qualification resides in the skin". There is a tendency, she claims (ibid., 88; emphasis original), to constitute workers who are ethnic/racial Others "[...] as racialized bodies whose qualification to deliver 'ethnically sensitive' services resides in what is seen as

their *natural* ability to act as cultural translators [...]." They are understood to physically embody the necessary skills, and, thus, "[...] the post of development worker constitutes an intensification of processes of racialisation because it focuses almost exclusively on embodiment." (Lewis 2000, 89.) For the workers in question this is paradoxical, as, while it serves to provide them with an employment opportunity, it simultaneously positions them in ways that racialize them, fixing them, "[...] into specific organizational and occupational locations", hence, "constraining their professional autonomy." (Ibid., 117; 206). They are seen, first and foremost, as representatives of the imagined group they are ascribed to, not as professionals (young or experienced) of social work.

Nadim's (2017) concept of ascribed representation is useful in understanding the subject position Afrax is offered in his peer mentoring job. Nadim's (ibid., 230) research explores the "[...] conditions for participating in public debate in Norway for people with an ethnic or religious minority background [...]", but, as the position of group representative is its central concern, it provides tools for understanding Afrax's situation as well. The interviewees in Nadim's (ibid., 241; 243; emphasis original) research problematized being ascribed minority status, as it tends to define them entirely: "The challenge [...] is not so much that they are ascribed a minority identity regardless of how they present themselves. It is that they are reduced to that identity only." As Nadim (ibid., 243) underlines, it is one thing to be seen as an individual with a minority perspective and quite another to become a representative of the group. In a similar vein, I argue that, in Afrax's case, the problem lies not in hiring a person who has minority perspective and experience—quite the contrary, I do think it is of utmost importance to employ people with minority backgrounds in social work—but in constructing him as a group representative of "immigrant youth". Nadim (ibid., 243; emphasis original) writes: "[...] being cast as the Minority will overshadow their professional competence [...]", so that one becomes defined, for example, as the Muslim in the company, instead of as the economist in the company. In Afrax's case, the whole project was built around the idea that hiring the immigrant would solve problematic issues naturally, making professional qualification and experience unnecessary. Simultaneously, this made being the wellintegrated good immigrant Afrax's actual profession. And this is how the project was received: the vice headmaster of the secondary school for adults in which Afrax regularly worked, for example, called him "that immigrant background boy".

This is problematic in itself, as it, yet again, reproduces and reconstructs the essentializing category of the "immigrant youth". But it has further consequences too, two of which of which I would like to elaborate on here. First is what Lewis

(2000, 117; 206) and Nadim (2017, 246) both mention: the constraints ascribed representation set to professional development. Being reduced to one's minority identity might close doors in professional life in two ways: first, it may restrict employment opportunities (one is only hired for jobs in which one works with certain minorities), and, second, it might hinder possibilities for getting further education and promotion to higher-grade posts during one's career, as Lewis discovered: there was clear "[...] clustering of black and other 'ethnic minority' women at the lower end of the professional scale" (Lewis 2000, 98; see also 96–97; 112–117). If one considers Afrax's career as a young youth worker up to now, it seems that the first impediment has indeed affected it. Willing to get different kinds of work experience, he has tried to find employment in other places than in the social work unit in question too, but with little success. At one point, he did manage to get another job—in a reception centre for asylum seekers located in a nearby town. He was enthusiastic when he started out there, wanting to use his skills to organize recreational and participatory activities at the centre where little of the like was a general practice. But he soon became disillusioned: the manager of the centre did not treat him very well, and he was given orders, for example, not to pray or eat with the Muslim inhabitants of the centre. Afrax was shocked by the manager's lack of trust in his professionalism: "Why does he say such things to me?" Why indeed, if he did not see an essential similarity between Afrax and the asylum seekers living in the centre. Also, it came out that, instead of using his professional skills as a youth and recreational worker, Afrax tended to end up working as an interpreter, both in daily conversations between the staff and the inhabitants, and in dramatic situations such as deportations. For him, this was an uncomfortable experience: "I cannot say anything [personal], I have to be like a robot! So, like, what the police says, I translate, that he must be now [deported]. [...] So it is... quite some [job]." He soon quit—more for practical reasons (the journey to and from the centre, for example, was timeconsuming and ate up a considerable part of his salary), but had he enjoyed the work the result might have been different.

The second consequence is not as tangible, but at least as profound. If one thinks of Afrax as a subject, sitting in that meeting among those white, educated, social worker women, what kind of space does this constellation offer for him to inhabit? My discomfort in, and after, the meeting had to do with an acute awareness of the power relations that the meeting itself was an outcome and an embodiment of. I would like to suggest that the meeting was an intensification of processes of subjectivation, in the sense discussed by Foucault (1991 [1975]; 1990 [1976]; 1982; 1980) and Butler (2011 [1993], 1997), in this case as part of the making of the

immigrant subject. Kurki (2018, 63) proposes terming this kind of the making of immigrant subjectivity immigrantization. For Kurki, it refers to integration policies and practices in education that work to make immigrant subjects of people with widely differing backgrounds and life situations: "[...] integration does not only create 'immigrants'," she argues, "but it immigrantisizes people as if they were 'one'. As immigrants, they then have limited choices of how they would like to be seen by others." Kurki's research concerns multicultural lower secondary schools and prevocational immigrant training, but her understanding of integration policies and practices as constituting immigrant subjectivity can be instructive in other contexts of integration work, too. Afrax's job—enhancing integration by being a motivating flesh-and-blood example of a well-integrated immigrant—is an example of such practices par excellence. There is, thus, much more at stake in being positioned as an ascribed representative than possible constraints on one's career; deep-rooted questions about one's subjectivity and its formation that have fundamental and longstanding consequences in people's lives are at stake too. There is an inherent violence in the act of ascription itself, an abuse of power that the "imposition of difference" always is (Fassin 2011, 422–423).

This violence might be difficult for all parties to recognize. For example, the atmosphere of the meeting described at the beginning of the chapter was actually very nice: everybody was friendly and acted supportively with regard to Afrax. Yet, I had a nagging feeling that he was put in a position that was coercive towards him as a subject and, in this sense, violent. In the next section, I explore the position of group representative Afrax was offered in the project in more detail. I try to show how it can be understood to be an outcome, or crystallization, of much larger power relations than seemed to be at play in the meeting at first glance, which, as such, was full of warmth. How Afrax later reflected on his job and position as a peer mentor himself is addressed in the epilogue to this chapter.

5.3.3 Representing the immigrant youth, representing the liberal welfare state, representing the gap in between

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, most of the literature concerned with group representation has not been too helpful in understanding Afrax's position. To a large extent, it deals with political representation and/or working as an advocate of one's "own" minority group, and the problematics of whether the perspective of the Other is represented in decision making in this way or, at least, whether the

"voice" of the Other is heard. Borrowing Spivak's (1999, 4-6) conceptualization, Ku (2009, 67), for example, defines the position of the Canadian immigrant women activist managers she studies as the that of "[...] the Native Informant, a figure that stands in between the absolute Third World Other and the Western Subject." She finds this to be an apt description of women of Third World origin, but welleducated and sufficiently westernized to communicate their community's needs to the state and its representatives. Afrax's position was not quite the same, as he was not representing the immigrant youth in this sense: he was not asked about the youths' needs, or if there were aspects of their experience it would be good to know more about, as the project was built around the assumption that these issues were already familiar to the municipality and NGO actors. There was thought to be no need for communication from the immigrant youth via their representative, Afrax, to the representatives of the state who would then take these issues under consideration. His position is more like that of the black/Asian social workers Lewis (2000) writes about: like those women, Afrax was first and foremost hired to provide "culturally sensitive" services to the population he is imagined to represent. But this definition falls short too: there is more than this going on.

Authorizing agent

Another aspect of the concept of the Native Informant Ku (2009, 67) and Wood (2001) elaborate is of use here: they also function as an "authorizing agent". Writing in the context of postcolonial development work, Wood (ibid., 431) doesn't spare her criticism:

Construction of the third world woman as Other and victim thus functions to authorize the role of the first world academic and development practitioner as her savior. Since the third world woman cannot save herself from the forces that oppress her, the development expert must save her. Because the third world woman is irrational, ignorant, and uneducated, it is not only unnecessary for the development expert to consult her about the process of development, it would be a mistake to do so. As she is "identical and interchangeable" (Ong 1988, 85) with every other third world woman in the ways that matter for development, knowing one woman, what she needs, and how to fulfill those needs, is sufficient for the development expert to know and develop all other third world women.

I hold that something similar was happening in the peer mentoring project. It was built on a construction of "immigrant youth" as Other and "at risk of marginalization", and the underlying assumption was that if state/municipality services could only "reach" them, this risk would be obviated. Afrax, with his

background, was indeed an authentic enough Native Informant to function as a representative of his group in the role of authorizing agent, confirming the expertise of the white social worker women and putting their plans into practice. His participation in the project made it *seem* like it truly welled from the needs of immigrant youth, imagined to be a uniform group. In this sense, his presence was truly necessary, as I highlighted right at the beginning, but I would suggest that what he was needed for was the performance of Otherness for the white expert women in the limited role of authorizing their agenda. Trinh (1989, 88) describes this as a demand to express one's difference and to paint oneself "thick with authenticity": "Eager not to disappoint, i try my best to offer my benefactors and benefactresses what they most anxiously yearn for: the possibility of a difference, yet a difference or an otherness that will not go so far as to question the foundation of their beings and makings."

Representing and performing the difference of his imagined minority group was Afrax's real job. True, one discussion event was organized prior to designing the project in which some other immigrant background youth were asked about their experiences regarding advice services. At this event, however, "about ten young people" were present, it happened only once and lasted for about two-three hours, and was limited to dealing with advice services from the outset, nothing else. The young people were asked what kind of advice they have received, whether they were satisfied with it or not, and what kind of advice they would like to get-and the conclusion, as mentioned earlier, was: that services are hard to find, confusing, and non-dialogical (project materials, reference omitted). While I don't want to dismiss this effort to engage in a discussion with the immigrant youth, this can hardly be considered "[...] actually entering into a responsibility structure with the subaltern, with responses flowing both ways [...]" (Spivak et al. 1996, 293). Rather, Afrax's "participation", as well as that of the immigrant youth, served to perform difference for the white social worker women, who then spoke about them and designed the project for them—which they then needed Afrax to implement. The immigrant background young people were asked to "speak their pain", but only that, in hooks's (1990, 152) words: "Only do not speak in a voice of resistance. Only speak from that space in the margin that is a sign of deprivation, a wound, an unfulfilled longing. Only speak your pain."

As Wrede et al. (2010, 280) point out, measures that aim at enhancing the employment of immigrants should not concentrate on the "lack of skills" (language skills, vocational qualifications, CV writing skills) of immigrants—this serves only to redirect attention away from the structural discrimination they encounter. Measures

should concentrate on building bridges to labour markets and, in this way, on deconstructing the exclusion of immigrant background people. Practices and discourses that concentrate on individual factors instead of the general mechanisms that produce the vulnerable position reproduce the thought of immigrants as outsiders as well as the understanding that the problem resides in them, not in the organization of the labour market in Finland. From this perspective, the aim of the peer mentoring project seems quite peculiar: even though the problem was identified to be the risk of immigrant youth dropping out of school and not getting employed, the number one aim was to bring them into the sphere of state services—not in finding concrete pathways to work or providing them with support in their studies. The problem was not located in the discriminatory structures of the Finnish education system and labour market but in the youth themselves, in their being out of reach of the state, in the concern that they don't "know how to walk through the door", as one of the social workers put it in the steering group meeting.

The project was based on the assumption that, if the youth could be brought into the sphere of state services, their problems getting employed or gaining education would somehow miraculously be solved. No measures or resources were included that could have been taken into use once the youth were actually "reached": in practice it was Afrax who was working with the youths, motivating them to apply for jobs or internship programs, guiding them to walk through the right doors to meet the right state officials, and writing applications and polishing CVs with them. In the meeting, he gave an account of the figures from the last working month: over the course of his working hours (and he worked part-time, eighty percent of a full working week) he had encountered an astonishing number of youths, nearly 150, providing personal mentoring for more than half of them in educational matters, with regard to job seeking or other issues (the other half he had met in the scope of group visits or other communication events). Only three percent were guided to seek support from some other service provider. Needless to say, Afrax was left quite alone, with practically no resources and little qualification for meeting the young people in their predicaments. It is not far-fetched to claim that this is a way for the state to evade its responsibilities by outsourcing them to a non-qualified professional representative of the state's Others. While the state withdraws from its social operations, it simultaneously makes use of a modality of government that brings about "[...] governmental results through the devolution of risk onto the 'enterprise' or the individual (now construed as the entrepreneur of his of her own 'firm') and the 'responsibilization' of subjects who are increasingly 'empowered' to discipline themselves [...]" (Ferguson & Gupta 2002, 989).

The withdrawal of the state also makes it easier to understand why the project was designed the way it was. When welfare services are transferred from the public to the private and NGO sectors, organizations find themselves competing for funding—of which ESF-funding forms a significant part—in what Heimo et al. (2020, 2) call "integration project markets". In order to be successful in this competition they are obliged to design projects that meet the goals and interpretations of these funds, which in practice means that the visions and strategies of the EU have a profound impact on the concepts and contents of the projects. And, as projects based on peerness are eagerly funded by EU, the value of peerness tends to be taken for granted without further consideration. (Ibid., 345.) The social worker women who designed and led the project were in this sense between a rock and a hard place in their efforts to provide services to marginalized young people.

5.3.4 Marginal member of the state

As a solution to the problem of finding the out-of-reach youth, "disembarking" was highlighted as one of the cornerstones of the project: Afrax didn't simply sit and wait for the youth to come to look for services, but he moved around and went to places where the youth spend time in their daily lives. In this context, his extrovert personality was highlighted as a benefit, "as he goes and talks with everyone." "Descending" was another commonly used concept: Afrax was described as the worker who descends from the bureaucratic heights to the lower levels of the immigrant youth. "Lowering the threshold" of state services was also recognized as important, but not quite sufficient, as mentioned above. There was, thus, a clear image of the state as an institution that is above its people, and, for some of its marginalized members, too high to be approached—and, on the other hand, itself too high to be able to reach down to the level of these dropouts. This kind of image of the state as "vertical", as somehow "above" the grassroots level of society, is prevalent in both popular and academic understandings of the state, Ferguson & Gupta (2002, 982–983) write. Simultaneously, states are imagined to be encompassing, in the sense that they, "[...] reach down into communities, intervening, in a 'top down' manner, to manipulate or plan society", even to the intimate level of families. State benevolence, as much as its coercive powers, must "make its spatial rounds" in order to reproduce the understanding of the state as both vertical and encompassing: "[...] a host of mundane rituals and procedures are required to animate and naturalize metaphors if states are to succeed in being

imagined as both higher than, and encompassing of, society." The force of this imagined verticality and compass stems from both their embedding in mundane bureaucratic practices and their being reproduced by these routine operations. (Ibid., 984.)

Ferguson & Gupta's (2002) perspective on "state spatialization" is helpful in understanding why the peer mentoring project's aims, and Afrax's position in it, were constructed as they were. If the state is imagined to be both vertical/hierarchical and encompassing, the recognition that some of the people supposed to be under its control are out-of-reach is problematic. To be encompassing, it should reach everyone—or rather, everyone should be already under its scope, in the sense that they "know how to walk through the door" and seek state services when they are supposed to do so. Hence, the gap that separates the state and its dropout members is a problem in itself, and the act of reaching down towards them in order to encompass them becomes an intrinsic value. The project can be understood as part of the "spatial round" of state benevolence, inspired by concern about imperfections in the compass of bureaucratic practices. Simultaneously, it also reproduced the image of the state as vertical/hierarchical, as the project operated on a grassroot level, but was backed up with professionals and funds from different levels of state hierarchy, up to the supranational level of the European Social Fund.

But the project had a third dimension with regard to state spatialization: it also worked to (re)construct the boundaries of the state. While Afrax, in his role as a peer mentor, is an embodiment of the state's encompassing nature—its flesh-and-blood extension, its extra feet, disembarking among the out-of-reach youth, and the extra hands that reach them—he is also its literal middleman, "[...] a figure that stands in between the absolute Third World Other and the Western Subject." (Ku 2009, 67.) It is impossible for the state itself to reach out to this absolute Other. The insurmountable difficulty of bridging the gap between state services and immigrant youth was clearly voiced by the white, women social workers in the meeting, and the specific value of the peer mentoring project, and of Afrax as its executor, was located in his role and the personal skills that enabled him to carry it out. This belief in the inability of the state to reach immigrant dropout youth on one hand, and in the ability of Afrax to do so on the other, worked to construct both the state and its representatives, and the immigrant youth, in an essentializing way, reproducing the image of the gap between them as substantial. And Afrax, standing in between them as a representative of both, was working as a mediator, as a "marginal member of the state" (Ferguson & Gupta 2002, 985). As Ferguson & Gupta write (ibid., 985), marginal members of the state provide a concrete example to others of the verticality

and compass of the state—hence the idea of Afrax drawing youths into the sphere of state services by working as an inspirational role model. In addition, he provided a concrete example of the limits of the compass of the state, of who are counted among its members and who are not: a well-integrated, good immigrant, who is determined to "seek education, to relentlessly proceed and be successful in them" (project materials), is presented as a member of the state—a marginal member, perhaps, but member anyhow. A dropout NEET immigrant young person is not—they are unavoidably out of reach, lost to the state.

5.3.5 Conclusion

To sum up, the subject position of peer mentor Afrax was offered in his job was that of a middleman—of representing immigrant youth to the majority society, and of representing the state to the youths. A cross draft of demands makes this position simultaneously constricting while also working efficiently towards certain kinds of subject formation. Afrax was needed as both the "authentic" disadvantaged immigrant young person, authorizing the expertise and agenda of the white social worker women, and as a representative of a successful, of an approved, immigrant subject, a role model exemplifying that, with adequate resilience, it is possible to make it for the other immigrant youth. He "gives them power", as one of the women in the meeting said. To secure his present job and future job possibilities, Afrax didn't have much choice but to take this framework as given and to try to fulfill the expectations unquestioningly. Even though the steering group meeting evolved in a friendly atmosphere, it was clearly a moment in which Afrax had to prove his devotedness and skills. While the pressures set by the ESF and other funding instances on those who write project applications are tangible, one cannot shift responsibility onto the funders altogether: in this project, the position Afrax was expected to embrace was, in the last resort, constructed in these situations by the social workers who were present.

While living up to these expectations, Afrax had his daily job to do as well: being the flesh-and-blood extension of the benevolence of the state, reaching down to the level of dropout immigrant youth and embracing them, providing personal support in gaining education and employment. Encountering and mentoring the actual youth face-to-face is a job that I know from personal experience to be consuming and heartbreaking at times. Not that spending time with "immigrant youth" would not, as such, be as heart-lifting as any other youth work. But what can you say to a young

person who puts all they have into their studies, despite only barely passing their exams, and, in a tone of resignation and depression, remarking that it is of no use, they will never be offered a job anyhow, so they might just as well spend the rest of their life baking pizza. Afrax was barely given any other tools to work with in this situation than himself, his being a role model and living example of a successful immigrant subject, and this is hardly very much to offer in this situation. "One has to keep on trying, then if you do succeed, it is rewarding," was what he had as a way of providing support for his peers. Here, what is not said aloud is what happens if one gives up and stops trying, or does not succeed despite trying. This silence speaks of the boundary, on the other side of which the failed, abject immigrant is left. In this way, in his job as a peer mentor, Afrax's body became the focal point of the political ordinary; a tool for drawing the border between the state's us and its absolute Others.

Epilogue

"Well, it was amazing," Afrax tells me when we read my text together a couple of years later, and I ask him how he had experienced working in the project. He had found working in a peer role interesting, and now sees that the main aim had been offering role models to immigrant youth. He emphasizes the effect it had on the youths, and the encouragement seeing Afrax in a real job, fulfilling his own dreams, truly did provide them: "In that sense I think it reached its aims well, and I learned a lot myself and saw that it had an effect on [young] people, some got enthusiastic, like, 'okay, I can study something!"." On the other hand, Afrax says that the work was "hectic", as its aims were grand—in principle, the target group was immigrant youth residing in the whole region, and, of course, this was impossible for one employee working eighty percent of the week. Also, he had had feelings of inadequacy: "I was thinking, could I help more? How many young people dropped out because I did not accompany them to the job office, for example, because I was not with them, or they did not have [money to buy] a bus ticket themselves." And finally, he had felt pressured because of being nominated as the role model: he felt that he needed to adapt and change his behaviour to meet the ideal of the successful young immigrant person. Afrax now estimates that the project would be worth repeating, but, if possible, he would rather hire several mentors with various backgrounds-both from various professions, such as IT experts for example, and of various races/ethnicities, both with and without immigrant background, so that young people struggling with the difficulties of gaining education and work would have the opportunity to meet and discuss with professionals from different fields, backgrounds and skin colours. Also, he would rather design it so that each young person would have a long-term mentor who would support them through various phases of gaining education and seeking employment. This, Afrax believes, would give them faith in their own possibilities for making their dreams come true, but also realism as to how much, and what kind, of work it requires. Afrax's way of understanding the idea of a role model thus differs from the way it appeared to me in the project materials and work situations—as

giving an empowering example of a good immigrant subject—an issue to which I will return in the next chapter on Afrax.

We contemplate my analysis of his position in the project that I have described as both constrictive and formative, and Afrax seems to embrace the idea quite intuitively. "It is, like, which doors open to you, which get closed ever more tightly, or which doors get closed and which windows open instead." He agrees with the problematics I raise, but also brings out his own agency and responsibility:

The social worker women have done their best with the resources they had. So, I think it is good to bring [out], I find it interesting how you try to pinpoint what is actually going on and concretize what my position was, whether it was conscious or unconscious [in the way it was designed]. But I had a responsibility too. I was not, like, in a discharge of liability vacuum. You know, I have offered myself [to the job] as well.

Afrax explains how he was looking for a place to do an apprenticeship, and had asked and called around a lot, and how that had effected the way this project was finally put into practice. The project was designed and the money was there, but the final decision on its allocation was done as a result of Afrax's active search.

Afrax's conclusion after our discussion puts the issue into a nutshell: "It is like a paradox, it is at the same time positive and problematic." On one hand, Afrax got a job and apprenticeship he enjoyed and that ensured his graduation, and several young people got encouragement and hope from him. On the other hand, the project reproduced the category of "imaginary immigrants", fixed Afrax within that category, was overwhelming to carry out and did nothing to the structural discrimination that the young people falling into this category meet. Afrax's reflection on my argument that he embodied the imaginary good and successful immigrant subject brings out the painful relevance of both. It also implies that Afrax's body was not only a tool for drawing the border between the state's us and its absolute Others, as I argued above, but the very *site* of drawing that border, as he himself wavers between the need and will to keep on trying and the incentive to finally give up trying altogether:

The struggles that one goes through because of one's background do not go away, they do not disappear. That you have to put in thousands of applications, even though you might get lucky in the end, still, the fact that your name is Afrax, that has a tremendous effect. But it [getting lucky in the end] does not make me or anyone else a super immigrant, because it does not erase the struggles that you have to go through. In my opinion no-one, especially a child, should ever have to experience these kind of heavily discriminating structures or reception. And this is what does not make me super, because I have hard moments when I feel like giving up completely [haluan heittää hanskat tiskiin], you know.

5.4 Reflections

In this set of three subchapters, I have dissected three types of subject position that are recurrently offered to young men with a certain kind of refugee/immigrant background: first, the position of "imaginary immigrant"; second, the position of vulnerable refugee young person; third, the position of an ascribed representative of "imaginary immigrants", of a well-integrated good immigrant subject who can act as a middleman between the Finnish state and its immigrant Others. These are all subject positions for an Other. In the first and the third, racialization of the young people as non-white and non-Finnish plays a key role, albeit in different ways. In the second, differentiation takes place as the constitution of the young person as a "pitiful other" (Tronto 1993, 120; 123), who stands in contrast to the modern autonomous subject due to their being in need of special care and support.

I would like to underline the following conclusions one can make on the basis of my analysis so far: first, in the everyday encounters of young refugee background men in Finland, they are constituted as different both recurrently and in multiple ways that are often but not always directly linked to racialization, as Manasse's case shows. Furthermore, when racialization has central role, it is not "only" openly racist behaviour or xenophobic prejudice that work for Othering. I am prone to believe that encounters in which differentiation is less pronounced, but that take place recurrently in the flux of everyday life have more weight when it comes to the cumulative experience of being constituted as Other. Even though the distance Emanuel's classmates maintain in their relation with him is mostly amiable in tone, the distance is still there, incessantly during the hours he spends at school. And while Manasse's racial/ethnic difference is considered an asset in the band project he participates in, in this case his refugee-ness and immigrant-ness become constituted as a form a disability. And, finally, Afrax is positioned in an intermediary role as a resilient immigrant subject expected to empower other Others in need of special support. The extent to which the various differentiating encounters structure the everyday lives of the refugee background youth makes this an elementary issue of the political ordinary for them.

Second, these processes of the constitution of difference are "double and contradictory" (Ahmed 2000, 96), not simple mechanisms of exclusion. They produce different figures of the Other: stranger strangers (Ahmed 2000, 106) that are too different to be assimilated to the Finnish "us", includable others (Lehtonen et al. 2004, 258–259) that can integrate and be integrated to this "us", and ambivalent figures standing at the margins, drawing the boundary between these groups with

their bodies—like Emanuel, whose position in his class develops into a contradictory one, as he is accepted by his classmates but is aware of this acceptance being an exception. Sometimes these ambivalent figures end up drawing the border within their own bodies, as in the case of Afrax, who balances between the urge to "keep on trying" and empowering others to do the same, and the inclination to finally give up, to choose to become a failed immigrant subject. Hence, the third point I would like to emphasize here is that the processes of the constitution of difference are not simply something that "Finnish people" "do" to people who fall into the category of imaginary immigrants. As I have tried to show, especially in the case of Afrax, the "imposition of difference" (Fassin 2011, 422–423) is productive, in the sense that it has effects on processes of subjectivation: it can be both constraining and formative with regard to one's subjectivity, and it is thus impossible to stand outside these processes. The young people are inevitably participating in the processes themselves, and the discourses regarding understandings of, for example, vulnerability or race not only affect them but are also affected and effected by them. And herein lies the difficulty of grasping what is actually going on: this is far too messy intra-action to be approached with such rigid concepts as power/resistance.

However, as I understand it, everyday encounters are moments that materialize the constitution of difference. One can get a grasp of the processes of differentiation by being attentive to these moments—both from an analytical point of view and from an embodied experience of being party to such encounters. The way one is encountered in various, mundane situations of one's daily life keeps on fluctuating, which, in turn, develops attentiveness towards the various subject positions one is expected to embrace in each encounter and the power relations vested in them. This attentiveness feeds one's agentive capacities and ways of responding to the subject positions on offer. What this can mean in empirical terms is the subject matter of the next set of three chapters.

6 REACTIONS AND ACTS: IMMEDIATE STRATEGIES

In the following three subchapters, I proceed to the question of "what happens next". How do Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax react to the subject positions proposed to them? I start each subchapter below by returning to the situations described in the vignettes that introduce the subchapters of the previous chapter, providing a concise description of how things evolved. In the body of text that follows, I proceed to contextualize the situations and acts of the young people, opening up other moments and discussions we had about them to reach a thick description of those three particular encounters and the mundane political agency the youths displayed in them. In this chapter, my focus is in their "immediate strategies"—facial expressions, gestures, reaching to touch or avoiding touch, looking at or looking away, ways of talking and addressing others—and it would be difficult to recognize these acts and understand their meaning without careful contextualization.

For, as it is, the young people do all act. But they all act differently, often in subtle ways. Immediate strategy is a concept I borrow from Pehkonen (Väyrynen et al. 2017, 91; see also Pehkonen 2018) and I have found it extremely useful when trying to grasp those aspects of the young people's bodily choreographies that are political, in the sense that they work for shaking the grounds of the encounters at hand and for affecting the way the youths are positioned in them. I intentionally write "work for" instead of "aim at", for, as Coole & Frost (2010, 20) underline, the creative agency of the material body can take place "before cognition", as embodied improvisation without conscious reflection and aims. In this set of three chapters, I approach the young men's mundane political agency from exactly this perspective, as capacities of their relational material bodies that are constantly intra-acting with other bodies. The focus of my analysis is hence more on what their bodies and their movement communicate, not on how the young men themselves put into words and interpret their own acts. On the other hand, drawing a hard line between acts that spring up from conscious reflection and ones that emerge from the matter of the body is difficult if not impossible. In this chapter, I thus also probe the way these intermingle and feed each other, including in analysis the young men's own reflections to a certain extent.

To say that all the young people act, but that they all act differently, is also to say that the situations and acts analyzed in these subchapters are one of a kind. Hence, at this point, my work moves to a sphere in which the outcomes are not generalizable in any way, and this is not the intention either. Rather, the analysis on "what happens next" presents three examples from a large spectrum of different ways of (re)acting, intriguing exactly in their uniqueness. I ask what kind of immediate strategies each young person adopts in reaction to the subject position proposed to him, and what these immediate strategies work for. Answers to these questions deepen, and makes concrete, understanding both of how the proposed subject positions constrict the space for agency available to the youth, and of how they still manage to maneuver in some ways to stretch these limits. Emanuel teaches a lesson on how to turn the offered subject position on its head, from a pejorative to an empowering position of difference; Manasse provides an example of resistance to the subject position in the form of complete rejection of it; and Afrax shows how one can use small acts and gestures to transform the subject positions available and gently push them in a more agreeable direction.

6.1 Turning around the subject position: Emanuel at school II

Finally, almost all the dishes are ready and served, and the students sit at the long table that one of them has set for the meal. They start to dish food up on their plates and to eat. Due to his problems during the baking task, Emanuel finished his brownies late and is among the last to sit down. The others have taken the aprons and the caps they are expected to wear during cooking off, but he sits down still wearing both. The caps are the kind one is supposed to wear in kitchens to avoid hair falling into food: white, single-use caps made of thin paper-like material, held in place by a loose elastic. Everybody hates these caps and feels embarrassed when forced to wear them, and all the students take the cap off and throw it away immediately whenever permitted. I feel like going and telling Emanuel to take his cap off too, as his troubles in fulfilling the baking task had been so obvious, and sitting there with the silly cap on while all the others have taken theirs off seems to underline his difference to the others even further.

Otherwise, the atmosphere is getting relaxed. The teacher has left the kitchen for a while, and, especially when the students begin to taste the desserts, a lot of talking and joking starts. Nevertheless, both ends of the table chat and joke only among themselves, as if there were an invisible wall between them—there are two cliques sitting at this table, at one end a clique formed by four girls, at the other the one Emanuel usually aligns with. Both have occupied the far ends of the table, leaving empty chairs in between that make this division of the class visible: even though individual students do speak to each other over the divides of the cliques, there is little communication between them when the

groups are together. Emanuel, however, chooses to sit in between the groups on one of the empty chairs. While they eat, he takes part in some of the jokes of his own clique, but, most of the time, he is quiet, sitting very upright as always, with a blank face and the cap on.

But, at some point, Emanuel starts to make a joke out of his cap. He fashions it with his hands, pretending it is his hair, and fashions it into kind of a hairdo. He then addresses the joke to one of the girls in his clique, saying that he is throwing his hair behind his back in the same manner as she always throws her long blond hair behind her back. He mimics her movements, throwing his head backwards and wiping the cap behind his ears with his hands. The students of his clique start to laugh, the girl he is talking to tries to throw her hair back, but, as it happens to be plaited today, it doesn't really work. There is general joking and laughter at this end of the table. Suddenly, Emanuel turns towards the other end of the table and starts telling jokes in that direction too (I can't hear what exactly, as I am sitting on the other side of the room), and soon the group of girls at that end erupt in hearty laughter too. Emanuel wears the cap until the very end of the class.

Once, Emanuel remarked to me that his classmates 'don't see me as Emanuel.' He then explained how they only see and hear his mistakes, which seem all the graver due to his age (he is three or four years older than the other students, as he had to complete a compressed curriculum of basic education before he could apply for vocational schooling). In this sense, the hypervisibility of his body as an imaginary immigrant (standing out from the rest of the class as black, as immigrant, as unskilled despite his older age) makes him invisible as a person, as Emanuel. In Fanon's (2008[1952], 87) words he is "overdetermined from without". As Tyler (2006, 193) has argued, in respect of the figure of the asylum seeker in the UK, the hypervisibility of the figure of the racialized immigrant "works to screen from view" the actual people falling into that category, and Emanuel is highly aware of this. In everyday school situations he constantly feels embarrassed about the mistakes he makes and assumes that the others interpret his troubles as something more than mere language issues: that they take them as a proof of him being the immigrant Other of the class. Having discussed this issue with him several times, I was intently aware of it during the awkward baking task described in the opening vignettes of this and the previous chapter on Emanuel. In this chapter, I will explore the ways in which he tries to affect this central issue of the political ordinary in his school environment. First, I will take a brief look at his attempts to evade being both hypervisible and invisible at school by trying to perform as well as possible. Then, I will turn to the strategies that are available to him when this attempt fails—first one that would be readily at use, but that he does not deploy, that of "passing", and then two immediate strategies that I often observed him deploy, that of "enduring" and that of "turning the position around".

6.1.1 Trying to evade hypervisibility/invisibility: proving one's capacities

I was puzzled at first by the extreme effort Emanuel put into his studies despite all the embarrassment and other trouble it caused him. The double degree of normal curricula Emanuel is pursuing is challenging for him, mainly due to language issues, but, to some extent, also because of having a different kind of schooling background. In order to keep up with the others he regularly studies late and, as a consequence, is tired in lessons. Emanuel often talked to me about this, and at some point of the semester I started to study together with him about once a week to try to ease the burden. I made the offer—which he eagerly accepted—after a discussion we had once over a cup of tea after a long and tiresome day at school. We had been talking about the situation in Angola and also Finnish immigration politics, especially the strict family reunification policy, when he suddenly changed the topic, telling me he does not know how he will be able to pull through the degrees. I have a table full [of assignments] and more of them are piling up all the time, I don't know how to manage.' I told him that, if it is too much, he should, perhaps, drop one of the degrees and concentrate on completing the other. 'That is not an option,' he objected. I then remarked that he has gotten alright grades in his exams, but he was not satisfied: 'I would like to be right on top,' he said, showing with his hands the location of top students in comparison to the others. I told him that he cannot compare himself to those students who were born in Finland. 'It doesn't work, you should compare yourself with others who also have refugee backgrounds. How many young, refugee background people are even trying to attain a double degree?' Not many, he had to admit, and then he concluded: 'If I compare myself to them, I am at the top, but if I compare myself with the others [students born in Finland], I am right at the bottom.'

For an outsider like me, comparing oneself to students born in Finland seems exorbitant. But if one listens to Emanuel after some of the situations in class that he finds especially disturbing, it starts to make sense:

The students are expected to make presentations in pairs regarding different patient organizations. Emanuel is paired with one of the other boys, and their subject is the Finnish Rheumatism Association. They give a Power Point presentation in front of the class, reading aloud each slide alternately. It is quite obvious that the other boy has actually made the slides: on the title page, only his name appears under the title of the presentation, and he provides additional explanations regarding the contents of the slides and the theme in general. Emanuel, for his part, simply reads aloud when it is his turn, and with obvious trouble: he reads slowly and makes mistakes, and when a slide that treats the funding of the association comes up, he almost gives up. There are long and abstract concepts that he probably does not understand at all and has

great difficulty reading (like *omaisuustuotto*, income from property). He rubs his forehead, laughs awkwardly, and stumbles through the word.

After school I walk towards the city centre with him. There were other classes after the presentations, but Emanuel starts to talk about it, telling me how displeased he is with himself for failing in the presentation. He was supposed to go through the slides together with the other boy during lunch, but he had forgotten, and therefore didn't know anything about the contents of the slides. It totally panicked and could not read and did not understand anything about the presentation. It assure him several times that an outsider couldn't really notice anything, as he seemed quite calm in the situation. But Emanuel doesn't buy my claim and underlines how important it is for him to perform well: It is so embarrassing to be there as an adult among those children, and still not know or understand many things that they do.' This is also why, he explains, it would mean so much for him to do well in maths, because, that way, he could prove that the core problem is merely language, and that otherwise he is smart and capable.

I thus came to understand that demonstrating that he is smart and capable is the only way out from the subject position of an imaginary immigrant for Emanuel, a categorization that screens him from view as a person. He cannot change his background or his skin colour, but proving that he is not intellectually inferior to the other students is a possibility, at least in principle. Yet, as it is, quite good language skills are needed in mathematics, too-both in the kind of mathematics they are taught in the context of the vocational education, like calculating dosages of medicine, and in the more abstract kind of mathematics taught on the secondary school curriculum (this became pretty clear after studying geometry together a couple of times; we had to start from the very basic concepts like line, triangle, parallelogram or area). In any case, Emanuel (and I) put a lot of effort into maths and he performs ok-which, perhaps, compensates a little for his grave troubles in other subjects, but not quite as much as he would like it to. He finds himself daily in situations in which his inability to follow teaching or lack of language comes out in an embarrassing way, as when trying to carry out the baking task in the class on nutrition. In the following sections, I dig into how Emanuel puts up with this political ordinary issue of his class surroundings, and what kind of strategies he uses in these immediate situations in order to shift gears.

6.1.2 Not passing

Once, during one of Emanuel's lessons, wary of the long day in school, I ended up inspecting the students' feet. From where I was sitting, I could count seven pairs of feet, of which five were clad in tennis shoes. Emanuel's were not: he had brown, pointed leather shoes, polished to perfection. Just like he did himself, his shoes stuck out like a sore thumb among the other students in his class. But seeing his shoes, shining among the row of tennis shoes, and one pair of worn-out jogging shoes, directed my attention to his appearance in general. It is not only his shoes that stick out, but his dress code and behaviour in general: the other boys in the class wear hoodies or loose college sweatshirts, tennis or jogging shoes, more or less shabby jeans or jogging pants, and often have their heads covered with a baseball cap, knit cap or a hood (also inside, of course). There is more variation in style among the girls—some often have a carefully selected outfit and makeup, while others dress more casually, occasionally wearing jogging pants and knit caps in similar fashion to the boys. Either way, tight jeans and tennis shoes seem to belong to every girl's wardrobe. Emanuel, on the other hand, wears tightly fitting sweaters or brightly coloured shirts with stiff collars (even pink!), spotless, ironed jeans, pointed leather shoes or shining jogging shoes; he never has any kind of cap on, and always has his hair cut in a smart fashion. A rather big silver cross hangs on his neck, constantly visible. Often, he also wears a wristwatch, of the kind that is so prominent that it can be thought of as kind of men's jewellery-something the other young men in the class would never dream of wearing. When it comes to clothes, then, it is more than obvious that he is not trying to fit in with the crowd in any way—almost the contrary. His neat and stylish outfit only highlights the difference between him and the other students, whose wardrobes seem all the more apparent in comparison to his: very teenage.

Similar differences prevail between his behaviour and that of the rest of the class as well. During the classes, the other boys rock their chairs (and sometimes fall, to everybody's amusement), slouch over their desks, sleep, have play fights with the girls of their clique, banter together over their cell phones, shout loud joking answers from the back rows to the teacher when they are asked a question, and all in all, cause a tremendous amount of hassle. The girls divide into two groups with regard to their behaviour: There are the calm ones, who concentrate in class and eagerly answer the teacher's questions. They form a clique, and tend to sit close to each other, often in the front rows, and work together during classes. And then there is the other group, which causes at least as much hassle as the boys: there is constant traffic as they

change their places to chat with a friend, go to charge their cell phones, brush each other's hair and make hairdos, or negotiate with the teacher about leaving earlier to catch a certain bus or having lunch early because they are so hungry. Towards the end of the school day they get tired, sleep, resting their heads on the desk or on each other's shoulders, and start to caress each other more and more—sitting close to each other and caressing each other's arms and shoulders seems to be a coping strategy for them during the long afternoon lessons.

Occasionally, Emanuel joins some conversation or joke or asks the student sitting next to him a question, but, most of the time, he is not involved in any of the constant bustle in the class. Instead, he sits in an upright position, either feverishly writing notes—when trying to keep up with the teaching—or simply staring at his desk—when too tired or too deep in other thoughts and worries to even try. He often wraps his arms around himself, or covers his neck or forehead with his palm, as if holding himself together or protecting himself from something. Observed from my location—usually the back row, or some desk at the side of the classroom, from where I can see the whole class with one glance—his figure is solitary, somehow aloof from the rest of the class in its quiet stillness.

This is not only so during lessons. As I mentioned in chapter 5.1, during breaks Emanuel usually hangs around with his clique—though quite literally so: he is not often intensely involved in the chitchat and hassle of the clique, but sits or stands nearby, either quietly or sometimes taking part in some joke or discussion. Sometimes, his body is even slightly turned away from the group, giving a peculiar impression of being about to leave. He might have a discussion in Portuguese on his cellphone, or, the longer I have spent at the school, more and more often seek out my company during the breaks, not minding that it might make it obvious for the other students that we actually know each other and that my presence and research might be somehow related to him.

Thus, the distance between Emanuel and the other students in his class is not only built and maintained by the attitude of the other students (as brought out in chapter 5.1), but by his own attitude and behaviour as well. He is among them, and has found some kind of place there as a semi-member of one of the cliques, but makes it clear that he is not one of them. The way he dresses, the way he behaves in class, and the way he relates or does not relate with the other students all underline that he is all but trying to assimilate or blend in. Even though awkwardly conscious of being different from the others and of being hypervisible as the racial and immigrant Other, he does not aspire to invisibility, in the sense Ahmed (2006, 135) defines as "passing": as learning to fade into the white background. Furthermore,

Emanuel distances himself from the masculinities that prevail in Finnish vocational institutions and that the other boys of the class unfalteringly represent too. Even trying to imagine them sitting at their desks upright, wearing pink shirts and a silvery wristwatch feels absurd, yet Emanuel unhesitatingly follows his own code of conduct and dress. Despite the difficulty of this strategy, trying to become one of the others is obviously not his objective, neither in the sense of fading into the white background nor of blending into the masculinities of the class.

6.1.3 Differently different

Nevertheless, Emanuel is unfaltering in his friendliness towards the other students. Though some of them might sometimes be snappish towards him—as the boy who helped him in the baking assignment, described in the beginning of chapter 5.1—I never heard him speak to any of them in an irritated tone. As the excerpt at the beginning of this chapter suggests, he takes note of all the students in the class, too, not only those in his own clique. To me, he notes that they are "nice" and "good, really very good" classmates, and important to him as support and company. Even though he sometimes calls them "children", or says that "they don't think in an adult way", referring to their age difference, which also means differences in interests and life situation, he doesn't seem to do so in any pejorative sense. Hence, the distance he keeps to them in some regards does not have any hostile quality; in my interpretation, it is not about not wanting to be involved with them, but about not wanting to become like them. Emanuel is faced with a dilemma: he is aware of being in/visible in his difference in ways that he considers negative, and yet he does not want to fade in and try to pass as similar enough in order to dissolve his difference. What to do in this situation?

Once, after studying together, Emanuel explained a situation that took place earlier that day in school to me. Again, it was a lesson on nutrition, and the teacher had asked him to tell them whether you can use coconut oil when preparing food for someone who is allergic to milk. Emanuel had answered incorrectly, and then it 'went all silly'. Once more, Emanuel tries to explain to me how he feels when he makes stupid mistakes in front of the others, who, 'do not see me as Emanuel'. 'I cannot take it seriously,' he says. He brings his palms towards his face, turning them around when they almost touch his face and then moves his palms away from his face, saying: 'I have to let things pass like that.' This immediate strategy can be understood as a type of "small agency" (Honkasalo 2013): at first sight it seems

passive, or as "not acting", but as a deed it is not "empty", as Honkasalo (ibid., 43) puts it. It implies a choice to *endure* what is going on and what one cannot affect (ibid., 55), but this enduring can be also instrumental; it can be a tool with which one can achieve some other goal (ibid., 42). By deciding not to take embarrassing situations that he cannot really affect seriously, Emanuel endures them without letting them weigh him down. Letting embarrassing situations "pass like that" resembles forgetting as a form of the "smallest of agencies" Honkasalo (ibid., 56–57) writes about: letting go of things one cannot change in order to be able to endure them and live with them. In this way, Emanuel manages to have his wits about him to act in a way that does change his position when the possibility arrives.

For not taking things seriously and letting them pass is one of his strategies, but not the only one. His hand movements exemplify another one: turning things around. In a previous conversation on the same dilemma, Emanuel had noted that he does not 'get offended or upset' when the others laugh at his mistakes, but rather turns the situations into jokes. He gave me an example of a lesson on care work, where they were practicing helping elderly people go to toilet, and when explaining what he had done in the exercise, he had confused the words "bottom" [pylly] and "pussy" [pillu]. This, of course, had caused both amusement and resentment among the others (including the teacher), but he had managed to turn the whole situation into a joke.

However, turning the issue at hand into a joke does not always work. These kind of situations arise suddenly and turning them around requires an ability to perceive what is going on immediately and to react in an appropriate way. Doing that means working on two levels, in a way: one level is the actual task at hand, and the other is constant reflection of, and reaction to, the larger situation. This is not always possible, if one wants to concentrate on whatever one is doing—say, baking one's brownies successfully.

Looking at the baking task described at the beginning of the previous chapter on Emanuel (chapter 5.1), and Emanuel's way of acting after it, described at the beginning of this, gives another example of Emanuel's immediate strategies for turning his position around. This time he endured the tedious baking part, not trying to affect how things evolved. But, after the task was over, and it was time to sit together with the other students, he acted in obvious disaccord with them. The bright and white cap he still wore, the only person in the room to do so, the cap that others get rid of as soon as they can as they feel it makes them look ridiculous, was in my eyes at first a sign of his embarrassment—but then, as I understood that it was his way of shifting gears, I came to see it as a sign of his daring and pride. Not only

did he turn the situation around by making a joke out of himself, but he also broke the patterns of social relations prevailing in the class by building bridges between its cliques and creating a common, jocular atmosphere.

In my reading, Emanuel managed to turn a humiliating moment that put him in the subject position of an imaginary immigrant whom his classmates need to help in the simplest of tasks and whose slowness they have to tolerate, into an empowering situation that underlined his difference as a socially skillful person with such good self-esteem that he can make a joke out of his difference. I see keeping the cap on as a way of proclaiming his difference and claiming recognition as such: as a simultaneously proud and considerate black person, who can make a fool of himself and make everyone laugh, as his social intelligence enabled him to break the cliques of the class and make everybody laugh together.

6.1.4 Everyday antiracism

I find Emanuel's strategy in the nutrition lesson extremely eloquent and impressive. He does not try to hide his problems, or try to "pass" by fading into the white, Finnish background. Rather, he points out his difference, but, while doing so, he also manages to point out his social skills and mature behaviour. This is a prime example of what Lamont & Bail (2007, 1; footnote 2) call "everyday equalizing strategies" that members of subordinated ethno-racial groups can use to establish equality with majority groups: "[...] rhetoric and strategic resources deployed by individual members of stigmatized groups to rebut the notion of their inferiority in the course of their daily life." In practice, this means challenging stereotypes about the group they are categorized in, transforming the meanings associated with the group's collective identity, and creating, enacting and demanding new forms of personal interaction. Emanuel's strategies work at least on the first and last fields by challenging stereotypes regarding imaginary immigrants and by enacting new forms of social interaction in the class. As Lamont & Bail (ibid., 2; 7) argue, researching everyday equalization strategies augments understanding of the way discriminated people work towards bridging group boundaries, a topic that is often neglected in studies of social exclusion. Emanuel's immediate strategy in the nutrition class is a case in point, since it not only contributed to bridging the boundaries between himself and the rest of the class, but also the boundaries inside the class. As boundary-bridging practices, Lamont & Bail (ibid., 6) consider equalizing strategies a form of everyday antiracism.

Indeed, I also see Emanuel's immediate strategies in his class as practices of everyday antiracism. To use Wimmer's (2008, 1037) vocabulary, he strives for the transvaluation of racialized immigrants as equal with the population—despite their possible differences. He is reworking the group boundaries and the positions of different groups in relation to each other, rather than aspiring to cross the boundaries of the majority population in the sense presented in classic research on assimilation (Haikkola 2012, 44). These kinds of practices can be interpreted, as Lamont & Bail (2007, 7) do, as micro-level versions of struggles for recognition (Honneth 1995), or politics of recognition (Taylor 1994). And certainly I think that claiming recognition is at the heart of Emanuel's strategies, too. Yet, in an important respect his situation differs from the cases Lamont & Bail (2007) are working with: their understanding of "stigmatized ethno-racial groups" is based on the idea that individuals identify with these groups (for example, African Americans) and that a sense of shared belonging prevails. This "internal identification" is, in turn, recognized by outsiders, and as a consequence an "objective collective identity" emerges. (Lamont & Bail 2007, 7.) Their understanding of equalizing strategies is thus built on Jenkins's (1996) framework of social identities and as such is closely related to identity politics.

In Emanuel's case, this framework does not work. One cannot say that he would identify with immigrants in the sense Lamont & Bail describe. Of course, he understands what is meant by the category and is also, as I have elaborated, well aware of the different nuances of the words mamu, maahanmuuttaja (immigrant) or maahanmuuttajanuori (immigrant youth). He uses these concepts himself, as we have seen, but not without irony. Of my research participants Emanuel is the one who makes most critical comments on these categorizations, and associates least with other people categorized in the same way. Sure, he has friends who belong to the racialized group of imaginary immigrants, but not as much as the others (of whom some only have this kind of friends). As I will show in more detail in the third chapter on Emanuel (7.1), he is active in building relationships in general, and he does not really care where a person is from-he has plenty of ethnic Finns as friends. And, third, he does identify strongly with one stigmatized ethno-racial group—black people (I will come back to this, too, in the next chapter concerning Emanuel). Though this category is often closely intertwined with the category of racialized immigrants in Finnish discourse, it is far from being the same thing.

In the case of Emanuel's equalizing strategies, I suggest that instead of identifying with the subordinated category of imaginary immigrants and claiming recognition for this group of people as a category, he actually dis-identifies or de-identifies

himself in the sense suggested by Rancière: by "[...] breaking away from their given identity in the existing system of positions." (Rancière 2016, 92–93; see also Honneth 2016, 99.) Emanuel claims recognition not as a representative of the group of imaginary immigrants, but rather despite being categorized as such: he claims recognition as himself, for himself, so that others would, "see me as Emanuel." For Rancière, breaking away from a given identity is a moment of subjectivization, of self-constructing oneself as a subject. There is no already existing collective identity that one would identify with, but the act of dis-identifying is an opening for articulating a new kind of subjectivity. (Rancière 2016, 92–93; see also Honneth 2016, 99.)

6.1.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, I have shed light on the immediate strategies Emanuel deploys in the everyday school situations in which his attempts to prove his intellectual capacities fails and he time and again finds himself in the embarrassing subject position of the imaginary immigrant. His strategies span from small agency as conceptualized by Honkasalo (2013), that of enduring and letting things pass in order to keep one's wits about one, to that of turning things around. The latter comprises turning embarrassing situations into jokes and, further, turning them into empowering situations that bring out Emanuel's strong social skills. As has become apparent, the equalizing strategies Emanuel deploys not only concern himself and his position in his class, but are also a form of everyday antiracism. They are about deconstructing the category of imaginary immigrants, and, as such, deploying them are significant deeds in the realm of mundane political agency: in my reading, his act of wearing the cap in the nutrition class signals a moment of subjectivization in Rancière's sense. It is a moment in which Emanuel dis-identifies with his prescribed identity and subject position as an imaginary immigrant, and a moment of self-construction as a new kind of subject. What kind of subject position he aspires to is the focus of the third chapter on him. First, however, in the two following chapters I will explore the immediate strategies deployed by Manasse and Afrax in the sphere of the political ordinary of their lives.

6.2 Rejecting the subject position: Manasse on stage II

On stage at Finlandia Hall, Manasse acts in disaccord with the rest of the group. All the other members of the band concentrate, seriously and in a rather introvert way, on playing their instrument, singing the song in question, or doing the right dance moves. They barely move in case they are not supposed to: they stand or sit behind their microphones, still, or swaying slightly along to the music, unless they are supposed to do something else. They don't make any contact with the audience—most of them don't even look at them, but direct their gaze at their instruments, each other, or the floor. This goes both for the young people with mental disabilities and those participating in the project on some other grounds. The instructors, who are also on stage, act in line with the band members: one playing or singing their part, but in quite a plain and inanimate fashion, the other deeply concentrated on supporting the performance of the disabled band members. For most of the gig, they sit on a low stool in front of them with their back to the audience, and help them to keep track of the notes that are marked with symbols designed especially for this purpose. For a band whose inspiration comes, for example, from African music and dance the ensemble gives an astonishing impression of stasis.

With the exception of Manasse. Manasse performs. When he sings, standing behind his microphone, he dances slightly, swinging his arms and legs, if not in a completely relaxed fashion, at least reaching for easiness. He moves on the stage, walking around in an improvised manner, and when singing a duet with the other singer of the group, during the other's solo part he goes over by the drums and plays for a while, returning to his mike just in time to start singing again. During their last song he takes the mike in his hand and dances to the centre of the stage and then back to his place by the stand. He raps, as if with his whole body, the song he has written himself, a song called *Africa*. He makes contact with the audience, perhaps in a slightly shy or wary fashion, but yet he does. He thanks the audience after applause, and starts his songs with some small additions of his own; short utterances like "ye", "yeah", which, despite their simplicity, break the choreography of the group and, in a gentle way, communicate with the audience.

Also, he looks somewhat different from the others. They all wear colourful "ethnic" textiles: the whole group has cloth wrapped around their bodies, either knotted around the shoulder as a kind of cloak, or wrapped underneath the armpits as a kind of dress. All have black T-shirts and black trousers under the fabric. The female participants also have colourful textiles draped around their heads. The male participants are bareheaded, except for Manasse. Somehow, he manages to differ from the others: he wears a black baseball cap—it is backwards, and definitely the kind that is of latest fashion—and black, pointed, leather shoes. His different appearance also has something to do with his posture and his way of walking, which is kind of rakish, and his hand movements reach more toward hiphop than traditional dances.

To put it briefly: during the whole gig Manasse stands out from the rest of group on stage. If one did not know what kind of project the band was, and who the actual instructors are, one could easily suppose that he were the leader of the band and the project.

It is more than understandable that the band members were near frozen on stage. The capacity of the concert hall is 1700, and simply getting up on stage must require more guts than I can boast of having. Taking this into consideration, I cannot but wonder how Manasse found the courage to act differently from the other band members, and to actually perform on stage. He could have simply blended in with the rest of the group. It is not that it would have been a piece of cake for him: I have seen him on stage several times, and, from his performance at Finlandia Hall, I could see that it did not come naturally or easily—as seems to happen at other times—but that he had to put quite some effort into it. This only underlines the significance of Manasse acting in a way that made him stand out from the rest of the group.

Such differentiation happened on other stages and at other gigs too. In contrast, another kind of differentiation took place between Manasse and the other band members off stage, during soundchecks and what spare time they spent hanging around concert venues, again initiated by Manasse himself. These took the form of bodily choreographies; at a discursive level Manasse was consistent in not constructing differences between himself and the other band members, but presenting them as a solid "we". This contradiction in his orientations towards the other band members captivated my attention during the fieldwork. In this chapter, I will thus ask what the contradiction speaks of; what was actually going on in the encounter between Manasse and the band project? I begin by examining the contradiction more closely. In order to do this, I give rather detailed descriptions of some events, concentrating especially on Manasse's movements and physical being in space to shed light on the "visceral responses" (Coole & Frost 2010, 20) of his body as it communicates with other bodies around him. Also, I give space to describing the way he constructs the "we" of the band. I will then move on to analysis of the contradiction between these two with the help of Ahmed's (2000; 2004) theorization of bodily encounters, arguing that what, at the outset, seemed confusing in its contradictoriness makes sense if understood as an immediate bodily strategy for avoiding a categorizing and thus painful encounter. Finally, in the epilogue to this chapter, Manasse brings out his own interpretation of what was taking place and how he perceived the project.

6.2.1 'They are around somewhere': a non-encounter with other band members

My confusion about what was taking place started to develop right from the beginning, when I went to see a kind of rehearsal gig the band played in a small punk and rock club. I had been invited by Manasse the same day by sms: "Today at 19:00 there will be a little gig of a band I'm in. Forgot to tell you earlier. But this is one thing that you could come to participate in." So I went.

The venue is familiar to me, which makes me feel comfortable going, even though I don't have any idea what the event is about. I enter the club and try to look for Manasse. I can't find him, though, and it doesn't take me long to realize that the majority of the young folks that are present have some kind of mental disability. They are all also white and obviously Finnish. Both things come as a slight surprise to me. After wandering around for a while I see people who look like organizers, and go to ask what the event is about. I am told that bands that have been formed during a music camp for people with mental disabilities will perform, and, in addition, an "ethno-project". Busy, the organizers go about their business, and I start to look for Manasse again.

I find him sitting alone on a couch at the back of the room, almost disappearing under his light-shaded brimmed hat. He is deeply concentrated doing something on his smart phone, and even though he looks up for a second, he doesn't recognize, or even see, me. I sit next to him without saying a word, take out my notebook and pen, and finally, when he peeks up from whatever he is doing, I manage to catch his attention. He smiles and we start to chat. He tells me basic things about the band—that they have been working together for about two months, there are six members and two instructors, and today they will play two songs, one of which was written by one of the instructors, the other by Manasse himself.

Soon, the first band is on stage, and I go over to the bar so that I can see the performance. Manasse spends the whole gig sitting on the couch, again totally concentrated on his phone, not looking up or applauding. After the gig, I go back to the sofa. When sitting down, I notice that, on the other side of the little table in front of us, there is another young person, sitting upright on a bar stool next to a round table, an empty glass in front of them. They are obviously not with any of the bands formed in the band camp, or with anyone else for that matter: they seem to be alone. They have several piercings in their ears and their hair is partly shaven and partly dyed black. They seem to be somehow self-conscious, not in a nervous way, but still aware of their posture and surroundings, and us. Manasse doesn't pay any attention to them, however, and we start to chitchat again. Another band starts to play at some point, I don't get up to see it this time but applaud after each song. Manasse doesn't. I start to wonder where his band is, so I ask him where the other members are. He doesn't look around but just waves his hand vaguely in the air, not pointing to any direction, and says: 'They are around somewhere.'

After a while the only other person of colour in the club comes over. They are middle-aged, and it turns out that they are one of the instructors of the band Manasse is in. They sit next to us on the couch, which starts to feel rather crowded. Pressed against each other's bodies, we start to talk and joke a little, in English this time, as the instructor has African background and doesn't speak Finnish very fluently. When another band comes on stage, I turn so that I can see them. The instructor and Manasse continue talking in English and start to look at something on an iPad.

Soon, the other instructor and organizer of the event asks the "ethno-project" band to come on stage, mentioning the names of the band members. To my surprise, the young person who has been sitting near us on the bar stool gets up and goes over to the stage. Manasse, in turn, takes his time, slowly getting up from the couch, taking his jacket off and instructing me how to take a video of the gig with his smart phone. Then, he finally goes over to the stage and climbs up. As he had said before, they play two songs. In the first, he plays keyboard, and the young person who had sat near us (hereafter "the other singer") sings, backed by another band member. When the second song is about to start, Manasse introduces a third band member [one of those with mental disability], saying that they composed the music and he has written the lyrics, adding that five different languages are used in it. He sings together with the other singer. They stand at each end of the stage behind their mike stands, slightly turned toward each other as a kind of frame for the other band members, who sit or stand a bit further back playing their instruments. They both sing well. Manasse seems relaxed on the stage, singing, eyes sometimes closed, sometimes looking at the audience.

After the applause, Manasse jumps down from the stage and comes straight towards me, smiling widely. I jostle gently his shoulder with mine, complimenting and congratulating him. One woman from the audience comes to thank him, for some reason in English (he did speak Finnish when on stage), and he answers in English. When she leaves, Manasse says to me in a delighted tone: 'See, she liked it!' He seems to relax and we start to chitchat about different things. Soon, the last band of the evening gets on stage and starts to play. The African background instructor comes back to see it with us, and the other singer comes over too, exchanges a word or two with the instructor and stays beside us. Some young people start to dance quite wildly and the band plays alright, but Manasse is distracted by his smart phone again, not paying attention to what is going on. Soon he says a few words to the instructor next to us, and then tells me that he should get going.

Just like that, he left, and left me puzzled. He didn't say a word of goodbye, or nod, or anything, to anyone else than the instructor and me. I didn't see him saying hello, or indeed anything for that matter, to anyone else during the whole evening, except to the instructors while on stage and for the woman from the audience after their gig. He didn't give any sign of knowing the band member who sat so close to us before the gig, facing us, and who came to stand next to us later when the last band was playing. Yet they had worked together for several weeks already, and sang a beautiful duet fluently. Also, he didn't point them out when I asked where the other

band members were. He didn't exactly lie to me when he waved his hand and muttered that they are 'around somewhere', but omitting the other singer in this situation is quite striking.

This was all the more confusing for me, as I know him, and had seen how he usually behaves, both with people that are already familiar to him and with people that are not, both with white Finns and people of colour. I had gotten used to his unfalteringly good behaviour, which means that when you meet someone you know, you always, always, say hello, usually shaking hands and exchanging greetings, and at the very least nodding and saying hi. At international youth events, I have also seen him get to know all the other young people present in a matter of a few days (or hours). He is not shy, and is not slow in getting to know new people, and he is open towards people from various backgrounds and to different characters. This includes people with mental disabilities, and this was not the first project he has participated in which some of the young people involved had disabilities. In a word, I would say that he is very fluent socially, and that this is one of his strongest skills. Or rather—I would have said so before following the evening described above.

So I was puzzled. When going to the club I had felt a little nervous about my presence at the event, anticipating that it might be somehow awkward or distracting for Manasse. Afterwards, I was left with a strong feeling that he was actually relieved by my presence, since I was the person with whom he spent almost the entire evening with, shutting everything and everybody else out—except the instructor, who was also a person of colour, and except when on stage and in his role as a performer. At that point, I couldn't see any other reason for his behaviour than that he was completely out of his comfort zone in a framework constructed solely for people with mental disabilities and in no way for people with multicultural backgrounds. Maybe he just did not feel that it was his place to be in any way?

6.2.2 Refusing to relate with other band members, reaching towards certain other people

However, some weeks later I was present at another event in which the band performed and that proved this hypothesis wrong. It was an event that had world music and cultures as its theme, and there were several bands whose members were also of African background. The audience was mixed—there were many white people, but just about as many people of colour. Of course, I could not tell who of the people sitting around at small tables were members of the bands performing at

the event and who were actual spectators, but, all in all, the crowd present was thoroughly multicultural; this time, the youths with mental disabilities were a small and quite invisible minority. The venue was a restaurant in which many gigs and cultural events are organized and that usually attracts both the cultured middle class and some underground artists and musicians: it is not really a youthful place, but this evening there were a few more young people in the crowd than usual, some of them Manasse's friends. It was not a place he would hang out with his friends on a regular evening, but this event was not something one could imagine being out of his comfort zone either. I had come early this time, and followed how first the instructors, then some of the members of the ethno-project band arrived. The instructor, who sat with us at the concert described above, was sitting at the same table as me at the back of the room, and the other together with two band members with mental disabilities and the other singer at another table in the middle of the room, when Manasse arrived. I sat facing the door, so I could see him immediately, while he had difficulties perceiving the dim space after entering from daylight.

The instructor goes to greet Manasse by the door, and they exchange a couple of words. After they leave, Manasse stands by the door, glancing from his smart phone to the room and back. I lift my hand up and he finally sees me. He walks briskly through the room towards me, paying no attention to other people around, and says in an interrogative tone, 'I sit here?' He sits and we exchange greetings and talk a little about the evening, but some band is in the middle of their soundcheck and the noise makes conversation difficult. Manasse greets the instructor sitting at the same table as us by pressing fists together, but soon gets up and goes to stand by the door, waiting for the soundcheck to finish. When it does, he comes back to our table to chat with me, again not paying attention to the other band members. I ask how their work together as a band has proceeded, and he says that it has been good: 'Everybody has worked really hard.'

Again, I found it salient that Manasse acted as though he did not know, did not even see, the other band members. He enters the room, greets the instructors, and spends quite some time chatting with me—but does not say hello, look at, or in any other way express awareness of the presence of three other band members. He completely shuts them out from his social space, as if they were furniture, or something one takes so much for granted that they no longer attract one's attention at all. The same goes on during their soundcheck; this time the distance he keeps to the other band members is all the more striking as he actively seeks contact with other people on the stage:

It is their turn for a soundcheck, and Manasse goes over to the stage. Things are progressing slowly and he doesn't seem to know what to do. Finally, an instructor

asks his help, and he goes to carry some drums and other instruments onto the stage. Both the instructors are busy on stage, organizing mike stands and other stuff, talking with the mixer and negotiating with the previous band about instruments. The other singer brings a seat for one of the instructors and then withdraws to stand nearby, probably also not really knowing how to help. Manasse hangs around two percussionists who played in the previous band and who are still on stage fixing their drum set. They are both people of colour, and I hear them speaking English together. The instructor with an African background is talking with them too, and Manasse stands nearby, following the discussion intently, eyebrows high and eyes wide open, smiling as they talk and nodding a little here and there, but not participating in the discussion. The percussionists continue fixing the drums and Manasse just stands there, following how they tinker around with them with a curious expression on his face.

Then he says something to the percussionists. I can't hear what they talk about, but I can hear that the conversation is in English. Manasse has taken drumsticks in his hands, and is drumming a little on the different drums and cymbals. I can't help smiling at him and he notices, returning my smile, but then turns around, starting to talk to the instructors. The percussionists have finished with their tinkering, and, as they leave the stage, one of them claps Manasse on the back telling him that, 'it's all yours.' Manasse gets behind the drum set, the instructor behind a set of African drums, and they talk together about the drums in English. Three girls get behind microphone stands and three boys take different instruments. The white instructor sits in front of the latter to show them notes, and they start the soundcheck.

After playing one song, they pause; Manasse goes over to the white instructor commenting on the background singers—something about how they should have continued after a certain point, but they tell him that they did exactly that. Manasse goes over to the other instructor and asks something, but turns when the other singer starts to talk to him. He listens to what they have to say, and then they continue the soundcheck. When they are ready, Manasse leaves the stage immediately and comes straight over to my table, sits down and starts a conversation by asking what I will do in the meantime (there are still a few hours until their gig is due to start) and that I will surely wait for their gig. He has to leave to take care of some things regarding his brother's wedding, which is taking place that very week.

During the chaotic beginning of the soundcheck, it would have been quite natural for Manasse to work together with those members of his own band who were also hanging around trying to figure out how to help with things. Yet what Manasse did was idle around with the percussionists, openly showing his interest in what they were doing and saying, and even fiddling with their instruments. He took active contact with them, starting a discussion in English. What other interaction he had during the soundcheck was with the instructors of the band; even when he had some comment regarding what the others were or should be doing, he did not address them directly, but communicated through the instructors. The only time he even

looked at another band member during the soundcheck was when the other singer addressed him, wanting to explain something to him, which he listened to attentively—but that was it. Immediately after the soundcheck, Manasse left the venue for the time before the actual gig, and when he did come back, he came with a bunch of friends, whom he stuck with when not on stage or backstage. And, finally, he sought to join this same bunch soon after the gig was over (a description of the actual gig will follow a bit later):

After the gig is over I leave the venue, figuring that Manasse must be still backstage with the rest of the band. There is a small terrace outside the venue, quite empty as it has been a rainy evening. I walk through it and out of the gate, and, to my surprise, I find Manasse with a large bunch of young men of colour hanging right outside the terrace fence. One of Manasse's friends has draped the "ethnic" fabric around himself, with a knot above the shoulder in the same way the band members had while performing, and another friend is taking photos of him. 'So it is a fashion show now,' I comment in a joking tone, and the friend taking photos affirms: 'It has been for a while already.' We start talking and joking, enjoying, for example, a hilarious show by one of the young men present regarding Barack Obama's blackness and Africanness, which the youths find dubious. After spending quite some time bantering together, the crowd starts to move and disperse, Manasse heading with the majority of the group for a summer night in town.

If to touch is to reach toward and to invite into a relation, as Manning (2007, xiv) writes, then refusing and turning away from touch is to withdraw from the relation, to prevent it from ever even taking place. It is refusing to relate, to align with, to become a we. In my field description, I have given attention to the touches Manasse receives, gives, reciprocates and negates in order to underline how, on one hand, he reaches towards some people or accepts being drawn into relation with them, and, on the other, how he turns away from others, refusing to relate with them. Of his own initiative, he touches the African background instructor of the band and reaches towards contact with the percussionists of the other band—he gently touches their instruments and stands deliberately close by, as if inviting the touch that in the end does take place. He reaches towards me by coming to sit and stand nearby. He receives my touch with ease and sometimes reciprocates it, often in slightly reserved fashion, yet he does. But when it comes to the band members, he behaves in a way that prevents any touch from happening whatsoever. Most of the other band members take it as it comes, but the other singer tries to break the pattern and to reach toward him a couple of times, though without much effect on his behaviour. As I underlined, this is quite edgy and even rude behaviour on Manasse's part, especially if one compares it with his usual easy bearing in social situations. This

clumsiness and rudeness is, however, in sharp contrast with his smooth act when finally on stage in front of the audience.

6.2.3 Professional performer representing the "we" of the band

During their gig, as on stage at Finlandia Hall, Manasse stands out from the rest of the band as the person who is in contact with the audience and who performs with his whole body. This time, the other band members are more relaxed on stage and the difference is not as striking as at the gig at Finlandia Hall. The other singer, for example, thanks the audience once after a song they sing alone, and the background singers dance a little while performing. The band members with mental disabilities are just as concentrated on their playing as at Finlandia hall, but since they are located on the middle of this small stage in bright light, one can see how, for example, the bass player grins like a Cheshire cat throughout the gig. Also, some have friends or family in the audience and they sometimes wave or smile to them directly—though otherwise they avoid looking at the audience, preferring to look at each other, the instructors, or their notes or instruments. Manasse is the one who speaks to the full audience and also the one who seems to enjoy performing to it; to dance in front of it, to sing to it, to talk to it. To a spectator it looks like it comes naturally, like he was born to do it. But I saw him perform for the first time at quite a big youth event in front of a rather large audience—and I can tell that it did not come naturally. He was nervous and stiff, and one could see it. It is not that he is a natural born performer, in the sense that getting up on stage requires no effort, but that it is something he aspires to and is ready to work for.

When the gig is about to start, Manasse comes on stage together with the African background instructor. The instructor interrupts the loud chatter in the room by briefly presenting the band, speaking English. They then ask people to make room in front of the stage for the dance performance. People start to move, and the instructors carry chairs and tables aside in order to clear enough space. Manasse stands alone on the stage behind his mike. When the hassle is over Manasse starts a longer presentation of the band. He begins in English, referring to the instructor's words earlier: "As [they] was saying, this, our band, is called [ethno-project]." Then, he interrupts the presentation to ask the audience whether he should speak English or Finnish, gets joking answers, laughs, and continues in English. While Manasse speaks, the other band members go back and forth, still organizing things. The other singer passes him on the narrow stage and, when, doing so, touches his side slightly with their hand, as if to gently ask for space to walk by. Manasse does not react in any way to the touch but continues talking to the audience as if there were no-one even close to him:

"Ok, so, we have been gathering for now about four months, we practice together, and we dance... Now, we are gonna perform, we have a little performance, a dance performance for you. And then six songs, which, five of them we *made* ourselves. So it's gonna be a very interesting show. For our band I can say we all come from, different ... *kind* of places, so it is really hard to tell how did we get together. But here we are now and we are gonna perform for you!"

The audience gives him big hand, and with two girls he gets down on the floor in front of the stage where space for dancing performance was cleared out. The others stay on stage, each playing an African drum, and singing during their dance. Some spectators are pretty enthusiastic about the dance show, and, after it, a white middle-aged man—somewhat drunk and very happy—goes over and claps Manasse's back admiringly. Manasse, for his part, turns towards the corner where I am sitting with his friends (all of us taking a video of the gig on our smart phones) and smiles a wide, satisfied smile.

They all get back on stage to sing and play. They change instruments after each song, and Manasse plays the drums in some songs, sings in others. When he is singing, he dances a little or jumps up and down to the rhythm, often making intensive eye contact with someone in the audience, one hand holding his mike while gesturing eloquently with the other—sometimes pointing, for example, at some imaginary thing on the ceiling, or sometimes making tut-tut movements with his index finger. After the songs he thanks the audience, sometimes by words, sometimes by bowing and sometimes by taking his hat off.

During the gig there is another noteworthy thing in Manasse's behaviour, in addition to his convincing performance. While he takes the role of a kind of a leader of the band, speaking on its behalf to the audience as a matter of course, he is nevertheless unfaltering in always representing the whole band, to which he refers as "we". Not once does he speak as an "I": he says that "we practice together" and "we are going to perform", and that "we have made the songs". He thanks the audience not for himself but for the collective. He says that "we want the audience to join." He does not make any distinction, either, between the different band members, by saying, for example, that some have mental disabilities, or anything in that direction. He simply says that "we all come from different kind of places" but "here we are now".

At one point, during some hassle on stage, Manasse takes the mike and starts to speak—this time, in Finnish:

"Ah, one more thing, the logo that is over there on the background, we made it ourselves, we designed the logo and together we made, that thing [he points to some fabric hanging on the wall behind the stage]. There is the logo of the band and over there [unclear due to applause]. Here comes the next song."

In this song, the African background instructor plays a longish drum solo, during which Manasse dances in a relaxed fashion near his mike stand, clapping his hands above his head in rhythm. After the song, he introduces the next one:

"One more song comes from us. It is a bit more energetic piece. We want the audience with us if you want to, if you can, the audience can sing along. Yess. It is quite simple though."

They start the song, and Manasse encourages the audience to participate by waving and clapping his hands and by shouting between the verses "Everybody with!" and "Put your hands in the air!" The two background singers also wave: the white instructor encourages them to do so and it seems to be part of the choreography of the song. Large parts of the audience do join in, waving their hands and singing along with the chorus. When the song finishes, the audience breaks out in loud applause. The white instructor shows that all the band members should stand up, and Manasse thanks the audience several times with kind of a mischievous facial expression. Then he finishes the whole gig, addressing the audience:

"That was the last piece, unfortunately. But, this piece will come out and if one wants to learn it by heart, it will be available later! Thank you again, [ETHNO-PROJECT]!"

While he speaks, the others bow to the audience and then start to leave the stage. But Manasse stands with his mike at the end of the stage where the exit is, and the others form a small queue next to him, waiting to get off while he takes his time to leave the mike and his spot in the limelight.

I read Manasse's consistent accentuation of the band as a common project as a strong signal of respect towards the other band members. In his speeches, Manasse does not lift himself (or anyone else) above the others, nor put anyone down in any way. The band is a "we"-it is almost as if he did not exist at all as a single person on stage, but only as a member of the we of the band. This is in line with the way he spoke to me about their work together: he always expressed respect for the commitment the other band members showed to the project. Of the members with mental disabilities, he said that they were always very peaceful during the rehearsals, able and willing to concentrate and to follow advice. He also underlined that they were "[...] quite a part of that project [...]": they had taken part in composing some songs, coming up with ideas. Overall, he said, everybody in the group had worked hard for the project, and I never heard him say a bad word about anything that had to do with the project or the people involved. Nevertheless, during our discussions it came out that Manasse could not remember the names of the other band members. I found this odd: seeing as they had worked together for several months, forgetting their names seemed like something of an achievement. Also, he could remember the instructors' names without trouble, and was also pretty well up on who they were and what kind of things they work with. Remembering some names but forgetting others, showing more interest in the doings of the instructors than the other band members is another sign of reaching toward and relating with the former while withdrawing from and refusing to relate with the latter. On the other hand, Manasse also told me that, in the beginning, a few other refugee background young men (most of them his friends or acquaintances) had been involved, too, but they had all dropped out. If he felt uncomfortable participating in the project, it would have been easy to drop out along with the others. "But you stayed," I noted to him, and he confirmed firmly: "I stayed until the end, I did. Yeah."

I have highlighted this contradiction in Manasse's behaviour towards the other band members as the central theme of this chapter: he simultaneously ignores and recognizes them. When off stage and in the same public space as the other members, they do not even exist for Manasse, and he avoids encounters with them, aligning instead with his friends, the instructors, me, or professional African background performers. But, on stage, and in his words, the band forms a "we" that he represents proudly. The confusion this aroused in me during fieldwork, and which has gained more weight in the analysis above, prompts me to ask why Manasse's bodily reactions on encountering the band members were in such contradiction with his representation of the band. In our later discussion (see the epilogue to this chapter) it turned out that Manasse was himself quite unaware of the way he behaved, and was surprised on reading my description of it. I thus consider his reactions as manifestations of the agentic capacities of his material body; as visceral responses that are barely conscious at all. I try to grasp and understand their meaning in the following section with the help of Ahmed's theorization of bodily encounters and emotions.

6.2.4 Refusing to relate as an immediate strategy for refusing the subject position

It is fruitful to think of Manasse's behaviour among his band members as a bodily encounter in Ahmed's (2000, 7) sense, as a face-to-face meeting. Such an encounter requires that subjects get close enough to see and touch each other: there is a movement in both time and space. In bodily encounters, Ahmed (2004, 31–33) writes, "[e]motional responses to others involve the alignment of subjects with and against other others." She considers racism an intercorporeal encounter, in which, "[...] a white racist subject who encounters a racial other may experience an intensity of emotions (fear, hate, disgust, pain). That intensification involves moving away

from the body of the other, or moving towards that body in an act of violence, and then moving away." In this encounter, bodily space is reconstituted—by moving away from the other—and, simultaneously, social space—by hate, aligning the white body with the "we" of the white community or nation, and the black body with the "them" of black people.

Manasse did repeatedly approach the other band members, with determination and commitment; altogether, the project lasted for almost a year. Obviously, for him it was not a hate encounter. Moving towards the band members did not involve violent intentions from either side but was a respecting reaching toward. And yet, when a particular face-to-face, eye-to-eye, skin-to-skin encounter was about to happen, Manasse moved away and withdrew from contact. He actively sought my, the instructors' or his friends company, which provided him an escape route from the actual "moment of contact" (Ahmed 2004, 31) with the other band members. His response in these situations is aptly described by Ahmed's (ibid., 32) words: "The bodies that come together, that almost touch and co-mingle, slide away from each other, becoming relived in their apartness."

Emotions attach and connect people to this or that object, place, or person, Ahmed argues (ibid., 27), but they also move us. If hate was not the e-motion that made Manasse move away from the others, what was it? If one tries to read his movement backwards with the help of Ahmed's argument, one ends up in sensations of discomfort, of a painful encounter: moving away is a reaction to a sensation that is recognized as pain.

I become aware of my body as having a surface only in the event of feeling discomfort (prickly sensations, cramps), that become transformed into pain through an act of reading and recognition ("It hurts!"), which is also a judgement ("It is bad!"). This transformation effected by recognizing a sensation as painful (from "It hurts" to "It is bad" to "Move away") involves the reconstitution of bodily space. (Ahmed 2004, 29.)

I suggest that even though encountering the other band members was not a hate encounter for Manasse, it did involve feelings of pain or at least intense discomfort. In my interpretation, the clumsiness and even rudeness of his moving away, behaviour that deviates from his usual polite and smooth social interaction, speak of this pain. That he acted as if he did not even see the others was his somewhat desperate immediate strategy for avoiding the encounter altogether—in order, paradoxically, to avoid acting impolitely in the encounter that aroused feelings of discomfort in him.

But where did the feelings of discomfort and pain in these encounters spring from? Not from the encounter itself, as when Ahmed (2004, 29) stubs her toe on a table leg. Nor does it stem from the person encountered, as when someone attributes pain experienced in an encounter to the other party involved (when "it hurts", becomes "you hurt me" or "stupid table") (ibid., 30). If Manasse found the others as the cause of his pain, why would he align so strongly with them on the stage, becoming a member of the "we" of the band? His consistently respectful attitude towards them in every other aspect does not support an interpretation that he attributed his pain to the other participants as such. There is something more to it.

A moment of contact is not simply that—a moment without a before and after, a contact between just two subjects—but is shaped by longer histories of contact, Ahmed (2004, 31) argues. A particular encounter always carries traces of broader relationships, reopening past encounters. This concerns not only the subjects' personal prior encounters, but also general relations of power and antagonism that frame a particular encounter. The encounters "[...] reopen the prior histories of encounter that violate and fix others in regimes of difference [...]." (Ahmed 2000, 8; emphasis original.) Long-term histories of contact shape how people perceive each other, so that the perception of an other as the cause of one's emotional response is not simply a personal act of attributing the feeling to the other, but is tied to larger histories of power relations. These histories stick and work to fix others as "having" certain characteristics, giving them meaning and value (when "you hurt me" becomes "you are hurtful"). Ahmed refers especially to colonial and post-colonial encounters and the way these histories allow "[...] the proximity of a racial other to be perceived as threatening." (Ahmed 2004, 28; 30–31; 39.)

What is happening here, however, is a bit different. Yet Ahmed's work is useful in understanding that what is at stake is not how Manasse perceives the other members of the project as such. It is not the encounter with them which is the issue. Rather, it is the encounter of a member of this project with something else. It is how the members of this project are themselves encountered and categorized in that encounter, not how they encounter each other. As the project is targeted at vulnerable youth, and the band members are thus categorized as such, aligning with them would mean accepting the subject position of a vulnerable young person. My interpretation is that the feelings of pain and discomfort in encountering the other band members were evoked not by the other young people as such, but by Manasse's prior experience of being encountered as refugee young person and, consequently, as vulnerable. It is this encounter that he is trying to avoid, and the immediate

strategy he uses in order to do so is to refuse relating with the other band members as vulnerable, as members of a project targeted at vulnerable young people.

On stage, he does the opposite, eagerly aligning himself with these same people, but carefully situating them in a different position. It is crucial to note that in his presentation of the band, Manasse gives no hint that it is a special youth work project, aimed at youths with different vulnerabilities such as mental disabilities or refugee background. Instead, he says that it is "really hard to tell how did we get together"—which is not true at all, as he could simply mention the organization and project. In this sense, his introduction is almost misleading, since, instead of suggesting that the band members are different (which is the way he defines the project to me), he underlines that they come from different kinds of places. This is expression is interesting in its vagueness; inserting the words "kinds of"—which he searches for a while and then stresses—fades out the geographic connotations that the sentence would otherwise have, directing attention to the unique life histories of each band member. In this way, his introduction turns the band from a specialized project for vulnerable youth into a band that is one of a kind, special in its uniqueness, and, for that reason, able to make "a very interesting show." And, as extrapolated above, he speaks consistently of "our songs", "our logo", "our performance". In short, he aligns with "our band," but not with the project participants.

I argue that by avoiding relating with the other band members off stage, Manasse did not move away from them as people, but from the subject position of a vulnerable young person. I read it as a strong signal of his mundane political agency: by refusing to accept this subject position, he also refused becoming a party in an encounter with Finnish welfare state—a special kind of encounter with its representatives that categorizes him as vulnerable due to his age, refugee background and immigrant status, fixing him in a regime of difference. It is an encounter framed by a script of vulnerability and the need for care as synonymous with incapacity, weakness and passivity (Tronto 1993, 120; Vaittinen 2015, 102; 111), and by histories of colonialism and contemporary postcolonial encounters between compassionate Western subjects with the suffering, helpless refugee (Ahmed 2004, 35–36; Malkki 1996, 387–388). It is this position, reserved for Manasse in these regimes, which he refuses to accept. Instead, he aspires to carve out a position as a professional performer, on stage by both his courageous performance and by embracing the role of leader of the band, and off stage by understanding his position in the project as that of an assisting artist, as he describes in the epilogue below.

Epilogue

"This is quite brutal," Manasse says after reading my second chapter on him, the one regarding his behaviour at the gigs of the band. He looks at me from the corner of his eye, and I ask: "Do you hate me now?", jokingly, yet not only. "It is quite brutal," he repeats. "I am sure that I greeted them, you probably just didn't see it." He is right, in a sense: I did not see eveything that happened, and as I underlined earlier, I was never backstage or at rehearsals, where Manasse's interaction with the other band members was probably different. Missing both the backstage and the rehearsals is a considerable gap in my fieldwork; it would have been instructive to see if Manasse's (non-)relating with the other band members in public space was similar in more private situations, or different.

We talk for quite a while about how Manasse himself perceives the way he behaved and the reasons of it. I insist that the situations that I did see and participate in were as I have described, and that I consciously paid attention to his behaviour in this respect as I was confused about it right from the beginning. Manasse partly agrees, and ends up with the conclusion that my description is not exactly wrong but is too black-and-white due to my missing what happened backstage and in other non-public spaces. "There are also other reasons why I did not maybe socialize so much with them," he suggests. "They were different kind of people," he explains, persistently not categorizing them as disabled:

I have not had so much contact with that kind of young people, and we hadn't known each other for very long. Also, some friends of mine were supposed to join the project, but in the end, they never did, so that I felt there was no-one kind of backing me up. In a way I was alone and so I felt like I need to be extra careful in order not do anything... There is a little bit of fear maybe in it, if you have not had contact with people who are different in that way. Maybe I didn't have the balls or courage to socialize with them so much.'

This is a noteworthy aspect. It does not explain why he didn't socialize either with those members of the band that he knew to be non-disabled, such as the other singer. But, seen in this light, Manasse's deed of participating in this project gains more weight than I had previously understood. "It was an important project of people who are in some ways different, and I wanted to challenge myself and give my support to it," he says. Comprehending that it was not easy for him, that he nearly didn't have the balls to do it, suggests that it was actually a big challenge and required great effort for him. Taking on such a challenge is a significant gesture of solidarity, and Manasse's willingness to stretch his own limits in order to support the project a remarkable political act in itself. Also, his consistency in using the word different instead of disabled, thus implicitly drawing parallels between himself and the people in question—as different from the majority Finns, albeit in different ways—underlines the significance of these acts and supports my earlier interpretation that Manasse has the ability to see beyond a dichotomous understanding of vulnerability and agency. Perhaps his personal experience of being constantly seen as "different" has given him the sensibility to see different differentnesses as something much more nuanced than fixed categories.

With regard to his own position, Manasse is clear. He dismisses the idea of himself as vulnerable due to his background: "I understand that some refugee or immigrant youth can be like that... But to me it feels somehow, like, very categorized, maybe it was one part of the project, but for me it was not important." And he talks about how it doesn't really interest him how some project is "branded"—what matters is what the content is, and if he is interested in the theme, he joins—'it doesn't matter if it is officially for vulnerable youth or something like that.' A seasoned project participator speaks: "No problem, we go along and play like according to the rules, and simultaneously we achieve what often is not how it has been branded. In the end, I gain too."

For Manasse, this specific project was about promoting African culture and music and about working with different kinds of people, and these were the reasons why he joined the project and stayed until the end. "From day one this was what it was for me. I never bought that 'vulnerable young people' theme. I thought of my role as a kind of assistant leader, unofficially though, but contributing my artistic point of view for the project." He is very clear: "It was more about supporting the others with my artistic skills than being a vulnerable immigrant young person receiving support. It is not that I did not *want* to take the role of a vulnerable youth. It is that it's not what I *am*. I am not that."

6.3 Transforming the subject position: Afrax at work II

In the steering group meeting, Afrax does not take much part in the extended discussion regarding what is, and what isn't, "low threshold", how Afrax's personality matters in this regard, and the idea of "disembarking" as central in this project (these discussions are described in the previous chapter, 5.3, on Afrax at work). At the very end, when discussion turns to Afrax's work in schools, he remarks that during the breaks the young people bravely come to talk with him about all kinds of things, especially about things that do not relate directly to his peer mentoring task, noting that this is useful in lowering the threshold. But the conversation in which his extrovert personality comes under scrutiny, in which he is described as disembarking among, and descending to, the level of his peers is a discussion about and beside him, which he follows without comment. The women in the meeting are talkative and have a lot of opinions they don't hesitate to voice, which means that most of the time Afrax briefly presents plans for the future, or reports what he has done, and the women discuss.

There are, however, two moments in which this pattern breaks. The first happens quite early on in the meeting, when Afrax is asked to give a brief report of a study trip to Antwerp he had participated in. He opens his report by smiling—and Afrax's smile is not any kind of smile; it is a warm, toothy, radiant grin that makes his eyes twinkle with friendliness and humor. He even remarked to me once that, 'I have my smile', hinting that he is not completely unaware of the effect it has on people. While smiling, he starts talking about his experiences in Antwerp: "It was pretty much a new world to me, as I am small like this who knows nothing about anything." This provokes amused and benevolent

laughter among the steering group members, and seems to cause a slight change in the orientation of the people present towards Afrax. He himself continues his report, underlining how he found the immigrant youth services of Antwerp to be "on a different level," in many ways more grand and developed than in our city—though not in all respects, as comes out in his reflections which are thorough and nuanced. He dwells on the subject of different working cultures and ways of including parents in the sphere of social youth work, which he finds an important dimension lacking in Finland. All in all, Afrax concludes that he got a lot of inspiration from the visit and that it also strengthened his feeling that he wants to "do this job". Later in the course of the meeting one of the steering group members comes back to the study trip and wants to tell everybody what the head of the youth services of the city (who had also participated the study visit) had told Afrax on their way back: 'He said that Afrax could get a job in youth services of the city any time.' Someone comments: "You made an impression," but Afrax himself notes that "I have behaved well" (they had shared a room in the hotel they stayed at).

Towards the end of the meeting, Afrax takes the floor a second time. This time, his slightly more extended stretch of talk is provoked by a question regarding his ability to manage all the tasks and sectors of work included in the project. This was not actually included on the agenda of the meeting, but came up after one of the steering group members had asked if Afrax could help with a bullying problem in the vocational institution she works in, in which some immigrant background students were involved. "We would need some support from a specialist and then it struck me that maybe Afrax—but maybe you don't have time, maybe it is a bit beyond [your tasks]." Afrax answers by underlining the importance of the teacher's attitude and their immediate intervention, but the woman insists that they lack expertise: There is also a problem with language here, they speak in a language that the teacher does not understand—was it Arabic or what was it—and, then, there are also issues that concern religion—there is a lot of things that we don't, like, see.' Afrax doesn't really answer this, and she drops the subject as the discussion comes back to the fact that Afrax has a lot on his plate already, perhaps too much. At this point, one of the other steering group members asks Afrax how he stands the pressure that work in combination with his studies creates. Afrax embraces the subject and starts to reflect: "Well, even though I am fast, it has been quite speedy for my taste... It is really great that I get to dabble in this kind of thing, and I have tried to limit [working hours]... I have told my friends that not now, I am not working right now. One has to learn to say [it]." Again, a change in the orientation towards Afrax seems to take place, and this time it provokes a longer discussion in which Afrax's developing understanding of his professional role is addressed. In this context, the publicity Afrax and the project has gotten locally is also brought up, and he is asked how he feels about it. He says that he is not all that into it, he would prefer not to be on the cover of the local newspaper and also feels that some of the people who have contacted him after some of the articles have appeared have perhaps had dubious motives. Afrax's ability to reflect these issues and "keep his feet on the ground" gets credit from the steering group members. During this discussion, it also comes out that job consultation, or any other form of professional counselling, is not included in the project budget and thus, Afrax has no appointed counsellor. The woman from the youth café then offers to support Afrax by providing him with some form of consultation, and concludes the discussion: "This is very important regarding professional growth... One gets the understanding that this is my job."

I concluded the previous chapter regarding Afrax at work by arguing that the subject position he is offered as a peer mentor is both constrictive and formative with regard to his subjectivity, and that he has limited space to maneuver around the preconditions of a job on which he is economically dependent. Yet, both in the steering group meeting and in some other situations in which I was present, some of his gestures, choices of words and concepts, tone of voice, or deciding not to speak at all, hint at efforts to affect his position, often very subtly, though sometimes also less so. In this chapter, I focus on these kinds of mundane political gestures that I have found to be recurrent and consistent in the data concerning Afrax's work (in the steering group meeting and other situations), and try to show how he attempts to transform the subject position offered him into a form that is more agreeable for him. I will start by examining how Afrax seeks to align with professionals of youth work by distancing himself from the position of a peer of immigrant youth that he is expected to embrace. Next, I concentrate on Afrax's attempts to use a professional role to advocate the interests of refugee background youths. Together, these efforts constitute a curious double movement along which Afrax simultaneously denies and affirms his peerness with other immigrant youth; he does not wholly adjust to the design of the project, but adjusts it in order to work for goals he sees as worthwhile.

6.3.1 Becoming professional

Distancing from "our youth"

What is perhaps most striking in the excerpt above is how Afrax openly, and, in comparison with his generally helpful and ready orientation towards the requests and tasks proposed to him in relation to his job, quite straightforwardly turns down the call for specialist help by the woman working in the vocational institution. Instead of embracing the position of expert, offered him quite directly here, he rejects it, stressing the teacher's own expertise, which, he seems to determine, carries more weight in the bullying situation at hand. He does not embarrass the woman by pointing out that, despite his immigrant background, he is in no way more capable of solving language problems, if the languages in question are not Somali or Finnish, or that he might not be more capable, in general, of "seeing" things that relate to religion (here presumably Islam), than the Finnish professionals who work in the field of education. He simply does not express any interest in getting involved, and simultaneously underlines the significance of the teacher's attitude and intervention:

"It is very important: whether they remain quiet or interfere." I consider this rejection of the position of specialist quite remarkable because, as Keskinen (2012, 303) also notes, turning one's "immigrant-ness" into expertise regarding different cultures is one of the few resources available for a person with a background like the one Afrax has.

Not making strategic use of being an expert by experience recurs with respect to the media attention that Afrax has got due to this peer mentoring job. A couple of articles were published in quite small local newspapers, but one article appeared in a major local newspaper with national distribution and a large circulation, publishing both print and electronic editions. These articles worked to spread information about the project, both so that it would be better known among professionals working with immigrant youth and by the young people themselves. In them, Afrax was presented very much in line with the project materials—as a young person who has personal experience of immigration to Finland, and who is easy to approach and "sympathetic". His function as a role model was mentioned several times too, and he was described as being "busy" and "energetic", immersed in both his studies and his work, and as encouraging other immigrant youth to do the same: "In no case should one stay at home just sitting around," he was quoted as saying.³⁸ If Afrax wanted to profile himself as a specialist in immigration and integration, he certainly had a brilliant chance to do so. But, as he highlighted at the steering group meeting, as well as in our private conversations, he felt uncomfortable with this part of his job: 'I would prefer not to speak publicly at all,' he underlined. Media attention, of course, has its problematic aspects as well, such as becoming a target for harassment from certain racist groups. Indeed, Afrax and his peer mentoring job did attract attention on one Finnish internet forum run by such groups. But, on the other hand, Afrax has not hesitated to use public attention to stand up against and speak out about racism. Indeed, he has done so several times immediately after the time he worked as a peer mentor, speaking both from his professional role as a youth worker and from his personal standpoint, again in forums that reach large audiences (giving, for example, an interview to the same major local newspaper, and giving a speech at a large demonstration against racism). I am thus inclined to conclude that Afrax is willing to use media attention—despite his ambivalent feelings towards it—to promote issues that he finds worthwhile, such as fighting racism and xenophobia, but not in order to consolidate his position in the Finnish job market by making strategic use of his background and profiling himself as an expert in integration work.

_

³⁸ Again, I have omitted references in order to protect Afrax's anonymity.

Sometimes, the way Afrax acts and speaks makes one feel that his orientation is actually the opposite: instead of using his background as a source of justification for his expertise, he seems to distance himself from his background and supposed peers:

Afrax has agreed to visit the local job centre to meet one of the officials from the team that works with immigrant youth. I accompany him, and we are both invited to the small booth in which the official works with her clients. She (another middle-aged, middle-class, white ethnic Finn, I cannot help noticing) sits at her desk, and we are asked to sit in front of her, in the same way her clients normally would. Before starting the actual discussion, Afrax excuses himself and goes to the lavatory. He is away for quite a while, and I have trouble keeping up small talk with the official and not starting to feel awkward. Finally, Afrax comes back, apologizing and explaining that it took such a long time because he had met one of "our youth" and had stayed in order to "advise him"—there was a recruitment event happening at the job centre, and the young person apparently needed some encouragement to present himself to possible employers. Later, Afrax confesses to me that it was actually his friend—who was also, however, a regular visitor of the youth space in which Afrax now worked.

This was only one of the many times I heard Afrax use the expression "our youth". This is not surprising as such, as, in the NGO unit in question, a strong reluctance prevailed against using expressions that would hint at treating the youth as clients, and the regulars were consistently called "our youth". This expression was used exclusively by the staff—the young people used other concepts to refer to youths who were regularly seen on the premises of the unit (like "bro" [in English], or simply as someone who "frequents the club"). Afrax was astonishingly fast in altering his vocabulary so as to become one of the people who talk about "our youth" instead of being one of the young people referred to by this expression—it happened in only a matter of weeks, so fast that, in the beginning, I couldn't help feeling a bit amused when he did so; as if he were not himself one of "our youth" anymore, I chuckled to myself. If my amusement was understandable, it was also quite pejorative. I now see Afrax's rapid change of vocabulary and orientation towards his former "bros" as an essential part of his immediate strategy to distance himself from them, to not use "peerness" as a source of professional qualification, and to accommodate a professional youth worker's habitus by adopting their vocabulary and ways of relating with the youth instead.

The official in the job centre is friendly, and willing to support Afrax in gaining knowledge about the services available to immigrant youth. First, she goes through the basics of what to do in case one ends up unemployed, and then starts to expound upon online services, different options available for unemployed youth to gain education, subsidies that employers can get if they hire an unemployed person, support services for vocational selection, personal coaching for working life,

integration benefits immigrant youth are entitled to and how to apply them, and so on. I have trouble keeping up, even though I should already be familiar with most of the stuff. Afrax makes notes intently, every now and then asking the official for clarification. His questions regard the services available, not the terms the official uses or other such obscurities. Afrax shows no sign that he might have trouble taking everything in, and he does not ask for explanation of any of the concepts the official uses, not even ones that are not necessarily readily understandable for native Finnish-speakers (such as "job watch" [paikkavahti], a tool that one can use to have suitable job announcements sent straight to one's email from the online search engine for vacancies).

At the end of the meeting, Afrax remarks: "Well, that was a proper package, I hope I could absorb at least some of it!" The official then says that she doesn't expect Afrax to memorize everything and to do the job that is actually hers, but that her objective is to give him an overall idea of the possibilities offered by the job centre and to ensure he knows who to ask. She then gives him her direct number and encourages him to keep in touch. We leave the office, both somewhat overwhelmed with the mass of information. I ask Afrax if he understood all the words and could keep up with the presentation, and he admits that he did not understand some of the concepts used by the official, but as she proceeded so fast he did not want to ask their meaning but instead tried to concentrate on finding out answers to the questions he himself saw as most relevant.

Not revealing that one doesn't understand something is, of course, a common strategy when one feels the necessity to build credibility in a new environment. It's probably a familiar strategy to most of us. However, there is a difference here as Afrax was *not* actually supposed to show competence as a youth worker *but* as a peer of immigrant youth. As he himself remarked, when we figured that maybe the official didn't provide explanations herself because she assumed Afrax to be familiar with them already: "I am exactly the person to whom everything should be explained, so that I can then explain it to others." This is the attitude of a peer mentor—and, yet, this was not the attitude he adopted when surrounded by colleagues. Rather, he tended to behave as in the session at the job centre: he generally chose not to reveal his language problems, and adopted concepts and language with an echo of professional social work quickly. For example, in the steering group meeting he spoke about the "need to anticipate" growth in immigration and "heed the templates" developed in other countries such as Belgium, where the immigrant background population is much larger than in Finland. These expressions struck me at times as almost exaggeratedly typical samples of the discourse of social sector professionals—Afrax's reflection, for example, on how working with whole families was much more advanced in Antwerp, ended in the often heard (even, indeed, in the

course of the actual steering group meeting itself) concern with "outreach": "It is a bit of a problem for us that we do not reach the parents so well."

It is also notable in the sentence above that Afrax situates himself alongside the social workers who have the problem of reaching the parents without hesitation, instead of aligning himself with the immigrant youth whose families are ignored by youth work. I find this move quite interesting, and it is also one of the gestures that Afrax kept repeating. It parallels the shift of position indicated by Afrax's use of the expression "our youth": an attempt not to align with the immigrant youth—despite being their appointed and hired peer mentor—and to distance himself from that group instead in order to align with the professional social and youth workers. I understand his consistency in downplaying his background and experiences as an immigrant, instead of making strategic use of them, in this light too: as yet another immediate strategy he deploys to distance himself from "immigrant-ness" in order to be able to verge on general professionalism. Nowhere in my data does he draw upon his immigrant-ness as a source of professional qualification or as a resource that would make him a specialist on any issue himself. Instead, he positions himself firmly as a budding professional in youth work, as someone who is unexperienced and green professionally, but eager to develop and learn; in the steering group meeting, for example, he outspokenly describes himself as "small like this who knows nothing about anything", yet deeply motivated professionally, as someone who "wants to do this job." I find the two moments in the meeting in which Afrax takes the floor and speaks for an extended period as indicative of what he finds as agreeable aspects of the position offered him, and which he not only embraces, but also tries to stress and develop further. In both instances—when reporting back from the study trip to Antwerp, and when reflecting on the pressures of work and studies—what he dwells on first is what he has learned, or still has to learn personally, as a budding professional, and, second, what should or could be learned and developed generally, at the level of immigrant services or the kind of project at hand.

Meaning of the smile

At least to a certain extent, I consider Afrax's strategy effective. At the steering group meeting itself, it worked to introduce a new topic into the discussion and to affect the orientation of the members of the steering group towards him. Both times he took the floor the discussion was reoriented, and Afrax's professional development and also successes—like making an impression on the head of the city youth services, or keeping his feet on the ground despite publicity—were brought up and given

attention. The orientation of the members of the steering group during these reflections was encouraging and warm; some offered him practical help, others advice and support. The way Afrax was both advised on issues regarding his work and studies and rewarded for his good work created an air of supervision, or of tutoring a student of their field: the already qualified and experienced professionals eagerly shared their expertise and gave feedback to Afrax, who was now no longer treated as a specialist in issues regarding immigrant youth—the only one in the room—but as a young person who is about to become a colleague.

This didn't happen of its own accord, however. I would like to suggest that it was not only what Afrax started to reflect on, but also how he did so that made his strategy successful in the meeting. His smile most certainly played a role here. While the smile has turned out to be an all but unequivocal facial expression when it comes to its function and meaning (e.g. Birdwhistell 1970, 32; Rychlowska et al. 2015, E2429), it is commonly understood to be a social behaviour (rather than a simple outward expression of feelings of happiness), and, as such, one of the most important affiliative signals, though used and judged differently in different contexts and cultures (e.g. Krys et al. 2014, 315; Martin et al. 2017, 872; Mehu & Dunbar 2008; 1747-1748; Park et al. 2018, 103). As a socially potent tool, smiling grabs the attention of others and affects their inferences about the person expressing the smile. In cognitive sciences, smiles are often categorized in three types: "[...] reward smiles that reinforce desired behavior; affiliation smiles that form and maintain social bonds; and dominance smiles that manage social hierarchies." (Martin et al. 2017, 864.) As social behaviour, smiling has also been an object of research in the social sciences. Hochschild (2012 [1983]) shows that smiling is also used as a tool in emotional labour—in tuning one's emotional displays to create a particular emotional state in others—and is even required in the emotional labour of the service sector, as in the case of the flight attendants whose work she studied. Or, "smiling work" might be required as part of "institutional passing" as Ahmed (2017) puts it: in institutions of whiteness, persons of colour might need to work in order "[...] to pass into an organisation by passing out of (or trying to pass out of) a stereotype. Passing is about 'softening' your appearance [...]. You have to demonstrate that you are willing to ease the burden of your own difference."

I believe Afrax's smile can be approached from both perspectives: as a "genuine" affiliative signal and as smiling work. The social function of a smile of affiliation is to invite and maintain social bonds, and to signal the potential for mutual positivity and openness to (re-)establishing beneficial bonds (Martin et al. 2017, 867). Although cultural variation exists regarding appropriate contexts of smiling and the way smiles

are perceived, generally speaking smiling individuals are perceived as more attractive, kind, honest, competent and likable than non-smiling individuals. They also elicit more cooperative behaviour and affiliative signals from others. (Krys et al. 2014, 315.) I do believe that Afrax's wide smile was, at least partly, a signal of, and invitation to, warmth/communion (ibid., 315), and as such it fulfilled its function: it seemed to affect at least some of the steering group members in a way that prompted them to respond with expressions of warmth and interest towards Afrax and the topics he brought to the discussion along with his smile.

However, his smile was perhaps also oriented towards managing social hierarchies, and as such might be interpreted as a "dominance smile" that, according to Martin et al. (2017, 868), communicates "[...] an intention to instantiate, destabilize, or maintain asymmetric hierarchical relations between displayer and receiver [...]." They seem to consider dominance smiles essentially a tool for asserting dominance over other/s. Yet, if one takes into account Ahmed's proposal of smiling as a way of softening one's appearance in order to pass into an organization, smiling as a way of managing social hierarchies might also mean the opposite. Taken together, Afrax's smile and the accompanying utterance—"as I am small like this who knows nothing about anything"-seem to signal a certain kind of humbleness, and speak to his willingness to position himself low in the professional hierarchy, as young and unexperienced among seasoned specialists. This willingness is intelligible especially if one understands it as a way of passing out of a stereotype (Ahmed 2017)—in this case, the stereotype of being a representative of imaginary immigrants. I read Afrax's smile as at the same time inviting the others to establish a warm social bond with him and signaling his endeavor to pass into the white institution of social work by proposing a low hierarchical position for himself in its professional ladder.

Such acts of humility recur a few times during the steering group meeting. The way Afrax talks about himself consistently presents himself not only as unexperienced, yet eager to learn, but also as grateful for the opportunity he has been offered as an employee of this project. When asked about the pressures he experiences, he speaks of how "great" it is to get to "dabble in" [pääsee touhaamaan] this kind of project, an expression that simultaneously asserts the wonderfulness of the project and the none too elaborate level of his own work in it. Even when the praise from the head of the city youth services is brought up, Afrax modestly brushes it aside by saying "I have behaved well." In this way he was carrying out "smiling work" throughout the meeting in the sense Ahmed (2017) proposes: turning one's body into smile, being constantly "[...] careful of what you say, how you appear, in order to maximize the distance between yourself and their idea of you." That this

was so was brought home to me after the meeting, when the others had left and I was left alone with Afrax and one of his younger colleagues. In the next section, I will start by describing what happened: how he slipped out of the professional role, so carefully constructed, and how that happened on other occasions, albeit few, as well. By examining these instances, I seek to understand the dimensions of Afrax's efforts to transform the subject position offered to him in the project better.

6.3.2 Becoming an advocat

Slips of the tongue, stumbling in praxis

After the meeting I stay behind, and, when I see Afrax talking with his colleague at the back room, I go and join them. First, we talk a little about the study trip to Antwerp, and then Afrax asks me how I found the steering group meeting. I answer that it was interesting and that I think the discussion was better than it often is in situations like this. Afrax and his colleague utter something affirmative, yet I get the feeling that it is somehow half-hearted. Suddenly Afrax's colleague snaps: "Afrax is under such a pressure here! We all are!" I ask whether this is true, and, after they confirm emphatically, we start to ponder why come it is like this here as well as so many other places—why everyone seems to be so extremely busy and exhausted by their workloads.

To do something to counter this culture of living for work, we decide to go out for some pre-Christmas mulled wine. This turns out to be a bit difficult as our calendars are all chockablock. Compared to the other two, though, mine looks kind of empty, but I add that it is subject to constant change, as much of my job at the moment involves meeting young people and, with them, the situation keeps on fluctuating. As a reaction to this explanation, Afrax snorts in a sarcastic tone: "Yeah, young people are like that..." I object, trying to reformulate what I said to match what I meant: "Actually, I am somewhat annoyed by constant talk about young people not committing to things, they do commit to things they find important." Now Afrax's tone changes and he exclaims: "Yes, that's true! I agree, if things truly take their origin from the youths themselves [jos asiat lähtee oikeasti nuorista itsestään], they do commit." I proclaim my unanimity, asking who would commit to things that are not truly important to them.

In the end, the three of us did manage to agree a time for going out and enjoying our free time together. But that's another story. At this point, there are two noteworthy moments in this dialogue: Afrax's sarcastic snort, and our discussion of the assumed lack (or not) of "commitment" [sitoutuminen] exhibited by young people. To begin with the latter: this was not an uncommon topic among youth workers during my years in the sector and while I was doing fieldwork. I remember (lack of)

commitment as a kind of keyword that always rose up in situations where any larger project or event that would involve the participation of youths was planned. I have only worked in the sphere of multicultural youth work, and thus cannot tell whether this same discourse has been prevalent in other sectors of youth work. What I can say, is that in the multicultural youth work sector, lack of commitment was taken almost as a natural fact. Yet, as participation started to gain weight as a buzzword during those years, participatory projects could not be brushed aside, and some youth workers did not wish to do so, either. They were genuinely willing to work in a participatory fashion, but were constantly troubled by the lack of sustained interest from the youth, which they interpreted as a lack of commitment. These dynamics came out several times in the family group home during my fieldwork with AK as well. There was, for example, the famous film weekend camp in a cabin that the staff took so much trouble to organize, but which only two young persons turned up at.

We participate in the monthly house meeting in which the staff and the youth are supposed to talk about common issues and plan the coming weeks. The atmosphere is somehow bleak, the staff seem tired and frustrated and the youth are either restless or quiet and withdrawn. The Christmas holidays is one of the points on the agenda, and the youth are asked if they have ideas of what they would like to do during the holidays—which is, as I later learn with AK, a difficult period for those youths who do not have anywhere to go: there is neither school, nor hobbies or pretty much anything else to do, the house is quiet, there is less staff around, and loneliness seems to condense during the dark stasis of the religious holiday.

Jokingly (but not in an altogether happy tone) the youth make suggestions they know are impossible to realize. Someone suggests that they would travel to Africa to enjoy the sun, someone else talks about a trip to Italy. Then, one of the older ones asks for permission to speak and emphatically pleads that they might go "away from this city" for a week or two. The director of the home looks at them over their reading glasses, turns the corners of their mouth downward and answers that, were something like that to be organized, "one should commit to it." The other educators support them, telling the youth how difficult it is to organize things, if the youth do not participate in them in the end. The discussion ends without a clear answer to the young person's request.

After the meeting, we stay behind to talk with the staff members. They are disappointed by how few of the young people took part in the meeting. It is so difficult to know where one stands with these young people, what they are prepared to commit to,' comments one of the social educators. Just before the meeting, the staff had discovered that today is a special day for Shia Muslims, and so several of the young people wanted to go to the mosque instead of the meeting. The social educator brings up the weekend camp in the cabin they had recently organized. On that occasion, they had realized too late that both Muslims and Christians had an important religious celebration that weekend, due to which most didn't participate. Its importance came somehow as a surprise to us,' the social educator tells us. The

director of the house then comments that it is impossible to know if the youth will commit to our research, either, as it is so difficult to predict their behaviour.

Interestingly, in the situation above the staff members' interpretation turns the youth's commitment to religious practice and community into a lack of commitment to the activities of the family group home. This, in turn, leads to questioning the young person's plea for organizing a holiday trip out of town—it is met with suspicious looks and comments, and left hanging in midair. As an outsider, it is not difficult to see how this, again, might contribute to a lack of interest on the youth's part for participating in house meetings; situations that are supposedly meant (also) for hearing about their thoughts, feelings, ideas and wishes, but that sometimes tend to turn into moments of controlling and disciplining them.

This brings out two issues that I have found to crop up recurrently in the discourse of the lack of commitment shown by the youths: first, when they do not show up at all, or cancel at the last moment, their reasons for doing so are rarely taken seriously. In the excerpt above, the staff members' ignorance of the religious celebrations is quite striking: as a vast majority of the youth residing in the house are either devoted Muslims or Christians, one would expect that they would take them into account automatically. However, in other situations where the youth's commitment is questioned, the reasons for their absence might be less obvious but just as pressing. These young people often struggle to keep up at school and spend considerably more time and energy doing so, and taking care of everyday bureaucracy, than native Finns. Working closely with my participants taught me that many (though not all—some also have the problem of not having anything to do or anyone to meet) have serious difficulties in keeping their schedules somehow tolerable and also having enough time to sleep and take care of basic things like shopping, cooking and cleaning.

Second, when the youth do show up, it is not uncommon that part and parcel of the "participatory" project turns out to be disciplining. A telling example was given me by a youth worker who had been coordinating a Youth in Action exchange project in the organization in which Afrax was working. "There was bit of a problem with commitment," they noted to me afterwards, "I was finally nicknamed 'police'." As an ex-youth worker, I know how time and energy consuming it is to organize a project with a group of young people in a truly participatory fashion. It is so much easier to take a few shortcuts and invite them into an at least partly pre-designed project and make many of the decisions and preparations oneself. But when one works in this way, the project does not well from the interests of the youths themselves, and its design does not take those other things they either want or/and

have to organize time for into account. The youth worker's role, then, easily turns into one in which they have to pressure the youth into participating, and whose behaviour betrays their disappointment at the youths' "commitment" levels.

It was this discourse and practice, I believe, that made Afrax snort at my utterance, which he interpreted as hinting at a lack of commitment to agreed meeting times on the part of young people. His quick change of tone after my explanation and enthusiastic affirmation that "[...] if things truly take their origin from youth themselves, they do commit' backs this interpretation up, hinting that I had hit the mark. But what do Afrax's initial reactions, the snort and sarcastic tone, tell us? If one takes his eagerness to embrace professional discourse and jargon, described in detail in the previous section, into account, this slip of the tongue seems remarkable. He is not only dismissing a chance that I, half-accidentally, offer him to practice his new youth worker's habitus, but he explicitly takes a counter stance to this professional discourse. And the way he does so is a case in point: no hint of professional reflection or refined exclamations this time! Just a sarcastic, almost angry utterance "Yeah, young people are like that..." True, this was a moment after the meeting, and Afrax was in quite safe company: there was only me and his closest colleague, who he knew to be firmly on his side. But this didn't tend to happen in other similar situations—the position of a professional Afrax was working to reach was not merely some garb he would assume only in official work environments and put aside in other situations. That is exactly why this slip attracts my attention: it is a rare moment in my data.

I read it as a hint of him actually experiencing feelings of "peerness" with other young people. These peers are not, perhaps, the ones he is supposed to represent in the scope of the project—the imaginary immigrant youth. More likely they are those young people with whom he has developed more or less close-knit relationships while growing up in his Finnish home city, which in practice means that the majority of them are also regulars of this youth work unit, of which he himself used to be a client, and where he now works—and to whom he now most often refers as "our youth". As I have argued, calling his peers by that professional moniker is a strategy he deploys to verge on the subject position of a professional youth worker. However, his snort and sarcasm speak of aligning with the youth, not with professional youth workers, at least on this particular occasion. It was as if he had been personally offended, and his emotional response becomes understandable in this light. At that moment, he behaved as a young person who is being told young people generally do not commit. That this feeling of peerness, of being *also* one of those young people towards whom he was acting from a professional position, was not exceptional, but

recurrent, becomes more evident if one follows Afrax actually working with the vouth.

I have come to an opening of an exhibition about racialized minorities living in Finland, and am not surprised to stumble upon Afrax with a group of youths: they are doing an excursion together from the youth work unit. There are some "older" young people I know already, but also "new" youths that I haven't met, especially one whose Finnish is not fluent and who seems to be a newcomer both to the country and to a lot of the young people. Afrax has his arm wrapped around this boy's shoulders, a gesture that has simultaneously a masculine and protective twist. Together, they follow the opening rituals from a distance, and Afrax interprets parts of the speeches to this boy, who is also of Somali origin. A bit later, when there is a break in the official program, I go over to say hi to him and we exchange basic greetings. Afrax then asks me if I know his companion, and, when I say that I don't, Afrax explains that he is [another young person's] brother, to which I exclaim that I thought he has some features of the family. This short exchange makes the boy laugh, and together the three of us go to explore the exhibition. Some old books capture their interest, the boy laughs and repeats several times the name of Joseph Wandera Owindi's book from the seventies, called "Look, Look, a Negro." The two young men discuss this and other books on display together, among them children's books in Somali.

Later, the group gathers in the room where the tables are set for the reception. The sambusas on offer do not pass the test of this expert crowd, and their refusal turns into a source of lots of joking and fun. Then, the banter takes a more serious turn: I get immersed in a discussion regarding the Finns Party, whose election campaign tent one of the young persons had visited. Next to me, Afrax is talking to the "new" young person in Somali, but suddenly turns to me and the colleague standing next to me, exclaiming abruptly: "that [boy] tells me all the time he is not African!" His colleague asks what does he say then, does he think he is Arab instead of African, to which the boy himself answers in Finnish, looking us both in the eyes: "Yes I am, I am African." But this does not convince Afrax, who, in an irritated tone, tells us that the boy keeps on repeating that he is not African.

Above, Afrax is doing his job; supporting his peer, this time in quite a special, though not completely extraordinary situation. For his job involves not only formal mentoring sessions, but also spending time with the youths and providing them mentoring alongside, by offering information and emotional support when needed, and by being a role model for younger and "newer" youths to learn how to live in Finnish society. And I have to admire the eloquent way he gives special attention to the new boy in the group: how he literally takes care of him by almost constantly having an arm around his shoulder, in a manner that is brotherly and masculine enough not to make him feel embarrassed; how he introduces him to me in a way that makes us both feel that we actually almost already know each other and can

immediately laugh and relax in each other's company; and how he discreetly interprets those things that the boy seems not to understand, while simultaneously encouraging him to speak Finnish. But then, a slip of the tongue, a stumble in professional practice occurs: irritated by the young man's opinion that, as a Somali, he is more an Arab than an African, Afrax turns to me and his colleague, the people present that most of the youths in this group consider to have some kind of authority. I am not saying that one can't have serious discussions and disagreements with the young people one works with, but whether one lets one's emotions rise like this and therefore behave inappropriately during these discussions is another issue. For Afrax, questioning the belonging of Somali people to Africa is a sore point, which I know from our discussions in other situations (I will come back to this issue in chapter 7.3). When faced with this issue, he turns to us, almost as if he were a little boy squealing to adults about some mischief his mate has got up to. He does this in spite of the fact that the boy he squeals about is now one of his youth, one of those young people whose professional youth worker he aspires to be. I am left with an impression that the situation got quite awkward for the "new" boy, who found it necessary to convince me and Afrax's colleague in Finnish that he didn't actually mean what he had said. It was a brief moment, but, as such, one in which I felt Afrax wavering between his role as a budding professional and his feelings of peerness with other youth. Let me turn to another, slightly different, instance, in which his role again seems ambiguous.

Afrax has invited older regulars of the youth club to prepare a hundred sambusas for a group of asylum seekers who are visiting the city from a reception centre located in the countryside some eighty kilometers away. The visit they are making is part of an art project, whose partial purpose is to provide the asylum seekers legal counsel on their cases, which they have a hard time getting in their remote dwelling place. The organization Afrax works for has agreed to cooperate with this project, and helping with the preparations is integrated as a part of their "active citizenship" program. I have promised to come and help with the cooking, but arrive a bit late.

On entering the premises of the organization, the first thing I hear is some nicely grooving music, and then see a young man, wearing a brown apron decorated with white flowers—but covering his back instead of front. He comes singing from a room to the left (where the stereos are) and slowly dances towards the kitchen on the right. In the middle of the passage he notices me, exclaims in a surprised tone "Oh, hi Elina!" and comes to shake hands with me. We enter the kitchen and I find that there is a great amount of bustle: some young people, including Afrax, are feverishly preparing the fillings for the sambusas with the aid of some volunteers from the organization. Some are more pretending to be involved than actually doing anything: one of them, for example, is asked to cut some garlic, a task they willingly agree to do, but manage to spend ages doing it, as every now and then they go to the corridor

to dance for a while, knife in hand. Another complains about their hunger and makes an amazing palaver about frying an egg for himself and finding the perfect spices to garnish it.

Luckily, some of us are a bit more into the task at hand, and slowly we begin to make progress. While working, an intense discussion regarding marriage and arranged marriage keeps us occupied. A female volunteer from the organization, who has Indian roots, tells us the story of her arranged marriage—a happy one—and the young people contemplate the good and bad sides of this practice, and their own wishes for the future. At some point, we share a meal made of the left-over filling, and while eating I realize how loud the banter and singing had been that had filled the kitchen to this point; for a while, we are all quiet as we munch the delicious meal. After eating we continue the work. It is getting late, and Afrax's tone with the youths gets stricter: now, instead of asking them kindly to help he starts to giving quite harsh commands. Up to a point it seems to work; finally, even the loudest but least helpful of the young people take up some task and help washing the dishes and cleaning up. When we start to get ready, Afrax is careful to give the youth plenty of hearty thanks.

At this point, the young people start to beg Afrax, who has a car, for a ride home. At first, he is very determined, telling them that he is not their taxi driver, to which the youths respond by underlining how kind they have been, coming to help out like this, spending several hours preparing food, arguing that it would only be fair if he helped them in turn. Afrax stays strict, however, and, finally, most give up and start making their way towards a nearby bus stop. One of the youths stays behind to try their luck one more time, but Afrax tells them that it would be unfair to give them a lift as the others are getting public transport. That, however, turns out to be a mistake: the youth runs to the bus stop to fetch the others, and Afrax ends up giving them all a lift home.

Here, Afrax seems to waver in the way he relates to the youths again. This time, his wavering is related to being simultaneously their youth worker and their friend—while in the first excerpt, the ambiguity involved his relation to other youth workers and other youths, his assumed generic peers, now it is clearly about his relationship with these particular young people. Many of the young people present on this occasion are actually his friends: those long-term, regular visitors to this organization, whom he has grown up with, developing brotherly bonds. Most of the evening Afrax maintains his professional position, giving out tasks, monitoring and motivating the youths to do the work, and helping those who have difficulties finding something to do. Towards the end of the session, this becomes even more clear, as his patience with some of the youths' mucking about ends, and he adopts a more authoritative stance to them. At the very end, he stumbles nevertheless: despite his efforts to stay strictly within his professional role, he finally gives up and surrenders. The other young people are quite clever in taking advantage of the ambiguity they perhaps sense in him, and justify their pleas for a ride home by alluding to the obligations of reciprocity between friends; since we helped you out, it would only be

fair to help us a bit in return. Here, it is perhaps worth mentioning that the young person who stayed longest to try to persuade Afrax was one of his best friends. It turned out to be impossible for a friend to say no to a bro, yet equally impossible for a youth worker to treat the others in an unequal manner—which led to Afrax being a "taxi driver" for all of them.

Afrax was aware of the ambiguities of his role himself. Partly, he seemed to be at ease with this: in the steering group meeting, for example, he reflected on how he has learned to say no to requests for help when spending free time with his friends, asking them to return to the issue during office hours instead. In some other respects, however, he felt uncomfortable with the situation, to the extent of not being willing to speak much about it. He made brief remarks to me on how some of the old regulars of the unit do not respect his authority as a staff member, perhaps finding one of their peers elevated to a higher position than themselves in the unit in this way unfair. Also, Afrax expressed some self-criticism regarding his behaviour in certain situations, in particular in sports activities, in which he was apparently sometimes driven by his emotional reactions to behave in ways inappropriate for a youth worker. This is reflected in some of the feedback material collected from the youths regarding the peer mentoring project: in them, Afrax is mostly described as helpful, warm and easy to approach ("a big heart, there is always space for everybody", and he "takes us seriously, helps us more and offers the help himself [so that one does not need to ask for the help]"), but there are also some critical remarks about him using too harsh language ("peer mentors should not say 'shut up when I am speaking"), being impolite or too quick to anger in some situations, or in other ways breaking the code expected of staff members by the youths; of behaving in a way the young people themselves are expected, or, at least, allowed to behave, but not the workers, who should always stick to their professional role.

My understanding of Afrax's slips of the tongue and wavering between professional and non-professional praxis with regard to the youths comes from perceiving his efforts to be seen as a professional youth worker when among other professionals as strategic moves. They are strategic in the sense elaborated on in the previous section: attempts to distance himself from "immigrant youth" in order to verge on the position of a professional youth worker instead of the position of an ascribed representative as a peer mentor. Realizing that this distancing from the other youths, and aligning with professionals—turning the other youths from bro's, or regulars, to "our youth"—is, to some extent, superficial, shows this strategy in a distinct light. That he actually does identify, at least to an extent, with the other young people gives an interesting twist to his action in the professional environment. Why

this extra effort? Why does he go to the trouble of not to making strategic use of his background and distancing himself from his ascribed "peers", if, in fact, he actually does relate to (some of) them?

Ascending rather than descending

There might be several reasons for this: one angle of looking at Afrax's way of balancing between different positions could be interpreting it as typical of the growing pains of a young professional. Certain instances in my data, however, make me believe that there is more to it than that. Some of Afrax's expressions and gestures suggest an interpretation that he had his own agenda that did not exactly fit with the project design, but that he was trying to implement as best he could while doing his job. There is, for example, his understanding about the rationale of visiting the job centre.

We have had lunch together before going to the job centre. After that, while we are walking towards the office, Afrax starts to explain why he is making the visit: "It is somewhat difficult for many to transact with the job centre," Afrax says, "so I try to find paths for them." He then goes on to talk about the endless forms that the Finnish welfare bureaucracy compels one to fill in. These forms, even [native] Finns cannot fill them in,' he comments, underlining how impossible they are for young people with less fluent Finnish skills.

Here, Afrax actually seems to be on his way to doing the opposite of what was expected of him: instead of descending among the difficult-to-reach youth, he describes himself as ascending among the difficult-to-transact-with state officials, hidden behind online service systems, forms that are impossible to fill in, and jammed phone services. In Afrax's description, the problem is not that the young people are unaware of their need for support services, and would not try to look for them quite actively, but that it is too difficult to find a path for them—as came out in the epilogue of the previous chapter on Afrax (chapter 5.3), this might also be due to the simple fact of not being able to afford a bus ticket. So, what he does instead is to disembark among the state bureaucrats: he walks into the office, spends time finding someone who is interested enough in the situation of immigrant youth, organizes services for the young people who need them, and also tries to accompany the youths (and provide them with bus tickets) when they have their appointments. During our visit, all the questions Afrax made to the official were about checking what services were available and what could be organized upon request. Afrax asked:

"How can one transact with the office if one does not have online banking?" The official responds by explaining how jammed the services are due to lack of resources in comparison to demand, hence how difficult getting personal advice is. She advises trying phone services, and assures us that there are some resources available via the integration services provided by the office for personal counseling too.

"How about those who are seventeen, but have not finished comprehensive school, can they continue, for example, through seventh grade [with economic benefits targeted at unemployed adults who are willing to study to gain a profession]?" The answer is yes: in the case of immigrants in integration programs, the age limit regarding this benefit is lower, and they are entitled to study with it.

"Can we come, for example, with a group for some CV workshop?" The answer is yes, this can be organized.

"I once tried that out [online program for choice of vocation], it was quite complicated, so is it possible to book an appointment with a career advisor by phone?" Again, the official promises that some way of getting personal support in choosing one's vocation can be sorted out.

"Is this [applying for integration benefit], then, taken care of for all immigrant youths who are in upper secondary school?" Turns out that it isn't, due to lack of resources, but the official claims that the social welfare office is aware of this and can provide advice if needed.

"I have, already today, one [young person] coming over who has graduated and needs an internship or something, so where could we make contact directly [in order to get support in finding a suitable place]?"

Two of these questions were about ensuring which economic benefits were available for youths with immigrant backgrounds and about checking if their admission is taken care of, or whether someone (read: Afrax) should be aware about it and be able to provide advice on how to apply for them. The remaining questions are about creating contact with officials. The first question is telling: as identification in Finnish official online services is most often done via the online banking system, the path to these services is blocked right from the outset in the case of many refugees who are not (yet) Finnish citizens.⁴⁰ The answer he got was none too reassuring: lack of

³⁹ In Finland, schooling is compulsory for children aged sixteen or below; up to that age, it is also free for them

⁴⁰ In cases in which they carry passports containing a remark to the effect that it, "has not been possible to confirm the owner's identity" (as is very often the case, if the person has either never had a passport in their home country—as is true of almost all of the Somalis and many Afghans, too—or has been lost or gotten rid of it during their flight), banks were not entitled, before the year 2017, to give them access to online services at all. The massive problems this caused for immigrants in this situation were slowly acknowledged at the beginning of 2010s, and change was made to the law regarding banking services. From 2017 on, banks were obliged to open bank accounts (even this had been problematic in some

resources, an overwhelmed system—but keep on trying via the jammed phone services!

Unable to solve this fundamental problem, Afrax then moves on to try to organize face-to-face services for "our youth". In a matter-of-fact way, he points out the discriminatory nature of online services—be that the fact that they are not available for everyone, or that they are "quite complicated" for people without mastery of Finnish—and then asks the official whether some personal service might be provided instead. Here, Afrax was carrying out smiling work again: when pointing out the problematic issues, his tone and expressions are emphatic in their nonaggressiveness; he almost hides these remarks in subordinate clauses, and does not even hint that he would consider the official in question in any way responsible for the discriminating practices of the organization she works for. Instead, he offers her a dignified way out by asking for alternative solutions. And he manages to milk several promises from the empathetic official, of providing personal advice to the youths Afrax works with, from writing CVs, to choice of vocation, to organizing internships. After all this, Afrax again makes a gesture that underlines his humble attitude: by exclaiming, "well, that was a proper package, I hope I could absorb at least some of it!" he shows that he acknowledges the expertise of the official, and positions himself modestly as someone with remarkably less knowledge. She responds by pointing out that it is sufficient that he knows who to ask-and gives him her direct phone number. With her promises and phone number in his back pocket, Afrax left the office quite satisfied: 'That was useful indeed,' he summarized as we walked away.

Professional status as a tool in advocacy

Useful indeed, at least for the young people who Afrax managed in this way to get into the realm of personal advice and services. This was not exactly what he was expected to do in the scope of the project, though it was not against the grain of the project either. Still, what he was expected to do, first and foremost, was encounter and advise the youth, not so much set up meetings with officials and try to manage things so that they would encounter the youths themselves. In the steering group meeting, it was not meetings with officials and their results that were presented when

-

cases) and give access to online services to all immigrants with a residence permit in Finland. This did not entirely remove the problem of using online banking as a method of strong identification for official services, since this right was not included in definitive form in the new law. Afrax's question, which was acute when he made it (in 2014), is still worthwhile at the time of writing. (For more information on this, see for example a report by Finnish Ministry of the Interior 2012.)

Afrax's performance was evaluated, but his encounters with the immigrant youth and the results of these encounters. As mentioned in the previous chapter on Afrax (chapter 5.3), the figures reported from the last working month were quite astonishing, as Afrax had encountered nearly 150 young people. If this was what he was expected to accomplish during his part-time working week, not much time was left for disembarking among bureaucrats. His acts in that realm were thus necessarily few and limited, but he eagerly took the opportunity when it was presented itself.

In this way, Afrax was using his job as an opportunity to advocate racialized immigrant youth and carry out a few, small acts aimed at countering and deconstructing structures and practices that discriminate against them. I argue that Afrax's attempt to claim the position of professional was an essential part of this work. Instead of using the, readily available, opportunity to make strategic use of his background and ensuring his future employment by turning his "immigrant-ness" into his profession, he claims the position of a young professional in social work, which he in turn uses to counter discrimination. Afrax is both carving out space for himself as a budding professional, and, from that position, he concretely tries to carve out space for the youth he represents. Can I bring a group here to get advice, he asks, or where can this particular young person go in order to get support? Who to contact, and how, to ensure these young people are truly encountered and provided the services they need and are entitled to? This work speaks of Afrax's realization that racialized immigrant youth, however different backgrounds they might have, encounter the same discriminating structures and practices. Instead of drawing on an imagined cultural "sameness" (Lewis 2000, 91) with the "immigrant youth" as a source of professional qualification, Afrax's way of working among the bureaucrats seems to well from an understanding that they share politically similar conditions and from a need to advocate their rights.

The way Afrax himself described one central aspect of his work, that of being a "role model" to the other young people, strengthens this interpretation. As he brings out in the epilogue to chapter 5.3, he subsequently determined this part to be the most successful aspect of his work. He emphasized the encouragement that seeing him employed truly did provide—but, as he detailed to me, he would rather hire several mentors with as various backgrounds, races/ethnicities and career paths as possible. Thus, the essence of being a role model for him was not so much in giving the young people an example of a proper immigrant subject, who, with hard work, manages to integrate in Finnish society and become a "worker citizen" (Tokola et al. 2019, 22; 27). Rather, it was about countering discriminatory structures by his very presence: about being a living exception among the white Finnish social workers,

teachers, state and municipality officials and so on that the young people encounter in their daily lives. It was about proving that institutions of whiteness are not impermeable and eternal, and that it is possible to change them. "I think that there is a need for this, that one can see some role models, that there are also examples and diverse ones," Afrax said, but underlined that this alone is not enough to counter discrimination: "I would like to break the ice on both sides, in the educational system and in the attitudes of the young people."

6.3.3 Conclusion: double movement

In the above, I have shed light on how Afrax aspires to transform the subject position offered to him in his job as a peer mentor. He does this by performing a delicate double movement: First, he distances himself from his assumed peers and aligns instead with his new colleagues in order to claim presence as a young professional, not as an expert by experience. However, he uses this professional position to carve out space for other youths categorized as imaginary immigrants as well, to advocate their rights, speak for them with the credibility a professional status gives him, and to encourage them by being living proof of passing in an institution of whiteness. I argue that, while not agreeing to the position as culturally similar with other imaginary immigrant youth himself, he does recognize the political "sameness" of their situation, and constructs his relationship to them as their peer on this basis.

When I claim that Afrax's attempt to verge on a professional position is a strategic move that enables his advocacy work, I do not mean that this would be an intentional plan he would have figured out and simply put into practice. I understand it as an immediate strategy growing from the visceral knowledge he has about the relevance of discriminatory structures and practices in the political ordinary, and of sensory attentiveness to the needs of other immigrant background youth, with whom he shares his daily life. I see Afrax's double movement as a form of mundane political agency that comes into being in the process of his body communicating with other bodies through gestures and conduct. It springs from the capacities of the material body and does not entirely pass through conscious thought. But it does also grow out of and simultaneously feed a seedling political awareness he demonstrated during these early months of his career and that, in the wake of the "refugee crisis" soon to follow and the right-wing activities provoked by it, developed into a more elaborate and conscious understanding. The last chapter on Afrax (chapter 7.3) concentrates in more detail on this development and its outcomes.

6.4 Reflections

In the three previous subchapters, I have shown the ways Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax all react and act in the encounters scrutinized. Such gestures, facial expressions and ways of relating to people around them might seem unimportant at first glance, especially if one looks only at a single incident. But, interpreted in the larger context in which each situation takes place, they start to emerge as small, meaningful components of the mundane political strategies these young people deploy in their immediate everyday surroundings in order to shake the ground and alter their positioning, at least slightly. Some of these immediate strategies arise from the realm of corporeality, "before cognition begins" as Coole & Frost (2020, 20) put it, while some are also informed by conscious evaluation. For Afrax, my interpretation of his delicate double movement—of, on the one hand distancing himself from his peers in order to carve out a position as a budding young professional, and, on the other, using this position as a tool in advocating for the youths—was surprising, and, when discussing my analysis, his first reaction was not to take a stand on it: 'I cannot say offhand if this is true or not, I was in it and working and could not distance myself from it like that. Maybe this was what I was doing, but surely it was not something I consciously thought.' His second reaction, nevertheless, was to start a rant about how irritating it is that in all kinds of public bodies whose purpose is to ensure the representation of immigrants, it is always the same few people (in his city, a certain group of older men coming from some Middle Eastern or African countries), who are invited and thought to represent all "immigrants". They are so conservative,' he exclaimed, meaning the officials who both stuck with this model of representation and therefore always invited the same representatives, 'it is always the same faces you see sitting in different councils and working groups, it is totally frustrating!' What I meant with "ascribed representation" was thus pretty self-evident for him, and we didn't need to spend much time talking about my argument. Afrax was quick to move to the next (much more difficult) level: how and where to work in order to change this self-reproducing construction. In other words, while his immediate strategies were not consciously developed, they were grounded in an awareness of the power relations that structured his position as a peer mentor.

Manasse, on the other hand, found my argument partly obvious and partly disturbing. That he did not align with other members of the project in the sense of accepting being positioned similarly to them was, for him, something that he had not necessarily verbalized before but that he simply found factual: "I never bought that theme," he said, meaning accentuating the vulnerability of the participants. "I am

not in that category, I was there as an artist." But my observation that he also avoided aligning with the other band members physically, that he excluded them from his social space and avoided encounters with them other than on stage, was a surprise for him and an unpleasant one. His discomfort with my description regarding his behaviour did push me to reconsider my analysis, but I did not end up making fundamental changes, as I consider my interpretation valid. I understand his strategy as partly built on conscious reflection (as a decision to commit himself to the project but to position himself differently from the other participants) and partly emerging from the active matter of his body, the latter taking form as unintentional immediate bodily (re)actions and (non)communication through gestures and conduct in the moments in which encounters were about to take place.

For his part, Emanuel had probably most consciously reflected his position, and working with me provided him a further chance to ponder and verbalize the situation he found himself in at school. His case serves to point out how, in the flux of everyday life and the endless variations of its mundane encounters, he was often forced to act without a chance to stop to reflect the situation and to make conscious decisions. There are moments in which the strategy of letting things pass, of trying not to care about how he was positioned and seen enabled him to endure (Honkasalo 2013) and maintain his strength. But there are also moments in which he grasped the moment, and through his behaviour turned it around, into a joke or even into an encounter which works for equality and antiracism.

The theoretical point I would like to suggest on the basis of my analysis in this chapter is, thus, the following: as much as it is impossible to separate mind and body, it is equally impossible to draw a hard line between acts that spring from the agentive capacities of the material body and ones that spring from the capacities for reflection of a human being with complex subjectivity. Bodies whose cognitive capacities have either completely ceased to exist, as in the case of dead bodies (Stepputat 2014), or are seriously disabled, as in the case of dement, paralyzed and aphasic aging bodies (Vaittinen 2015), still have agentive capacities. This—together with my own empirical data—speaks for the definitive importance of taking into account this "type" of agency. However, in the case of bodies with cognitive capacities agency can, on this level, be informed to a lesser or a greater degree by conscious reflection, and vice versa. In this way, I understand the two as constantly bleeding into each other, and both as serious objects of research. Furthermore, I see anthropologically oriented ethnographic research a particularly apt method for researching the two and their intra-action, as capturing the "field of tension between what people say (they do) and

what they actually do" (Kvaale 2011, 242; emphasis original) is one of the classic tenets of anthropology.

As for the empirical observations that emerge from my analysis so far, I would like to underline the following. First, the differentiation that I have approached through specific encounters turns out to be not only recurrent, but, in a certain way, constant: it structures the daily lives of these young men, even though it takes different forms in different situations. Second, as the differentiating structures are constant, so is the alertness of the youths, which comes to the fore when one pays attention to their immediate strategies as manifestations of their mundane political agency. To paraphrase Coole & Frost (2010, 20), their "[...] bodies constantly communicate with other bodies through their gestures and conduct [...]", and ways of (re)acting to differentiation is one part of this ongoing embodied communication.

7 LONG-TERM PROJECTS: WORKING FOR ALTERNATIVE SUBJECT POSITIONS

In the following three subchapters, I turn to the second "type" of mundane political agency that, compellingly, caught my attention in the data concerning Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel. This is the "agency of projects" conceptualized by Ortner (2006, 144): "[...] intentions, purposes, and desires formulated in terms of culturally established 'projects'." These projects, as Ortner (ibid., 147) writes, grow out of the structures of people's lives, not solely, though centrally, the structures of inequality they encounter in everyday life. Emanuel, Manasse and Afrax all work intently in order to further their personal projects, very different as they are. Emanuel dedicates considerable amounts of energy to two things: to his studies and to weaving social networks and cultivating care and safe spaces. As I show in the following subchapter, both of these projects are linked to his desire to be seen as he sees himself: a "Big Man" and a "Black Man". Manasse's project is, on one hand, tangible, as he is furthering his career as a professional African background musician, but, on the other, it turns out to be fragile: how he represents himself and his project stands in contradiction with his actual life situation, a fact that he openly admits, but without giving an inch in his determination to proceed in the aspired direction. As for Afrax, he is not settled on so clear a project as Emanuel and Manasse, his project being about questioning the presumptions dispensed to him, searching for answers that satisfy his critical mind, and looking for political relatedness in a context of rising racism and national populism on one hand, and of emerging political activism around race on the other. These are themes widely relevant to refugee background youth in Finland, and I have thus let the subchapter outgrow the others to an extent.

None of these projects proceed without difficulty. The desire for something different that enables these young men to push through impasses, as Biehl & Locke (2010, 333–334) might put it, is closely linked with disillusionment and even despair when facing foreclosures. It is exactly this pushing through, against all odds, and carving out alternatives—even the smallest!—that enables defining a subjectivity that is not only about determinations but also about swerves and escapes (ibid., 333–334). None of these young men settle for the subject position they are offered and expected to embrace, but throw themselves into an attempt to carve out alternative

positions which enable them to do and be something else, or something more, or something different. None of them accept the differentiation built into the subject position offered to them as given, but question and challenge it by claiming recognition for themselves.

As in the previous chapters, I start each subchapter with a field description that crystallizes central elements of each young man's situation and project. In the cases of Emanuel and Manasse, these situations are directly linked to those of the previous chapters: Emanuel is still at school, and Manasse is talking to me about being on stage. In Afrax's case, I begin with an excerpt that does not follow directly from the previous chapters, as his project is not directly related to his work as a peer mentor. In his case, I proceed to the very personal realm of exploring oneself and one's place in a transnational and interconnected world. To underline the uncompromising way Afrax flings himself into this exploration, the title of the chapter indicates that Afrax is still at work, but this time with himself, not with his peers. The subchapters themselves show how the young men's projects outgrow the particular situations I start from. In this chapter, I move from analyzing the youths' bodily choreographies to examining their activities and ways of leading their lives over a longer time span. In order to do this, I lean both on my observations regarding the ways they navigate their lives, and on our discussions concerning their aims, aspirations, frustrations and confusions. In this way, I try to further illuminate how immediate situations and bodily strategies are intimately linked to, but still different from, long-term projects enabled by complex human subjectivity.

7.1 Big Man, Black Man: Emanuel at school and at home

It is a sunny April morning, and I have come to school a bit early. I sit in the hallway and Emanuel's classmates start to filter in one by one, some greeting me briefly, others not. This is in no way extraordinary: completely disregarding most of their classmates is quite common in this class—most of the students only greet members of their own cliques, and do that only in passing. They tend to use short expressions like *moi* (hi), passing on directly to some conversation, and basically never touching each other when exchanging greetings. I never see them shake hands or hug, even though many do touch each other on other occasions.

I am sitting on a bench behind a small table, facing the door. One of the boys who belongs to Emanuel's clique has sat opposite me, on another bench, on the other side of the table, his back towards the door. There are quite large windows in the door, and I can recognize

Emanuel's dark figure through them when he arrives. I look aside on purpose as if I didn't notice him, so that he would not feel compelled to greet me—even though he seems not to worry anymore whether the other students realize we know each other rather well or not, I do still try to avoid situations in which it might become obvious. From the corner of my eye, I see Emanuel enter the door, walk slowly towards and gently slap the shoulder of the boy sitting in front of me in friendly greeting. Somewhat surprised, the boy looks up, recognizes Emanuel behind him and returns the greeting. Emanuel approaches me, sits next to me on the same bench, and we start to chitchat about mundane things like how we have slept, how tired we feel, and why the teacher is late.

Was that merely yet another ordinary school morning, or did something just happen? I believe so—that Emanuel broke the greeting routines of the class, and that he did so consciously and purposefully. He had pointed out the boy he physically greeted as the one who had been most unfriendly and prejudiced towards him at the beginning of the school year. There were other students sitting in the hallway too, but Emanuel chose to give a warm personal greeting specifically to him, not all or some of the others as well. Moreover, this was one of the few times I saw Emanuel touch any of his classmates. Furthermore, that Emanuel greeted him, but then chose to come to sit next to me to chat—instead of next to him—seems to underline the performative nature of his act. It is almost as if he wanted to show or teach the boy the proper way to greet people in the morning.

And, indeed, in our subsequent discussion, which started with Emanuel expressing his gratitude to his classmates who, in the end, treat him well and help him out a lot, he suddenly changes tone and says to me: "They have also learned a lot from me, when I behave in a friendly and caring fashion they learn to do so too." And he describes to me how, after one of the classmates had to go through an operation, he was careful to ask them how the operation had gone and how they were feeling now. He explicitly frames this as an occasion of teaching his classmates how to treat each other well by example. In this way, he transforms his position in relation to his classmates from a less skilled person who needs and receives help from others into an equal partner in a reciprocal process of teaching and learning. In what follows, I will take a closer look at the subject position Emanuel is aiming to carve out with this and other acts of expressing and transmitting mutual care, and, further on in the chapter, by other means such as investing a tremendous amount of energy in his studies.

7.1.1 Greeting as a political act

Another time, when we were talking about Emanuel's summer job (he worked at the same place for several summers), and of how unfriendly he perceived the behaviour of the other workers to be, he told me how he persistently greets everybody amicably every morning in order to act as an example to them. One summer there had been another "foreigner", a Dutch person, who he had developed a daily habit of asking how they had slept in Finnish. The Dutch person soon learned the sentence, and, when they saw each other in the morning, they always called out loudly "Huomenta! Nukuitko hyvin?" ("Good morning! Did you sleep well?"). 'Little by little,' Emanuel told me, 'the Finns started to learn a bit and to say hello too'.

Unfriendly behaviour is something that Emanuel considers to be typical for "Finns". In his first months after gaining a residence permit and moving to his present home city, this trait was one of the factors that made him nearly desperate:

You know, I had a real hard time earlier, seriously. [...] I thought that here, like, in Finland, I have not even one friend, I don't have friends, I was lonely. In a way, Finnish people are quiet, and I felt, like, why am I here, I should go someplace else. Just staying here in Finland, it is in vain.

Emanuel found Finnish people difficult to approach, and despite his persistent efforts (going, for example, to a youth evening a local Pentecostal church organizes every week) he did not get any Finnish friends during his first year in Finland. Then, he realized that not all of them want to keep their distance, but that there are other reasons for the difficulty of creating social relations:

You know, one has to learn, to know how to get friends, what one has to do. Many foreigners think negatively of Finnish people, that it is not worth the effort to approach them, or that it is difficult to do so and become friends. They don't dare to go to speak to them. I was like that earlier, but then I noticed that we human beings are different from each other. There are a lot of Finnish people who would like to get friends and who are lonely, and who need someone to talk to, and to be with. But in a way they are shy and don't dare to approach or talk to other people.

For Emanuel, this realization has been a turning point in his life in Finland. It helped him to recognize his own social skills and, as he puts it, to become self-confident.

But I am truly like, if I am interested about some person, I do have the kind of courage that I go to talk with them. And if one needs to ask for Facebook contact, I do ask. If they give me yeah, if don't give they don't, it is the same to me! Earlier I was like "damn, why did I do that!" But it doesn't matter anymore, I don't have to feel insulted.

Emanuel crosses his hands behind his head and leans on the wall behind us. "Now I have like a wall on which I can lean on." And he taps his chest above the heart with his fist and says: "Now I am self-confident."

So he started to actively approach people, on social media forums, but in all kinds of places too—basically anywhere. His self-reliance grew to such a level that he started to talk to people and actually make friends at bus stops, grocery stores and gyms, a fact that he brings out boldly. His open-minded attitude towards other people and active work of building relationships has produced a social network consisting of different kinds of people with regard to age, ethnicity, religiousness, social class, gender and sexual orientation.

As, for example, Haikkola (2010, 231; see also 2012, 44-45) has noted, differentiating oneself positively from Finnish people as socially more extrovert and skilled is quite a common tactic among young people who are racialized as immigrants. I consider this to be an aspect in Emanuel's strategy too: his selfunderstanding as a socially skilled person is an integral building block of his selfrespect in a situation in which it is constantly under attack due to his being categorized as an imaginary immigrant. There is a sense of pride in the way Emanuel perceives his difference in this regard. Also, I read his accentuated performances of "how to greet each other amicably" as political acts in the sense of making both his skills and the way he sees their effect on his subject position in relation to others explicit. He repeatedly calls himself by the English expression "Big Man", jokingly, yet in such a way that it becomes clear that he sees himself as mature and, in many ways, skilled in comparison to his classmates and to many other Finns, too.⁴¹ However, I think Emanuel's acts go beyond simply differentiating oneself as "better" than "Finnish people" with regard to social skills. That he frames these situations as teaching and learning, and that he repeatedly brings out his empathy towards people left on their own, and the efforts he makes to build social networks, speaks of the deep meaning bringing people together has for him.

7.1.2 Weaving social networks, building safer spaces

Emanuel shows me photos from a party he had taken some of his friends and siblings to who did not know each other before, and explains: 'Now they all got to know each other.' He forms a cup with his palms and brings his hands together into a circle to show how they had all come together and made friends with each other.

⁴¹ This is his own expression and has no link with the big men of Melanesia, familiar from anthropological writing.

Emanuel dedicates a considerable amount of time and energy to taking care of his—and other people's—relationships. These issues get him talking pretty much every time we meet. He tells me long and complicated stories of his friends, siblings and acquaintances, explaining in detail who has done what, who has reacted to what in which way, and how he has tried to sort things out. He asks my opinion on this or that tricky situation—what should he say to this person, or how could he explain his position, or what kind of message to send in order not to give a wrong impression. I have a hard time keeping track, as there seem to be so many people, and they seem to be related to each other in so many ways, and, as the stories often meander, so that one explanation needs a second to clarify what the first was actually about. Emanuel often omits to mention people's names, to guard their privacy, and I am constantly lost in who was whose girlfriend or who had been upset for what reason, or who was Emanuel's friend at the beginning and what he thinks would be the best outcome of some complicated issue. The longer our friendship, the more he takes these issues up with me, sometimes calling me just in order to talk about his relationships and to ponder how to deal with some issue in a way that would be considerate and respectful towards all the parties involved.

For that is something he gives great emphasis to. The work he does in order to weave networks and teach social skills by example is not something that he does only for himself: for him, making efforts to create relationships between other people too seems to be a way of both expressing care and spreading caring. He organizes parties and little get togethers, each time pondering who to invite in order to bring the right kind of people together and support his lonelier friends in building relationships. He sometimes talks about people he has noticed to be lonely—at work or at school—and to whom he has started to talk just in order to show them that he respects and recognizes them.

This has made me think of Emanuel's action in the light of Forde's (forthcoming) idea of community-building as a political act: of the fundamental importance production of joy and togetherness has in making space for a politically potent community. Forde's work concerns the efforts of community activists in Beetham, an area inhabited by urban poor in Trinidad. Her understanding of the voluntary work done by the women of Beetham, not organized under an NGO or in any other official way, gives emphasis to the affective side of community building. This work enables, as Forde (ibid.) writes, "[...] the slow emergence of familiarity and trust between people [...]. It was work against fear, distrust and anti-social behavior, work that sought to build people's self-esteem and relieve them of the need to constantly be on the defensive."

The work Emanuel does, both in contingent social spaces—such as at school or at work—and in weaving a social network around himself can be understood from this perspective. Spreading friendly and caring behaviour via his own example among class and workmates is a way of diminishing prejudices between people and of building trust, and hence a method of slowly cultivating a general, open-minded attitude towards people from different backgrounds. Actively approaching people in order to befriend them, bringing one's friends and relatives together so that they will "all get to know each other", and dedicating oneself to fostering their relationships is, on the other hand, an effort to build a safe space for oneself and others. In line with classic black feminist thinker Collins (2000 [1990]), Forde (forthcoming) underlines the political significance of this kind of long-term community building; it provides an opportunity for the people involved "[...] to think about themselves and their lives [...]", to freely reflect both one's self, public matters, and the relations of the two.

Emanuel's work has, thus, two directions. Safe spaces are by definition exclusive (Forde forthcoming; see also Collins 2000, 110–111); to be able to freely foster selfinspection, dreaming, questioning and critiquing, a space excluded from those in structurally hegemonic positions is necessary. This can mean different things in different contexts: for African-American women it has meant the inclusion of black women and the exclusion of others (Collins 2000, 111), while in the Beethamian context Forde (forthcoming) describes it also means the exclusion of representatives of the middle and upper classes as well as non-Beethamians. Emanuel's safe spaces are defined differently, perhaps in a more fluctuating manner. His network consists of people from different kinds of backgrounds and situations, and he ponders individually about the appropriate constellation of each get together he initiates in order to guarantee it is safe enough for each participant. Nevertheless, both his network as a whole and each constellation in particular are based on excluding people who put him or some of his friends and siblings on the defensive. While the criteria of excluding and including people vary in different situations, one criteria is never compromised: Emanuel does not tolerate racism, use of the n-word, or any other sign of prejudice against people of colour or immigrants in his network. In this sense, his work of building socialities turns inward, withdrawing from a potentially conflictual zone of general social interaction.

On the other hand, his work also reaches beyond the safe spaces he actively builds. In his everyday surroundings at school and work he does not withdraw completely from social interaction with people who he perceives to be prejudiced. By treating these people in a caring way, or by giving them other examples of friendly

and considerate behaviour, he seeks to diminish prejudices between people and develop these social environments into more trusting and caring communities. Part and parcel of this work is showing where the limits of acceptable behaviour lie: Emanuel is not shy in intervening in discussions or situations he considers racist, nor in defending himself if treated unwell. In this sense his work against fear, distrust and discrimination is also directed towards society at large.

These two directions—withdrawing, or turning inwards, and reaching out—are also reflected in physical space and the way Emanuel inhabits it. While he claims that everyday racism in public space is not a problem for him as he has learned to put up with it, in practice it does have the effect of circumscribing the territory that he spends time in. He has, for example, stopped going to bars in order to avoid serious trouble and bar fights, which, in his experience, are not uncommon parts of nightlife, especially if he, as a person of colour, dances in a club with a white woman, for example. But it is not only outright trouble that works to circumscribe his territory:

I have met Emanuel in the centre of the city and we decide to go to a nearby cafébar. It is a place I like and go to frequently, and I suggest it as I find the place really relaxing and easy to be in—comfortable—and I know that the usual crowd is the kind that does not tolerate racist behaviour. But when we enter the café I notice that the place is quite full, and that all the other people in it are white. All of them. I am suddenly awkwardly aware of the sea of whiteness (Ahmed 2006, 135) that surrounds us. Only now I realize that the experience of safety and comfort is not necessarily something that we will share in this place.

I think Emanuel was aware of it too: as we sat at a table talking, he kept glancing around and behind his back in a state of constant vigilance, not quite relaxing during the whole time we spent in the café. After this, I decided it should always be Emanuel who chooses the places in which we meet. We never went back to that café. Sometimes we meet in some other cafés that he feels more comfortable in, which basically means cafés in big department stores that are frequented with all kinds of people doing their shopping—also people of colour. But, whenever possible, we meet at home—either mine, or, if he could choose freely, in his own home.

Emanuel's bearing changes when he is at home. When he gets home, he immediately changes into jogging pants and a sleeveless or a T-shirt, in wintertime also woolen socks. He acts in a relaxed fashion, and hosting a guest seems to come to him naturally. It is quite clear that, of all the places I have seen him, this is where he feels most comfortable and safest. One might think that this is obvious—it is his home—but if one considers other young people who have come to Finland as unaccompanied minors, come of age and moved out from the family group home,

it is not. Denis and Adel, the other two young men from the same family group home with whom I worked and whose homes I also visited several times, both spoke of a certain discomfort, even fear, related to their homes. Adel often asked one of his two friends to come over, or went to their places, as he was afraid to stay in, and especially to sleep alone in, his flat. Denis, on the other hand, spoke of boredom and loneliness, of missing his lost family in the most painful way when alone at home. Neither one really wanted to stay at home, and went out simply to hang around and spend time in the city centre. And, while both had quite nice flats with all the basic necessities and both kept them tidy, they had not put too much effort into decorating them. There was a sense of temporariness in both of their homes instead of the finished interior and feeling of calm of Emanuel's home.

It is a beautiful place indeed, his home. It is located in a suburb, but not far from the city centre, only about a ten-minute bus ride from the central square. The suburb is small, between a major road and a small nature reserve, and comprises a few blocks of flats, a grocery store, a bar, a gym and a couple of other shops. Emanuel's home is a small flat in a student apartment building, and he has put a lot of time and energy into decorating it. There are long curtains, always carefully closed, in front of the windows, soft rugs, and, in the living room, a big sofa covered with pillows and blankets, carefully arranged artificial flowers and seashells, copies of a few selected paintings hanging on the walls, and always soft lighting. In the tiny bedroom there is a double bed, always made, and a small desk for working. The kitchen is combined with the living room and comprises a small but inclusive working surface in one corner of the room with a dining table and four chairs next to it. Everything is always clean and orderly, the air in the apartment warm and fresh, and it is always quiet, the only sound some mellow pop music playing on the stereo. We usually sit at the dining table, as we are often studying together, and he takes care to offer me tea and small snacks, or sometimes cooks a full meal for both of us. I like to visit him: they are quiet, comfortable and somehow very soft surroundings, which make me feel relaxed and safe.

It is on the couch of Emanuel's living room where we have the conversation about getting friends, and where he leans his head against the wall, explaining how he has gained self-confidence. And it is at a table of his school's cafeteria that he suddenly starts to reflect on his experience of living in Finland: 'Here, in Finland,' Emanuel says, 'I am all the time like this, ready. I have to be prepared all the time.' The beautiful peace of his home and the caring network of friendships form a bubble of safety, an important space of rest and gaining strength that he has built—not only

for himself but also for those closest to him—in an environment that puts him constantly on the defensive.

7.1.3 Claiming blackness

Collins (2000, 101) writes of safe spaces that "[t]hese spaces are not only safe—they form prime locations for resisting objectification as the Other." The political significance of safe spaces is that they enable "[...] the struggle to replace controlling images with self-defined knowledge [...]," that is, advancing empowerment through self-definition (ibid., 100–101). The process of self-definition is also a journey towards an understanding of how one's personal life has been shaped by intersecting oppressions of, for example, race, gender and class. In this way, independent self-definitions can become foundational for political standpoints. (Ibid., 111–114.) In public non-safe spaces Emanuel is, as he says, "all the time prepared", always on the defensive. But he is not *only* that:

In my favorite café, surrounded by the sea of whiteness, we walk to the counter to make our orders. Emanuel asks for tea. The bartender goes through the different sorts (there is black, green and white tea, maybe even some more) and asks which he would like to have. Emanuel looks him in the eyes and answers fast: "Black. Of course, as I am black." While saying this, he grips the back of his left hand, pulling his skin outward with the thumb and forefinger of his right hand.

I couldn't help noticing the resemblance of his gesture with Denis's (see the beginning of chapter 5.1), who also gripped the skin of his hand when talking about his difference from his classmates. So I concluded that Emanuel was uncomfortable because of being the only person of colour in the space, and that his spelled-out explanation for ordering black tea was a sign of that discomfort and spoke of a need to defend himself in advance. I took the issue up with Emanuel a few weeks later when discussing experiences of racism and their effect on his life. He contested my interpretation of the situation and his behaviour, telling me that he did not feel the need to defend himself, nor had he felt uncomfortable because of his skin colour. I said so [when ordering black tea] because I am proud of my skin colour, I am proud that I am black.' For him, then, it was an act of *claiming blackness* upfront, while I had interpreted it more in the vein of defending his right to dwell in the white space *despite* his skin colour. Thus, while Emanuel rejects the subject position of an imaginary immigrant (as I have shown in the previous chapters on him), he openly

self-identifies as black. Sometimes he even refers to himself as a "Black Man", either in English or in Finnish [Musta Mies].

Of my research companions, he is the only one who clearly and outspokenly claims blackness. At the same time, he is also the one who makes the most references to racism and critical comments on the different categorizations of immigrants—sometimes very seriously, but all the more often jokingly. When I walk with him on a rainy day, huddled close to each other under an umbrella and a passing car splashes dirty water all over us, he makes an immediate conclusion that the driver did it on purpose because he got pissed off seeing a white woman together with a black man. But then, in a salad bar we sometimes eat together at, he jokes about the waiter being a racist, as there happens only to be one piece of egg in his salad, while I have two. Or, we might be having an upsetting conversation regarding claims that immigrant background non-white men are more often guilty of rape than Western white men, when, in a matter of seconds, he would turn it into a provocative joke, whispering loudly in my ear to ask what I would do if some of the people surrounding us came to tell me to beware as I was with an African guy who might do anything to me.

Emanuel compares living in Finland to his experiences of France, where he does not feel the need to be "prepared all the time" as he is not hypervisible there in the sense he is in the Finnish white landscape. In Finland he feels he is continually "overdetermined from without", as Fanon (2008 [1952], 85; 87; emphasis original) writes in his classic *Black Skin, White Masks*:

I wanted to be a man, nothing but a man. [...] And already I am being dissected under white eyes, the only real eyes. I am *fixed*. Having adjusted their microtomes, they objectively cut away slices of my reality. I am laid bare. I feel, I see in those white faces that it is not a new man who has come in, but a new kind of man, a new genus. Why, it's a Negro!

This imposition of difference, at the heart of racial ascription, writes Fassin (2011, 422; 425), is a form of subjection, a symbolic subordination. But, as he underlines, racial ascription and racial recognition—claiming blackness, for example—work in dialectical form: recognition can become an act of liberation, as the racialized subject identifies with other victims of discrimination, forming a collective political identity. As Fassin (2011, 425) writes, this kind of tension between subjection and subjectivation is at the heart of processes of racialization. In Emanuel's everyday life it is very present. His continuous reflection on racial ascription and racism on one hand, and acts of claiming blackness on the other, speak of a profound tension between the violence and subjugation inherent in others' ascription of him as a racial

and immigrant Other and the liberating or empowering aspect of his self-recognition as black. Being present in public spaces forces Emanuel to repeatedly encounter the violence of racial ascription, but the safe spaces he has tenaciously built enable his struggle to resist his "over-determination from without" and to construct alternative self-definition and self-valuation as a "Black Man".

This is not self-evident in the Finnish context. As Rastas (2019, 357–359), for example, notes, in the Nordic countries "[...] racism as a social fact and the meanings of race for individuals and communities were avoided as topics of discussion for a long time [...]." A naïve self-image of the nation as especially good in this regard, and hence unable to be racist, has been typical of all Nordic countries, which has led to denials of racism and consequently to a lack of "[...] vocabulary for discussions on racialized identities and racialized social relations." However, as Rastas (ibid., 367-368) underlines, social and cultural transformation is currently taking place, as people of colour have increasingly started to question the assumed whiteness of Nordic nations, to speak about themselves as racialized subjects, and to claim presence as citizens in the countries in which they live. While previously the critical voices of immigrant and diaspora communities have remained faint and the participation of non-white people in public discussions nearly absent, "[...] the rapidly growing new generation of non-white people born and/or growing up in the white landscape of the Nordic countries are in a better position to speak about and fight for their rights as racialized subjects [...]." They have both started to use racial(ized) terms of themselves and to "[...] search for and create forums and communities of people with whom they can negotiate their multiple identifications and share their experiences of racism and of living surrounded by normative whiteness."

Emanuel's work in building safe spaces and acts of publicly claiming blackness are parts of this current, furthering social and cultural transformation, and making "[...] race as a powerful social category visible in Nordic countries" (Rastas 2019, 372). Emanuel arrived in Finland in the beginning of 2010s, at a moment when this change was right about to start but was not yet visible.⁴² He moved to his present home city in 2013, and started, as I have described, building a social network from scratch. There were few, if any, ready communities based on racial identification that he could have joined, but he persistently started to build his own. To be sure, it is not a network that would primarily be based on racial identification and as such it is

⁴² Some important benchmarks are Ali Jahangiri's and Abdirahman Hussein's radio program *Ali ja Husu* from 2013–2016, Koko Hubara's blog *Ruskeat tytöt* ("Brown Girls"), which she initiated in 2015, and the TV show *Mamu-Suomi-Mamu* ("Immigrant-Finnish-Immigrant") by the racialized rappers Musta Barbaari and Prinssi Jusuf ("Black Barbarian" and "Prince Jusuf", see more in chapter 7.2) from 2015–2016.

not quite comparable with the communities Rastas (ibid.) writes about, but nevertheless it provides Emanuel and some of his intimates a safe space in which they can "resist objectification as the Other", "construct independent self-definitions" (Collins 2000, 101), and "negotiate their multiple identities" (Rastas 2019, 372).

I am in awe of the resourcefulness and strength Emanuel's work speaks of. As Howarth (2002, 251), for example, writes, young people who belong to stigmatized communities do not necessarily have the "representational tools or social capital to acknowledge stigma, let alone develop oppositional representations." Based on her research among young people growing up in Brixton (London), Howarth (ibid., 256) argues that these resources are key to success in the struggle for recognition and assertive, proud identities, and that they emerge from social relationships and institutional cultures. "The school and the family, in particular," Howarth (ibid., 251) writes, "play a crucial role in encouraging critical reflection and positive self-esteem." In Emanuel's case, he has had neither the support of his family, nor the opportunity to go to a school that, like the ones Howarth (ibid., 254) describes as supporting young people's self-valuation, has "[...] the social capital and the commitment to challenge institutional prejudice and encourage self-confidence and cultural awareness [...]." Instead, Emanuel has himself weaved a network that provides him, and others as well, the "love and support of others" that Howarth (ibid., 256) recognizes as key to challenging dominant representations and developing oppositional ones.

7.1.4 Intellectual labour: striving for higher education

Weaving social networks and working for caring social relationships form one major project in Emanuel's life. Alongside this, there is another major task, that of gaining education. As I have already brought out, Emanuel is highly ambitious. The double degree he is struggling to get through is but one part of his larger plan, the ultimate aim of which is to become a doctor. He has been working determinedly for this plan ever since he got his residence permit in Finland and managed to pull himself through the first difficult months. First, he completed the compressed curriculum of basic education with considerable success—he did it faster than many others and graduated with relatively good grades. Then he applied for, and was admitted to, the double degree program, from which he should graduate with both a baccalaureate and as a practical nurse. The next step of the plan is to acquire work experience and

apply to a university of applied sciences to become a registered nurse. And after that, at some point in the future, he plans to apply to the faculty of medicine in some university in order to take his plan to its final goal.

Hence, the weight Emanuel puts on his performance at school is not "only" about gaining recognition in the eyes of his classmates (an aspect I discussed in the previous chapter on Emanuel). It is a much larger project aimed at claiming recognition in society at large and at crafting a life he finds worthwhile. He has decided to dedicate several years of his life to this project, which, in his daily life, keeps him occupied literally day and night.

It is around seven p.m. on a Sunday evening when I ring Emanuel's doorbell in order to study together. As every Sunday, he has been at church and has enjoyed his time there, but otherwise says he is stressed about an exam he has to take the next day. I ask what it is about, and Emanuel tells me it is about sicknesses and how to medicate them. Together, we try to remember the exact name of the course; all the titles are long, abstract descriptions that everybody has difficulty remembering. We come up with "Careful and Systematical Care Work and Something Something." In practice, the exam is about chronic diseases typical in Finland. Emanuel has a course book on his table, and together we check which parts he is supposed to study for the exam and which of them he has already revised by himself (very little, it turns out). I ask about the Power Point slides I remember the teacher using during classes. Emanuel hadn't realized he should rehearse them, too, and starts to look for them on his computer. This takes quite a while, as he first has to log into the school's electronic communication system to find the messages from the teacher with the links to the slides, at which point it emerges that he also has to log in his Outlook account, the login details of which he cannot remember. He asks for them via WhatsApp from two classmates, and luckily one of them replies quickly and we can log in and download the slides.

There are fifteen sets of slides. I look at the lot and tell Emanuel he has two choices: either he can read through all of the slides very quickly, or we can try to choose the most important ones and he can study them more carefully. He opts for the latter, and we get to work. First, I glance through one set of slides, trying to pick out the principal ones, and then we read these together while I try simultaneously to check the course book to see if there is something there that should also be taken into account. In this way, we go through different kinds of cancers, epilepsy, sensory impairments and sense organ diseases. The jargon is difficult and not familiar to Emanuel, even though he has sat punctually in classes through the whole course. He reads slowly and we check words unfamiliar to him from a dictionary, or I try to explain their meaning as best I can. He should, for example, not only know what glaucoma or ocular hypertension [silmänpainetauti] is, but also remember that there are two types of medication for it, one of which reduces the amount of aqueous humor [kammioneste] while the other increases drainage [ulosvirtaus]. I try to explain, and to simplify, these sentences, to pick out the most important things, and, after each set of slides, to make a quick summary of the main points. After studying fervently for five hours I realize it is midnight and that I am exhausted and should go to sleep.

Despite the hours we have spent we are far from covering all the slides. Emanuel decides he will study until one a.m. and then leave the rest and get some sleep, for better or worse. Later, it turns out that it was for worse: he did not pass the exam and had to take it again, and dedicate long hours to studying for it before he succeeded.

Now, it is perhaps tempting to say that one should not leave revising for an exam until the night before. Only that Emanuel didn't: he had done his best to participate in the course and to study for the exam as much as he was able to. The simple fact is that studying is several times slower for him than for his classmates, who have much better mastery of Finnish. It is slower in two ways: First, understanding and finding out simple practicalities—such as the names of the courses, the locations of the slides, the right classrooms and the schedule of the classes, which, for some obscure reason, changes every week and is only available in electronic form via the school's intranet, etc.—often only mentioned in passing during classes, and which he therefore misses, takes its time. And, second, the lectures, slides and course books are full of words and expressions unfamiliar to him. Some of these, of course, are not fully understood by his classmates either, but often they have at least some sort of clue what the concept is about, as they are at least partly familiar with them—like "metabolism" [aineenvaihdunta], for example, a word the exact meaning of which few probably could explain very precisely, but all still roughly know what it refers to, while, for Emanuel, the whole sentence in which these kinds of words are used remains obscure. The issue is all the more pressing as the teachers do not use plain language (not to speak of easy language) in their teaching and, furthermore, they often use slightly different terms when speaking than those used on their slides. For example, in a lecture regarding different food intolerances and allergies, the teacher speaks of coagulable fiber [hyytelöityvä kuitu], while on the slides she has written gelling fiber [geeliytyvä kuitu]. This makes listening to the teacher, reading the slides, taking everything in while writing notes simultaneously mission impossible for Emanuel. In the end, he stops writing notes and takes photos of the slides instead, with the intention of going through them later in order to understand them. Which, of course, takes a lot of time-again.

It is not that all this is a piece of cake for the other students either. After a lecture on cardiovascular diseases, for example, I asked Emanuel and one of the boys he was with in the corridor what and where exactly the coronary artery [sepelvaltimo] is, a term that had cropped up several times during the lecture and which I had realized that I didn't really know despite often hearing it used. Both of the young men shrugged; neither knew. 'Maybe we will know in three years [when they finish school]', the other commented in a cynical tone. So, I asked Emanuel, during one of

our conversations about his studies, how the other students manage, as it seems to be tough at times for them too. Emanuel had a ready answer: 'They all have parents who help them. For example [one student's] mother has studied mathematics and she helps her do her maths, everybody has someone who always helps them. I don't.'

This is not altogether true, though. He does have people around him who help him. He receives study help from his former social workers, from the staff of the family group home and the employees of the unit that supports the former residents of the family group home, for example. Then there is me, of course, though my help has been limited to few months here and there, when it has been an integral part of my fieldwork, either with AK or for my own research. In addition, I have twice matched him with volunteers who tutor immigrant youth—once to study English and once to study maths. But, of course, this is not at all the same thing as receiving steady support from one's parents at home. First of all, having a bunch of people willing to help him has required a lot of work in terms of networking, as I described in the previous section. In addition, Emanuel always has to ask for help, to organize the meetings, and to travel around the city to meet the people willing to help him. And, when something unexpected comes up, he has to start calling around to find someone who can help him urgently—I have received such calls quite frequently, and also frequently had to tell him I was unable to help, in which case he has politely said that it is no problem, he will ask this or that person instead. All this requires time, energy, and willpower.

I once took this issue up with Afrax, too, who had already graduated as a youth worker and was working as one. He confirmed Emanuel's experience of multiple workloads in comparison with students of Finnish background: especially remote assignments, which each student was supposed to do independently, had taken hours, and made him feel that he had to work "ten times as much as the others"—and, for some students, Afrax claimed, their parents did basically all the work. Afrax could not expect any help from his mother, who is illiterate, or from his father, who was ill and with whom his relationship was somewhat difficult.

Research on the educational performance of immigrant background youth backs up Emanuel's and Afrax's arguments: although there is evidence from both Europe and North America that they are often at an educational disadvantage compared to the majority population (Kilpi-Jakonen 2011, 78), this can be explained to a large extent by their lower family resources (ibid., 92). Family resources refers to monetary resources and parents' educational backgrounds, but importantly also to their ability to assist their children's studies (ibid., 81). In her research, Kilpi-Jakonen (2011, 94) found that having a parent/s who are not in the labour force has a significant

negative effect on the educational performance of their children. This, Kilpi-Jakonen (ibid., 81) writes, is due to the effect employment has on the linguistic abilities and social capital of immigrant parents. Further, immigrant background students who live alone, without parents, are most likely to drop out of school (ibid., 87).

Kilpi-Jakonen's research concentrated on the "second generation", by which she refers to children born to immigrant parents in Finland and to children who have migrated to Finland with their parents more than nine years before finishing comprehensive school (ibid., 83). In the data, some students who live alone were included, but children/young people who arrived in Finland as unaccompanied minor asylum seekers were not. There is very little research regarding the educational pathways of unaccompanied minors in general (Oppedal et al. 2017, 146), and, to my knowledge, nothing has been published with regard to Finland specifically. Recently, some research on the subject has been conducted in the scope of a large research project, Coming of Age in Exile, which investigates inequalities in education, on the labour market and in health services that young refugees encounter in four Nordic countries: Denmark, Finland, Norway and Sweden (Smith Jervelund et al. 2020). According to this study, Finland and Denmark take the wooden spoon as the countries in which refugee children have the lowest educational achievements (ibid., 2). The part of this research project conducted in Finland regarding education (Malin & Kilpi-Jakonen 2019) is a quantitative register study and its results concerning unaccompanied minors in particular (instead of all refugee and/or immigrant youth) have not been published (Malin 2019). In Norway, some ethnographically oriented research has been conducted on the educational paths of unaccompanied minors who have been granted asylum and residence (e.g. de Wal Pastoor 2017; Oppedal et al. 2017). Oppedal et al. studied the educational development and vocational choices of unaccompanied minors, finding that, for these young people, the "[...] number one priority seemed to be to get an education and start providing for themselves economically, irrespective of age, how long they have been resettled, or their everyday psychosocial functioning." Many had aspirations to gain higher education, but made assessments on their "realistic choices" and were aware of their difficult situations, such as past traumas, lack of sufficient social support networks, language barriers, and discrimination. "In effect, most of them chose 'safe' vocational paths toward earning a living rather than complex roads that led to the realization of their own long-term aspirations." (Ibid., 155–157.)

Oppedal et al. (2017, 157) conclude that one of the important findings of their research is that there is a considerable lack of social support resources available to the youths in question. While the findings of their research cannot be assumed to

hold in the case of Finland too, Emanuel's reflections and strategies do seem to follow a similar pattern. As with the youths Oppedal et al. (2017, 157) studied, he too has to "[...] balance between committing to their own long-term aspirations, and adapting in accordance with their realistic opportunities [...]". Unlike the majority of the youths in Oppedal et al.'s research, Emanuel is holding on, trying to realize his aspirations, and in order to achieve his goals has worked out a very long-term but still realistic plan. He also makes great efforts to patch over the major disadvantages he has: he tirelessly weaves social networks that can, at least to some extent, compensate for the support of parents and other adults that unaccompanied minors tend to lack (ibid., 157); he uses every opportunity to develop his language skills, and simply works hard, a lot, late, and all year round. In this regard, his mode of action is firmly in line with Oppedal et al.'s (ibid., 155) conclusion regarding the resilience of unaccompanied minors: "They displayed impressive willpower to make it through the school system [...]."

And yet, sometimes impressive willpower didn't seem to be enough and all Emanuel's efforts therefore to be in vain. In the conversation around the support from parents that the others have, and he doesn't, he continued: 'And on the other hand, if someone helps me out in some assignment, then the teachers notice that the language is better and they don't believe that I have written it myself and give a worse grade because of that.' And I immediately remember an essay that I helped him with some months earlier, in which he scored 7 (scale from 4 to 10), as the teacher didn't believe that Emanuel had done it himself. He had written it in Portuguese, and we translated it and wrote the Finnish version together. Emanuel is confused: why couldn't he ask for help writing assignments, as it is exactly that kind of process that helps him learn the language? And he finds this quite unfair, as, in the case of native Finnish speakers, the teachers won't notice anything, even though the parents may have written the whole assignment for their child. As the weeks go by Emanuel grows more and more tired and frustrated:

On a warm and sunny afternoon in May we leave school together and walk towards the centre of the city. What are you going to do now,' I inquire, and Emanuel answers: I'll just go home and study. My life!' He sighs. Then he tells me that [a worker from the aftercare] had called him and said that they were not able to help him studying for an exam as they had promised earlier, and now he has to figure out what to do about it. I ask him what he is planning to study today, and he first says probably maths and then asks when we can study together, as he needs help in that too. I have a tight schedule and tell him that I can make it today but probably not on any other day, to which he says that it suits him well. I feel exhausted after the day at school and the thought of continuing with the studies feels overwhelming, so I tell Emanuel I need to have some rest and a proper meal before we start to work, and we agree to meet

at my place later in the afternoon. He arrives as agreed, and we study together for a couple of hours.

I have written in the reflection part of my field notes about that day: "The workload. My fatigue in front of it, which feels like a necessary thing to experience in order to understand even a bit how much work Emanuel has to carry out." There were moments when I thought it simply impossible for him to make it, and I gently proposed that he could drop the double degree plan and concentrate on one of the degrees only. He did not even consider this, though, but continued studying with dogged determination.

Familial trajectories: the weight of separation, loss, and turmoil

This was the situation when I was conducting fieldwork in Emanuel's school, that is, towards the end of his first year in secondary education. Then, his life situation was as stable as it can be for someone with his background: he had been living on his own for couple of years already and was used to taking care of his home and paperwork, his siblings had also been in Finland for a couple of years and were not a constant cause of worry for him anymore, and his economic situation was tolerable—what money he had was scarce and he made it through the last days of each month basically by eating oatmeal porridge, but he was not in debt and could just about make ends meet.

A bit less than a year later, right when Emanuel was supposed to take his first baccalaureate exams, things changed.⁴³ First, the reverend of their congregation died suddenly, which was a big shock for all the members, not least for Emanuel and his siblings, for whom the church had been an important source of strength and joy. Also, Emanuel felt responsible of taking care of the reverend's wife, who was now widowed, confused and lonely. What had been a factor supporting Emanuel before now turned into a complicated situation that drained his energy and caused him deep sorrow and feelings of insufficiency. But this was only the beginning.

I meet Emanuel after being away from the city for quite a while. In his WhatsApp messages he has hinted that "things have happened", but not explained what. Now, we go to have salad at our regular place. He eats really quickly and I feel he looks somehow different, but I cannot figure out how—maybe it is just that he looks a bit older, I think. When I ask how he is, he again says that things have happened. 'First,' he starts, 'there was the thing with our reverend.' He tells me the whole story and

-

⁴³ In Finland, one can either take them all at a once, or over a maximum of three phases during one and a half years, and Emanuel had decided to do the latter—again, a very realistic plan.

how they had had a commemoration with the congregation, and how terrible that was. 'Everybody was crying,' Emanuel says, 'the reverend's wife, everybody. I know that men should not cry, but I couldn't help it, I had to cry.'

Then,' Emanuel continues, 'then there was this case with my mother. My mother was found.' I nearly fall off the chair I am sitting on; the news knocks me flat. I had always been told that his parents were most likely dead. The only person who still believed that they might be alive was Emanuel himself. And now his mother reappears! It turns out that she was found about two months ago. She is now staying with relatives and friends. She is not well. Emanuel says that she changes topics abruptly when he talks with her: she must have a lot of trauma. She is not well physically either. The greatest worry for Emanuel is that she has very high blood pressure despite seeing a doctor and getting medication. He and his siblings had immediately sent 400 euros for her relatives to take care of her. But she is not getting better. While we sit and talk about this, a message arrives from her relatives: her blood pressure is too high again. I don't like this,' Emanuel says, 'if only she didn't have this problem we could take things easy and see what is the best solution, but now I am so afraid. Now that I know she is alive and found, I don't want her to... Also our reverend died because of high blood pressure, it is a really bad thing, I know it from school too.'

While he talks about his mom he starts to finger his hair. It is cut really short, but on the top of his head there are the beginnings of curls. He tugs and pulls at them. He does not look me in the eyes but faces slightly away, towards the escalators that are behind my left shoulder. Normally, his eye contact lasts so long that I sometimes turn my eyes away, feeling a little strange about the intimacy. Now he barely glimpses at me. He starts to pull his hair with both of his hands and lowers his face towards the table while doing it. He runs his hands from his forehead towards the back of his head, one after the other, pulling at his hair at the back of his head. He continues for a really long time. I notice a spot on his forehead where the hair seems thinner than in other areas and wonder if this is due to this constant tugging. Finally, he lifts his head, eyes wet with tears. I ask if I can hug him, but he laughs a little awkwardly, so I ask if it is better if I start to make jokes. He laughs again. I lean forward and stroke his hand across the table. He looks away, fighting back the tears. Men are not supposed to cry, I remember.

Unsurprisingly, Emanuel's first baccalaureate exams did not go well. He is unhappy with his Finnish exam because he didn't have time to finish it properly. Also, he tells me how he was fully prepared, with good sandwiches and everything, to take the French exam, but it turned out that his name was not on the list—first, he was in the wrong place, and, when he finally found the right place, he was not enrolled at all. So he could not do it. All in all, he tells me, he has been tired and hasn't really done well at school—he got a 5, for example, on the last Finnish course. One can hardly blame him, but the teachers do not know what is going on in his life, and some of them make it quite clear that he should try harder. I ask him how he bears with the situation. Emanuel answers by telling me about the time he was waiting for the

decision regarding the application process for family reunification with his siblings, and how hard that was.

'And now you have to go that through once again, how tough is that,' I say. He nods in agreement, looking at the table. I ask who he calls if he feels he can't cope. He says, a little jokingly, that he calls me. I say that I will be in Copenhagen the whole of next month (and he will go to France for an exchange the following month), so who can he call? He looks at the table again, saying that he feels that he has already tired his friends, it is not nice to meet someone who is so anxious. It is good to make jokes and laugh, not to be depressed all the time.' And soon he changes the topic back to the baccalaureate exams, explaining how their maths teacher had advised them in a funny way to do the easy tasks first, and in this way "pocket" points. He makes a long joke out of that, retelling parts of it several times, showing with his hands how the teacher slapped the back of their hand against their palm every time they talked about pocketing points. I laugh with him. He speaks fast and makes more language mistakes than usual. His laughter is tense. He keeps on shifting posture on his chair, almost trembling. I continue the joke, we laugh together.

Emanuel's story is, of course, unique. But so are the stories of each of my research participants, and I do not feel capable of evaluating whose hardships have been, or are, the toughest. All the young men who appear on the pages of this dissertation have their own story. Denis's family is lost. Adel knows where his is, but the knowledge fills him with guilt and worry: 'I want them to get out of that hell.' Afrax's and Manasse's families are dispersed, some in Finland and others somewhere else, some of them in asylum limbo in Europe or its outskirts. Some are dead.⁴⁴

I cannot but agree with Oppedal et al. (2017, 155) that pulling through the school system and building a social network here up North requires "impressive willpower" from these young people. Not all of them have the stamina and other resources this requires, and, again, I cannot but agree with Oppedal et al. (2017, 157) that this is not due to lack of effort on the part of the young people themselves, but to lack of social support resources and long-lasting relationships with supporting adults. Consider the first time I met Adel alone. He had asked me to help him with his maths, and, due to problematic timetables, we ended up meeting up at his driving school, where we were allowed to use a room to study together.

line with the youths' express wishes.

⁴⁴ This is one of the parts of this research where I have had to balance the need to bring out relevant details and the need to protect my research companion's privacy and anonymity carefully. Their family histories and ties arouse many questions that are of great interest from the perspective of research (such as the background and situation of unaccompanied minor asylum seekers or the significance of transnational ties), but I have to keep the information I reveal about them to a minimum. This is in

We start to go through the assignments. As such they do not seem to be so very difficult for him, it is more the Finnish that causes him trouble. Concentrating is the biggest problem: his thoughts wander constantly to his family, and he tells me long stories of their life together and apart.

Adel: 'I have been searching for a job so much. [...] This driving school now, it costs a lot, and I have not seen my parents for five years. I thought that next summer...' Elina: 'Yeah, that you could go see them.'

Adel: 'Yeah. That I would save up and go there for a visit. My parents always wanted me to be able to go to school, but they could not [put me through school]. I was like the big man at home. I have three younger siblings. I was working with my dad. My dad went to work early, at five, I can't remember, and then, when I woke up my mom made breakfast for him and I took it to him to work.'

Elina: 'What kind of work did your father do?'

Adel: 'He did [he points the laminate slabs of the floor] like these, you know, but of stone.'

Elina: 'Flagstones?'

Adel: 'Yeah, flagstones, really heavy, they weighed about seven kilos. I took breakfast to my dad, and there was this machine that presses the flagstones into the ground. And then, in here, there needs to be grease. [Adel describes the machine and its parts with his hands.] So one had to put the grease here, and I was the one who added the grease. And then it was dangerous the thing... The stuff you put in between stones. It made one all red, and one's skin peels off here [shows his fingertips]. My skin came off from these. And my father, he didn't have any skin on his hands at all.'

With his left hand, Adel pets the palm, fingers and fingertips of his right hand, showing the places where his father's hands had lost their skin due to the mortar.

We try to go back to maths. It is about functions and drawing lines in a coordinate system. He does alright, but he has serious trouble in distinguishing whether the lines are parallel with the axis of the coordinate system or transverse. It takes me a while to understand that Finnish concepts of line [suora], parallel [suuntainen], transverse [leikkaava] and axis [akseli] are completely abstract to him. I do my best to explain, and I feel he gets the idea more or less. But our work is time and again interrupted by his stories of his life in his previous home country and in Finland. They are too touching and too interesting stories for me to dismiss, so we spend more time talking about these things than concentrating on lines and whether they are parallel or transverse with the axis.

Adel was trying to do what he was supposed to do, both by his family, which sent him away so that he could get schooling and a better life, and by the Finnish society that pushes him to educate himself and to integrate. But these abstract lines drawn in an abstract coordinate system—they didn't seem to parallel his life history in any way, either then or now. How to focus on maths, how to draw a line from these abstract assignments to a concrete future in Finland? Future without one's family? Adel's thoughts did not focus on the tasks, despite the attempt. Time and again, they

drew a line to Iraq, towards his family, a line of worry, a line of hope, a line of guilt. Because, as he said: "one cannot forget."

Adel: 'Aah, I get, when I talk about these things, my heart goes totally [shows with his hands what happens to his heart: he puts both hands in front of his chest, palms towards the chest and fingers pointing up, squeezing his hands and fingers together as if his heart was being crushed into a little chunk]... How does one say it in Finnish... I guess you know?'

Elina: 'I, yeah. Of course in my life there has been a lot of things, there has been sorrow and all, but not quite like what you have had. So I cannot quite know how you feel, what is your experience. You say that your heart goes totally [I imitate the movement]. What is this "totally"?'

Adel: 'It goes sad.' The heart goes sad.'

7.1.5 Emotional labour

Again, we concentrated on the assignments. Even if the heart goes sad, one needs to keep on trying. And to pull through, one needs a social network, people who can support you in your efforts. It is too valuable to be lost, both emotionally and practically. Despite the sad heart, despite being afraid that one's recently found mother might die far away, 'it is good to make jokes and laugh, not to be depressed all the time,' notes Emanuel. On another occasion, a couple of years earlier, he had first described to me his efforts to find friends in Finland and his realization that in order to get friends one should be funny and friendly.

And that's what he is. When I first got to know Emanuel, it was kind of impossible not to like him immediately. There was so much warmth in his presence, such a strong impression of him being self-confident, at peace, and filled with joy. He joked all the time, his hug was warm, and our discussions long, deep, and confident. We quickly developed our own jokes, and our text messages were full of them and, very soon, also full of expressions of affection. Early on, Emanuel started to call me his "beloved friend" [rakas ystävä], and was not shy to send me heart emojis or write that he misses me.

Emanuel, via sms: It is wonderful to hear that you are back in [our home city] but I will tell you important [things] about my calendar tomorrow, I miss you soooooooooo I can't wait to see you [smiley]

Elina: Well what did your calendar say? For me tomorrow or Thursday afternoon/evening would suit best. But also some other time might be possible! I also miss you a lot!

Emanuel: Tomorrow I can't make it, maybe Thursday evening and Sunday evening would be possible [smiley]

Emanuel, again: Yes I want to fly there so that I can see you as I miss you so horribly much!

Emanuel was also superb at expressing how much he appreciated the help I provided. I first worked with him for about four months as AK's research assistant. When I was about to finish, we spent the last night studying, discussing some early conclusions that we had made with AK about the data, and then I gave him a little gift and a card with some words to thank him. Emanuel's mood dropped. He politely thanked me for the gift and the card, but then said that he "feels bad" now that I will finish working. I told that I have also enjoyed getting to know him and that I genuinely hope we will keep on meeting, and showed that I have written my personal phone number inside the card. Emanuel opened the gift, found four free tickets to the movies and seemed surprised: "Four?" I told him that he can go together with his girlfriend, and he then asked could I come too. Of course, I told him, if you invite me, I will come. All these little gestures of his that expressed both affection and appreciation worked to create a solid relationship between us, perhaps best described as sisterly-it was and still is obvious that he seeks support from me, the kind of support one might get from an older sibling. Of the youths that I worked with as AK's research assistant, he is the only one that I continued working with during my own fieldwork and with whom I am still in regular contact.

Emanuel has been persistent and also lucky in the work he has done to build himself an extensive network, and the result is indeed quite impressive. It is even more impressive, if one compares it with the situation of other young people with similar backgrounds, such as Adel, for example. Adel has two friends, both also originally from Iraq, and virtually no adults to support him except for one aftercare worker who meets him weekly to help out with the practical details of living alone and giving some emotional support as well (he is entitled to get this support until he turns twenty-one, at the most, which is the official limit of aftercare).⁴⁵ At some point, he had a Finnish girlfriend whose parents seemed to like him, but they broke up. When we talk about his two friends, he says that they are good friends, but he still cannot trust them completely, and openly admits his pressing lack of social network: 'I feel lonely.'

Even though Emanuel's network is far wider and he has both young and adult people around him, there is a certain fragility to it that requires his attention and

_

⁴⁵ Today, this upper limit is twenty-five years (a change was made in 2020).

constant work. It is not the kind of network of family, relatives and longtime friends on whom you can trust to be there for you no matter what happens. Even years after we got to know each other, when his mother reappears and he is in a situation of utmost stress, he is careful in his communication with me. I leave for Copenhagen soon after our meeting, as described above, but we keep in touch via WhatsApp. His messages are always, always decorated with smileys and he never forgets to ask how I am and to send me friendly words, no matter how bad things get and how difficult the struggle for family reunification is. But his anxiousness is manifest both in the messages themselves and between the lines of the forced polite expressions.

Emanuel via WhatsApp: Hi my beloved friend Elina! Little by little life goes on, but mother is still not well and now it worries [us], as we don't know what to do as the immigration services aren't answering and on the other hand mother's condition is not getting any better, but thank you for asking you are a very good friend [blue heart emoji]

Emanuel, some minutes later: But it is really nice to hear that you are doing well, let's keep in touch [smiley]

Emanuel seems to consider his social relationships as something he needs to actively take care of by being funny, joking and friendly. He thinks it is reasonable if his friends get tired of his worries about his mother and distance themselves from him. Of course, these kinds of issues are at stake in many social relationships—it is not surprising as such that he ponders over their reciprocity. It is striking that the balance always seems to be unfavorable to him: he should be the one who is always joking and friendly, even in a moment of serious crisis—as if the other part of the relationship could not be expected to tolerate any other kind of behaviour from his part than fun and friendliness. And perhaps this is true. Perhaps the need for practical help and support in his daily life already consumes his relationships in such a way that he cannot count on people being there for him when his world shakes.

I suggest thinking of the work Emanuel constantly does (re)building his social network as a form of emotional labour. Hochschild defines the concept as "[...] the management of feeling to create a publicly observable facial and bodily display [...]," which in turn is tuned to create a particular emotional state in another person (Hochschild 2012 [1983], 18–19). With management of feeling, or emotion management, she refers to the work people do in order to align both their inner emotions and their outward expressions of emotions with normative expectations (social norms about the appropriate kinds of feelings in particular situations) (ibid., 18). In her classic study, Hochschild was particularly interested in paid labour and the role of emotional labour in service jobs, such as flight attendant's work. For her,

private life is the arena of emotion management, while emotional labour is always sold for a wage (ibid., 19). Other researchers, such as Erickson (2005) and Lively & Powell (2006), have turned their attention to emotional labour in the private realm of the home or across the private-public boundary of family and work. Erickson (2005, 338) argues that as much as care work done (by women) in family settings should be considered labour whether it is paid or not, so should emotional labour performed in such intimate relationships as marriage. It does not come naturally (as is often presumed, especially in the case of women), but requires time, energy and skill—the illusion of effortlessness is part of the work itself. Erickson's understanding of emotional labour shifts the emphasis from the inner self-management of the individual to a more comprehensive view of "[...] people's attempts to effectively manage the emotional climate within a relationship." In the private field, emotional labour "of the highest order" consists, for example, of "[o]ffering encouragement, showing your appreciation, listening closely to what someone has to say, and expressing empathy with another person's feelings [...]." (Erickson 2005, 338–339.)

Emanuel does all this, and with skill. When I have had a hard time with chronic pain and the treatments related to it, he has supported me, not only with his gentle humour and words, but also by asking if he can pray for me and, after doing so, informing me that he feels confident that my situation will get better. As described above, he is consistent in expressing appreciation, attention and empathy towards me, even when he has been under the utmost stress himself. Without his work, our relationship would not be as close as it is—it might not even be there at all. Yet, my case is hardly unique: as he himself reflects, with time, he has learned the way to create relationships with people, and he uses considerable amounts of time and energy in doing just that; in building some kind of substitute for the family he has lost. As Daniels argued in 1987 with regard to women's unpaid work at home, it is essential to dignify these efforts as labour in order not to render them invisible. I would like to argue further that it is also essential to understand how racialization affects the forms of emotional labour and its intersection with gender. "A common theme in the literature on emotional labour is that it is gendered work," write Gunaratnam & Lewis (2001, 138), underlining that emotional labour is connected not only to gendered divisions of labour but also to racialized ones. If emotional labour is chiefly understood as work carried out by women, or, in the case of men, as the repression of emotions thought to be feminine, the scale and volume of emotional labour performed by young refugee background men is obscured.

Looking at the work Emanuel carries out from the point of view of emotional labour may also help to understand why many other young people with this kind of

background are lonely, as Adel said, and lack social support, as Oppedal et al. (2017, 157) write. Not all have the resources that the work of building a substitute for a family requires: the time, the energy, the skills, and the courage. Not that Adel and Denis wouldn't be socially very skilled, too. They were always friendly and polite towards me—perhaps even too polite, I felt. For some reason or another, they seemed to be always a little reserved around me, and the relationship between us did not develop into a lasting friendship that would have been a source of support for them in the long term. As mentioned above, finding the courage necessary for approaching people had been an issue for Emanuel, too. He has worked hard to gain enough (self-)confidence to make big emotional investments in his relationships. And, as I have described, he also openly expresses his feelings, managing to make the other person *feel* them, too. He has always made *me* feel that I am a special person for him, that our friendship has great value, and that he trusts me. In this way, he has weaved a strong bond between us. It is in this that the depth of the emotional labour carried out by Emanuel is most evident.

7.1.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, I have shed light on how, in different spheres of his life, Emanuel dedicates time and energy to the construction of a subject position that he aspires to and that allows for a way of life he longs for. This is the proud subject position of a black, socially skilled and highly educated person whose worth is recognized by the society he encounters in his everyday life. In addition to the mundane political agency his efforts manifest in general, the avenues he explores in his efforts have several more defined political aspects to them. The first is the one to which I already pointed at at the end of the previous chapter on Emanuel (chaper 6.1): the act of disidentifying and breaking away from a given identity—in this case that of the imaginary immigrant—and self-constructing oneself as a different kind of subject. The way Emanuel claims blackness and constantly reminds others about racism, while simultaneously dis-identifying with the category of the imaginary immigrant, unveils the racialized nature of this category and thus forces those around him to open their eyes to the meanings race has in present-day Finland. Nevertheless, Emanuel also works for weaving social networks and building safer spaces, projects that build bonds between people with various backgrounds and skin colours and in this way both break normative whiteness and contribute to transversal solidarity between different groups of people living in Finland. His efforts give people chances to break

their prejudices and to learn to treat each other in a caring way, both developments of great significance in the polarizing mental landscape of Finland, and indeed throughout Europe. In light of Väyrynen's (2019) arguments, the kind of encounters Emanuel cultivates in his everyday life can be understood as "embodied micropractices of peace": of exposing oneself to others and understanding people's mutual dependence and hence enabling the emergence of mundane practices of peace.

As I have emphasized, all of this presumes a great deal of work: emotional labour, intellectual labour, and work that building and maintaining safer social networks requires. At times, I felt that it was simply too much for Emanuel, but his willpower and motivation took me by surprise time and again, and by the time we finished our fieldwork he was still determined to carry out his project. Had we not stayed in contact with each other afterwards, I might have interpreted this as a sign of extraordinary resilience in a similar vein as Oppedal et al. (2017, 156). However, after struggling a few years more to fulfill his dreams of higher education and to keep his family members safe without definite results, Emanuel found himself in a dead end, described in the epilogue below. At the time of writing this text he has not overcome the impasse pursuing his dreams has turned out to be.

Epilogue

Despite the effort Emanuel put into studying, by summer 2019 he had not completed the double degree—he had passed most of the baccalaureate exams, but failed the exam in health education twice by just a few points. He had nevertheless successfully graduated as a practical nurse and was employed in no time flat. First, he worked in a home for the elderly, but later got a job in a rehabilitation unit where different kinds of patients were treated. He was enthusiastic about this job, in which he felt he had the opportunity to learn a lot—which he genuinely enjoys—and where he also got quite positive feedback on his skills.

We discuss these things over the lunch he offers me. He has asked my help in studies once more, this time in order to make a final attempt to pass the remaining baccalaureate exam. We try to chitchat and joke during the meal as usual, but he is both frustrated and angry and the atmosphere is flat compared to other times. The reason for his anger is plain: I had found out some weeks earlier that he is entitled to two extra hours (and, before spring 2019, when the legislation was changed, also extra points) in baccalaureate exams due to not being a native Finnish speaker and the relatively short time he has lived in Finland. No-one had told him this, not to speak of taking care of applying for these special arrangements on his behalf, guaranteed by law for students who have disabilities or problems that cause them extra difficulties in exams. He might have passed the exam with these arrangements, as he had only lacked a couple of points both times he tried. I share his anger and frustration—it feels grossly unjust that he has not gotten even this minimal support from the school. After I told him about this chance, he had gone to meet the student counsellor who then said that yes, he would be entitled to these arrangements

(but didn't even apologize for not applying them earlier) and, after some persuasion, promised to take care of it this time. The counsellor had promised to inform Emanuel how things proceeded, but had not done so, and Emanuel suspects that they have not done what they promised.

In addition to preparing for the baccalaureate's exam once more, Emanuel had applied to a couple of universities of applied sciences in order to study to become a registered nurse. He wasn't successful in the exams: he passed the interviews easily, convincing the psychologists that he has a talent for care work, but the theoretical parts were designed more to test the speed of reading and answering than knowledge, and as Emanuel reads Finnish slowly, he failed these exams. After all the hardships Emanuel has gone through he is still unconditionally determined to continue his studies: 'I want to get higher education,' he says. I feel puzzled by his stubbornness and ask why it is so extremely important to him, but he seems to be confused by this question. The idea of him not doing so is so unthinkable that verbalizing the exact reason for this is kind of difficult. He looks at me as if the question was totally crazy, and says:

I want to be a Big Man! That I would just stay put in this, just be a practical nurse and work as such year in, year out, no way, I cannot. It is my dream to gain higher education, and now that I have a chance to do so I want to take that chance. I don't want to be like some foreigners who do not do anything and just take social benefits or who just study a vocation and then work as such, no. Everybody wants education here, I feel it is like people are competing with each other, and so the valuation of basic education drops. At work, some of the registered nurses and other staff look down at us practical nurses. It makes me feel small. And it is also an economic question, if I get two kids, for example, how could they live on the salary of a practical nurse?'

I insist that many practical nurses do raise children with their salaries, that it is perhaps not always easy, but it is possible—and he has to give in to a point. But from our other discussions concerning Emanuel's and his wife's future plans it becomes clear that they are not going to be funded by the meagre salaries they currently earn. Emanuel aims for what he sees as a decent life for a Big Man and his family; a respectable and well remunerated profession that secures recognition in society and good, upper-middle-class living standards. 'I don't know what to do if I am not able to fulfil my plans. It is my dream...' he sighs.

Half a year after our shared lunch his dream still feels just as difficult to achieve, if not more so. First, there had been the good news: against all odds, he had been accepted at a university of applied sciences in a supplementary search for students, in which five places were open for studies in nursing—though on the other side of the country, nearly 400 kilometers away. Emanuel girded up his loins, arranged everything, and moved—once more—to a completely new town in order to build his life in the direction he so dearly wishes. It was tough, what with both the move, being separated from his wife (who could not move with him, as she got a place to study in their home city), and studying at the new school, which he found to be very demanding. And then, after some months of pulling through against these difficulties, there came the bad news: his mother got a negative decision on her application for an extended residence permit and was given thirty days to leave Finland. Again, Emanuel, as the eldest sibling still alive, is the one

responsible for taking care of everything, of organizing someone to write a complaint about the decision and finding out what else there is they can do. This is the fourth time during his years in Finland that he has to worry about and organize things to ensure his or a family member's right to stay in the country. This is also the first time I hear Emanuel start to hesitate about the sense of putting all the effort he does into his studies.

He has missed several exams because of having to travel to his actual home city to take care of his mother's case, and because of all the time he has to spend calling lawyers, social workers, me (I try to help them out in this difficult situation), and migrant rights' activists; his school is "a total mess", and he ponders aloud:

I am wondering does this make any sense? I have to work and try so hard, but every time there is some obstacle in the way. Usually, it is my language skills—no matter how much and how long I study Finnish, it never seems to be enough. Or if it is not that, then it is something else. And there is always something that I need to try to take care of, to organize, to sort out. It is never-ending, and it is always the same. Nothing changes, and I am not progressing. Before, I had this feeling that I am young, I want to live, that there are many things for me to see and experience, and that I have some kind of chances in life. Maybe I am weak, but now I feel like I don't have that anymore. I feel that if I was to die now, there would be no reason for me to resist. I could just as well die.'

7.2 Professional African performer: Manasse always on stage

I am sitting with Manasse at my worktop, drinking tea and looking at photos and videos of their band's soundcheck and gig. We start by talking about the people involved in the project, but soon discussion turns to the songs they performed, especially the lyrics. We spend an intensive session going through the lyrics (expressions in other languages than Finnish are written in italics):

Manasse: Then there is this song that I had written. I don't know yet if this will be the official song, but at least I will try to get it recorded. The backgrounds might change a bit, because that was more, like, for live performance, and then, one should make it more into, like, hip-hop style.

Elina: What does baggie mean? You have to translate these for me!

Manasse: It is, like, kind of African English slang, which is used across Central Africa: Nigeria, Kenya, Congo. That [baggie] is like a kiss, on the cheek.

We start going through the lyrics verse by verse, Manasse translating the expressions I don't understand.

Elina: Well, is this language, or this slang, really, is it the kind you spoke there, or where does it come from?

Manasse: Well, like, I did learn, I mean I did not speak that much English in Africa... But I did learn, I did speak with *fellow* Africans. But I can also speak, like, with a normal accent, I speak like...

Elina: British accent! Can you do a British accent?

Manasse: British accent, American accent! I have tried to learn really a lot of the different accents of English. But yes, I have learned, I have learned also that [African slang]!

Elina: Yeah. From where?

Manasse: Well, from movies, music... Then also by speaking, then it develops, like, by itself. It comes automatically when I speak like with Africans. [...] But [in the lyrics] it is also this kind of like rap slang.

Elina: And it is like exactly your language, you know, I think it is. Yeah, one shouldn't think too much what is, like, exactly correct Finnish. And the language also changes and one can, like, change it.

Manasse: Yeah, it is exactly the same in English, how we Africans speak it, like, in a bit different way, and anyhow, it means like the same thing and like this. We *miss* a word, pronounce a word a little bit differently, and yet it means the same.

Elina: What is this [sentence in the lyrics] then? "Tries to go to limo zingolimbo"?

Manasse: I tried to mix languages in there a bit, it is like "another place". And then this means, "acya nikutoe mzigo", wait a bit... I cannot, like, explain in Finnish. That acya [...] it is like give [...], mzigo is like pain, usually it means like weight. So, if it is, like, yeah, like, how would it be, let me ease your... well anyhow, it could be pain. Let me ease your pain! [...] Now that I have spoken English a lot, Finnish gets like mixed, always when I try to translate some words...

Elina: Yeah, it turns into English.

Manasse: Turns, like, automatically first into English and then I try to translate it from there to Finnish and it doesn't work out.

Elina: This [song], was it that you didn't remember the name of it?

Manasse: Africa it was, I think. It has mix-language. There is a bit mixed languages...

Elina: Yeah, is that the one that you said there is four languages or...

Manasse: Yeah. That is often how it is in the songs of African people. And also often otherwise [than in songs]. Usually, it is like in English or in French, but then one mixes like one's own languages there.

Africa (lyrics by Manasse, in original languages)

Happy day ooh wana wa Africa From Kenya to Ghana beautiful chicas I plant my fortune, I go demand it oh later Yo playboy perfume no go disallow di sweato Yeah ooh mama don't tell me to go home Yeaah ooh mama I no wanna go home

Does it remain the same Does it hurt just to play No you no go see them Behind almighty things in there

Noo daddy don't tell me to go home

Noo daddy ooh I no wanna go home

I see beautiful city I see beautiful people

I see miracle things and it is us who go keep em.

Watu wananiona. Tusalimieni amigos. Ona ona ona ona uzuri wauangano.

Why dem people divided. When we all glad to be part of something unimaginable, magical, amicable

While we people excited cuz we all glad to be part of something unimaginable, love magical

We gon fight till the day we die oh Brother sent to life...prison, ain't funyo Blessed are so few still gifted so many oh Yu think ya gyal so cool she dey chop all ya money

Ooh auntie oh don't tell me to go home Ooh auntie oh I no wanna go home

In the previous chapter on Manasse, I already hinted at what kind of subject position he is reaching towards instead of the position of "vulnerable refugee youth", which he rejects. In this chapter, I take a closer look at the subject position he aspires to by investigating his self-representation and its tensions with his lived reality. As a person striving for publicity, Manasse has crafted a careful representation of himself that one can perceive by taking a look at his Instagram account, for example. It is a polished account with carefully taken and edited photos of him in different surroundings with eloquent outfits, from ten years back to date. In his profile, he proclaims himself to be a "Rapper/Singer/DJ/Producer/Designer". In another account he has put up with the group which he formed with his friends during my fieldwork in order to produce music events, they boldly describe themselves as a "Team Of Visionaries" from "East Africa/Finland/[Home town in Finland]". Both accounts and descriptions are in English.

From these descriptions of his Instagram account, the field excerpt above and the previous chapter on Manasse (chapter 6.2), it is possible to pick out a few central elements of the subject position Manasse aspires to. One is Africa: Manasse aligns with people he considers "we Africans", both verbally (as above), and physically (think of him during the soundcheck, not working together with his own band but hanging around the African performers of the other group, fiddling with their instruments, searching for contact). Almost everything he does is related to Africa as a continent (and I will dig into this later on in this chapter). His orientation towards Africa is not nationalist in spirit, but rather has a cosmopolitan character; he presents

himself first and foremost as an English speaker, and aspires to learn not only African English, but also the "British accent, American accent, a lot of different kinds of accents", and Africa/Finland are linked with ease in the Instagram description. There are, thus, constant hints at high mobility between countries, continents, languages and cultures. The third element that is strongly present is Manasse's self-identification as a professional music and media artist: rapper and singer, DJ, producer and designer.

Is that it, then? In some ways, yes: this is a condensed, but, I believe, an accurate description of Manasse's self-representation. The picture, of course, gets complicated when considered further. Take, for example, the question of Manasse's first language. The field excerpt above describes a time, though it is far from the only, Manasse has told me that it is difficult for him to express himself in Finnish, 'as I am multilingual'. And he undoubtedly is: Swahili, Kinyarwanda, French, Finnish and English all belong to his repertoire. What sticks out as noteworthy is that it is English that he underlines—by both explicitly saying so and implicitly by using English expressions in his speech—as the language he thinks in and tends to automatically speak. And yet, English is not his first language (Swahili and French are competing for that spot) nor his second (that would be Kinyarwanda and Finnish). As he himself makes clear, he did not speak English too much when he still lived in Africa, and he has made considerable efforts to learn to speak it—and not only to speak it, but to speak it with different accents and to use different slangs fluently. I am not saying that Manasse is lying when he says it is his first language—it most likely is, now. The point is that this was not automatic; Manasse has worked hard, and continues to do so, to be(come) someone whose first language is English and its various vernaculars.

There is a similar kind of tension to be found underneath the three elements I picked out as central with regard to Manasse's aspired subject position above. Belonging to Africa, yet being a mobile person who identifies himself as a professional musician, performing and media artist are all complicated on closer scrutiny. Making this complication an object of analysis does not mean that I do not consider his self-representation valid. Quite the contrary! It means taking it seriously, to understand that it is not something that he can simply choose to be. To reach toward the kind of subject position he does, from the position he is in, requires courage and a lot of work. The aim of this chapter is to inquire into the tension between Manasse's self-representation and lived reality from the point of view of mundane political agency. I will look at how he navigates the limitations, possibilities, aspirations and constraints concerning each of the three constituents of his self-

representation, and how, taken together, these can be understood as an act of claiming a subject position that contrasts clearly with the one he was offered in the band project.

7.2.1 Belonging: "we Africans" versus "meikäläiset"

Quite early on during our fieldwork together I couldn't help noticing that Africa keeps popping up all over the place in my data regarding Manasse. Almost everything he does seems to be at least somehow related to Africa: the band project, of course, but also an exhibition he is involved in; a football team he puts together with his friends, who all have African background and that is called, as a matter of course, "Africa United"; a festival he performs at, the "African slang" he tells me he uses in his lyrics; the production group he founds with his friends, which they name after an area in DR Congo, and, to kind of crystallize it all, his song Africa (printed at the beginning of this chapter). Africa or elements of it are also present on another level in everyday situations, less explicit, but all the more pervasive. A glance at the background of his smart phone (which is seldom out of sight) shows the weather and time in Kigali and Kinshasa; when I complain of rain and wind in the autumn he notes that he doesn't mind it as it is just like winter "over there in Africa"; and our random discussions are constantly drawn towards issues concerning Africa: we sit reading information on population growth in Nigeria, for example, or searching for the roof of the exact house in which they lived in Rwanda from a satellite map.

At one point in my fieldwork, we decide to a have a data session together, so that I can tell him what kind of early observations I have made and we can reflect their accuracy and relevance together. This is one of the points I bring up, asking him if it is a coincidence that everything he does at the moment seems to relate to Africa in one way or another. I get a definite response, obviously based on previous reflection on the issue:

Manasse: It is not, in fact. It is not a coincidence. It comes, it comes like from there, from one way or the other. You know that I am African.

Elina: Yeah. And you think that you are African? What about, do you think first and foremost African or do you think Congolese or do you think...?

Manasse: African. In my opinion it does not matter are you Congolese or where you are from. African.

Elina: How about Finland, ten years in Finland? Has no effect whatsoever?

Manasse: Does not really have an effect. I think that my children, my children will also feel the same, no matter where they are [...]. In Finland or in Sweden or in England, or wherever I am. Because in the end I am African, even if I had been born

in Finland, I would anyhow be African. I have African parents, and even though they had born in Finland I would anyhow have African roots.

Elina: Mmmm. So do I if we go two million years back in time.

Manasse: Yeah! You can also be African if you want to!

Elina: Eh, I don't need to.

Manasse: You can, because, in Africa I did have, like, white friends too, and there is also a lot of them in South Africa. Like, they are called African there, even though they might have European background.

Elina: So that it is not about the colour of your skin.

Manasse: It is not the colour of the skin. I think it is a cultural question, which is like the culture that comes as number one. Because I have lived in Finland long enough so that I have learned to respect the culture of Finland and also to live accordingly. So, which is the culture in your opinion that comes like to you as the first one. I think it is more about that [...]. The African dialect language, it is the kind of language that sounds to you like funny, nice, feels good. The kind of environment I mean, over there in Africa, the kind of environment that is good and in which you enjoy. Almost [...] anything I talk about, so I think like, which place comes as first to me regarding that particular thing, and it is, for me it is Africa. If it is music, it is African music. I like black music and like that. Movies, also those I would say right away Africa [...]. And, yeah, then the culture of course, what kind of habits there are, and exactly because [...] I feel that they are a lot better, some things in the culture are better than let's say in some other culture. [...] I do know a lot of things that are like better here, in European system than in African system. But then [...] mostly [with regard to] the kind of things that affect my life a lot, in my opinion the African system is worth most.

We end up in a long discussion about the differences between raising children in Finland and in DR Congo. Manasse reflects on the effect the habits he defines as African have had on his life and how, thanks to them, he was able to realize later in his teens in Finland that he was going in the wrong direction in his life, getting into "bad ways". In the end he crystallizes the discussion: "That is exactly why Africa comes to me, Africa comes to my mind all the time. I simply love Africa. All its evil and its good."

Taking into account this strong feeling of being an African, of relating nearly everything one does to Africa, of having roots in Africa and loving Africa as it is, it is interesting to note that Manasse never spoke of plans to return there for good, neither to DR Congo nor to any other country. He did actively dream of a large Africa round trip, and had made plans for it with some friends, checking flight prices and putting together an itinerary for several countries: DR Congo, Rwanda, Ghana, Nigeria and Tanzania in Central Africa, in the north either Morocco or Egypt, and finally also South Africa. When it comes to where he sees himself living in in the future, however, he didn't even mention Africa as a possibility. In the conversation above regarding his future children he lists Finland, England and Sweden as possible

dwelling places (though in passing he dismisses Sweden, remarking that he does not think it is likely for him to marry a Swede). Many other times he brings out Great Britain as his desired future place of residence (more on this in the next section).

Of course, it is quite possible to live in one place and feel that one belongs to another simultaneously, or to a group of people who live in both places—in Manasse's case, "we Africans", which could, in other words, be defined as Africans living in Africa and the African diaspora. I find no reason to doubt that this is as central in his life as he says it is. Nevertheless, there is another kind of "we" that crops up here and there in his talk. It is a we that, on the level of his everyday life, is much more concrete, in the sense that it is present in his daily encounters in his home city. It overlaps, in some ways, with "we Africans", as many of the people in the group do have African backgrounds. Yet not all of them do, and neither does he, nor anyone else, refer to this group as such. It was this group I found him bantering with outside the fence at the world music event (see the previous chapter about Manasse, 6.2). Similarly, it is this group that, at an exhibition opening at which Manasse performs—an exhibition the theme of which is Africa—stays outside the doors of the gallery, only entering when Manasse performs and when other guests have left, and then in order to wolf down the leftovers of the delicacies on offer before heading to a nearby parking lot together to blast rap and hang around a car belonging to one of them.

It is a loose group of young people (mostly, though not exclusively, young men) of immigrant background. In practice, this means (with a few exceptions) immigrants from Africa and the Middle East, the overwhelming majority of whom have (either themselves or their parents) refugee background. In his, none-too-big, home city, all young people fitting this description pretty much know each other, if not personally, then at least through friends. Manasse refers to this group explicitly as we: either with the word's literal Finnish counterpart *me*, or with a vernacular expression *meikäläiset*, which has a slightly freer and easier tone.

'[Local multicultural youth club] is a good place, because one learns a lot in there, one learns how to communicate directly with immigrant youth. [...] It is good that there are places like that where one can learn how to speak and joke with us. As there are so many places where we learn about Finnish people and how one behaves here, it is good that there is some place where Finnish people can learn how to communicate with *meikäläiset*. Because they don't know how to, they are a little afraid, it is weird for them.'

This came from Manasse completely spontaneously—we had met to discuss other things, and, when we were about to take leave of each other, he told me that he was

going to the club to charge his shoes (they had electric lights) and chitchat with the workers. It is possible to read his exclamation in many ways: for example, an element of talking back (hooks 1989) is conspicuous in the way Manasse turns the customary "integration of immigrants" discourse on its head—which he knows full well to be the raison d'être behind the work of the youth club in question, too. For the sake of my argument, the juxtaposition of two intercomparable groups Manasse builds via the act of talking back is of greatest relevance: he represents the existence of a group of "immigrant youth" [maahanmuuttajanuoret] as self-evident, comparable to "Finnish people", both of whom have certain characteristics and both of whom need to learn about each other and how to communicate with each other. The Finnish are a bit shy and afraid, they don't know how to joke and banter in a relaxed way, while meikäläiset are more extrovert, constantly joking, and tend to test the other person's guts a little:

Manasse: 'I will go over there and irritate Mia [a worker of the club], it is fun to irritate her, she understands us and our chat and jokes.'

Elina: 'It is true, she does.'

Manasse: 'There is a new worker there as well, [name of the worker].'

Elina: 'Yeah, I have heard. Is she nice too?'

Manasse: 'She is alright. She will learn to speak with us. Mia was also like that in the beginning, a little shy, then she learned.'

Manasse is far from the only young person of immigrant background I have heard using the concept "we immigrant youth" in such a self-evident way. Quite the contrary, it is quite common to hear it used in this way, at any rate in some cities, among some groups of young people. It is not a precise definition, in the sense that it also includes young people who were born in Finland, but are racialized as immigrants. Here, however, the essential point is not the definition itself, but the group Manasse refers to with it, and that is relevant with regard to his belonging: it is these young people that form the core of his circle of friends, and it is them he explicitly addresses as "we". It is striking that belonging to this group implies non-belonging to Finnish people and Finland, since the group is formed via juxtaposition with them. In the next section, I take a closer look at Manasse's aspirations for a mobile lifestyle, shedding further light on his relation to, and his sense of non-belonging in, Finland.

⁴⁶ Or at any rate it was—a couple of years later when I discuss the issue of terminology with Manasse, he tells me that he (and his friends) have pretty much dropped the word.

7.2.2 Mobility: cosmopolitan versus refugee

If Manasse's future plans did not include moving back to Africa, staying in Finland was out of the question, too. "Finland is good but it is too small for me," he said, and was determined to "escape Finland." In his reflections, Africa is in his heart—whether he wants it or not—but Finland is in his brain. I take this as yet another expression of him feeling firmly rooted in Africa while being based, on a practical, rational, everyday level in Finland. When it comes to his future plans and dreams, however, they concern a totally different, so far unknown geography: the whole world.

His most concrete plan, or dream, is to live in Great Britain. He speaks of this almost every time we meet and have a bit more time to chat. At first, it assumes only vague form, perhaps rather far off in the hoped-for future. Later, it concretizes into a clear plan: at the time Manasse's military service is due, he decides first to carry it out, then apply to a polytechnic to study media, and then to head to a town in Scotland as an exchange student to start his new life in GB.⁴⁷

At the same time, he is constantly talking of travelling. There is the big plan for the great trip around Africa, but also other destinations, stretching from Korea to Australia to South America, are on the map. He proclaims that he wants to learn Mandarin, and believes it should be easy enough for him: even though it is different from all the other languages he masters, he believes that, with his multilingual background and language-learning skills, it should not be a much bigger task than learning any other language—which, he thinks, will happen pretty much by itself, if he just settles in some country. Besides being multilingual, Manasse repeatedly mentions his multicultural background, often framing that as a skill, too. As in the above excerpt of our discussion on Africa and Finland, he speaks of how he respects, and has a deep understanding of, different cultures and religions (especially Islam, which has been strongly present in his social circles both in DR Congo/Rwanda and in Finland). All in all, the way he speaks of the world, its languages and cultures, and of himself travelling here and living there, constructs an image of a true cosmopolitan.

It is not, of course, uncommon for a young person to dream of travelling all over the world and living abroad. In Manasse's case, however, this is both more and less

⁴⁷ Some years later Manasse's future plans have changed shape to a certain extent. Now he does explicitly dream of having a home in Africa—though not living there on a permanent basis, but "having an address", that is having a domicile both in Africa and somewhere in Europe. Nevertheless, he underlines: "I am a citizen of the world, I don't like to stay put in one place for a long time. But it would be good to have a home there, so that I could go over easily."

concrete than for many other youths. He has lived in three different countries among people from different backgrounds and cultures. His extended family is dispersed over several countries on several continents: he has relatives not only in several countries in Africa and Europe, but also in North America and Australia. During our fieldwork, some of his siblings did indeed go abroad as exchange students—though using the word "abroad" feels a little misleading here, as, for Manasse and his siblings, there really does not seem to be any clear distinction between a steady home country with the rest of the world as its counterpart. In this sense, the way Manasse relates to the world in our discussions—as one with no noteworthy borders—seems to be quite in line with his lived reality.

While all this holds, there is also something that doesn't quite fit the picture. If one scrutinizes Manasse's actual, factual mobility, what one finds is not the voluntary, free movement across borders and cultures he describes. So far, his mobility has been forced: first, he fled with his family from DR Congo to Rwanda, and, second, they were placed in a small town in Eastern Finland under the refugee quota system. From there, he and his family have moved to a bigger city in the south of the country—and this is their first non-forced move. After that, Manasse has stayed put in both city and country. He has done a couple of short trips to neighboring countries such as Sweden—and, when doing so, has been spot checked at the border too many times, a reminder of how his mobility, even with a Finnish passport in his back pocket, is not as free as some other people's.

Manasse: "This year we have been on a cruise [two night's cruise to Stockholm and back] twice, and both times, on the way back to Finland, we were asked to show our papers and open our suitcases to show what there is. And, of course, it has been just some clothes... It feels a little weird. And if they check someone's papers and suitcase, they should check everybody's.'

Elina: 'What do you suppose they think, that you come from somewhere else without papers?'

Manasse: I guess so, or then they think we have drugs or something. The second time it happened [a friend] lost his temper, and when they came to ask us for papers he just said that, here, they are in my pocket, come and check, and continued walking.' Elina: [Laughing] I can imagine that, he is just the kind of person who loses temper in a situation like that! What happened then?'

Manasse: 'Well, it was a little embarrassing situation then. When he heard that we speak Finnish he guessed we must have papers, and there was quite a lot of people around and all, so in the end he didn't ask again.'

One might be tempted to disregard these incidents as small and without serious consequences (since "you just show your EU passport and open the bag that only has some clothes in it, and that's it"). But, as the research project *The Stopped—Ethnic*

profiling in Finland has proven, ethnic profiling by authorities is a problem that has serious effects on the people it targets. The project found that, "[...] young men belonging to racialized minorities are predominantly targeted by ethnic profiling practices," and that the practices "[...] make the persons stopped aware of the fact that they are perceived of as 'others'—those not belonging to the country where they live and perhaps were also born—and in some cases, as those expected to commit criminal acts because of their ethnic or racial backgrounds." (Keskinen et. al. 2018.) These quotes resonate all too well with Manasse's reflection above. All in all, his present-day experience of making merely short visits to a neighboring country stands in obvious contrast with the ease of doing so while they were living in Rwanda: there, with a bunch of other ten-year-old kids, he would freeride to Uganda by hanging onto the tail end of trucks, buy some stuff, and then freeride back to sell them at a better price in Rwanda.

Also, Manasse has personal experience of the effects of being the target of ethnic profiling at borders in a more severe sense. He is quite aware of the asylum system and the hardships many go through in their effort to gain a residence permit in Finland. Furthermore, while I was working with him, one of his siblings, who had stayed in Africa when the rest of the family left, tried to enter Finland in order to seek asylum. They were caught on the way while crossing the border to another EU country. There, as the result of complex series of events, their asylum application was rejected, but they could not be deported because of the situation in their home country. Caught in this legal limbo, and facing a meaningless life in an isolated deportation centre, the sibling traveled back to Africa on his own.

In the end, Manasse's plans of travelling extensively and leaving Finland for good—which, at the time of writing, date back several years—have not come true. He has not had any large trips, has not applied to become an exchange student, and has not concretized his dream of moving out of Finland. In short, his mobility, so far, has been either forced or non-realized. A stark contrast prevails between his self-representation as a voluntarily highly mobile citizen of the world and his factual immobility and background as a forced migrant. It is as if he were stuck, only in a country in which he is constantly reminded of his non-belonging, which, in turn, is strongly reflected in the way he aligns with immigrant youth and "we Africans" as opposed to "the Finnish people". As he puts it himself: "there is this feeling of being an outsider."

How to understand Manasse's im/mobility? Either way, there is no concrete obstacle that might be pointed out as the element that keeps him put or pushes him away. He does have Finnish citizenship, and in this sense is an acknowledged

member of Finnish society. He could, therefore, also take advantage of free movement within the Schengen area. Yet he does not do so (something holds him back), and, yet, he constantly expresses his non-belonging in Finland (something rejects him). In this sense, his mobility is comparable to the "marginal mobilities" that Juntunen et al. (2014, 16) describe. They write:

The conventional classification of mobilities as either voluntary mobilities (tourism, lifestyle migration, business travel) or forced mobilities (asylum migration or economic migrants in search of employment or improved economic position) bears hardly any relevance to marginal mobilities. The people that we have encountered in our ethnographic fieldworks are characteristically neither entirely free nor forced to adopt life on the road. Rather, marginal mobile people typically conceive themselves as being pushed from behind in a variety of ways and marginalised by the background society.

The concept of marginal mobility is substantially accurate in Manasse's case—only in a kind of reversed version to that developed by Juntunen et al.. Their informants are constantly on the road: "The key feature of these people is their apparent dislocation from everywhere [...]. They have no particular aimed destination and as a result the movement, rather than settlement in a specific destination, characterises distinctively the lifestyle of these people." (Ibid., 12.) While Manasse has no particular destination in mind (there are too many of them for any one of them to be a true aim) and is, equally, dislocated from everywhere, it is not movement that characterizes his life, but immobility. If constant movement with no destination may be understood as marginality in the sense of a "position in-between" (ibid., 13), so, too, can the kind of *immobility in dislocation* Manasse's situation communicates.

7.2.3 Self-identification: professional African background performer versus immigrant "Suomiräppäri"

Performing—either singing, playing or dancing—is, for Manasse, a chance to "just do what I love." He enjoys being on stage, and is not picky when it comes to accepting gigs or participating in projects involving performing. But, as he brings out in the excerpt at the beginning of this chapter, his own genre is hip-hop. He is working hard to build a career of his own, though is still searching for his artistic self a bit—during my fieldwork he changed his stage name twice. When I started working with Manasse, he had recently been successful in a contest in which new rap talents were being sought. The contest was organized by a smallish firm working in advertisement, event production and recording. The contest itself had several

rounds, but Manasse was picked out from the other twelve competitors already in the first. Straight away, the firm agreed a record contract with him and started working as his agent, and in a month they released his first single.

However, in contrast with Manasse's self-representation as an English speaker, his first single was in Finnish. His whole stage persona was planned as Finnish speaking: in their introduction, the record company called Manasse a "[...] versatile artist who performs in Finnish. With him, we will publish music ranging from peaceful love pieces to rough, gangsta-style raps." In the long run, the cooperation with the record company did not prove fruitful and there were no further recordings. "I was enthusiastic about it," as Manasse later explained to me:

I wanted to take my own style and music there, while, of course, respecting what the other artists were doing as well. But somehow the studio sessions always went, like, pushing [me] towards a certain kind of manner and musical style which was what they wanted me to do. And this is not really my thing.

Manasse didn't release music for a couple of years—the whole time we worked together. After this break, he has released new songs with a new stage name, and been active, both performing and in organizing small-scale events here and there. The first song he released following this hiatus was entirely in English, and it was his own production. It hasn't gained too much interest—at the time of writing, it has, for example, only been played about 2200 times on Spotify. Other of the songs Manasse has released are co-productions with a couple of other young artists. He describes these projects more as acts of supporting the new artists than as furthering his own projects. These co-productions have reached a much wider audience; the most listened to had been played about 70 000 times on Spotify. The main language on all these songs is Finnish—though not any kind of Finnish, but a peculiar one, born out of Finnish rap slang (to put it as Manasse would) and the kind of creative use of language that Manasse and his co-performers, who all have multilingual backgrounds, are capable of.

The tension between the weight Manasse gives to learning English, and to being an English speaker, and the fact that his music (his most central form of self-expression!) is actually mostly in Finnish is intense.⁴⁸ One reason behind this contradiction is quite simple, though. If one wishes to build a career as a hip-hop artist based in Finland, one naturally has to start with the local scene. There is quite a strong rap scene in Finland, explicitly labelled as "Suomirap", which, since the turn

⁴⁸ The multilingual band project I have described in previous chapters on Manasse is an exception in the context of his work as a musician beginning his career.

of the millennium, has developed its lyrics quite exclusively in Finnish (Tervo 2014, 177). It is Finnish of its own kind, of course, a slang that has strong mutual interplay with the vernaculars spoken in the Finnish capital region and other parts of Finland, but developed in its own distinctive direction. Rather recently—since about 2010—a kind of subgenre of "emergent migrant rap" (Westinen 2017, 335; 338) has developed under Suomirap, in which the artists either have immigrant background, or are categorized as immigrants on racial grounds. Today, artists belonging to this group generally perform in Finnish (Westinen 2017, 338), though in their own specific way. The emergence of this subgenre came to the knowledge of a wider public by 2013 at the latest, when Musta Barbaari ("The Black Barbarian") released *Salil eka, salil vika* ("First at the gym, last at the gym"), which was a pretty big hit. It is an elaborate and ironic critique of stereotypes, playing with classic racist slurs, the sexualizing of black bodies and the white gaze (for a thorough analysis of the lyrics and video, see Westinen 2017).

Other racialized rap artists like Prinssi Jusuf with *Vuoden mamu* ("The immigrant of the year"), Seksikäs-Suklaa ("Sexy-Chocolate") and Dosdela with their *Niiku97* ("Like97", which refers to a well-known brawl in 1997, when neo-Nazi skinheads attacked a group of Somalis on a football field in a suburb of Helsinki) have continued along similar lines, producing an explicit and finely nuanced ironic critique of racism and xenophobia in the Finnish context. There are a couple of artists who have immigrant backgrounds, Biniyam and Gracias, for instance, whose profile is a little bit different and who rap in English (though Gracias has made a turn to Finnish recently too). But, as Biniyam himself notes, and research confirms (Tervo 2014, 177), the basic contemporary rap scene in Finland is "[...] rap in Finnish language and next to it a small quota of English rap" (Vedenpää 2015).

So, for a young immigrant background artist working to build a career as a rapper in Finland there is kind of a natural niche available. To fit that niche and reach wider audiences, you need to do your music in Finnish. That is what Manasse now does with his co-performers, who also fall into the same category. In some ways, then, he is compromising the kind of self and artist he is striving to be because of the constricted role of immigrant rapper available to him. He explains that his own project is still mostly on pause—when he has time from co-productions he does work on his own songs, but he has limited time for this. "But I am in no hurry at all, I do everything, like, step by step," he notes. Instead, at the moment Manasse puts his energy into promoting those young artists whose style he considers promising, since, despite his dream of leaving Finland for good, he does want to contribute to Finnish hip-hop culture:

I want to build some kind of genre in the Finnish music scene, to leave my legacy. To build some kind of base in [his home city], so that not everything would turn towards the capital city. So that not everyone would go there to do music, to some indie companies in which dozens of artists do the same thing.

Thus, while compromising in some areas (such as language), Manasse and his coartists are actively trying to carve out space for their own expression. If one compares their videos to the ones produced by the "immigrant rappers" based in the Finnish capital region, one can notice obvious differences with regard to at least two of the three elements Tervo (2014, 173-174) mentions as basic for music videos: the subject/lyrics of the songs, and the visualization (staging and clothing of the artists).⁴⁹ To start with, Manasse and his co-performers' songs are not about racism or racist stereotypes per se-these are not the main topic of any of the songs they have produced and released together.⁵⁰ If these themes do crop up, they do so only in a few subordinate clauses and with a matter-of-fact air, as if there was really nothing much to add about them. Instead, the number one topic of the songs is girls—though not, however, in the sexist way classic to rap—and the second is life in their home city (in comparison to the capital) and in one's own hoods, one's status on the local scene and coming success in the Suomirap scene. A third theme, which is not consistent, but pops up in a few verses, is criticism of machismo. This theme is more explicitly addressed in one of the pieces Manasse names as his favourites, a story about school bullying.

Second, the staging and clothing in Manasse and his co-performers' videos differs from other "immigrant rappers" videos. Some of their videos stand in such marked contrast to Musta Barbaari's *Salil eka, salil vika* that one is tempted to read them as a critical commentary to it (and to others similar to it). To begin with, the crew in these videos is visibly different from that in other "immigrant rap" videos. In MB's video, for example, the crew consists of black men working out, rapping and dancing in the gym: "[...]muscular, half-dressed and aestheticized. They are often zoomed in on or watched in slow motion, which visually emphasizes their 'Blackness', masculinity and muscularity," as Westinen (2017, 344) observes. In Manasse and his co-artists' videos, the crews are formed by teenage boys (sometimes girls are visible too) of different phenotypes, and their behaviour does not, in general, underline toughness or masculinity—some do in some poses, but the majority do not. Most of their outfits

-

⁴⁹ With my limited knowledge of hip-hop I won't venture into an evaluation of the third element Tervo lists, the music and its background influences.

⁵⁰ With the exception of one video produced in the context of an anti-racist project, which Manasse and some of his co-performers took part in. This is explicitly and only about racism and equality.

are in line with hip-hop fashion—many wear baseball caps, oversized gold chains and hoodies—but their style is far from uniform, and quite unique styles of dress and dance are given visibility. In contrast to the masculine gym setting of MB's video, theirs are shot in several places, most of which communicate the artists' everyday surroundings as not especially masculine and tough. There is a living room, for example, a cellar of some generic block of flats, school surroundings, and an underground car park. There is seriousness but not aggression in their rapping, proudness, but sometimes also playfulness, sadness or a kind of insecurity in their posing and dance—and a willingness to show all this, instead of concealing it, which speaks to me of great daring. In the piece about school bullying, mentioned as Manasse's personal favourite above, the young performers plead for stopping bullying and speak about finding their brothers badly beaten up or friends crying. This goes completely against the grain of MB's video that emphasizes masculinity and toughness (despite its ironic twist).

All in all, the videos and songs Manasse and his co-performers have released give the impression that, instead of trying to fit a certain kind of rap imagery, they are working on building their own kind of expression. They are not shy about presenting their everyday life surroundings and habitus as it is; they neither pretend to be gangsta rappers nor follow in the footsteps of other "immigrant rappers" on the Finnish rap scene, but have chosen a path of their own. Notably, this path leads, in part, towards diversification of (black) masculinities and a broadening of the space available for racialized rappers in Finland, reaching beyond the restricted position of talking back to the mainstream white hip-hop scene and negotiating one's role in it (cf. Westinen 2019, 237). Manasse is outspoken about the importance the messages carried by their co-authored pieces have for him. While it is obvious that Manasse and his co-artists are only at the beginning of their careers, that the videos are made with few resources, and that they still have a long way to go if they want to gain a name, it is equally clear that they are working to create a style of their own that distinguishes them from that which would be most readily available to them. This is not easy, since, as Manasse puts it, "people do not take it in, they do not feel it, because it is not what they expect [to hear]." He summarizes:

We would like to surprise people or somehow force the Finnish music scene to be able to accept this new thing we are trying to do, to insert it in the back of their head, to open up their brain. I would not like to even start by doing that [what is expected from "immigrant rappers"], because when you get stuck in that category you cannot somehow broaden it. You do it until you, like, lose yourself completely.

7.2.4 Claiming presence as an Afropolitan

They (read: we) are Afropolitans—the newest generation of African emigrants, coming soon or collected already at a law firm/chem lab/jazz lounge near you. You'll know us by our funny blend of London fashion, New York jargon, African ethics, and academic successes. Some of us are ethnic mixes, e.g. Ghanaian and Canadian, Nigerian and Swiss; others merely cultural mutts: American accent, European affect, African ethos. Most of us are multilingual: in addition to English and a Romantic or two, we understand some indigenous tongue and speak a few urban vernaculars. There is at least one place on The African Continent to which we tie our sense of self: be it a nation-state (Ethiopia), a city (Ibadan), or an auntie's kitchen. Then there's the G8 city or two (or three) that we know like the backs of our hands, and the various institutions that know us for our famed focus. We are Afropolitans: not citizens, but Africans of the world. [...] This new demographic—dispersed across Brixton, Bethesda, Boston, Berlin—has come of age in the 21st century, redefining what it means to be African. Where our parents sought safety in traditional professions like doctoring, lawyering, banking, engineering, we are branching into fields like media, politics, music, venture capital, design. Nor are we shy about expressing our African influences (such as they are) in our work. Artists such as Keziah Jones, Trace founder and editor Claude Gruzintsky, architect David Adjaye, novelist Chimamanda Achidie-all exemplify what Gruzintsky calls the '21st century African.' (Selasi 2005, emphasis mine.)

When I first read Selasi's text on Afropolitans, I felt I had found a perfect description of Manasse. Multilingual, accents, urban vernaculars, both Romantic and indigenous tongues? Check. Fashion, success, ethics? Check. A place in Africa to which a sense of self is tied? Check. Media, music, design? Check. European affect, African influences? Check. Conclusion: Manasse is an Afropolitan: a culturally, linguistically and physically highly mobile world citizen, whose roots are tightly planted in African soil and who uses this as an inspiration in his work as a music and media professional. Manasse: a "cosmopolitan with African roots," as Gehrmann (2016, 61) would put it. And Manasse himself, too: when I read Selasi's text to him, he embraced it as an apt description of himself.⁵¹

But, as I have tried to outline in this chapter, something does not quite match. The most obvious crack in the picture is "the G8 city or two"—the cities Manasse knows like the back of his hand are his home city in Finland and the city in Rwanda where the refugee camp was located, both considerable centres in their own regions, but totally peripheral from a G8 point of view. Living in a city of a G8 country is, for Manasse, a *dream*, not a reality. Instead of being like the Afropolitans Selasi

⁵¹ Afropolitanism as a concept and discussion was born in, and exists in relation to, Pan-Africanist discourses that date back to the 18th century and the discourse on the African diaspora, and is not without tension (e.g. Akom Ankobrey 2019).

describes—"[...] African young people working and living in cities around the globe, they belong to no single geography, but feel at home in many [...]"—he does not "feel at home" in the geography he is stuck with, nor is he able to fulfil his dream of "working and living in cities around the globe". Also, Manasse's ambitions regarding media work, music and performing, and designing fashion are far from realized. He is working for them in a determined way, but has to balance the possibilities/constrictions being a refugee background young man in a smallish Finnish city places on him.

For Selasi's understanding of Afropolitanism is problematic: a "[...] damning weakness of the term, as has been pointed out by many critics, is in its exclusivity and elitism" (Eze 2014, 240). In its celebration of the successful newest generation of African emigrants, it closes its eyes to the unequal opportunities for joining its circles created by factors such as class, reasons for migrating, and ethnic background. For Manasse, whose family is originally from the upper classes—or, as he put it, "semi-rich"—their downward social mobility and forced/non-free physical mobility linked to their place of refuge is a hard fact. He is trying to make quite a leap from the position of a refugee background youth with vocational education and limited economic resources to the successful Afropolitan elite.

Some thinkers—such as Eze (2014, 242) himself—have tried to strip the term of its elitist attributes by likening it to cosmopolitanism understood in the way Hannerz (1996, 103) does, as first and foremost an orientation of openness towards divergent cultural experiences and engagement with Others. Eze (ibid., 244) concludes:

I propose that Afropolitanism, explored within a cosmopolitan context, promises some moral re-examination of the world. [...] I use the term 'moral' here in a broad sense as the attitude to the world that predisposes us to judge something or to impute value to something or someone and therefore to view it or him as acceptable or not acceptable. In this sense, morality embraces ethics, which is about one's relation to the other. I am interested in how person A relates to person B regardless of person B's gender, ethnic, religious, or cultural background.

In a similar vein, though referring to Appiah in place of Hannerz, Gehrmann notes that the moral virtues of cosmopolitanism are not at odds with Afropolitanism. Curiosity beyond the habitual capacity for cross-cultural conversations, and respect for pluralism together with a special bond with Africa are, for her, indispensable components of Afropolitanism. (Gehrmann 2016, 63.) In this sense, Afropolitanism does describe Manasse, who explicitly gives value to understanding and respecting different cultures, and whose background has also provided him with the skills for accomplishing this, aptly.

Yet, understanding the concept in this way should not conceal those power relations that work to enable some people's mobility while hindering others': "[...] we can use practices of mobility, and the challenges to such practices, as 'diagnostics of power' [...]", argues Gaudette (2013, 306). As Ogbechie (2008) underlines in his text "Afropolitanism": Africa without Africans II, while a few African background emigrants belonging to a global elite enjoy high mobility, the majority of "[...] Africans have almost absolute immobility in a contemporary global world that works very hard to keep Africans in their place on the African continent." It is not only Africa-based professionals whose mobility is strictly controlled, Ogbechie notes, but it is difficult "[...] even for highly accomplished African scholars based in Western institutions to secure visas and humiliation-free passage through Western airports [...]." For Gaudette, this means that they are not accepted as citizens in the world system, "[...] neither wanted nor welcomed outside their 'enclave', their 'homeland'." Cosmopolitan citizenship is, thus, not available for the overwhelming majority of Africans, either Africa-based or not. (Gaudette 2013, 307.)

Against this background, I understand Manasse's self-representation as an English-speaking, highly mobile professional performer with African roots as a pronounced prefigurative act: as representing oneself and already acting as what one aspires to be. I find this claiming of presence a vigorous form of mundane political agency. In the discussion around Afropolitanism, I find Mbembé's (2007, 28–29; emphasis mine) understanding of it the one that sheds most light on Manasse's way of claiming his aspired subject position: "It [Afropolitanism] is a way of being in the world, refusing on principle any form of victim identity—which does not mean that it is not aware of the injustice and violence inflicted on the continent and its people by the law of the world." In Manasse's self-representation, there is no trace of the "vulnerable young person of refugee background", a position offered to him repeatedly. The subject position he claims via his prefigurative self-representation as an Afropolitan, English-speaking and multilingual, a highly and voluntarily mobile professional musician is pretty much its exact opposite. I cannot but appreciate Manasse's courage and determination in acting this way.

Indeed, courage was one of the things we discussed together—courage to do what one wants and loves to do, which, in Manasse's case, means also being on stage before the eyes of the public. We talked about the stage fright he suffers from time to time, but which he nevertheless finds rather easy to overcome: "I have always been like that, like courageous, and for that reason experimented with many different kinds of things already now, even though I haven't lived even half of my life. And I will probably experiment in the future, too. I don't know where I got my courage

from, but I got it from somewhere and I am thankful for that." It is not only on stage that Manasse distinguishes himself from others around him: his interest in designing clothes manifests itself in his appearance, which is upfront and anything but blends in. "He is like an exclamation mark in the street view," I wrote once in my field notes after waiting for him to arrive and observing how he walked through city space from distance. He has developed a flaming style of his own that, as he says, "distinguishes me from other people". During my fieldwork this meant brimmed hats, long jackets, strongly contrasting colours, and electronics that match the rest—headphones of bright colours, or the aforementioned shoes with integrated lights. His appearance has a profound meaning for his sense of self: in the right kind of clothing "[...] I am myself, I have the feeling that I am comfortable." But expressing who he is also by his outfit means, in some way, always being on stage:

Manasse: I always stick out from the crowd. [...] I have not changed because of my surroundings or what the gang wants a person [to be] like.

Elina: You mean like others, like other young people think you should be like this or like that?

Manasse: Yeah, yeah, or because they themselves are like that. No. That is why, of course, I am different. I don't want to hide that difference, I want to be myself. I know a lot of people who are different. But in some places they are unlike [themselves] and in some other places they are truly themselves. But I think why, why are people like that, why does one have to be another person according to the posse you are in. If you are in a crowd that feels that it does not fit you then leave it, you don't have to force yourself to blend in.

7.3 Big questions, deep confusion: Afrax at work with himself

Afrax stands with me in front of a showcase in the only ethnographic museum in Finland, the Helinä Rautavaara Museum, which exhibits objects that Rautavaara collected from Africa, Asia and Latin America during her extensive trips from the 1950s and on. We have come to the museum as part of our common fieldwork trip to Helsinki and environs, where our number one aim is to see some of the movies being screened at the Helsinki African Film Festival. The Film Festival is cooperating with a street festival organized in one of the suburbs of Helsinki, and we had been there the previous day to see what their "African Village" looked like and to see some free short films from Africa.

Now we are contemplating the objects exhibited in the "Africa room" of the museum. The exhibition cabinets in this room mostly present objects from Western and Central Africa, while objects from North Africa are exhibited in a room for the "Middle East and North Africa". We spend quite a while looking at the different objects, including clothes, especially those used in different kind of rituals, sculptures, pictures and small objects

used in magic. In the middle of the room there are some objects that visitors are allowed to touch, and Afrax goes over, takes each in his hands in turn, and examines them closely. He asks whether I want to touch them too, and I hold some items in my hands as well, feeling the fabrics and woods with my fingers. Afrax stands quietly for an extended period in front of a vitrine exhibiting eloquent wooden sculptures, admiring the pieces, before exclaiming: 'And these have been made for millions or at least thousands of years over there.' Later, he reflects that seeing the objects was wonderful, that he feels he learns so much more this way and gets interested in history in a different way than if he just reads about it.

We proceed to the "Middle East and North Africa" room. Now, Afrax finds some familiar items, such as a picture that represents a white horse with a woman's face. We had that on the wall,' he exclaims with enthusiasm, 'or our aunt had, or someone, I am sure I have seen it someplace!' He doesn't know what the picture is about, though, and neither do I, nor is it explained on the info board. There are other familiar objects in this room too, especially in the showcase regarding Ethiopia. But there is nothing from Somalia itself, and jokingly, but still seriously, Afrax expresses disappointment about Helinä Rautavaara not having enough time to make it as far as Somalia. He laments that most historical artifacts have probably been destroyed in Somalia during the 'longest conflict of the world', as he puts it.

We have to leave, as we want to make it to one more movie at the film festival. On our way there, Afrax reflects on how the museum concretized the difference between the cultures of West and Central Africa in comparison to North Africa, where the influence of Arabic culture has been strong. Afrax wonders: 'What does that make of Somalia, then?' We talk about this and the "African Village" we had visited the day before, and Afrax underlines how that was almost exclusively about West and Central African cultures with only 'a totally tiny Morocco next to it' (there was a tea tent where Moroccan mint tea was served and short movies were presented). Afrax concludes that the museum was similar in this respect: it didn't include Africa itself, but presented 'an image of Africa'. In Western countries, Afrax contemplates, this image tends to be based mostly on the cultures (and "images" thereof) of Western and Central Africa.

"I want to explore myself!" Afrax once exclaimed to me during one of our long discussions regarding the world, history, contemporary times, different cultures and religions, rights and wrongs—and, in relation to all that, our selves. The exclamation was passionate, and there was a strong sense of being disturbed by this need, by the challenge it set him:

Afrax: Sometimes I think what would have happened if I had born 200 years before the present world. Would I feel more at ease. [...] I don't understand myself even, I am, like, I try to think about things, like, "why, why?"

Elina: Yeah, I think it is also about, that you don't take things as given, without questioning, you don't accept if someone says that it is like this or like that, that you would just be like "ok, so it must be like that then."

Afrax: No, no, I am exactly against that: "explain to me!" and "why is it so?"

The complexity of the "present world", which Afrax experiences as overwhelming, has been understood by the social sciences as a result of increasing global interconnectedness (Vertovec 2009, 2). It is not only that people move more and more across national boundaries, but also that "[...] a growing range of media reach across borders to make claims on our senses" (Hannerz 1996, 4). Transnationalism is a conceptualization often used to capture these sustained linkages and ongoing exchanges across national borders among individuals, NGOs and businesses (Vertovec 2009, 3). These processes, which gained increasing scholarly attention already around the turn of the millennium, are tangible in Afrax's life. Both "migrant transnationalism" (ibid., 13), practices that link migrants both to their countries of origin and to diaspora communities, and global interconnectedness in general contribute to his confusion. He doubts, he feels disoriented, and he asks questions, both of himself and of others. In some ways, he can be thought to be lost, without clear aims—and he certainly often feels so, to a point of deep anxiety that he describes as "being caught in the middle of a storm".

While Manasse and Emanuel have clear projects they are trying to further, Afrax does not. Yet his urge to "explore himself" might be seen to be his project: to question in order "not to get stuck", as he says, to "step out from the comfort zone" and to "develop oneself". Earlier, I argued that Afrax's body became a focal point of the political ordinary in his job, of practices that work to integrate or exclude immigrant background youth. The weight of the questions that he asks himself stems partly from the same source. They are fundamental questions for a multicultural youth work professional, whose job entails supporting youths' integration. In this chapter, I detail some of the work involved in these explorations, which I had the privilege of accompanying Afrax in and that are all present in some ways in the visit to the Helinä Rautavaara Museum described above: our common exploration of Africa and its representations, and Afrax's personal exploration of his belonging (or not belonging); his struggles regarding his life values and experience of "living between two cultures" as he puts it; and, finally, his explorations in the realm of political activism. Along with Afrax's search, this chapter reaches out in several directions, perhaps in a slightly less coherent way than those investigating Emanuel's and Manasse's projects. The topics Afrax leads me to inquire into deepen understanding of the larger transnational contexts of their lives, too-such as racialized social relations among people of African descent, or the rise of national populism and the process of politicizing race in Finland. I thus find it worthwhile to dedicate a bit more space for exploring what it means to grow up in the "present

world" of interconnectedness—but also of prominent inter-ruptures, as the first section on our exploration of Africa indicates.

7.3.1 Exploration of Africa(nness)

When I began this research with these young people, I offered them the possibility of doing some kind of project together. Afrax was the only one who took this offer up:

We are having lunch together and have talked at length about our life situations, which in both cases are quite complicated. At some point we start to discuss my research project. I have also mentioned it previously, but this time ask Afrax directly if he wants to be one of the young people with whom I will work closely. I explain what that means in practice, and give him a sheet of A4 paper on which I have summarized the idea and practicalities. He reads it, makes some comments, and then says that he would like to be involved, at least to some extent. I start to clarify some points in the summary, what, for example, I mean by doing some common project together. Previously, Afrax had mentioned that he didn't know much of the history of Somalia and would like to know more, so I suggest:

Elina: 'It could be, for example, studying the history of Somalia together, or...' Afrax [eyes beginning to sparkle]: 'Or African history!' Elina: 'Yeah! But it should be also something else than just reading about it, or what do you think?'

Afrax starts to envision an exploration of Africa in the spirit of classic expeditions, describing how we might find some coffer full of precious items, and how we would open that... I then suggest that it could be something to the direction of an Indiana Jones style expedition, and Afrax develops the joke further, envisioning how it would get a totally different twist as, in this case, one of the explorers would be white (and thus European) and the other black (and thus African). At some point we quit joking, and Afrax asks in a more serious tone: 'But how could we really do it?' I say we can think about it and Afrax encourages us to 'throw wild ideas'.

For the time being, we left this initiative open. I was inspired by the thought, and Afrax seemed to be too. As time passed, we started to do things related to this idea, for example by going to see movies or exhibitions related to Africa, by discussing what we had seen and the thoughts it provoked in us, and by going on the field trip to the Helsinki African Film Festival and the Helinä Rautavaara museum described in the intro to this chapter (and an Ethiopian restaurant in between, as we figured that food culture is an elemental part of exploring a region). I also lent Afrax the only general history of Africa in Finnish (Kaikkonen et al. 1989)—a tough read, dry

and full of jargon from the eighties. When returning it to me, Afrax told me never to give it to any other young person interested in the history of Africa. He was both serious and joking: he had learned a lot while reading the book, but the process had been rather painful. The fact that he actually struggled through it speaks of the deep meaning our common project, jokingly as we began it, had for him.

And, actually, the expedition envisioned by us did come true, in the sense that both aspects embedded in the joke—the real and the imaginary—were present throughout our project: in the beginning, we were perhaps searching for the "real" Africa and its "true" history, but quite soon realized that there is no direct access to either. Hence, we started to inquire more and more into the "image" of Africa, as Afrax put it in the introduction to this chapter, the relationships between Europe(ans) and Africa(ns), of whiteness and blackness, and Afrax's own relatedness and belonging.

"How Africa is presented?"

As a start to our common field trip to Helsinki and environs, we go to the street festival and its "African village", primarily in order to go to the film tent to see short films from Africa. But our timing is bad: we come in the middle of one movie, and stay outside the tent to wait for it to end so that we might see the following film from the beginning. While waiting for this we take a glance around the actual Africa tent: there are African clothes, drums and food for sale. We stay outside and look at a dance performance going on in the "village square": there are about ten white women-probably most, if not all, of them ethnic Finns-performing an "Afro dance", led by their black male teacher, who is from Madagascar. The audience stands in a circle around them, and we join the outer ring. The audience seems to be diverse, including white and non-white Finns and people of other nationalities. I find the setting interesting in its strangeness: here we have a group of white Northern European women performing supposedly African dances to an audience, many of whom have roots in Africa. My interest in the scene turns into a strong experience of awkwardness as a very drunk white Finnish couple settles by some big drums that are on display, starts to beat them in a totally random fashion and shout loud drunken comments. Finally, the man takes his shirt off, exposing his big white belly to everybody present. I feel somehow ashamed, but Afrax seems to be more amused than annoyed and laughs at the scene.

I have taken the book on the history of Africa (Kaikkonen et al. 1989) with me on our trip, and we leaf through it sporadically—we try to look for maps, for example, when Afrax tells me about the way he fled from Somalia to Kenya with his mother and siblings. The one we find does help us in locating their route, but it also makes Afrax extremely annoyed: the Somali clan families and their respective geographical areas are marked clearly on that map, and Afrax is highly critical of the clan system. 'The clans are the worst poison there is in Somalia,' he exclaims, and then reformulates, 'or maybe our parents have used them in a wrong way.'

The next time we meet, we discuss the history book's introduction and the thoughts provoked by it for a long time. The very beginning of the book, which we read together, sets the tone of our discussion. Kaikkonen et al. (1989, 8) start by quoting a book on world history published in Finland in the fifties:

"Until recently, Africa has been its own world, and in a sense it still is, inaccessible and uncommunicative. Strangers have not gotten much further than the coastal areas. Of its own populations, only the Egyptians have developed into a civilized nation, and outside the Nile only in Abyssinia and in parts of Sudan have the natives progressed to the level of statehood. The different races and tribes in the dark continent of Africa speak many languages and have no history." (Suolahti et al. 1953, 435; my translation.)

Elina: Oh, quite rough already that first bit, I just started reading from here, at the beginning [...] "The different races and tribes in the dark continent of Africa speak many languages and have no history!" [Starts to laugh out loud.]

Afrax: Yeah! Yeah, so, because of that I wanted to read, like, what is going on here! [Laughs a bit as well.] And, of course, I was like, uh uh, does it make sense to read, but like, anyhow, to know a little.

Elina: So, here is a critique of exactly this, of how it is a narrow understanding of history, and why it was thought like that at that time is then explained.

Afrax: And then I understood somehow from this text, also, people did not want to go there [to Africa] because, that originally they were not interested... Or, in one way it was interesting, but as it was so, how can I say it, well, here it sounds like it was uncommunicative. So, it was uncommunicative and then like people did not [want to go]... except when they needed something like...

Elina: Gold? Slaves?

Afrax: Yeah, exactly, or something... and then maybe because of that an interest has grown [...].

Afrax remembers what he had been told in Somalia, that the people living there did not let Europeans inland at all, that they simply traded with them along the coast and then asked them to leave:

Afrax: And I also heard, I don't know if this is some kind of myth or some legend, but, anyhow, I heard that, at some point, they did it so that they closed the deals *at sea*, and then they [the strangers] had to go their own way, so that they were not even allowed *to land*!

In the passages above, all from field notes and taped discussions during the first month of our common expedition, we encounter several "Africas" together. There is the one displayed at the festival, of which Afrax makes an accurate observation (in the introduction of this chapter), when he points out that, geographically, it drew its inspiration quite selectively despite being called the "African village". Also, this Africa was on display chiefly in order to be consumed: as clothes, drums, and food

on sale, and as entertainment—though with an interesting twist, as the performers were partly white Europeans.

Then there is the Africa the quote from the world history book from the fifties conjures up: uncommunicative, inaccessible, uncivilized and without history. The pejorative tone is interestingly reversed in the oral history version of this Africa that Afrax had heard in Somalia: according to this version, which Afrax tells with enthusiasm, inaccessibility was chosen, and, for quite a while, a triumphant strategy for protecting local communities from intruding strangers. And, finally, there is the official story, the book on the history of Africa written by historians—who begin by highlighting the lack of trustworthy written records and the subsequent necessity for "open-minded rejection of conventional research methods"; of turning towards such sources of information as oral tradition and work done by anthropologists, archaeologists, linguists et cetera. These, however, "produce ambiguous and hypothetical results", the writers underline. (Kaikkonen et al. 1989, 11.) The Helinä Rautavaara Museum's exhibition parallels this, in the sense that it attempts to provide objective information on the cultures and histories of different African countries. But, as Afrax is quick to point out, this is also just a partial "image" of Africa, and in many respects insufficient—as in the absence of Somalia.⁵²

A few weeks after our visit to the museum, Afrax shows me a photo someone had posted on Facebook. It is dated 1910, and, in it, a group of about twenty men poses in front of a hut built of wood and straw. The men have spears and shields and are dressed in a fashion that is or pretends to be traditional. The text in the photo informs us that it is a Somali village, and the men form a "group of warriors". Afrax is enthusiastic about the photo and the fierce looking men in it: "They are warriors!" Yet, what soon catches my attention is the text describing where the photo had been taken: in Edinburgh's Portobello, Marin Gardens. We google it and soon realize that the photo is from a national exhibition held in Edinburgh in the style of the grand World Expositions. The Somali village comprised a "human zoo" as part of the exhibition, and, according to *The Scotsman*, seventy native Somalis were shipped over to Edinburgh for this purpose, made to live in mud huts in the exhibition compounds and to perform mock fights for the audience (McLean, 2013). I feel sorry about crushing Afrax's joy at finding a historical photo of Somali people by disclosing what the "human zoos" were about. Again, instead of an actual photo

_

⁵² The collection of the museum was originally brought together by Helinä Rautavaara, a white Finnish journalist and researcher who travelled the world extensively. It is thus firmly rooted in colonial relations, though the decolonizing museums movement has now reached the HR museum too (see Rastas & Koivunen, forthcoming).

from Somalia, he is left with a representation of his people's history literally constructed by Western colonizers for their own entertainment.

Thus, our haphazard but persistent attempts at approaching Africa and its various cultures and peoples makes us stumble repeatedly on the realization that our points of access to both the history and the present of the continent are limited and tinted. It goes without saying that this applies, to a certain extent, to all history and attempts to describe reality—it is not like we were looking for "direct" access to "truth". But there is considerable difference, for example, between Afrax's possibilities for grasping the past and present of his country of origin, and my possibilities for grasping mine, as his following reflection points out:

It does interest me—where I hail from! And then I figure that if I had been in school in Somalia, if we would have had a good system, they would teach at school and one would go to a museum to see different kinds of objects or different kind of things, what has the life of Somalians been, say, for example a hundred years ago, or *hundreds* of years ago, so if these things would have existed... But they don't, because they have been destroyed!

Here, I cannot but recall how impressed Afrax was at the Helinä Rautavaara Museum in front of the showcases displaying wooden sculptures from Central and Western Africa. Also, the earnest moment he spent feeling the few objects that visitors were allowed to touch, and the way he urged me to take them in my hands too, gains momentum when contrasted with Afrax's acute awareness of the destruction of the material history of his native country, which his hands cannot touch. At this point, I direct discussion to oral tradition, as I think it might provide Afrax one avenue to his roots worth probing:

Elina: Yeah. But nevertheless I have often gotten the impression with Somalian background youth that many of them still know quite a lot of the country's history, even compared to some Finnish youth for example. Or I have gotten the impression that some youths' parents talk quite a lot, so that it perhaps transfers like that...

Afrax: From generation to generation? Well, yes, also in our [family] a lot of different stories are told, but maybe... How to say it? ... As it is not theory, you know, or like it is not in any book. And then you just know that your mom said it went like this. And, of course, they are as valid, but in some way maybe I have gotten too used to this Finnish society [laughs a bit], so that they have theory and things have been written down somewhere and all...

Elina: So that everything is written down and, when it is written down, then it is somehow more true than...

Afrax: Yeah, yeah... I don't know. In our [family], too, quite a lot of things have been told about history, and also about present events, like what has happened and all. [...] Some things one hears as larger history and some things are told from the perspective

of one's own community [or kin]. But at least about history they do tell from quite large perspective. Or at least I think so!

Elina: But the book is missing. [Laughs.]

Afrax: Well, maybe it is also because even the Somali alphabet was invented just a while ago, it is not a long time!

We end up discussing the recent translation to Finnish of Lewis's book *Understanding Somalia and Somaliland* (1993), and the criticism it got from some Finnish Somalis.

Elina: But maybe one should write a better [book] then. Think about all the stories that are told in different families, what if one would make a book out of them? Afrax: But I am thinking about history in the upper grades in Finnish comprehensive school. I think they [the history books] have been written pretty badly, because things have been explained in a one-sided way and also it feels that those people write history from the winner's perspective. That is how I feel. And then, like, what kind of photos there were, for example, say, of Africans, Indians, and then when you talk about Arabs, and when you talk about Europeans, or, for example, Napoleon! For example the Arabs, when you talk about the region of Palestine, and then [in a photo] he has a weapon in his hand, and he has a robe and the thing like this [shows with his hands that he means the Arab headgear]. This photo truly has a big effect.

Elina: Do you remember this kind of photo? You have it in your mind now?

Afrax: Yeah! Yeah, I do remember! He has a weapon in his hand like that. I remember a photo like that. [...] And then when you talk about Napoleon, there was a nicely drawn picture of him in golden apparel, with high-heeled shoes, fancy sword and horse and all, and then if you think of all the things he did, too. He killed people just as well. So it makes one think that he is glorified in a way. [...] And then about Nelson Mandela there might be some really small [story]—actually I did not learn almost anything about Nelson Mandela during comprehensive school!

We return to the question of knowledge and its production time and again. In another discussion, revolving around the book on the history of Africa, Afrax concludes: "I do not think that science produces it [the truth]. There are many avenues that produces them, how to say it, the facts or the truth... that produce knowledge. All peoples are civilized in some way, you know."

Several months later we decide to take our expedition to the next level and apply for a small grant for a study trip to London, where we want to join the celebration of Black History Month and visit some interesting exhibitions in the city's famous museums. The grant application is a kind of crystallization of the evolution our thinking went through during our common project, and it includes the questions (in italics) that had become central to Afrax along the way (the questions in the application are his, even though I facilitated writing them):

We are both interested in Africa and Africa's relationships with Arab and Western countries, both today and throughout history. We wish to do be able to complete an important study trip around Africanness in Europe by participating in Black History

Month, organized in Great Britain in October. BHM is an annual event that aims to highlight the significance of the African diaspora. [...] In addition to participating in BHM events, we would also like to visit the Victoria and Albert Museum's exhibition Black Heritage, and the Black Cultural Archives. The aim of our visit is to explore, in particular, the ways in which Africa and Africanness are presented in these events and museums. How is Africa treated in the West? Are Africa and Africans presented as uniform and essential? How are cultural differences inside Africa treated?

These questions, regarding how Africa (and other [post-]colonial Others), its past, present, and peoples, are presented in different forums; to audiences in museums or art exhibitions, to pupils in classrooms, or the public in general through various media, which now perplex Afrax, are also being asked in academic (and activist) forums (e.g. Cain 2011; Giblin et al. 2019; Ngcobo 2018; Nothias 2018; Routley 2016; Scott 2015). In other words, it is the politics of representation that now occupies Afrax's thoughts. This also means that his inquiries are, to a growing extent, directed towards questions regarding race and racialized social relations both in his present home country and in a larger perspective—including Somalia and the Somali diaspora. The latter will be part of the discussion of the following subsection, in which I will concentrate on Afrax's sense of belonging (or not belonging). I will address the former, and our study visit to London, in more detail in the last section of this chapter, "Searching for political relatedness".

"What does that make of Somalia, then?"

Afrax's disappointment at the absence of Somalia in the Helinä Rautavaara museum's permanent exhibition is somehow very telling.⁵³ Also, Afrax's question about where one should locate Somalia with regard to understandings whereby North Africa and the rest of Africa differ significantly, is telling. If Rautavaara had made it to Somalia and managed to bring some items with her to Finland, which room would they be on display in? The "Africa" room, or the "Middle East and North Africa" room? For Afrax, this question is far from being "just" theoretical or historical; it is deeply personal and actual. We talked extensively about this topic after, for example, watching a documentary together:

Elina: But I was also left thinking about this "Africa" thing, you know?

.

⁵³ To give due respect to the work of the museum, it is worth mentioning that they have had at least one temporary exhibition about Somali wedding traditions and another about the history and present of Somalia, Syria, Afghanistan and Iraq. When we visited the museum, however, there was only the permanent exhibition on display, and Somalia was completely absent.

Afrax: Yeah, "Leaving Africa" [name of the movie]. Maybe it also produces that, that Africa is thought to be one country. And Uganda is one city.

Elina: Yeah, yeah, so I was also thinking about that. Or like, I don't especially feel like I am European...

Afrax: You don't? Okay, that is really odd. What do feel you are, then?

Elina: I don't know. [Starts to laugh.]

Afrax: World citizen?

Elina: Well, no, I don't [serious tone]. I don't know. Neither very strongly Finnish.

Afrax: Okay. [Laughs a bit.] Quite strange!

Elina: Yeah. Are you, what are you, if you should...

Afrax: What am I? I don't know. I, I am Somalian. Or, like, I am Somalian, but, yeah.

Elina: Are you African?

Afrax: Ayayayayyyh... [With a tone of resignation.] I want to believe that I am African.

Elina: But there is something... unclear?

Afrax: There is, you know, to myself there is nothing unclear about it, I would like to be African, but like... if I think about what kind of feedback you get, for example if you are from Somalia. In general, sometimes we have gone, for example, to play football, with Africans—see, with Africans!

Elina: Mmm [starts to laugh]. You got caught!

Afrax: Precisely! As if I wasn't an African! But exactly this kind of thing, because they differentiate exactly like that, that today we play with the *somppus*⁵⁴. And, like, they are like one Africa, be they from Nigeria, Uganda, they are one Africa. But Somalia is distinct.

Elina: Oh, they differentiate Somalia as distinct?

Afrax: Yeah, or maybe also Somalians do want to differentiate themselves out of there. Or, I don't know, Somalians feel, or like some Somalians say that we are Arabs. Elina: Mmm, yeah, true. There is that issue. But there are also other Africans that are Arabs, are they not counted as Africans? Morocco, Algeria... Are they not part of Africa?

Afrax: Yeah, I wonder. Well, I do think there are African Arabs. But who are really Africans? Like, North Africans, they are Africans too, even though their skin colour is different.

Elina: Yes. And the culture is like with an Arab influence...

Afrax: Mmm. But it disturbs me really a lot exactly like Somalians, okay, at least in South Africa I have heard that they say that Ethiopians, Somalians, they don't look like Africans.

Elina: And you know, I checked, as last time we talked about this thing, so I checked what the University of Helsinki teaches in African Studies, and it is Sub-Saharan Africa. So, like, that is their "Africa", in the Department of African Studies.

Afrax: Interesting!

Elina: Yeah! So why does it not include North Africa?

Afrax: Yeah. And I have thought quite many times why the other Somalian [official] language is Arabic! Where does that come from? Or has it been accepted simply

⁵⁴ Somppu is a common (sometimes pejorative) Finnish vernacular term for a Somali background person.

because there is Islam. [...] But well, these are exactly the kind of things... I think that I would like to be African, I don't want to be Arab. Truly. I want to be African.

Elina: One cannot be both?

Afrax: No, I mean, I don't want to be Arab. I want to be African.

Elina: Why?

Afrax: Because I feel myself African.

Elina: How do you know?

[Both laugh.]

Afrax: How do I know? It is that, where I was born, it is Africa, and not, precisely, the Arabian Peninsula. So, that is probably one [thing] which I know. Mmm... And somehow, I don't know, it can also be due to some notions that I have gotten from Arabs, or what I have encountered with them. It can be also because of that.

Elina: That you don't want to, or that it doesn't feel your own.

Afrax: Yeah, I don't want to, it does not feel my own.

Here, we are at the heart of one of Afrax's burning dilemmas. He identifies with Somalia and Somali people without hesitation, which is typical for Somali background people living in Finland (both those who have themselves emigrated, and those born in Finland), as Rastas (2013, 166-167) notes. According to her, cherishing Somali identity—despite, or perhaps because of, the harsh racism that Somalis encounter in Finland—can be explained by, for example, the relatively large size of the Somali community in comparison to other African background minorities in Finland and, in the case of the youth, the fact that they are provided with teaching in Somali and Islam in Finnish comprehensive schools. (Ibid., 167.) However, as Rastas extrapolates, cherishing Somali identity seems to be linked with weaker identification with the African diaspora in comparison to other African background minorities in Finland. One of Rastas' Somali interlocutors brings out how at least some Somali background people seem to want to differentiate themselves from other Africans out of a sense of superiority. This, in turn, is also linked to the specific history of Somalia and the internal racism developed during it, which takes the form of discrimination against people or groups considered to be, or look, "African". (Ibid., 167–168; see also Duh et al. 2014, 239.)

And, indeed, there seems to be fierce discussion around these topics, both among the Somali background youth Afrax knows personally (remember, for example, the argument between Afrax and the other Somali young man at the exhibition opening in chapter 6.3) and far more dispersed geographically on the internet. If you search using some of the keywords mentioned above (such as Somali and Arab, or Somalia and Africa), the result is an extensive list of links to different discussion forums, in which a heated debate goes on around questions such as "Are Somalis Arab?", "Is a Somali an African or an Arab?", "Why are Somalis considered Arab?", "Why do

Arabs try to claim Somalia as being Arab when Somalis are Black African people?", "Why do Somalis look different than other Africans? Why is their hair long and soft as opposed to West Africans'?", and even "Why do Somalis look white? Are Somali people Caucasians with black skin?" In addition to these arguments on the forums, several YouTube videos treating of these issues are readily available. Opponents in these discussions, who mostly claim to be Somalis themselves, promote quite different views: some argue that Somalis are Arabs or Afro-Arabs, many that they are of their own unique kind—neither Arabs nor Africans but Somalis (be that "black Caucasians" or something else), and some that Somalis are black Africans. That this discussion is carried on in English too suggests that it has high relevance for people of the Somali diaspora. I have not, however, been able to find academic research on the subject. Research on the historical construction of the (imagined) Somali community, on the other hand, has been conducted for some decades—though not without controversy.

The pioneer and classic in the field is Lewis, who has written several ethnographic books and numerous articles concerning Somalia. Put in a nutshell, according to him Somali society consists of six patrilineal clan-families that are formed by the descendants of legendary Arabic ancestors. In this segmentary lineage structure, each clan-family comprises in turn a variable number of patrilineally related clans that further comprise several kinship groups. In this kind of structure, lineages are "the fundamental principle of personal and social identity" (Lewis 2004, 490): each individual is thought to belong to a series of groups by blood relation, from the extended patrilineal family unit to the minimal lineage to clan and, finally, to clanfamily. (Lewis 1998, 101; 2004, 490-495; for a thorough analysis of the lineage system see Lewis 1961). Besteman (1999, 3-4) claims that, due to the influence of Lewis's work, Somali society is usually described as "[...] an egalitarian and ethnically homogenous population of nomadic pastoralists who shared an overarching genealogical system and a common language, culture, and religion." Despite the merits of Lewis's work, the model in which tensions between sub-clans and lineages are inherent has also contributed to explanations of the collapse of the Somalian nation state and the eruption of the civil war, whereby the conflict is understood to be inbuilt and nearly inevitable, Besteman argues. She challenges both this explanation (not as completely erroneous, but as "inadequate") and the understanding of Somali society as homogenous and egalitarian, suggesting that "[...] the dissolution of the Somali nation-state can be understood only by analyzing the turbulent history of race, class, and regional dynamics over the past century and a

half—processes which produced a deeply stratified and fragmented society." (Ibid., $4.)^{55}$

Afrax happens to be one of those Somalis who do not look "Somalian", or, at least, what is constructed as the archetype of an "authentic" Somali in some of the aforementioned internet discussions and in the racialized social relations that have developed among Somalis during their history. It is not uncommon for Afrax to hear comments from ethnic Finns that he does not look like a Somali (to my embarrassment, I have to admit that I have made similar comments to him at some point), to say nothing of other Somali background people around him. A revealing example is an anecdote Afrax told me about his sister's wedding: one of the guests went to warn their mother about his sister dancing with some young bloke, and not only that—the young man in question was "tiin jareer". The mother took a glance at what was happening before answering the moralizing guest (who, in turn, later apologized for their rudeness): 'It is my son she is dancing with.' Tün jareer (hard/rough hair) or simply jareer (hard/rough) is a Somali expression originally used to refer to the people living in the Gosha area and the farmers of the Shabeelle valley, collectively lumped together and positioned as lower status within Somali society (Besteman 1999, 115–118; see also endnote 9).⁵⁶ According to Besteman (1999, 7), the history of the latter is unclear, but the ancestors of the people living in Gosha arrived in Somalia in the nineteenth century as slaves taken from an area in what today is Kenya and Mozambique to work on Somali-owned plantations. The descendants of slaves settled in Gosha and were termed jareer, which not only denotes rough and tightly curled hair, but encompasses other physical features as well, such as broad, flat noses or bulkier fingers than those of "authentic" Somalis (ibid., 116). "Most significantly, the jareer category is equated with 'African'—and thus slave—ancestry, as distinguished form the (mythical) 'Arabic' ancestry of Somalis." Hence, in addition to certain physical features, the label refers to a person's historical origins as a non-Somali pagan slave, a history "devalued in Somali culture and ideology." (Ibid., 118.)

-

⁵⁵ Lewis responded to Besteman's criticism, and their disagreement on the significance of the clans on one hand, and race and class on the other to the politics of Somalia is stark (Besteman 1998; Lewis 1998). I will not go into that discussion here. In understanding Afrax's sense of belonging or not belonging both views are relevant, as will be apparent here with regard to the attention Besteman gives to racialized social relations among Somalis (which Lewis [1998, 104], for his part, denies is of central importance).

⁵⁶ In some contexts, the term Somali Bantu is also used to refer to these people. Space does not allow me to go into the rather complicated development of this concept, but Besteman (2012) and Declich (2000) are instructive on this subject.

Over centuries there has been complex interactions and mobility between different groups, and they have intermingled in ways that are impossible to track (Declich 2000, 29; 35). According to Besteman (1998, 115), the people in question regard themselves as "religiously, linguistically, culturally and legally full Somalis". Nevertheless, both Italian and British colonial authorities made use of the local categories (ibid., 31-32; Besteman 1999, 118), which nurtured the perception of "pure" Somalis and certain other groups, such as jareer, as "highly distinct and unequal social groups" (ibid., 121; Declich 2000, 33–34; Tiilikainen et al. 2016, 46). From the sixties on, laws have been introduced to ban the use of words that signify racial disdain-such as jareer-but "[...] in practice discrimination continued and worsened with the eruption of civil war at the end of 1990" (Declich 2000, 34). The category of the jareer remains a sensitive issue and a basis for discrimination among Somali people despite its impreciseness: one might appear jareer despite having no direct relation to Gosha or the Shabeelle valley—and vice versa: one might not look jareer even though direct relations could be tracked (Besteman 1999, 118; endnote 20; Declich 2000, 34–35).

Even though racism among Somalis has not been a topic of public discussion in Finland so far (Rastas 2013, 168), Afrax is not shy of talking about it out loud: 'Over there, around our hoods, there is so much of it [racism], there is really a lot of it.' Differentiating between *tiin jareer* and "pure" Somalis is only one form of this racism: especially some caste communities also face racialization and discrimination (Declich 2000, 34; Eno & Kusow 2014, 93). Perhaps being repeatedly categorized as *jareer* is one of the reasons Afrax is more inclined than some of his Somali peers to identify with Africa and to experience a sense of strangeness in relation to Arabs. Perhaps Afrax, despite identifying with Somalia, also experiences a sense of not belonging, because of encountering discrimination inside the community, and because of other feelings of being different and unlike the majority.

There is the clan question, for example. As came out earlier in this chapter, Afrax is highly critical of the clan system. This is in contrast to the attitude Hautaniemi found to be prevalent among young Somali background men in Finland around the turn of the millennium and which I have also understood to prevail among the youth today too: highlighting the importance of the clans is seen to be more characteristic of previous generations than as something very important among the youth, but belonging to a certain clan is never understated (Hautaniemi 2004, 51), or at least not directly challenged (my observations). As among the Somali boys Hautaniemi (2004, 50–51) worked with, family itself has had, and continues to have, a central position in Afrax's life—both for good and for bad: it has been vital for him, for

example, in the sense that it was through family reunification that he gained a residence permit in Finland in the first place, and he remains deeply committed to his family members living in Finland, and to some extent to those who are still living in Somalia too. On the other hand, balancing between the hopes and expectations of his family members' and his own aspirations is demanding at times, and especially his relationship with his father has at times been difficult. However, despite Afrax's commitment to his family, clan does not have a bearing upon his sense of belonging—or, if anything, it is negative. This, if we are to believe Lewis (2004), is exceptional: according to him, clanship remains a more powerful focus of identity than ethnicity in Somali society (ibid., 511), and clanship, on the other hand, is equated with kinship to the point that the terms are interchangeable (ibid., 507). Yet, one central reason for the strong distinction Afrax makes between kin and clan, and identifying with Somalis in general while rejecting clanship, can be found in his family history: he describes his extended family, clustered in and around the house his grandmother owned in Mogadishu, as one in which people had gotten married with folks from all around the country and from different clans, and no-one was interested in or disturbed by the differences. 'Before moving to Kenya,' Afrax explains, 'I didn't even know the clans exist!' The negative attitude towards the significance of the clanships he has since developed might be an aspect that sets him apart from those Somali background people for whom it might be a much more powerful focus of identification. On the other hand, the fact that Afrax's extended family has never given much weight to clanship might speak of greater variety among Somalis' attitudes concerning the clan system than Lewis recognizes.

Then there are the relations between Somalis living in Somalia and those living in the diaspora. Even though Afrax and his parents arrived in Finland cherishing hopes of returning home someday, as so many other refugees do, this does not seem to be a realistic option for Afrax nowadays. He is well aware of both the interdependence (especially, but not only, in the form of remittances which form a considerable part of the GDP of Somalia) and the frictions between those living in their home country and those living in diaspora.⁵⁷ For example, we once speculated on what the population of Somalia might be, and Afrax estimated that it could be around 10 million, while those living outside Somalia might number up to 20 million.⁵⁸ 'Think if all were to return there, there would not be enough space! My mother also says

-

⁵⁷ In 2016, remittances were estimated at 1.4 billion US dollars, forming 23% of Somalia's GDP (Aid Coordination Unit 2017, 4).

⁵⁸ The latter is bit of an overestimation, the right number being somewhere around 2 million (Connor & Krogstad 2016).

that it would be necessary to put them on top of each other!' In the background of this joking there lurks uncertainty around how one would be received upon moving back: Afrax has followed the discussions in which people returning are accused of snatching jobs from locals; with the education they gained in Western countries, they tend to get any job, no matter how much education other applicants have gained locally. And it is not only this, either: once we discuss how we would be treated if we were to go to Somalia as researchers, and Afrax is strongly of the opinion that I would fare fine, while he would be treated like trash. 'What, does he fancy himself?' is the attitude he expects to encounter.

Whether all this is accurate or not is beside the point here. The point is Afrax's experience: his ambivalent position in regard to Somalia and other Somalis, Africa and other people with African background, and Arabia and people who identify as Arabs. He identifies as a Somali, though it comes with a "but". He knows many other Somalis consider him tiin jareer—and most of these with pejorative connotations. Afrax sometimes even uses the word to describe himself, in a fashion that can be interpreted as a step towards reclaiming the concept. He is not at home with the clan system but rejects it. He does not feel that he would be welcomed back without complication, and is aware that the Somalia he knew as a boy does not exist anymore: his other family members have made some trips to Somalia to meet their relatives, and have come back with news about their way of life, which has changed considerably. Afrax does not want to identify with Arab populations, because he doesn't feel like an Arab, doesn't want to be one either, and doesn't feel Arabic culture is his "own". The direction to which he is strongly drawn, that of black Africa and the African diaspora, is not unambiguous either. As a Somali he is either considered to be distinct from "Africans" or considered to differentiate himself from them. This doesn't always happen, perhaps, but often enough to make him feel his belonging to Africa is in doubt: "I would like to be African," Afrax says. "I want to believe that I am African," he says, and "I want to be African." Not once during our discussion does he say that he is African.

Afrax may well not be alone with his dilemma—of experiencing belonging to Africa, but not finding this experience accepted by others—it could quite conceivably speak of larger changes going on among racialized minorities in Finland. Right around the time we had these discussions, Rastas (2013, 168) anticipated the focusses' of identification among Somali background children and youth in particular might start to change quite soon, and that, due to the nature of the racialized social relations in Finland, these young people might start to look for ways to identify with the African diaspora. This development nestles among larger social

and cultural transformations in Finland and Northern Europe; during the last couple of years, racialized minorities in this area have started to speak publicly about questions relating to race, to act within the field of anti-racism and to create new identity politics; "[...] new solidarities and spaces and vocabularies for racial identifications." (Rastas 2019, 358.) Afrax's search for recognition as African takes place in the context of these transformations, both by being informed by them and contributing to them. I will return to this in the last section of this chapter. Before that, I examine Afrax's search and confusion in a wider transnational context that stretches beyond relating to Africa and Somalia, taking into consideration the challenges he faces while growing up in an interconnected world in which everyday life is saturated by intersecting beliefs, norms, customs, cultures and subcultures.

7.3.2 Challenging oneself: professional ambition, personal development, moral confusion

When I started to work with Afrax, he was about to complete his studies as a youth worker. Working as a peer mentor was, as mentioned earlier, part of his studies, and he graduated a bit after the project was finished. He soon got employed at a reception centre and was enthusiastic about it. Afrax considered it "a great opportunity to get a new experience and learn", and he was excited about having the possibility of seeing what working in a reception centre was like. This job turned out to be shortterm, but it did not take long for Afrax to get employed again in the same NGO unit (but in a different project) in which he had been working as a peer mentor. In a way, then, he was in a good situation; he was employed pretty much directly from the school bench, and did not have to spend long periods unemployed. But Afrax was not quite satisfied. He felt that returning to work in the same NGO unit was in some way too "safe": even though working there was demanding, and his new duties included inspiring and novel parts, he still felt that it was like staying put in the same place or even going a step backwards, instead of developing and forging ahead. Soon, he started to apply for places at universities of applied sciences, but, alas, didn't succeed despite several attempts. Simultaneously, his will to develop and move ahead only grew, and, finally, he started to dream about studying at university—perhaps international relations—and, in order to gain a place, he took half a year off from his job to take a preparatory course for immigrant background applicants.

These reflections on his will to develop professionally and intellectually led me to understand that they reflect Afrax's mode in general. During the years we worked

together, Afrax repeatedly talked about his will and need to "cross my boundaries", to "step out of comfort zone", to get out of the "same old circles", to learn and develop. This attitude does not only apply to his education and career but seems to be an encompassing approach towards the world and a driving force for Afrax. He takes part in very different kinds of projects-international youth exchanges, voluntary work projects in reception centres, or local, multicultural celebrations of Finland's independence day—often expressing afterwards how "thankful" he is for having an opportunity to see different kinds of places and to learn new things. He even applied, and was accepted, to European Youth Event (EYE), the European Parliament's flagship biennial event for young people in Strasbourg, which brings together thousands of youths from all over the European Union to meet each other and exchange their views with experts and some MEPs. Afrax was excited, but also quite nervous about this opportunity, worrying especially about his lack of English. In the end he fared pretty well, but came back with a rather critical view of the spectacle the young people were presented with in Strasbourg. The transnational frame of Afrax's life thus reaches well beyond Finland and Somalia.

There is, however, a noticeable tension in the way Afrax talks about his will to develop: learning and moving ahead is not only inspiring and exiting, but also demanding. It requires stepping into a zone of discomfort, leaving behind a place of safety, stretching and crossing one's own boundaries and saying goodbye to familiar people, places and truths. It is quite a challenge he sets to himself, but there seems to be no other option for him: getting stuck, staying put, and not moving forward are described as equally or even more distressing in his reflections. This tension prevails not only on the practical level of Afrax's life described above—that of studies, work, and personal development—but stretches to a deep level, of his values and a tormenting confusion about them.

"Or like, what are my values?"

Afrax: 'Living between two cultures is not good for me. I have grown up over there, and grown to certain values, and I don't want to give that up. But now I have to question and ponder things, and it is hard. I don't want to stay put in it [the culture in which he has grown] but I want to be open: I feel that I learn from all people and from all cultures, and it does not mean that I would abandon my own culture.'

This is Afrax's other burning dilemma: he simultaneously wants to cherish what he calls "my own culture" *and* to be open to new people and other cultures. He both feels the need to question—as brought out in the introduction, he doesn't take things as given but wants and needs justifications and explanations—*and* feels worn out and

tormented by this need. He might exclaim "I want to explore myself" and "it would be better for me to live under someone else's guidance, so that I wouldn't need to think" during one and same discussion.

There is plenty of non-academic literature and other material on "growing up between two cultures" and so called "Third Culture Kids". It is not surprising that Afrax uses this expression of himself: if he had not been familiarized with the term by social workers or teachers during his teenage years in Finland, he would surely have bumped into it while studying multicultural youth work. Worry about immigrant children "falling between two cultures" gained prominence in Finnish public discourse during the nineties (Hautaniemi 1997, 16). As a consequence, there are several NGO-based projects in Finland that provide support for families bringing their children up "between two cultures" and young people who are growing up in this kind of setting. Education on the issue is also provided in different institutions (including universities) for people training as professionals in education and the social sector. More often than not, the underlying or explicit assumption is that children who grow up "between two cultures" are children of "imaginary immigrants": the issues covered in these materials tend to include such topics as honour-related violence, differing views between parents and children regarding dating and sexuality, and the risk of forced marriages.

Interestingly, while "immigrant children" are often understood to grow up or even fall "between" cultures, children of so-called expatriates—a term often used to refer to so-called high-skilled or lifestyle migrants, to "privileged migrants", in short—are generally termed "Third Culture Kids" or "TCKs" (Fechter & Korpela 2016, 423). While Hoosain & Salili (2014, 3-4) define the former as children who "[...] have to cope with two different cultures and two languages, the language and culture of home and that of the school and the society in which they live", Pollock & Van Reken (2001, 26-31) define the latter as children who develop a sense of relationship to both their parents' home culture and the culture of the country/ies in which they grow up, incorporating elements of each culture into their life experience and developing a sense of belonging with others who have similar backgrounds. In a similar fashion as "growing up between two cultures", "TCKs" are presumed to be troubled and to have identity problems due to growing up in a different culture than the culture their parents represent. "TCKs" are therefore considered to lack strong bonds to their "own culture", which is assumed to be a problem (Korpela 2016, 473), and "between two cultures kids" to have trouble in maintaining continuity between the cultural identity given to them by their parents and the culture of their present home country (Hoosain & Salili 2014, 10).

According to Korpela (2016, 471), the literature on "Third Culture Kids" consists predominantly of guidance and advice materials targeted at "TCKs" and their parents, based on comparatively little convincing research (Korpela 2016, 471). To some extent, however, these terms are used by scholars as well, and the research on the children and young people referred to with these labels has extended to the social sciences (Fechter & Korpela 2016, 424; Hoosain & Salili, 2014). Fechter and Korpela (2016, 425; Korpela 2016, 471-474; see also Tanu 2015) criticize this discourse for its narrow terms, and the "TCKs" concept itself for the essentializing of cultures it implicitly presumes. In my view, similar problems trouble the (limited) existing scholarly literature on children "growing up between two cultures", and the discussions I have shared with Afrax during the years we worked together point in the same direction. This is not to say that his own interpretation—that living "between cultures" is tough for him-wouldn't be accurate, or that child migrants would not face special circumstances and certain challenges in general. As Korpela (2016, 471) notes, there is a need to conceptualize their experiences. Also, I do not mean to imply that concern among social workers and other actors around practices that seriously circumscribe some young people's lives or expose them to violence (be it honour-related or not) is mistaken as such. I wish to emphasize that the issue at hand is much more intricate than the way the literature tends to present it, and that an essentializing understanding of cultures is misleading if one wishes to capture the multifariousness of the experiences of child migrants.

While, for some migrant and Muslim background youth growing up in "secular Western countries", the issues brought up by Hoosain and Salili (2014, 7-8) might be of major significance—for example the question of how to adjust one's religious duties to the practices and daily rhythms of a non-Muslim country of residence, and how to do so in a fashion that is not "uncool"—Afrax's dilemma is about something else. It is not simply about a teenage identity crisis either, in which he, like other "between two cultures kids", would need to find integrity "[...] through maintenance of continuity with the identity given to them by their parents and the culture of the country in which they now live" (ibid., 10). As Korpela (2016, 472) argues of "TCK" literature, in this kind of description, cultures are defined as ethnic or national entities that are "neat, ready-made packages", as "blocks" into which children should integrate. This "[...] overemphasizes culture as an encompassing agent while disregarding diversity, processes and people [...], including the agency, experiences and practices [...] of children themselves" (ibid., 474). The daily reality of these young people is, to quote Golbert (2001, 725), "[...] embedded in a transnational frontier of intersecting ideas, relationships, histories and identities [...]." Thus, as Hautaniemi

(2004, 95) writes concerning boys coming from Somalia who grew up in Finland in the late 90s, the question is not simply about what it is like to be a Somali or a Finn in Finland, but also about what it means to be a culturally categorized person in today's integrative and transnational world.

As I showed in the previous section, the key reference points for Afrax's sense of identity and sense of belonging are Somalia, Africa and people of African descent, and the Arab world—Finland or Europe as cultural or geographical areas do not seem to play a big role for him in that respect, at least not during our years of working together. The questions he brings up regarding his uneasiness with "living between two cultures" are of quite different nature. They involve religion, in the sense that he has started to question some of his previous fundamental beliefs. Nevertheless, what is at issue for him in this respect is not really how to balance religious and secular life, nor how to negotiate between the differing expectations his kin and Finnish society might have of him. Unsurprisingly, these issues do come up sometimes, but they are not the ones that make him feel disturbingly confused, even "tormented". They are of different level altogether: they concern what he considers to be his own "values"—or, rather, what he considers to be "complete confusion" regarding them.

There is a deeply moral undertone to Afrax's pondering. He has learned to consider some things as serious sins in the eyes of Islam and some peoples as enemies of Muslims. Yet his golden rule is 'to encounter people as whole [persons] and accept them as they are,' and he says he has started to consider this more important than whether something a person does is sinful according to Islam. In this way, encountering people with an open mind forces Afrax to question some of the basic beliefs he has grown to take for granted. One of the difficult issues is homosexuality. The first time I had a serious conversation regarding homosexuality with Afrax was nearly ten years ago, when we were at a youth training event (Afrax as the young person, I as the youth worker). A Finnish man, who was one of the organizers of the event, overheard our exchange, and, when we were about to finish, he came to tell us in a friendly but firm tone that he has lived with his boyfriend for seven years and would love to get married with him, if only that were legal in Finland.⁵⁹ Only a moment ago, Afrax had said quite openly that the Islam he professes considers homosexuality a serious sin, and his jaw dropped when this man came out about his own homosexuality. Later, when we were having dinner together, Afrax exclaimed: 'That [organizer], he is the most courageous person I know!' Afrax

⁵⁹ At that time, homosexuals were only able to register their relationship, not to get married. The law has now been changed and marriages between people of the same sex are now possible in Finland.

was impressed by the person's outspokenness, and consequently was pushed to review his way of relating to LBGTQ minorities. Several years later, at the time of my fieldwork, Afrax is at a point in which he says he acknowledges the existence of homosexuals and wants to accept it, despite what the teachers of religion have taught him.

Another major issue is the relationship with Israeli Jews. Once Afrax tells me a story about an international youth event he had attended in Europe, where he had had to sleep in the same room with Jewish youth from Israel.

One can only imagine how the first night felt. I cannot explain how it felt to be in the same space with them, to realize that I will have to spend a week with them. But I also broke big prejudices I had... I don't know, it was, but it was also funny. I asked them what they think, should Palestinians have their own country. And they were young like that and they said that yes they should, so that we could also have peace, so that both could have peace. [...] So, somehow we became closer to each other. Breaking the prejudices like that was really great. Somehow, I don't *need* to hate all Israelis or Jews! So, it was great. I thought like, maybe religions also teach some kind of hate to us. I like my religion, but in some way, when I asked [about this] myself, I saw things differently. And we were like best friends, played football together and all, like that, it was really interesting. I felt good afterwards, if I hadn't asked about it I would've regretted. There would have remained like this distance [between us].

Again, it is Afrax's will power and ability to encounter people with an open mind that led him to question fundamental beliefs he had grown to take for granted. There is a sense of relief and joy in the way he behaves and reflects on these situations. At the same time, he bears a burden of worry around how this questioning might "change my personality", as Afrax puts it. 'I want to be critical in respect to my religion,' he says, but then brings out his deep concern: 'Maybe I am not a true believer then.' He tells me about another boy he has discussed this with, who was of the opinion that, if one is a devout believer, one has to believe everything that is taught in one's religion. Afrax disagrees: 'I am of the opinion that in no case should one believe everything, and that you do not need to be some kind of sheik to be a believer.'60

It is not only his "own culture" Afrax is critical of. He seems to explore everything he encounters with a keen sight, and questions some of the central assumptions he encounters in Finland too. Once, for example, we end up discussing equality, and the understanding that Western countries are more egalitarian than his own country of origin—an idea that has been dished up for him time and again as taken for given.

-

⁶⁰ With the word *sheik*, Afrax refers to religiously learned leaders of Muslim communities.

I was just thinking that is equality best implemented here? Things are different here. But then I think is it in the end so egalitarian? Is it egalitarian, for example, that people with mental disabilities have their own schools while normal, so-called normal people, have their own? It is like, I think, it is quite different [than in Somalia]. Some things [that create inequality] are like accepted here, but over there [for example in Somalia] they are not accepted.

And he spends time exposing himself to different cultures and reflects on what these encounters provoke in him: one of his favorite TV-programs is "Madventures", a travel documentary made by two Finns, Riku Rantala and Tunna Milonoff, who travel around the world as backpackers, exploring a multitude of destinations and taking part in local customs. Afrax often talks about what he has seen through the eyes of Riku and Tunna and what kind of thoughts he has about these things:

They [some tribe that was visited in the program] think differently about these things. They [scar tattoos] are like a respectable thing in their community and they are like uniform, because it is done to every child. They [the children] are accepted as members of the tribe according to their customs. And then over here quite many would think that how horrible it is, that the child is cut, also myself I think like "Oh my, like, it is very wrong" and like this... But the explanation that he gave was like "Aha, one can think like this." It was quite intriguing.

This questioning and critical attitude towards both the religious beliefs related to Islam and the practices and norms he encounters in his present home country leads Afrax to face a much more fundamental dilemma than the individual questions regarding, for example, LBGTQ minorities or supposed enemies of Muslims. During one of our discussions, I suggest that Afrax should study anthropology, as he is so interested in exposing himself to different kinds of beliefs and worldviews, and is so able to question some of his own most central beliefs. But he rejects my suggestion, telling me that he is not interested in different cultures and beliefs as such, but in his own values and morals, which he feels an acute need to reflect and discover:

Afrax: It is about *morals*! It is like, it is exactly that kind of thing that I ponder, a person has to have moral [principles]. So, like, a person has to have a kind of, like, that some things your mind does not let you to do, or like, you don't even come to think of it. [...] A person has to have morals, so that it is a different thing, it is not like any religion or something but a person has to have that kind of [principles]. But I don't know where they come from.

Elina: That are independent...

Afrax: Yes, ves!

Elina: ...of religion and...

Afrax: That are independent of *everything* else! So, like, it is the same thing as that you approve some things and some things you do not approve.

Elina: Yeah, yeah... But I don't know if you can ever attain that kind of unconditional [morals], or, in a way, like, my first reaction that I get when you say that is that, yeah, I do not accept like causing suffering to a human being, ever. But, then I do accept it anyhow, because if we take a situation in which one person causes suffering to another person then I do think one has to resist it. In which case you cause suffering to that [first] person... You know, I am not a pacifist in the sense that I would, for example, think that if someone attacks me violently... sure as hell I would hit back!

Afrax: Of course, of course!

[Both laugh.]

Elina: So, in that way things get immediately more complicated as it is not... So that I do accept causing suffering to people who cause suffering to me. Or to you. So it is not an absolute, it is not like causing suffering would be always wrong, in my perspective.

Afrax: No. It is exactly these kind of questions at which I am quite a lot, so like, for example something that I do, or that I have done once. Does it make me like, does it change my personality? And that kind of, like, I ponder quite a lot by myself what I do and what this is and, I don't know, I guess I have some kind of morals for sure... Elina: Sure you do, I think you have very strong, or in a way exactly that in the first place you think so much about those things so that tells that it is like... One can be confused with it, but...

Afrax: I am completely confused.

Elina: Yeah, but that doesn't mean that you wouldn't have very strong, like, striving for that.

Afrax: Eeh, yeah.

I have given this somewhat lengthy description of our evolving discussion to show how, layer by layer, I started to approach and gain understanding of the core of Afrax's dilemma. The fundamental question is not whether homosexuality is a sin or not, nor whether one should consider Israeli Jews enemies, despite the weight of these issues as such. These questions materialize conflicting views that, in the last resort, boil down to profound questions about right and wrong, about treating others and acting in a just way, and a deep confusion about what to base one's moral principles on in an interconnected and integrative world in which various beliefs, norms, customs, cultures and subcultures develop and are present in everyday life (Hannerz 1996, 5-6; 38-39). Even though Afrax uses the expression "between two cultures" of himself, when he actually envisions the place that would ease the torment in which he finds himself it is not the Somalia of today. As in the introduction to this chapter, he repeatedly pronounces a wish to have been born 200 years ago and lived under someone else's command, so that he would not need to think and be confused. He thus seems to have an intuitive understanding of the inapplicability of concepts such as "integration" or "acculturation" to "the culture of the surrounding society", or of "building bridges" or "maintaining continuity"

between two separate cultures (that of a home culture and that of the surrounding society) in the reality in which he lives: a transnational world in which people might experience relatedness to several places, cultures and subcultures, of which not all are territorially based and to whose evolution one might contribute via one's own agency (Hannerz 1996, 8; Hautaniemi 2004, 168; Korpela 2016, 476; 482).

Unshareable shared experience

As Korpela (2016, 473; 478) underlines, the children of the lifestyle migrants living in Goa she studied do not simply passively integrate to those readymade packages called "cultures" in much of the "TCK" literature, but they can and do create their own cultural practices too. Korpela (ibid., 480–481) suggests that, for the children and teenagers she has studied, youth subcultures (such as hip-hop, breakdance and skateboarding) may be more significant than the national cultures of their parents or the local culture, to which they have quite limited contacts. Similarly, it can be argued that many refugee background young people in Finland experience a sense of belonging to the subcultures they actively participate in—like, for example, Manasse, who is part of the Finnish rap scene, and strives to develop it in a direction in which "immigrant rappers" have more space and artistic freedom (see chapter 7.2)—and that, in their immediate lives, this might have greater importance than the national cultures of their parents and Finnish society.

Afrax's situation, however, differs in the sense that he experiences loneliness and dissimilarity because of his will to constantly develop and move on, and the considerations that occupy his mind. Several times he says that he feels older than his age, that he does not fit in with his peers—most of whom share a background as refugees or children of refugees—and that they consider his reflections strange and uninteresting. Despite his extensive social network and several mates with whom he can spend time, he feels that he does not have true friends to whom he could talk about his thoughts and doubts. He has tried, but feels that his mates do not understand him and that they think he is like some old man among careless youth if he brings the things that trouble him up. And some things he has kept to himself:

Afrax: There is a high threshold, it is not that I would not tell, but there is a high threshold to tell, because, like, you don't even dare to say it to yourself in the mirror! Things like that.

Elina: But my experience is that if you sit in private with a young person, quite often there starts to come things that are like...

Afrax: Surprising?

Elina: Yeah, quite, kind of [deep reflections]... But apparently it is quite difficult to [share them].

Afrax: Once when we were [at some youth event], so, on the last night I sat with one [young person] from Sri Lanka, and the other was French, and we talked about things that I had never talked about with anyone, like, with my friends. It was like wow! I don't know, maybe you don't dare to tell all things to your own friends, because you might be afraid that they tease you, or that there will come some issues and you won't be accepted anymore. [...] But it was really great, or, like, one of the most fulfilling discussions, and those kinds of things leave a very positive [feeling].

Elina: Yeah, so that you can encounter people, and be really open.

Afrax: Yeah.

As I bring up in our discussion, many other young people with whom I have spent time intensively seem to be grappling with very deep reflections. Several times I have talked extensively with Manasse, for example, about how to raise children, whether it is better for children that some physical discipline is included in their upbringing or not, and about the moral issues linked to these questions. And, with Emanuel, we have had several conversations around questions regarding living as a devout Christian and a young man—the questions that have bothered him have had to do with premarital sex, of acceptable ways of dating, and of his ability to serve as a role model in his voluntary work with the teenagers of his parish, again, all moral questions. Perhaps these are too delicate issues to talk about openly with one's mates, and I, as an older woman, have ended up being a kind of big sister, with whom one can reflect on things that are too tricky to bring up among other young men. Hence, while Afrax feels that his deep reflections alienate him from his peers, going through these kind of ponderings might actually be a shared experience—only one that is too difficult to be open about. In order to support other young people struggling with similar questions, developing more nuanced understandings and insightful conceptualizations regarding their experiences of growing up with a refugee background in a transnational context and interconnected world is essential. The essentializing views on cultures that the "TCK" and "between two culture kids" literatures and popular understandings now offer work more to blur than to help attempts to understand individual life situations embedded in a "transnational frontier" (Golbert 2001, 725). This kind of insight is most certainly needed in the field of youth and social work, where rigid understandings of "our" and "their" culture too often complicate giving the support young people (of Finnish or other origin) lack.

7.3.3 Searching for political relatedness

One profound unknowable will be whether some, or many, nation-states will be sites for anti-globalization/anti-transnationalism backlash. Alongside debates around economic protectionism, this is already witnessed in limited ways through calls to tighten borders, limit citizenship, unravel multiculturalism and enforce migrants' assimilation. As suggested above, broad patterns of transformation entailing the gradual acknowledgement of increasing diversity, complexity and multiple attachments are already underway, and perhaps the forms of backlash are but last gasps of a bygone model of the nation-state.

The above quote from Vertovec (2009, 162) aptly (though perhaps over-optimistically) describes two developments in Finnish society that have direct consequences for refugee background youth, Afrax among others. The first is the rise of anti-immigrant nationalist populism that has picked up speed during the years Afrax has lived and grown up in Finland and that reached one of its culminations during the "refugee crisis". The second, partly provoked by the first, is anti-fascist and anti-racist action and, during the most recent years, efforts by racialized minorities to politicize race and bring out the effects of racialization on their lives. In this section I look at how Afrax relates to these developments, searching for a political point of reference.

Afrax and the rise of national populism in Finland

In July 2015, when the so-called refugee crisis was already a hot topic in Europe, and just a few months before it reached Finland, Olli Immonen, a member of the Finnish parliament representing the Finns Party, wrote the following Facebook post (original in English):

I am dreaming of a strong, brave nation that will defeat this nightmare called multiculturalism. This ugly bubble that our enemies live in, will soon enough burst into a million little pieces. Our lives are entwined in very harsh times. These are the days that will forever leave a mark on our nation's future. I have a strong belief in my fellow fighters. We will fight until the end for our homeland and one true Finnish nation. Victory will be ours.

This post was the final straw for many Finns, who were getting fed up with the openly racist outbursts from certain MPs in the realm of official politics. As a counter-reaction, a demonstration was organized in just two days, with "We have a dream" as its title, and turned out to be massive (on a Finnish scale). According to police estimates, around 15 000 people turned up to take part in it and to listen to

speakers and performers, many of whom are big names in Finland. Even the incumbent president, Sauli Niinistö, wrote a letter to be read to the demonstrators. In Afrax's home city, some NGOs and anti-racist activists decided to organize a support demonstration as well. Afrax was already involved in their network as part of his job, and took part in organizing the local event, which gathered around 1500 people—a surprising result in the city in question and in a demonstration called with just twenty-four hours notice. I was not there, as the speedy organizational work was done via Facebook, and I do not have an account. But Afrax called me later that day to talk about issues concerning his work and study plans, and to tell me about the demonstration. He filled me in on the background and about the work they had done for the demo in his home city, before saying, with an arch tone of voice: "And guess what?" I, of course, asked impatiently what, and he answered: "I gave a speech over there!" Afrax explained how he had written "with emotion" a post on his own Facebook wall regarding Olli Immonen's post, and, when the other organizers of the demonstration had seen it, they had asked Afrax to read it at the demonstration. The post and speech went as follows (translation mine):

I guess I tried to close my eyes to the truth. Everything a foreigner does in a strange country, whether they were dark, red or light skinned, it is all taken notice of and categorized. This all affects, in some ways, other individuals' lives.

I want to say these things: religion does not wage war, human beings wage war; culture does not commit horrendous acts, human beings commit horrendous acts; and skin colour does not hurt human beings but human beings hurt each other. All we human beings have good and bad sides, all communities have good and bad habits.

Sometimes it feels like we forget that in the end we are all just human beings.

I wish that this world would be better for all of us, that we could live in harmony and forgive each other.

Let us break our prejudices, help each other, and learn to forgive each other.

This was Afrax's first personal public appearance—the previous ones had been in connection with his work as a peer mentor, and were not of political nature. This time he spoke his own mind, spoke as an individual, as someone who has lived half his life in Finland, but is still not accepted by certain MPs as a member of the "true Finnish nation" and is designated as its "enemy", as part and parcel of the "nightmare called multiculturalism".

Afrax arrived in Finland around 2008, at a time when the support of nationalist-populist parties was well-established in many parts of Europe and was currently rising in Northern countries too—including the Finns Party (Lentin & Titley 2011,

1-4; Nikunen 2015, 24). The Finns Party was founded in 1995, but, during its initial years, didn't gain much foothold. In 2008, however, it gained ground in local elections, and became the third biggest party in parliament only three years later. As elsewhere in Europe, the rise of nationalist populism was closely connected with an anti-immigrant agenda and growing criticism of the so-called "failed experiment of multiculturalism" (Lentin & Titley 2011, 2; Nikunen 2015, 24). These debates have provided a forum on which racist views and rhetorics have been "laundered" and relegitimized as a form of "cultural" racism (Lentin & Titley 2011, 16–17). Immonen's Facebook post is both a result and sign of this development: even though it met criticism, Immonen was not sanctioned in any way, and is still an MP for the Finns Party, currently also acting as a member of the Constitutional Law Committee. 61 The furore around Immonen's post indicates the importance social media has had as an arena for the rise of populism and anti-immigrant agendas. Online chat forums not only provide an anonymous space for aggressive and hate speech, but also structure public discussions in general (Nikunen 2015, 21): in Finland, Pöyhtäri et al. (2013, 225–227) have shown how traditional mass media circulate both the expressions and tone used in online discussions, thus contributing to a change of atmosphere towards a more aggressive and provocative tone in society at large.

The rise of national populism in Finland is not constricted to party politics—rather, it exists in parallel with other far-right and even neo-Nazi movements. Earlier, in the summer 2015, Immonen had been seen taking part in a commemoration of Eugen Schauman together with members of the openly neo-Nazi Finnish Resistance Movement (Suomen Vastarintaliike, or SVL, which is part of the Nordic Resistance Movement) (Muraja 2015).62 Immonen is not the only member of the Finns Party with connections to the small but persistent far-right nationalist groups in Finland (Koivulaakso et al. 2012), such as SVL and the organization called Suomen Sisu. At SVL's demonstration in Jyväskylä in Central Finland four days after the large anti-racist demonstrations provoked by Immonen's post, three bystanders were assaulted by about ten of the SVL demonstrators. When the "refugee crisis" reached Finland in the early autumn of 2015, it gave impetus to these groups and to a number of new groups, such as the Rajat kiinni! movement ("Close the Borders!") and Soldiers of Odin group, both founded during the autumn.

⁶¹ After the splash regarding his post, Immonen resigned from the Finns Party group in parliament, but continued as MP and member of the party. After about two months he was welcomed back into the parliamentary group as well.

⁶² Schauman was a Finnish nationalist who assassinated the Governor-General of Finland, Nikolai Bobrikov, in 1904 when Finland was still part of Russia.

During the winter of 2015–2016, Soldiers of Odin started self-proclaimed street patrols in order to ensure "safety" in several cities in Finland, including Afrax's home city. He inevitably bumped into them—he once called, for example, and told me how he had been in the city centre when about 150 "soldiers" had marched the streets. I went intentionally right to the edge of the sidewalk. None of them looked at me, they all looked away, he said, and claimed that, as he cannot do anything about it, he tries not to spend energy getting anxious. But he also told that some immigrant background young people of colour with whom he works were constantly afraid in public space due to these patrols, and were confused as the police did nothing about them. Encountering racism in the streets was, of course, not new to Afrax and his peers as such. But Afrax's own hunch was that, following the events of 2015, such abuse became more and more commonplace, and escalated more often to physical assaults. A telling example is our exchange of words in the autumn of 2016 during our common field trip to London:

We exit the underground station in Brixton and start to walk towards the street where our Airbnb accommodation is. It is nearly midnight: we have been in the centre of London to see a play based on Amiri Baraka's (aka LeRoy James) *The Slave*, and to have soft drinks after it in order to discuss what we had seen. It is Saturday night and Halloween, and I am uncomfortably aware of the restless streets and the fact that this is an area marked with darkest red on the Metropolitan Police's map, indicating the highest levels of crime in general and crimes of violent nature in particular. But Afrax, walking next to me, sighs with relief.

Afrax: 'I am not afraid here! I am more afraid in my home city, like, in the high street, a lot more than here. Here folks merely look at me like "some young fella over there, who cares". But in my home city it has become so to say normal that there will be some trouble, especially if you go out with friends.'

And, as an example, Afrax tells me of a recent evening when he had been with some friends on the high street of their home city, the others waiting while one of them was getting cash from an ATM. A group of white Finns had passed them, and one of them had purposefully barged Afrax's friend hard with his shoulder while walking past. The friend had gotten irritated and an argument had erupted. Soon, the police arrived, and Afrax is still angry when he describes how the police were more inclined to listen to the white people than him and his friends. Finally, he adds: 'And what was also super irritating was that their girlfriends kept on hitting our backs all the time!' And he goes on to tell me about other incidents that he has experienced recently, of how some white Finns are either afraid of him—which also hurts him—or aggressive. Once, some passerby actually called the police when he found Afrax with his friends trying to help a drunkard who had hurt himself, accusing the youths, who had called an ambulance and were waiting for it to arrive, of maltreating the man.

These stories seem to be unending, and while most are about psychological violence, some have elements of serious physical violence, too. Afrax's Somali background friend, for example, was attacked by a group of skinhead-looking young men, maltreated in many ways, and only managed to escape through his wits and good luck. As awareness of the normalization of street racism, and the experiences of it by the young people Afrax worked with kept accumulating, he spoke out publicly about the issue a second time. About two years after the We Have a Dream demonstration he gave an interview to Finland's national public broadcasting company. In it, he tells how people who "look like foreigners" are more and more cautious about moving in public space: "When one moves during the hours of darkness, one often has to glance behind one's back." The journalist who wrote the story had had difficulties in finding anyone willing to give an interview with their name and face exposed. Afrax was the one who agreed to do so, and without sparing his words: "It feels like humanness does not apply to me. Sombre thoughts come to one's mind. [...] One young person I know says that he used to think Finland was a safe country, but that now he feels that his own life is threatened."63

From antifascist activism to politicizing race

As is also evident from the incidents described above, the growth of anti-immigrant national populism, hand in hand with racism and xenophobia, has also provoked counter-reactions in Finland. Throughout the years 2015 and 2016 existing antifascist and anarchist groups and networks—such as Varis, A-ryhmä, Alusta and others—organized several counter demonstrations against the marches by the Finnish Resistance Movement and other racist, neo-Nazi and far-right nationalist groups. In winter 2016, a clown group, Loldiers of Odin, developed a different technique of countering racism by starting a campaign of mockery against Soldiers of Odin, managing to ridicule the street patrols and gaining notable national and international public attention to their cause. A large mass movement against racism and fascism was born only the next autumn, after a member of SVL kicked Jimi Karttunen, a young, white Finnish man who had started to argue with them, during a rally. The kick was hard and Karttunen fell, hit his head on the pavement, suffered a cerebral hemorrhage and, after a week, died. After this incident, according to police estimates about 15 000 or more people gathered in a demonstration called "Halt the Game—Let's Break the Silence" (Peli poikki - Rikotaan hiljaisuus) in Helsinki, and several support demonstrations were organized in other Finnish cities at which

⁶³ Reference omitted in order to protect Afrax's anonymity.

hundreds of people participated. These demonstrations were supported by some government ministers, and, at least in Helsinki, the Finnish National Anthem was played by a symphony orchestra.

However, as Rastas (2019, 366–367) observes, "[p]rojects and campaigns against racism have often been planned and organized by people who represent white majority perspectives." All the movements described above, from the initial We Have a Dream demonstration, to the smaller scale antifascist and anarchist actions, to the Halt the Game mass movement, were predominantly organized by white ethnic Finns. The first was initiated by a small group formed of white Finnish journalists, politicians and producers, some with activist backgrounds. Some of these central figures were also involved in the Halt the Game demonstration, which was organized in cooperation with several big NGOs (such as Amnesty International Finland, Plan International Finland, UN Women and a long list of Finnish NGOs). As for the antifascist and anarchist scene of activists in Finland, it is predominantly white. As Rastas (ibid., 366) notes, representatives of minorities are often invited to participate in the events organized by people from the white majority as "experts by experience" and as representatives of people who actually do face racism. In my eyes, especially the Halt the Game demonstration, where the National Anthem was played, turned more into an act of reclaiming the idea of the Finnish nation as non-racist than into an act of bringing out how race as a social fact affects the lives of people who belong to racialized minorities in Finland.⁶⁴

Afrax was involved to some extent in these movements. As already mentioned, he took part in the organization of the We Have a Dream demonstration in his home city, and, after that, he was not very actively involved, but still followed the work of migrants' rights activists, and took part in organizing the practicalities of some demonstrations and in translating info materials into Somali. Nevertheless, he never really seemed to find his place in this network of people, and, over time, his participation in its work diminished. Also, he got to know the activist and anarchist scene in his home city, and started to participate in some of their events and actions, being, for example, the only person of colour in the local anarchist football team. Afrax also got loosely involved with the local branch of Left Youth, a nationwide political youth organization. In the long run, none of these groups seemed to offer

.

⁶⁴ During these years, racialized minorities did have a notable role in demonstrations organized for migrants' rights, but these aimed at defending the right to legalize one's status in Finland and stopping deportations, not racism as such. Also, this movement predominantly involved cooperation between white Finnish migrants' rights activists and newly arrived asylum seekers, as its culmination, a five-month demonstration and tent camp called "Right to Live" at Railway Square in Helsinki in 2017 exemplifies.

the kind of aims or socialities which Afrax could really relate with politically, and his involvement with them remains somewhat up in the air.

During our common field trip to London, we did end up in a group to which Afrax seemed to relate to, at least more than I did:

Afrax stands next to me on Trafalgar square. We are surrounded by a rather big crowd of people: black, brown and white; adults, elderly people, children. Many have small cardboard signs with different slogans, some groups have bigger banners, and some elaborate fabrics on which they have painted or sewn names and pictures of their loved ones, most often young black men.

I have traveled to London with Afrax to finish our fieldwork in a grand way: we want to participate in the happenings of Black History Month, celebrated in GB every October. We have already visited the Black Cultural Archives to see their exhibition *Rights of Passage—a Century of People Power* and in a Black Words Matter poetry happening the previous day, and, by chance, taken part in a fund-raising event of a neighborhood project targeted at the kids of Brixton. Today, we had decided to have some time off and go experience the must-sees in central London. We had jumped randomly on a double-decker bus, which, luckily, did take us to the centre—but there, as we headed to Trafalgar square, we ended up in this demonstration completely by accident.

I hesitate at first, wondering if this is uninteresting-it is not exactly our cause (or rather, perhaps, it isn't my cause)—or uncomfortable for Afrax, who is not altogether unexperienced when it comes to social movements or demonstrations, but who I have interpreted as a bit too pacifist for this kind of demonstration (remember his plea at the We Have a Dream demonstration: "Let us learn to forgive each other"). It is against police violence against black people, and it is loud and outspoken, though not aggressive in a physical way. It soon becomes clear that Afrax wants to stay. So we stand in the crowd in Trafalgar square, read all the leaflets we are given, talk a little with people around, and admire the carefully prepared banners. There are several Black Lives Matter banners, one with a text "London Against Police Violence" and a picture of a brown fist that grabs a white hand holding a truncheon ready to strike, and beautiful fabrics that tell the fate of victims of police violence. One of them, for example, reads "Justice for Ricky Bishop 1976-22. NOV 2001", and "Killed in Brixton police station". A stylized black and white painting of Ricky's face is in the centre of the banner, which is carried by a black woman and a white man, and followed by a black boy of about ten years carrying a bunch of white roses.

When the crowd starts to move we follow along, and, when people start to shout slogans, Afrax joins them without hesitation. Along with others, he rises his fist in the air, and shouts: "No justice—no peace! No racist police!"

We experienced this about a month after a banner at the Halt the Game demonstration in Helsinki had provoked a small sensation: in it, a text "No Peace Without Justice" was accompanied by a painting in which a fist crushes the logos of the Nordic Resistance Movement, the Finnish police, far-right nationalist organization Suomen Sisu, and the Finnish Lion (a figure of the coat of arms of Finland). Some were quite upset and felt that people were fooled into taking part in an anarchist demonstration (Savonlahti 2016). The organizers quickly announced that they had no idea who brought the banner and suspected that it had been done by one or two individuals, probably in order to troll the demonstration (Vesa 2016). Critiquing the racism of the Finnish police and state seemed to be out of question in Finland, where a belief in so-called Nordic exceptionalism still prevails: as in other Nordic countries, national identity in Finland is largely built on an image of the nation as detached from histories of colonialism and imperialism, and hence innocent or even incapable of racism (Loftsdóttir & Jensen 2012; Mulinari et al. 2009, 1–2).

Yet, as already brought out in the third chapter regarding Emanuel (chapter 7.3), a social and cultural transformation is currently taking place in Finland, too (Rastas 2019). Immigrants, and especially their offspring, have increasingly started to speak about themselves as racialized subjects and express their discomfort "[...] with the roles offered to them by many anti-racist projects led and controlled by white people with majority background." (Ibid., 367.) They are currently creating forums and communities of people with whom they can share their experiences of racism and act politically in order to make the meanings of the category of race visible. But the current needs and efforts to politicize race cannot be implemented with a "cookiecutter formula", as Gorani puts it, but have to take into account how differently people belonging to distinct racialized minorities "[...] understand and relate to issues of race and ethnicity, to our culture and country of origin, and how that plays out in our understanding, response and strategies of dealing with racism and discrimination in the West" (Duh et al. 2014, 244). The complexity of Afrax's sense of belonging in comparison with the identification of many other Somali background youth, for example, suggests some of the diversity with regard to these issues. This only underlines how elemental the kind of struggle Afrax was going through in regard to his belonging and values during the years we were doing fieldwork together are for the formation of the vocabularies needed in order to discuss racialized identities and social relations, for forming communities in which negotiating identities and sharing experiences is possible, and for politicizing race. As Afrax brings out, sharing some of the personal experiences related to these issues is demanding: it is difficult even to "dare to say it to yourself in the mirror". Simultaneously, Afrax's own experiences show that when a safe enough community does take form—even momentarily, for one night—and one is able to share these issues, it is highly empowering. In this

sense, Afrax's continuous urge to challenge himself and step out of his comfort zone is a necessary, though at times tormenting, attitude in order to be able to work for politicizing race. As for the demonstration we bumped into in London, he reflected afterwards that, while he wanted to participate in it and support the cause, it still did not give him the feeling of being "the thing": his quest for finding a political home is still ongoing.

7.3.4 Conclusion

Afrax's uncompromising quest for cultural, geographical, and political relatedness and a solid base on which to build his beliefs and morals teaches an invaluable lesson on the complexity of the social and cultural field in which young refugee background men navigate. While the subject positions Emanuel and Manasse work for are rather clearly defined and serve as targets at which they aim, Afrax's aspired position is one of openness, development and moving on. Yet in order to move on one first needs to know where one is standing, and an important part of his search is related to this: trying to find out where he hails from culturally and historically. The field in which Afrax conducts his explorations is by no means limited to Finland and Somalia but stretches in several directions both geographically, historically and culturally: to Africa as a continent and to the African diaspora, to colonial and postcolonial relations and knowledge production, to political movements concerning race and migration, to treatment of other minorities (racial/ethnic, religious and sexual), and to racialized social relations on several levels (from anti-immigrant movements in Finland to the construction of the category of tiin jareer in Somalia). It is a thoroughly transnational field in which the interconnections are nevertheless uneven, some passages leading to dead ends, as evidenced by our attempts to get a grip on the history and present of Africa. Understanding this complexity and conceptualizing the experience of growing up within it is a necessity if one wishes to support young people (refugee background and others) trying to navigate it.

In his persistent search for answers to the questions he poses himself, and to the "present world", Afrax recoils from the position of the well-integrated refugee subject whose job is now supporting others in the task of integrating to Finnish society. But neither does he opt for failing integration by giving up, tempted as he sometimes is to do so. Instead, Afrax continues to challenge himself and others by asking his questions, disturbing in their profoundness. From this vantage point, his quest appears as mundane political agency in its purest form: as posing the very

question of what kind of subject positions are, should be, or could be possible for a refugee background young man in Finland of today.

7.4 Reflections

The preceding three chapters each concentrate on a unique life situation and personal aspirations. There are, nonetheless, a few common features, three of which I would like to underline here. The first is that of work: Manasse, Emanuel and Afrax each invest a considerable amount of time and energy in advancing their projects. This work takes many forms. Paid labour is one of them, and it is certainly a necessary element in the lives of all these young men: Afrax and Emanuel in particular have had to work hard in order to fund their studies and to be able to help their family members economically. For Manasse, this burden has been lighter, as his family is better-off and has, at times, been able to support him economically instead of vice versa, but he has also had to get independent in this sense quite early too. Nevertheless, paid labour is only one form of the work these young men carry out, and, as it is more visible and easier to recognize than other forms of labour, these tend to slip out of sight.

There is the intellectual work, the enormous effort that Emanuel puts into his studies, Mannasse in advancing his career as a musician without compromising his artistic vision too much, and Afrax in developing and forging ahead both careerwise and personally. There is the networking Emanuel carries out in order to build a safety net for himself and for others around him, and Manasse engages in to connect with professional performers and consolidate his standing in the music and art scenes. Then, there is the emotional labour that I have shown Emanuel, in particular, carrying out as a method of weaving networks and attempting to keep them together even in situations of utmost stress, but which Afrax needed to carry out in his job in the form of smiling work as well. And, finally, there is the work Afrax performs in his frantic efforts to "explore himself". This latter is, perhaps, the one that resembles least what is commonly understood as "work". Discussion on apt definitions of work or labour are not, however, relevant for the sake of my main argument, which is to emphasize the considerable effort these young men put into carving out alternative subject positions for themselves. As much as they are continuously alert in their everyday life situations and deploy a multitude of immediate bodily strategies in them, they spend a notable part of their everyday life in working for this, in one way or another.

The second common feature is that the projects these young men try to further are all at least partly about claiming recognition, albeit in differing ways. For Emanuel the driving force at school and in his efforts to gain education—besides getting better job opportunities and better salary—is gaining recognition both as himself and as a capable individual. He strives to be seen as himself, as Emanuel, and for not having to "feel small" among other Finnish people. For him, claiming blackness is part of this project, and building safe spaces, reflecting race and racialized social relations, and everyday anti-racism are central in his life. For Manasse, on the other hand, being African is a source of strength that he draws from in his attempt to build a career as a musician. He is claiming the position of an Afropolitan, a professional African background cosmopolitan, and does so in a prefigurative way that demonstrates courage. Of these three young men, he is the least preoccupied by questions regarding race. Yet, as the previous chapters on him have brought out, he understands race and immigrant-ness as one form of difference among others (such as mental disabilities), and is capable of and willing to think and act beyond these categories. And Afrax, finding himself buffeted by the confusing crosswinds of a transnational and postcolonial world, refuses to take anything for granted and keeps on questioning, challenging both himself and others in his search for a cultural and geographical, moral, and political home. His search aptly demonstrates how questions regarding race and belonging are not simply about being racialized as a white Finn or black/brown immigrant. In his willingness to claim Africanness and blackness Afrax finds himself caught in a complex web of racialized social relations, and he seeks recognition not only as an acknowledged member of Finnish society but also as a member of both African and Somali diasporas.

The third aspect I wish to emphasize is that during the time I worked with these young men, each of them found themselves in more or less of a dead end. Emanuel's was perhaps the most total, and his desperation was deep, as his chances for passing the baccalaureate exams, going on to further education and keeping his family unified seemed non-existent. Afrax also went through tough times, both in terms of his need to "explore himself" and in terms of the rise of racism and right-wing national populism, several times feeling like giving up. Manasse, on the other hand, had perhaps the most grounded approach to his project; he was consciously building his aspired future step by step, and he always had a plan b figured out in case his project of building an international career as a professional performer didn't work out. As we discussed his situation together—that of identifying as a highly mobile Afropolitan, but in practice being stuck in his home city in Finland—he said that he does feel "stuck", but yet does not want force himself ahead just because of that. He

wanted to build a sure and safe way to get ahead and not spoil his plans by rushing and pushing too much and too early. "It is about building the base so that you don't get lost, so that the world does not kick you back when you do leave," he reflected. In practice, this is the way Emanuel and Afrax proceeded too, somehow always pulling themselves together and proceeding by baby steps if nothing else worked out. This was perhaps not as consciously formed a plan as in Manasse's case, but all of them were "stubbornly alluding to-and sometimes [...] living, in a seedling state—hope for something different", as Biehl & Locke (2010, 333-334) describe what they call an everyday life force that enables people to carve out "small life chances against the odds." Afrax, Emanuel and Manasse are certainly stubborn in their attempts to carve out possibilities and alternative positionings for themselves. This stubbornness is not merely resilience; sometimes it seems to lead to dead ends rather than finding solutions to the problems at hand. The life chances the young men are trying to carve out are not about adaptation to the situation at hand, but about not accepting things as they are, about desiring something different instead, a different world and a different future. The ongoing work of carving out alternatives is thus mundane political agency in essence.

I suggest that this kind of agency of projects (Ortner 2006, 139), of working hard year after year to make one's dreams come true, is, to an extent, intentional, based on conscious reflection of one's situation and future aspirations. To say that it is intentional is not to consider it the calculative acts of freely choosing liberal subjects. I do not suggest that the sociocultural contexts—or the "constituting constraints" (Mahmood 2005, 17)—the young men are embedded in would be transparent to them. Afrax's deep confusion is illustrative of the impossibility of "standing outside" (Ortner 2006, 127) one's circumstances. Simultaneously, it is illustrative of the reflective capacities that culture provides and the complex human subjectivities this enables. Cultural multilayeredness is only accentuated in the case of migrant youth with transnational social and cultural relations that enable intense reflective movement between intimacy and estrangement. The reflexivity of complex subjectivity constitutes the grounds for questioning and criticizing the world and thus for imagining, desiring and working for different kinds of possibilities than those already available.

8 CONCLUSION

If I could travel back in time to that moment in chapter 5.1.3 where Samiullah suggested that my research is about how "we [immigrant youth] deviate from the majority population", I would now respond to him with the following, more considered, alteration of the proposition: on the contrary, this dissertation is about how they are repeatedly deviated and how they persistently act in response to it, to the brink of stubbornness. Over the course of the previous nine chapters I have illustrated how refugee background young men are constituted as different in recurrent and multiple ways in their everyday encounters, how they deploy a multitude of immediate strategies in order to react to the various subject positions of differentness they are expected to embrace and shake the ground of these encounters, and how they work hard and determinedly to realize their long-term projects of carving out alternative positions and a wider range of possibilities for themselves.

In the first set of three subchapters, "Setting the stage", I answered my first research question, on the subject positions proposed to the youths in their everyday encounters, by examining three situations emerging from my data as both typical and especially illustrative. Emanuel was framed in his school environment in the classic subject position of an imaginary immigrant; Manasse, in the music project he took part in, in the subject position of a vulnerable refugee young person; and Afrax, in his job as a peer mentor, was assigned the subject position of a representative of imaginary immigrant youth and a marginal member of the Finnish state who was expected to act as a middleman between it and its immigrant Others. In the following two chapters, I answered my second research question, concerning the ways the young men react and act in relation to these subject positions. First, in the subchapters comprising chapter 6 on immediate strategies, I looked at the various bodily choreographies the youths deployed on the spot in reaction to these subject positions. These strategies ranged from enduring as a form of small agency, to turning the subject position around by highlighting one's difference in a positive sense, to rejecting the subject position by avoiding physical and social alignment with others categorized similarly, to transforming the subject position by performing smiling work and by attempting to align with professional colleagues instead of immigrant peers. Second, in chapter 7 on long-term projects, I concentrated on the future-oriented projects that the youths try to further, which, again, are highly various, from ardent efforts to gain education or build a career as a musician, to weaving networks and building safe spaces, to claiming blackness and/or Africanness and politicizing race, to challenging presuppositions and searching for answers to profound questions regarding one's self, morals, and belonging.

8.1 Connecting threads: three key findings

As is typical in ethnographic research, the diversity of the observations I have made along the way is considerable, and the conclusions based on them point in several directions. What one considers most worthwhile or important very much depends on the reader. I sincerely hope that my observations about the obstacles Emanuel encountered in his studies, for example, or the way Manasse and Afrax negotiated their positions in the projects they were involved in, will inspire other researchers and professionals of these fields to inquire further into these issues and develop more functional methods. Sometimes, this does not even require great changes: if one thinks of teaching, for example, would it be truly unthinkable to use plain language, to simplify one's Power Point slides and use photos to illustrate the points in them, to take care that what one says aloud is in line with what is written in the teaching materials, and to ensure that everybody in the class has easy access to teaching materials and resources? This would not only support (instead of hindering) the efforts of those who find following the teaching in Finnish a challenge, but also those with other kinds of challenges, such as dyslexia or learning difficulties. Or, one could, perhaps, further develop the attitude the leaders of the band project displayed: they gave Manasse space to outgrow the subject position that was designed for him in the project—maybe they did not exactly encourage him to do so, but the readiness they showed to let him change the premises of the project could be developed into a method for youth work. As for Afrax, he promptly asked me to explain how and on what level we should work in order not to keep on repeating the kind of paradoxical practices that work for Othering despite contrary intentions. This was a question I couldn't answer at that moment, and I still can't. It would be a somewhat lazy answer to insist that, for example, those white social worker women who had designed and who steered the peer mentoring project should take a good look at themselves, get a grip, and design a better project—as it is, that better project might never get funding, and the Afrax-to-be would remain unemployed. Even so, it would

be equally lazy to say that they could not do anything: as I answered Afrax, even though people often find themselves caught in constraining circumstances, they are still responsible for what they do and should at least try to counter practices and ways of encountering people that work for Othering.

More of these kind of details, and their possible implications, are discussed in the main body of this work. At this point, I would like to dedicate the remaining pages to the three findings I deem most central, in that they cut across my observations and relate immediately to my research topic. These are the following.

"It is difficult to hold on to something that does not hold on to you"

The first concerns the profound effects that being recurrently encountered as different and being offered the subject position of an Other has. This is eloquently crystallized in the quote above from Geoffrey Erista (Parkkinen 2020; my translation), a Finnish actor and dancer with refugee background, who is trying to illustrate how, after living in Finland for twenty-five years, he still feels he is considered a stranger by mainstream society. He underlines how the prevalence and weight of structural racism, such as discrimination in job or housing markets, should be recognized in addition to street racism, online hate speech or everyday microaggression (such acts as not sitting next to a person of colour on public transport, or assuming that they do not speak Finnish), and understood to be at least as relevant with regard to not feeling accepted. My research raises Othering that takes place in everyday encounters as another weighty factor that works to generate this experience. Some forms of this differentiation might be even more difficult to recognize than the kind of racist structures brought out by Erista; they might not be openly discriminatory, indeed are often even intended to work for the contrary. No matter how well-intended such encounters are, as, for example, in projects that aim to empower vulnerable youth or mentor immigrants, they nevertheless reconstitute the young person as an Other. I find it imperative to understand this and to recognize that, in addition to the street racism and structural discrimination these young people recurrently meet, these kind of Othering encounters undermine both their chances and their willingness to belong to Finnish society. If participation in it is considered a value, as reports and research regarding the issue seem to communicate, this problem should be given due attention. Holding on to someone does not happen by underlining time and again their difference, nor by offering them the constricted subject positions of an Other. Pre-eminently, understanding of this should be taken into account when designing research projects regarding these young people. There

is a substantial need for research that takes the youths' vantage point, not that of society, as its point of departure, if we want to understand their lived realities.

"It describes the whole struggle"

This research demonstrates that if the political agency of refugee background young men is investigated from their vantage point, these young people appear to be highly active in the realm of the political ordinary. This is the second central finding of this research. Dealing with Othering and its implications—the whole struggle, as Emanuel crystallized it in my introduction—is all but perpetual. There are some safe, or at least safer, spaces in which one can relax, or one can at least try to build them oneself if they are not readily available. But in such everyday surroundings as school, work, and free-time activities, in which the youth encounter Finnish society and its other (non-)citizens, they are almost incessantly alert, or, to paraphrase Emanuel again, "prepared". This struggle regarding the subject positions that are available for the youths and their attempts to stretch, transform or reject them, or to carve out other possibilities, happens both on the visceral level of the material body and its choreographies and on the level of the intentional, future-oriented projects of subjects capable of conscious reflection. As I have shown, the repertoire of strategies the young people deploy and projects they further is large, spanning from dogged enduring as a form of small agency to courageous prefigurative acts of living as if one's situation was already the kind one desires it to be.

That refugee background young men are actively engaged in mundane political agency might be somewhat surprising in the light of concern about their passivity expressed in reports regarding voter turnout or the societal participation of these young people more broadly. Their incessant and persistent struggle easily goes unnoticed, if the agency of these youths is approached from the point of view of Finnish society, for example as political or societal participation in it, or as resilience in adapting to life within it. Few of the acts described in this dissertation fall readily into the realm of parliamentary politics, civic activity, participation in public discussion or the like—though these are not altogether absent either. The sites and modes of the acts and aspirations I have sought to highlight are generally not recognized as political due to their ordinariness. I have found feminist new materialist insight on the political significance of the material body's capacity to relate, and to refuse to relate to, other bodies a potent tool for shedding light on the youth's acts and immediate strategies. On the other hand, when it comes to the alternative subject positions the young people are working to carve out by furthering

their long-term projects, they are not necessarily recognized at all (not to mention the political significance of these projects), perhaps because they fall out of the existing categories, or because their central reference point is not Finnish society, but something else-Afropolitan community, for example. If looked at from the point of view of resilience, understood as adaptation to a new home country and coping despite adversity, some of the efforts of these young men might seem to work to the contrary: if Emanuel was content to work as a nurse and did not aspire for higher education, or Manasse satisfied himself with being an immigrant Suomi rapper instead of trying to build a more unique career as a musician with African roots, or if Afrax did not challenge himself to the brink of being tormented, they would not find themselves repeatedly in dead ends and might thus appear much more resilient, and, to be sure, better integrated. Accepting a subordinate position in society, internalizing that "in Finland you are number two", is an attitude some refugee background young people embrace in order to cope with discrimination on, for example, the labour market (Onodera & Zaidan 2021, 132). None of my research companions embrace this strategy, but stubbornly struggle to carve out alternatives, a struggle that is political to its core, even if not necessarily in appearance.

Some aspects of the acts of my research companions are still pretty obviously politically oriented, as, for example, the kind of everyday anti-racism carried out by Emanuel or taking part in the current that politicizes race the way Afrax does, or Manasse's open claims for Africanness. Even these acts, more easily recognizable as political, remain unobserved if the starting point of research is not designed so as to enable their recognition. In this light, I find the argument I made in chapter 4.2.1 regarding the use of the concept of citizenship as denoting political agency in general ever more relevant (cf. Lazar 2013b; Lazar & Nuijten 2013). Not even these acts, more readily recognizable as political, are only about claiming membership in a political community. In some, claiming membership of, or resisting exclusion from, such political community are present, but in no way exhaust them. Furthermore, if one takes the multitude of other acts I have shown the youth as engaged in, many of which do not have an obvious political aspect to them, into consideration, the perspective that equates political agency with citizenship turns out to be even more limited. It does not aid recognition of political acts that do not speak the language of citizenship—however comprehensively defined—in order to claim membership of a political community (cf. Lazar 2013b, 13-14), acts such as Emanuel's work for weaving social networks and building safe spaces, or Manasse's attempt to overcome and act beyond different categorizations of difference (such as refugee-ness or disabled-ness), or the smiling work Afrax carries out in order to pass into an

institution of whiteness, and, from that position, to advocate other immigrant background young people. The multifariousness of the acts these young people carry out cannot be reduced to "a positive politics of dissent and resistance" provoked by exclusion (ibid., 15), and, from that point of view, the political nature of these acts escapes attention.

This is not to say that discussion on, and research conducted from, the vantage points of participation, resilience or citizenship are unimportant, mistaken, or insufficient as such. But it is to say that these perspectives leave noteworthy aspects of the young people's political agency out of sight. In order to shed light on, and gain better understanding of, this, I have suggested using the framework of mundane political agency to approach the multifaceted, ordinary political existence of refugee background youth. I have done so notwithstanding, yet taking account of, the problematics of theorizing agency and using it as an analytical concept. In order to try to grasp the various nuances of the youths' agency, I have looked at it from two perspectives: from the feminist new materialist perspective that underlines the agentic properties inherent to nature and all matter (Barad 2007; Coole & Frost 2010), and from an anthropological perspective that underlines the agentive capacities of complex human subjectivity (Keane 2003; Ortner 2006). This is an analytical separation and, as such, rigid; hence I have clarified along the way how I see these two "types" of agency as two sides of the same coin and as constantly bleeding into each other. I find that this framework has enabled me to discover both the plenitude and diversity of the young people's acts and the complex relationship of their agency and subject formation.

In the chapters regarding Afrax, in particular, I have tried to show how the way he is constituted as different is both constrictive and formative for his subjectivity, how he is compelled to take this situation as given and cannot question it straightforwardly, but nevertheless uses immediate strategies that work for transforming the subject position available and hence stretching the limits it sets to his subjectivity and altering the directions to which it tends, however slightly. In this way, I have tried to capture something of the difficult-to-grasp processes of subjectivation and agency. If power is understood to be productive of subjectivities rather than simply coercive, and if human beings are understood to have agentive capacities—both as material bodies and as sociocultural beings—how can one approach this "intra-action" (Barad 2007, 139) analytically? In this dissertation, I have tried to distill moments in which subjectivation intensifies and agency takes material bodily forms, and orientations towards futures which simultaneously manifest the constraints and reflective capacities of human beings as sociocultural

by their very biology. I thus hope to contribute theoretically to the work currently in progress of conceptualizing agency and its different types (such as agency of power or agency of projects (Ortner 2006, 145–147), or agency of material bodies (Coole & Frost 2010; Väyrynen et al. 2017). I hope and believe that my work, for its own small part, confirms the need for the concept of agency in anthropology, despite its problematics, and not only in the form proposed by some citizenship scholars.

"It's not what I am"—"they don't see me"

Investigating mundane political agency in the sense outlined here, entailed anthropologically oriented ethnographic research. Observing what the young people do, listening to what they say and engaging in a dialogue with them has enabled me to grasp things that are not transparent to themselves and that, thus, cannot be asked about or verbalized directly and completely. I certainly hope that the possibilities ethnographic research provides for reaching beyond words (Honkasalo 2008, 66-67) will be cherished in anthropology in the future, too, and that other forms of data than discourse will be given their due value—when or if the COVID-19 pandemic allows. In my fieldwork, I focused on observing bodily encounters, which I found a fruitful way for approaching the young people's mundane political agency. Developing further methods of observing, and also of taking notes on, "techniques of the body" (Mauss 1973 [1934]), or "bodily choreographies" (Puumala et al. 2011), might be an avenue worth pursuing. Perhaps "immersing oneself in the field" in the classic anthropological sense is neither intellectually nor practically sound objective in a "world in motion" (Rapport 2000, 73), but the value of long-term engagement and participant observation remains. Time consuming as it is, the ability to observe both doings and sayings and interpreting their intra-action is one of the specific contributions of anthropology. It enables grasping the complex interlinkage of the "constituting constraints" (Butler 2011 [1993], xxiii) of human existence and the diversity of individual lives.

The third central finding of my research springs from the potency of ethnographic research: dissecting the modes of agency of refugee background young men has concretized the way they, and their life situations, are structured by certain social and cultural factors, including that of forced migration, but are nevertheless always unique and multifaceted. My research participants are all refugee background young men living in Finland, but what this means in concrete terms for each is as multifarious as the modes of agency they develop in response to their situation. Ethnographic sensitivity to these details and variations enables understanding of

human beings as individuals; not as those liberal autonomous subjects of certain Western intellectual traditions, but as variously socially, culturally and geographically related living beings, capable of reflection and agency. Understanding the individuality and diversity of life histories and situations is necessary to deconstruct essentializing categorizations that are harmful in many ways, be it in research, in social work, or in society at large. Rigid understandings of cultures and their bearings on people's lives, or categorizing understandings of refugee-ness, work to screen from view (Tyler 2006, 193) the actual people, as Manasse's and Emanuel's remarks above on not being what they are presumed to be, or not being seen as themselves, highlight. These kind of categorizations are not helpful in an attempt to understand the life situations of refugee background youths and to support them in confusing experiences of growing up transnationally.

For they certainly need and deserve support, albeit of different kinds and to different extents, taking into account how they are each agentive and vulnerable at different scales (Verdasco 2017, 54). Recognizing the diversity of refugee background youth in cultural, social, geographical terms, and in terms of the course of their lives, enables understanding that what combines them is the "political sameness" (Lewis 2000, 91) of their situation in Finland. Their lives are structured by militarized global apartheid (Besteman 2019), tight Finnish migration and family reunification policies, structural and everyday racism, and practices of perpetual Othering. My research companions—Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel—are all relatively well-resourced: they have all had some factors (such as rather well-off families either economically and/or in the sense of mutual care, or relatively good educational backgrounds, or confidential bonds with dedicated teachers and youth workers in Finland) in their lives that have enabled them to grow into intelligent, ambitious, and socially skilled young men who have managed to build support networks for themselves in Finland. But still they repeatedly find themselves in dead ends and on the brink of giving up. If this is the case for these young people, what about those with fewer resources? I am thinking of Adel, for example, who has grown up in an environment hostile to the ethnic group his family belongs to, had not attended school at all before coming to Finland, has practically no social network here and carries deep worry and guilt in relation to his family. Or Denis, who has grown up amidst a civil war and lost his whole family, and struggles with intense awareness of his difference and a fear of being deemed "completely stupid" by others. If relatively well-resourced refugee background young men, such as Afrax, Manasse and Emanuel, are at times overwhelmed with all the labour gaining recognition and carving out possibilities for themselves presumes, the ones with fewer resources are

even more so. Expecting these young people to either want to, or be able to, hold on to Finnish society is quite unreasonable, if Finnish society does not show more interest in holding on to them by encountering them as individuals and carrying its responsibility in sharing the burden of the emotional, intellectual, social and other labours they have to carry out. The Finnish ethos of coping on one's own (Honkatukia et al. 2021, 96) pushes too much responsibility on the shoulders of these young people, who are in fragile positions in so many ways.

8.2 Acknowledging the message: one major implication

The need to encounter refugee background youths as individuals and to tailor support measures to them accordingly is, still, a minor point in relation to the paramount message the mundane agency of refugee background young men communicates. Although the forms and objectives of the mundane political agency they display are diverse, there is an aspect that combines many of them: cultivating respectful communality. In one way or the other, all my research companions exhibited forms of agency that contribute to this, either by building links between people who are differently different, as in the case of Manasse, or by cherishing social bonds and caring treatment of each other, as in the case of Emanuel, or by fostering accepting attitudes towards all the people one encounters, even if that presumes challenging one's own beliefs in a profound way, as in the case of Afrax. All these young men work in various ways for building communality, transversal solidarities and respectful coexistence, both by claiming recognition for themselves and by displaying recognition of others. This finding is in striking contrast with the public discourse on the presence of refugee background young men in Finnish society as disorderly and risky. Here, however, it is essential to notice that what is at stake in the young men's agency is not acting for or participation in Finnish society as such—though it does not absolutely exclude it either. Their agency is about building other kinds of socialities. It takes place both as immediate strategies, as cultivating respecting and caring attitudes towards the people one encounters, and as a desire for and dedication to carving out alternatives along with arduous long-term projects.

Recognizing what the young people pursue and listening to what their mundane political agency communicates is vital. This means agreeing to acknowledge their expertise in their situations, of hearing it as *knowledge* (Tuori 2013, 37). And to "really listen" (ibid., 38) to the message the agency of these young people carries is to concede that, if Finnish society truly wants to recognize refugee background youth

as its members, the solution does not lie in individual support measures that aim to integrate them into society as it is. It is not about including them by tolerating their difference (to an extent) and helping them to participate in mainstream Finnish society. Instead of expecting their participation, the latter should acknowledge its responsibility to participate in the projects that the young people have initiated themselves. It is a project of desiring and working for another kind of society, one in which people who belong to minorities would be recognized without having to claim recognition and encountered in an open way without circumscribing categorizations. For refugee background young men-as most likely for representatives of other minoritized groups as well—in a society determined by the white majority population, the subject positions available are few and constricting. To admit the value of the knowledge the refugee background young men have about this society, is to concede that its very structures and ethos need to change, if it wishes its Others to be able to relate to it and participate in it. This change requires the primacy of the involvement of minorities being recognized, though this does not mean that they should be left on their own and cast as individual "agents of change" (Tuori 2013, 38). Instead, the majority should acknowledge their positions of hegemony, step aside and give the minorities both space and means for bringing their views to the centre of a dialogue. The resulting structural changes would most likely be profound, for example by putting basic human rights, such as children's rights and everyone's right to family life before the regulations of the Finnish Aliens Act and its interpretation in immigration policy.

Challenging the power structures of society in this way might sound like a massive undertaking. But, as these young people show, it can and does happen on many levels, also that of everyday encounters. Instead of being moments in which the majority population reproduce and reconstruct the difference of Others, they could be moments of deconstructing differentiation and hegemonic positions and thus of building social relations and society anew.

REFERENCES

- Abu-Lughod, Lila (1990). The Romance of Resistance: Tracing Transformations of Power Through Bedouin Women. *American Ethnologist* 17(1), pp. 41–55. https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.1990.17.1.02a00030
- Act on the Promotion of Immigrant Integration (1386/2010). Available at: https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/2010/en20101386.pdf [last accessed 10.6.2020].
- Agamben, Giorgio (1998). *Homo Sacer: Sovereign Power and Bare Life.* Stanford (Calif.): Stanford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780804764025
- Ahearn, Laura (2001). Language and Agency. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 30, pp. 109–137. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.30.1.109
- Ahmad, Akhlaq (2020). When the Name Matters: An Experimental Investigation of Ethnic Discrimination in the Finnish Labor Market. *Sociological Inquiry* 90(3), pp. 468–496. https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12276
- Ahmed, Sara (2000). Strange Encounters. Embodied others in post-coloniality. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203349700
- Ahmed, Sara (2000b). Who Knows? Knowing Strangers and Strangerness. *Australian Feminist Studies* 15(31), pp. 49–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/713611918
- Ahmed, Sara (2004). Collective Feelings: Or, the Impressions Left by Others. *Theory, Culture & Society* 21(2), pp. 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276404042133
- Ahmed, Sara (2006). *Queer Phenomenology: Orientations, Objects, Others.* Durham and London: Duke University Press.
- Ahmed, Sara (2017). Smile! *Feministkilljoys*, February 2. Available at: https://feministkilljoys.com/2017/02/02/smile/ [last accessed 17.12.2019].
- Ahonen, Talvikki & Kallius, Annastiina (2019). Paperittomuuden tuotanto ja hallinta Suomessa vuosina 2015–2017 [The Production and Governance of Undocumentedness in Finland During 2015–2017]. In Lyytinen, Eveliina (ed.): Turvapaikanhaku ja pakolaisuus Suomessa [Asylum Seeking and Refugee-ness in Finland]. Turku: Siirtolaisuusinstituutti, pp. 89–112.
- Aid Coordination Unit (2017). Aid Flows in Somalia. Analysis of Aid Flow Data. Office of Prime Minister, Federal Republic of Somalia. Available at: https://www.undp.org/content/dam/unct/somalia/docs/publications/Aid%20Flows%20Booklet%20FINAL.pdf [last accessed 26.3.2020].
- Akom Ankobrey, Gladys (2019). Lived Afropolitanism: Beyond the Single Story. *Open Cultural Studies* 3, pp. 332–346. https://doi.org/10.1515/culture-2019-0029
- Althusser, Louis (2001 [1971]). Ideology and Ideological State Apparatuses. In Althusser, Louis: *Lenin and Philosophy and other essays*. New York: Monthly Review Press, pp. 85–126.
- Amit, Vered (2000). Introduction: constructing the field. In Amit, Vered (ed.): *Constructing the Field: Ethnographic Fieldwork in the Contemporary World.* London & New York: Routledge, pp. 1–18.

- Andreassen, Rikke & Ahmed-Andresen, Uzma (2014). I can never be normal: A conversation about race, daily life practices, food and power. *European Journal of Women's Studies* 21(1), pp. 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506813507716
- Ang, Ien (1996). The Curse of the Smile: Ambivalence and the "Asian" Woman in Australian Multiculturalism. *Feminist Review* 52, pp. 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1057/fr.1996.5
- Arendt, Hannah (1958). The Human Condition. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Aretxaga, Begoña (2003). Maddening States. Annual Review of Anthropology 32, pp. 393–410.
- Bacchi, Carol Lee & Beasley, Chris (2002). Citizen bodies: is embodied citizenship a contradiction in terms? *Critical Social Policy* 22(2), pp. 324–352. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.32.061002.093341
- Barad, Karen (2007). Meeting the Universe Halfway. Quantum Physics and the Entanglement of Matter and Meaning. Durham & London: Duke University Press.
- Barker, Vanessa (2012). Nordic Exceptionalism revisited: Explaining the paradox of Janusfaced penal regime. *Theoretical Criminology* 17(1), pp. 5–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480612468935
- Bashi, Vilna (1998). Racial categories matter because racial hierarchies matter: A commentary. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 21(5), pp. 959–968. https://doi.org/10.1080/014198798329748
- Bell, Kirsten (2014). Resisting Commensurability: Against Informed Consent as an Anthropological Virtue. *American Anthropologist* 116(3), pp. 511–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/aman.12122
- Besteman, Catherine (1998). Primordialist Blinders. A Reply to I. M. Lewis. *Cultural Anthropology* 14(1), pp. 109–120. https://doi.org/10.1525/can.1998.13.1.109
- Besteman, Catherine (1999). Unraveling Somalia: Race, Class, and the Legacy of Slavery. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Besteman, Catherine (2012). Translating Race across Time and Space: The Creation of Somali Bantu Ethnicity. *Identities* 19(3), pp. 285–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/1070289X.2012.681862
- Besteman, Catherine (2019). Militarized Global Apartheid. *Current Anthropology* 60, Supplement 19, pp. 26–38. https://doi.org/10.1086/699280
- Biehl, João & Locke, Peter (2010). Deleuze and the Anthropology of Becoming. *Current Anthropology* 51(3), pp. 317–351. https://doi.org/10.1086/651466
- Birdwhistell, Ray L. (1970). *Kinesics and Context. Essays on Body Motion Communication*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Boddy, Janice (1989). Wombs and Alien Spirits: Women, Men and the Zār Cult in the Northern Sudan. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Borg, Sami & Pikkala Sari (2017). *Kuntavaalitrendit [Trends in Municipal Elections]*. KAKS Kunnallisalan kehittämissäätiön Julkaisu 1. Available at: https://kaks.fi/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/kuntavaalitrendit_toinenversio.pdf [last accessed 8.9.2020].
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1977). Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Bradburd, Daniel (2006). Fuzzy boundaries and hard rules: Unfunded research and the IRB. American Ethnologist 33(4), pp. 492–498. https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.2006.33.4.492
- Brubaker, Rogers (2013). Categories of analysis and categories of practice: a note on the study of Muslims in European countries of immigration. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 36(1), pp. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2012.729674
- Brubaker, Rogers & Cooper, Frederick (2000). Beyond "identity". *Theory and Society* 29, pp. 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007068714468

- Busk, Henna; Jauhiainen, Signe; Kekäläinen, Antti; Nivalainen, Satu & Tähtinen, Tuuli (2016). Maahanmuuttajat työmarkkinoilla tutkimus eri vuosina Suomeen muuttaneiden työurista [Immigrants in the Labour Market—Study of the Career Paths of Migrants who have Moved to Finland over Different Years]. *Eläketurvakeskuksen tutkimuksia* 06/2016. Helsinki: Eläketurvakeskus. Available at: https://www.kela.fi/documents/10180/1169652/160914+Maahanmuuttajat_tyom arkkinoilla.pdf [last accessed 15.4.2021].
- Butler, Judith (2011 [1993]). Bodies That Matter: On the Discursive Limits of Sex. London and New York: Routledge.
- Butler, Judith (1997). The Psychic Life of Power: Theories in Subjection. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Cain, Artwell (2011). Representation of Africa and the African Diaspora in European Museums. *Human Architecture* 9(4), pp. 105–115.
- Calenda, Davide; Pitkänen, Pirkko & Sippola, Aulikki (2019). Integration of Foreign-Born Nurses in Finnish Social and Health Care Organizations: Evidences, Challenges and Responses. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies* 17(2), pp. 152–167. http://doi.org/10.1080/15562948.2018.1428843
- Cerwonka, Allaine (2007). Nervous Conditions: The Stakes in Interdisciplinary Research. In Cerwonka, Allaine & Malkki, Liisa H.: *Improvising Theory: Process and Temporality in Ethnographic Fieldwork*. Chicago & London: The University of Chicago Press, pp. 1–40.
- Cerwonka, Allaine & Malkki, Liisa (2007). Fieldwork Correspondence. In Cerwonka, Allaine & Malkki, Liisa H.: *Improvising Theory: Process and Temporality in Ethnographic Fieldwork*. Chicago & London: The University of Chicago Press, pp. 44–161.
- Chatty, Dawn (2013). Refugees in the Middle East. Identity Politics among Sahrawi, Palestinian, and Afghan Youth. In Hashemi, Manata & Sánchez-Jankowski, Martín (eds.): *Children in Crisis: Ethnographic Studies in International Contexts*. New York and London: Routledge, pp. 42–60.
- Checkoway, Barry (2011). What is youth participation? *Children and Youth Services Review* 33, pp. 340–345. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.09.017
- Clifford, James (1986). Partial Truths. In Clifford, James & Marcus, George E. (eds.): Writing Culture: the Poetics and Politics of Ethnography. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1–26.
- Coffey, Amanda & Atkinson, Paul (1996). *Making Sense of Qualitative Data. Complementary Research Strategies.* Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Coleman, Daniel; Glanville, Erin Goheen; Hasan, Wafaa & Kramer-Hamstra, Agnes (eds.) (2012). Countering Displacements: The Creativity and Resilience of Indigenous and Refugee-ed Peoples. Edmonton: The University of Alberta Press.
- Collins, Patricia Hill (2000 [1990]). Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. New York: Routledge.
- Comaroff, Jean (1985). Body of Power, Spirit of Resistance. The Culture and History of a South African People. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Connell, Raewyn W. (1995). Masculinities. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Connell, Raewyn W. (2005). Hegemonic Masculinity. Rethinking the Concept. *Gender & Society* 19(6), pp. 829–859. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243205278639
- Connor, Phillip & Kronstad, Jens Manuel (2016). 5 facts about the global Somali diaspora. Pew Research Center. Available at: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-

- tank/2016/06/01/5-facts-about-the-global-somali-diaspora/ [last accessed 26.3.2020].
- Coole, Diana & Frost, Samantha (2010). Introducing New Materialisms. In Coole, Diana & Frost, Samantha (eds.): *New Materialisms. Ontology, Agency, and Politics.* Durham & London: Duke University Press, pp. 3–43.
- Cowlishaw, Gillian K. (2000). Censoring race in 'post-colonial' anthropology. *Critique of Anthropology* 20(2), pp. 101–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308275X0002000201
- Crawley, Heaven (2009). 'No one gives you a chance to say what you are thinking': finding space for children's agency in the UK asylum system. *Area* 42(2), pp. 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4762.2009.00917.x
- Daniels, Arlene Kaplan (1987). Invisible Work. *Social Problems* 34(5), pp. 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.1987.34.5.03a00020
- Das, Veena (2017). Companionable thinking. *Medicine Anthropology Theory* 4(3), Special Section: On Affliction, pp. 191–203. https://doi.org/10.17157/mat.4.3.486
- Das, Veena & Poole, Deborah (2004). State and Its Margins: Comparative Ethnographies. In Das, Veena & Poole, Deborah (eds.): *Anthropology in the Margins of the State*. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press, pp. 5–33.
- Data Protection Act (1050/2018). Available at: https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/2018/20181050 [last accessed 23.4.2020].
- Dean, Jodi (2000). Introduction: The Interface of Political Theory and Cultural Studies. In Dean, Jody (ed.): *Cultural Studies & Political Theory*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, pp. 1–19.
- Declich, Francesca (2000). Fostering Ethnic Reinvention. Gender Impact of Forced Migration on Bantu Somali Refugees in Kenya. *Cahiers d études africaines* 157, XL-1, pp. 25–53. https://doi.org/10.4000/etudesafricaines.2
- de Genova, Nicholas P. (2002) Migrant "Illegality" and Deportability in Everyday Life. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 31, pp. 419–447.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.31.040402.085432
- de Wal Pastoor, Lutine (2017). Reconceptualising refugee education: exploring the diverse learning contexts of unaccompanied young refugees upon resettlement. *Intercultural Education* 28(2), pp. 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2017.1295572
- Duh, Abdalla; Gaas, Mohamed Husein; Gasimelseed, Abdalla; Gorani, Amel; Kleist, Nauja; Kubai, Anne; McEachrane, Michael; Omar, Saifalyazal; Tegenu, Tsegaye & Tiilikainen, Marja (2014). A Horn of Africa in Northern Europe. An Email Conversation. In McEachrane, Michael (ed.): *Afro-Nordic Landscapes: Equality and Race in Northern Europe*. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 227–250.
- Eno, Mohamed A. & Kusow, Abdi M. (2014). Race and Caste Prejudice in Somalia. *Journal of Somali Studies* 1(2), pp. 91–118.
- Erel, Umut; Murji, Karim & Nahaboo, Zaki (2016). Understanding the contemporary race—migration nexus. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 39(8), pp. 1339–1360. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2016.1161808
- Erickson, Rebecca J. (2005). Why Emotion Work Matters: Sex, Gender, and the Division of Household Labor. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 67(2), pp. 337–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-2445.2005.00120.x
- Evans-Pritchard, Edward Evan (1940). The Nuer. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Eze, Chielozona (2014). Rethinking African culture and identity: the Afropolitan model. *Journal of African Cultural Studies* 26(2), pp. 234–247. https://doi.org//10.1080/13696815.2014.894474
- Fader, Nina; Legg, Eric & Ross, Allison (2019). The relation of sense of community in sport on resilience and cultural adjustment for youth refugees. *World Leisure Journal* 61(4), pp. 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2019.1661105
- Fanon, Franz (2008 [1952]). Black Skin, White Masks. London: Pluto Press.
- Farthing, Rys (2012). Why Youth Participation? Some Justifications and Critiques of Youth Participation Using New Labour's Youth Policies as a Case Study. *Youth & Policy* 109, pp. 71–97.
- Fassin, Didier (2001). The biopolitics of otherness. Undocumented foreigners and racial discrimination in French public debate. *Anthropology Today* 17(1), pp. 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8322.00039
- Fassin, Didier (2005). Compassion and Repression: The Moral Economy of Immigration Policies in France. *Cultural Anthropology* 20(3), pp. 362–387. https://doi.org/10.1525/can.2005.20.3.362
- Fassin, Didier (2011). Racialization. How To Do Races With Bodies. In Mascia-Lees, Francis E. (ed.) 2011: A Companion to the Anthropology of the Body and Embodiment. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 419–434.
- Fausto, Carlos & Heckenberger, Michael (2007). Introduction: Indigenous History and the History of the "Indians". In Fausto, Carlos & Heckenberger, Michael (eds.): *Time and Memory in Indigenous Amazonia: Anthropological Perspectives*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, pp. 1–43.
- Fechter, Anne-Meike & Korpela, Mari 2016. Interrogating child migrants or 'Third Culture Kids' in Asia: An Introduction. *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal* 25(4), pp. 422–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/0117196816676565
- Ferguson, James & Gupta, Akhil (2002). Spatializing states: toward an ethnography of neoliberal governmentality. *American Ethnologist* 29(4), pp. 981–1002. https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.2002.29.4.981
- Fine, Michael (2005). Individualization, risk and the body. Sociology and care. *The Australian Sociological Association* 41(3), pp. 247–266. https://doi.org/10.1177/1440783305057077
- Finnish National Agency for Education (2017a). Perusopetukseen valmistava opetus [Preparatory Teaching for Comprehensive Education]. Available at: http://www.oph.fi/koulutus_ja_tutkinnot/perusopetus/kieli_ja_kulttuuriryhmat/m aahanmuuttajataustaiset_oppilaat/perusopetukseen_valmistava_opetus [last accessed 25.8.2017].
- Finnish National Agency for Education (2017b). *Aikuisten perusopetus [Comprehensive Education for Adults]*. Available at: http://www.oph.fi/saadokset_ja_ohjeet/opetussuunnitelmien_ja_tutkintojen_perus teet/perusopetus/aikuisten_perusopetus [last accessed 25.8.2017].
- Forde, Maarit (forthcoming). Political Socialities: Affect and Activism in Urban Trinidad.
- Foucault, Michel (1991 [1975]). Discipline and Punish: the Birth of the Prison. London: Penguin Books.
- Foucault, Michel (1990 [1976]). The History of Sexuality, Volume 1. New York: Vintage.
- Foucault, Michel (1980). Truth and Power. In Gordon, Colin (ed.): *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings* 1972–1977. New York: Pantheon Books, pp. 109–133.
- Foucault, Michel (1982). The Subject and Power. Critical Inquiry 8(4), pp. 777–795.

- Foucault, Michel (2003). "Society Must Be Defended." Lectures at the Collège de France, 1975–76. New York: Picador.
- FRA [European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights] (2017). Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey: Main results. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2017/eumidis-ii-main-results [last accessed 20.2.2019].
- FRA [European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights] (2019). Being Black in the EU. Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey. Available at: https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2019-being-black-in-the-eu-summary_en.pdf [last accessed 10.6.2020].
- Galos, Eliza; Bartolini, Laura; Cook, Harry & Grant, Naomi (2017). Migrant Vulnerability to Human Trafficking and Exploitation: Evidence from the Central and Eastern Mediterranean Migration Routes. Geneva: International Organization for Migration (IOM). Available at: https://publications.iom.int/books/migrant-vulnerability-human-trafficking-and-exploitation-evidence-central-and-eastern [last accesed 7.12.2021].
- Gaudette, Pascal (2013). *Jembe* Hero: West African Drummers, Global Mobility and Cosmopolitanism as Status. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 39(2), pp. 295–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2013.723259
- Geertz, Clifford (2000 [1973]). The Interpretation of Cultures: Selected essays. New York: Basic Books.
- Gehrmann, Susanne (2016). Cosmopolitanism with African roots. Afropolitanism's ambivalent mobilities. *Journal of African Cultural Studies* 28(1), pp. 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/13696815.2015.1112770
- General Data Protection Regulation EU (609/2016). Available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj [last accessed 23.4.2020].
- Giblin, John; Ramos, Imma & Grout, Nikki (2019). Dismantling the Master's House. Thoughts on Representing Empire and Decolonising Museums and Public Spaces. An Introduction. *Third Text* 33(4–5), pp. 471–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/09528822.2019.1653065
- Giddens, Anthony (1979). Central Problems in Social Theory: Action, Structure and Contradiction in Social Analysis. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Gilroy, Paul (2000). Against Race. Imagining political culture beyond the color line. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Gledhill, John (1994). Power and Its Disguises: Anthropological perspectives on politics. London: Pluto Press.
- Gledhill, John (2009). Power in Political Anthropology. *Journal of Power* 2(1), pp. 9–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/17540290902760857
- Glick Schiller, Nina (2008). Beyond Methodological Ethnicity: Local and Transnational Pathways of Immigrant Incorporation. *Willy Brandt Series of Working Papers in International Migration and Ethnic Relations* 2/08. Malmö: Malmö University. Available at: http://muep.mau.se/handle/2043/7491 [last accessed 18.5.2020].
- Golbert, Rebecca (2001). Transnational orientations from home: Constructions of Israel and transnational space among Ukrainian Jewish youth. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 27(4), pp. 713–731. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691830120090467

- Guðjónsdóttir, Guðbjört (2014). "We blend in with the crowd but they don't." (In)visibility and Icelandic migrants in Norway. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 4(4), pp. 176–183. https://doi.org/10.2478/njmr-2014-0026
- Gullestad, Marianne (2002). Invisible fences: egalitarianism, nationalism and racism. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* 8(2), pp. 45–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9655.00098
- Gunaratnam, Yasmin & Lewis, Gail (2001). Racialising emotional labour and emotionalising racialised labour: Anger, fear and shame in social welfare. *Journal of Social Work Practice* 15(2), pp. 131–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650530120090593
- Gupta, Akhil & Ferguson, James (1997). Discipline and Practice. "The Field" as Site, Method and Location in Anthropology. In Gupta, Akhil & Ferguson, James (eds.): *Anthropological Locations: Boundaries and Grounds of a Field Science. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, pp. 1–46.
- Hage, Ghassan (2005). A not so multi-sited ethnography of a not so imagined community. Anthropological Theory 5, pp. 463–475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463499605059232
- Haikkola, Lotta (2010). Etnisyys, suomalaisuus ja ulkomaalaisuus toisen sukupolven luokitteluissa [Ethnicity, Finnishness and Foreignness in the Classifications of the Second Generation]. In Martikainen, Tuomas & Haikkola, Lotta (eds.): *Maahanmuutto ja sukupolvet [Immigration and generations]*. Helsinki: Suomalaisen kirjallisuuden seura, pp. 219–238.
- Haikkola, Lotta (2012). Monipaikkainen nuoruus: toinen sukupolvi, transnationaalisuus ja identiteetit [Multi-sited Youth: Second Generation, Transnationalism and Identities]. Helsinki: Helsingin yliopisto.
- Haikkola, Lotta (2014). Muuttoliikkeen tutkija jää maahanmuuttajan kategorian vangiksi [Migration researcher is imprisoned by the category of the immigrant]. In Haikkola, Lotta; Pyrhönen, Niko; Pentikäinen, Merja & Pauha, Teemu (eds.): Ulos kammioista! Muuttoliikkeiden ja etnisyyden tutkimus yhteiskunnallisena vaikuttamisena [Out of the Dens! Researching Migration and Ethnicity as Social Influences]. Helsinki: Etnisten suhteiden ja kansainvälisen muuttoliikkeen tutkimuksen seura ETMU ry, pp. 86–99.
- Hakala, Katariina & Hynninen, Pirkko (2007). Etnografisesta tietämisestä [On Ethnographic Knowledge]. In Lappalainen, Sirpa; Hynninen, Pirkko; Kankkunen, Tarja; Lahelma, Elina & Tolonen, Tarja (eds.): Etnografia metodologiana. Lähtökohtana koulutuksen tutkimus [Ethnography as a Methodology. Studying Education as a Starting Point]. Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 209–225.
- Hall, Stuart (2000). The Multicultural Question. In Hesse, Barnor (ed.): *Un/settled Multiculturalisms: Diasporas, Entanglements, Transruptions*. London: Zed Books, pp. 209–241.
- Hannerz, Ulf (1996). Transnational Connections: Culture, people, places. London and New York: Routledge.
- Haraway, Donna J. (1991). Simians, Cyborgs, and Women: The Reinvention of Nature. New York: Routledge.
- Harinen, Päivi; Honkasalo, Veronika; Souto, Anne-Mari & Suurpää, Leena (eds.) (2009). Ovet auki! Monikulttuuriset nuoret, vapaa-aika ja kansalaistoimintaan osallistuminen [Open the Doors! Multicultural Youth, Freetime and Participation in Civic Activities]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura.
- Hautaniemi, Petri (1997). Pääkaupunkiseudun nuorten somalialaispoikien aikuistuminen kahden kulttuurin välissä [Young Somali Boys Growing Up between Two Cultures in the Capital Region]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 15(4), pp. 16–24.

- Hautaniemi, Petri (2004). Pojat! Somalipoikien kiistanalainen nuoruus Suomessa [Boys! The Controversial Youth of Somali Boys in Finland]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto.
- Hedva, Johanna (2016). Sick Woman Theory. *Mask Magazine*. Available at: http://www.maskmagazine.com/not-again/struggle/sick-woman-theory [last accessed 4.5.2020].
- Heimo, Satu; Tapanila, Katriina; Ojapelto, Anna & Heikkinen, Anja (2020). The Potential of Peer Guidance to Empower Migrants for Employment. European Journal for Research on the Education and Learning of Adults 11(3), pp. 335–348. http://doi.org/10.3384/rela.2000-7426.ojs1685
- Hocschild, Arlie Russel (2012 [1983]). *The Managed Heart. Commercialization of Human Feeling*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Honkasalo, Marja-Liisa (2008). Reikä sydämessä: sairaus pohjoiskarjalaisessa maisemassa [A Hole in the Heart. Illness in the Northern Carelian Landscape]. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Honkasalo, Marja-Liisa (2013). Katveessa pieni toimijuus kriittisenä avauksena toiminnan teoriaan [In a blind spot—small agency as a critical opening to theorizing agency]. *Tiede & Edistys* 1, pp. 42–62.
- Honkasalo, Veronika (2011). Tyttöjen kesken. Monikulttuurisuus ja sukupuolten tasa-arvo nuorisotyössä [Among girls. Multiculturalism and Gender Equality in Youth Work]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto.
- Honkatukia, Päivi; Nyqvist, Leo & Pösö, Tarja 2006. Vaikeat aiheet haavoittuvissa olosuhteissa [Difficult Subjects in Vulnerable Situations]. In Hallamaa, Jaana; Launis, Veikko; Lötjönen, Salla & Sorvali, Irma (eds.): Etiikkaa ihmistieteille [Ethics for the Human Sciences]. Helsinki: Suomalaisen kirjallisuuden seura, pp. 296–317.
- Honkatukia, Päivi & Suurpää, Leena (2012). Kenen ääni kuuluu? Neuvotteluja nuorten miesten rikollisuudesta ja rasismista [Whose Voice is Heard? Negotiations on Young Men's Criminality and Racism]. In Keskinen, Suvi; Vuori, Jaana & Hirsiaho, Anu (eds.): Monikulttuurisuuden sukupuoli. Kansalaisuus ja erot hyvinvointiyhteiskunnassa [The Gender of Multiculturalism. Citizenship and Differences in Welfare Society]. Tampere: Tampereen yliopistopaino, pp. 121–152.
- Honkatukia, Päivi; Rättilä, Tiina & Rinne, Jarmo (2021). Sisulla töihin? Kanssatutkimusta pakolaisnuorten työhön liittyvistä kokemuksista [Stamina and Employment? Coresearch about the Work-related Experiences of Refugee Youth]. In Rättilä, Tiina & Honkatukia, Päivi (eds.): Tutkien ja tarinoiden. Kohti pakolaistaustaisten nuorten kestävää hyvinvointia [Researching and Narrating. Towards the Sustainable Well-being of Refugee Background Youth]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura, pp. 88–106.
- Honneth, Axel (1995). The Struggle for Recognition: the moral grammar of social conflicts. Cambridge: Polity.
- Honneth, Axel (2016). Remarks on the Philosophical Approach of Jacques Rancière. In Genel, Katia & Deranty, Jean-Philippe (eds.): Recognition or Disagreement. A Critical Encounter on the Politics of Freedom, Equality, and Identity. New York: Columbia University Press, pp. 96–106.
- hooks, bell (1989). Talking Back: Thinking Feminist, Thinking Black. Cambridge, MA: South End Press.
- hooks, bell (1990). Yearning: race, gender, and cultural politics. Boston MA, South End Press.
- hooks, bell (1992). Black Looks: Race and Representation. Boston: South End Press.

- Hoosain, Rumjahn & Salili, Farideh 2014. Growing up Between Two Cultures. In Hoosain, Rumjahn & Salili, Farideh (eds.): *Growing up Between Two Cultures: Problems and Issues of Muslim Children*. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing, pp. 3–14.
- Horton, John & Pyer, Michelle (2017). Introduction: children, young people and 'care'. In Horton, John & Michelle Pyer (eds.): *Children, Young People and Care*. London and New York: Routledge, pp. 1–25. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315686752
- Howarth, Caroline (2002). 'So, you're from Brixton?' The struggle for recognition and esteem in a stigmatized community. *Ethnicities* 2(2), pp. 237–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468796802002002658
- Hutchinson, Mary & Dorsett, Pat (2012). What does the literature say about resilience in refugee people? Implication for practice. *Journal of Social Inclusion* 3(2), pp. 55–78. https://doi.org/10.36251/josi.55
- Huttunen, Laura (2002). Kotona, maanpaossa, matkalla. Kodin merkitykset maahanmuuttajien omaelämäkerroissa [At home, in exile, on the way. The meanings of home in autobiographies of immigrants]. Helsinki: Suomalaisen kirjallisuuden seura.
- Huttunen, Laura (2004). Kasvoton ulkomaalainen ja kokonainen ihminen: marginalisoiva kategorisointi ja maahanmuuttajien vastastrategiat [Faceless Foreigner and Whole Human Being: Marginalizing Categorization and Counter Strategies]. In Jokinen, Arja; Huttunen, Laura & Kulmala, Anna (eds.): Puhua vastaan ja vaieta. Neuvottelu kulttuurisista marginaaleista [Talking Back and Keeping Silent. Negotiating Cultural Margins.] Helsinki: Gaudeamus, pp. 134–154.
- Huttunen, Laura & Juntunen, Marko (2018). Suburban encounters: super-diversity, diasporic relationality and everyday practices in the Nordic context. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 46(19), pp. 4124–4141. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2018.1531695
- Häikiö, Liisa & Snellman, Karita (2016). Marginaalisessa yhteiskunnallisessa asemassa olevien nuorten osallistuminen [The Participation of Youth in Marginal Social Positions]. In Bäcklund, Pia; Häkli, Jouni & Schulman, Harry (eds.) *Kansalaiset kaupunkia kehittämässä [Citizens Developing the City]*. Tampere: Tampere University Press, pp. 118–135.
- Häkli, Jouni & Kallio, Kirsi Pauliina (2014). Subject, action and polis: theorizing political agency. *Progress in Human Geography* 38(2), pp. 181–200. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132512473869
- Häkli, Jouni & Kallio, Kirsi Pauliina (2018). On becoming political: the political in subjectivity. *Subjectivity* 11, pp. 57–73. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41286-017-0040-z
- Isin, Engin F. (2008). Theorizing Acts of Citizenhsip. In Isin, Engin F. and Nielsen, G. M. (eds.): *Acts of Citizenship*. London: Zed Books, pp. 15–43.
- Isin, Engin F. (2012). Citizens Without Frontiers. London and New York: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Isotalo, Anu (2015). Mistä on hyvät tytöt tehty? Somalitytöt ja maineen merkitykset [What are Good Girls Made Of? Somali girls and the Meanings of Reputation]. Turku: Turun yliopisto.
- Jameson, Frederic (1991). Postmodernism, or, The Cultural Logic of Late Capitalism. London: Verso.
- Jasinskaja-Lahti, Inga; Liebkind, Karmela & Vesala, Tiina (2002). Rasismi ja syrjintä Suomessa. Maahanmuuttajien kokemuksia [Racism and Discrimination in Finland. Experiences of Immigrants]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus.
- Jenkins, Richard (1996). Social Identity. New York: Routledge.
- Jones, Reese & Johnson, Corey (2014). *Placing the Border in Everyday Life.* London: Routledge. Juntunen, Marko; Creutz-Sundblom, Karin & Saarinen, Juha (2016). Suomesta Syyrian ja Irakin konfliktikentälle suuntautuva liikkuvuus [Mobility from Finland to the Conflict

- Areas of Syria and Iraq]. Valtioneuvoston selvitys- ja tutkimustoiminnan julkaisusarja 43/2016. Available at:
- https://tietokayttoon.fi/documents/10616/2009122/43_Suomesta+Syyrian+ja+Irakin+konfliktikent%C3%A4lle+suuntautuva+liikkuvuus.pdf/c3211f98-4522-4972-8867-
- 8ece7664d9ec/43_Suomesta+Syyrian+ja+Irakin+konfliktikent%C3%A4lle+suunta utuva+liikkuvuus.pdf?version=1.0&t=1476429173000 [last accessed 8.9.2020].
- Juntunen, Marko; Kalčić, Špela & Rogelja, Nataša (2014). Reflections on Marginal Mobile Lifestyles: New European nomads, liveaboards and sha'bi Moroccan men. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 4(1), pp. 11–20. https://doi.org/10.2478/njmr-2014-0002
- Kaikkonen, Olli; Rytkönen, Seppo & Sivonen, Seppo (1989). *Afrikan historia [The History of Africa]*. Helsinki: Gaudeamus.
- Kankkunen, Tarja 2007. Monimediaisuuden äärellä [Around Multimediality]. In Lappalainen, Sirpa; Hynninen, Pirkko; Kankkunen, Tarja; Lahelma, Elina & Tolonen, Tarja (eds.): Etnografia metodologiana. Lähtökohtana koulutuksen tutkimus [Ethnography as a Methodology. Studying Education as a Starting Point]. Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 177–205.
- Kapferer, Bruce (1997). *The Feast of the Sorcerer: Practices of Consciousness and Power*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Karlsen, Marry-Anne (2015). Precarious inclusion. Irregular migration, practices of care, and state b/ordering in Norway. Bergen: University of Bergen.
- Keane, Webb (2003). Self-interpretation, Agency, and the Objects of Anthropology: Reflections on a Genealogy. *Comparative Studies in Society and History* (45)2, pp. 222–248. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0010417503000124
- Keane, Webb (2007). Christian Moderns: Freedom and Fetish in the Mission Encounter. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Keskinen, Suvi (2012). Kulttuurilla merkityt toiset ja universaalin kohtelun paradoksi väkivaltatyössä [Others Marked with Culture and the Paradox of Universal Treatment in Violence Prevention Work]. In Keskinen, Suvi; Vuori, Jaana & Hirsiaho, Anu (eds.): Monikulttuurisuuden sukupuoli. Kansalaisuus ja erot hyvinvointiyhteiskunnassa [The Gender of Multiculturalism. Citizenship and Differences in Welfare Society]. Tampere: Tampere University Press, pp. 291–320.
- Keskinen, Suvi (2016). From welfare nationalism to welfare chauvinism: Economic rhetoric, the welfare state and changing asylum policies in Finland. *Critical Social Policy* 36(3), pp. 352–370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018315624170
- Keskinen, Suvi; Aminkeng Atabong, Alemanji; Himanen, Markus; Kivijärvi, Antti; Osazee, Uyi; Pöyhölä, Nirosha & Rousku, Venla (2018). *The Stopped—Ethnic Profiling in Finland*. Helsinki: Swedish School of Social Science. Available at: http://www.profiling.fi/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/The-Stopped_ENGL.pdf [last accessed 5.11.2018].
- Keskinen, Suvi & Andreassen, Rikke (2017). Developing Theoretical Perspectives on Racialisation and Migration. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 7(2), pp. 64–69. https://doi.org/10.1515/njmr-2017-0018
- Kilpi-Jakonen, Elina (2011). Continuation to upper secondary education in Finland: Children of immigrants and the majority compared. *Acta Sociologica* 54(1), pp. 77–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699310392604
- Koivulaakso, Dan; Brunila, Mikael & Andersson, Li (2012). Äärioikeisto Suomessa [The Extreme Right in Finland]. Helsinki: Into Kustannus.
- Koivunen, Kristiina (2016). Suomen nuoret jihadistit Ja miten radikalisoituminen torjutaan [The Young Jihadists of Finland—And How Radicalisation is Prevented]. Helsinki: Into Kustannus.

- Korpela, Mari (2016). A (sub)culture of their own? Children of lifestyle migrants in Goa, India. *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal* 25(4), pp. 470–488. https://doi.org/10.1177/0117196816671959
- Krivonos, Daria (2017). Whiteness as a privilege and a struggle. *Raster blog*. Available at: https://raster.fi/2017/05/11/whiteness-a-pribilege-and-a-struggle/amp/ [last accessed 29.1.2019].
- Krivonos, Daria (2018). Claims to whiteness: Young unemployed Russian-speakers' declassificatory struggles in Finland. *The Sociological Review* 66(6), pp. 1145–1160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038026117737412
- Krohn-Hansen, Christian & Nustad, Knut G. (eds.) (2005). *State Formation: anthropological perspectives.* London: Pluto Press.
- Krys, Kuba; Hansen, Karolina; Xing, Cai; Szarota, Piotr & Yang, Miao-miao (2014). Do Only Fools Smile at Strangers? Cultural Differences in Social Perception of Intelligence of Smiling Individuals. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 45(2), pp. 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022113513922
- Ku, Jane S. C. (2009). Multicultural Politics and the Paradox of Being Special: Interrogating Immigrant Women's Activism and the Voice of Difference. *Journal of International Women's Studies* 10(4), pp. 65–84.
- Kurki, Tuuli (2018). Immigrantness as (Mis)Fortune? Immigrantisation Through Integration Policies and Practices in Education. Helsinki: University of Helsinki.
- Kuula, Arja (2006). Tutkimusetiikka. Aineistojen hankinta, käyttö ja säilytys [Research Ethics. Procuring, Using and Storing Data]. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Kuusisto-Arponen, Anna-Kaisa (2015). Ajatuksia myötätunnosta ja kivusta [Thoughts on Compassion and Pain]. *Terra* 127(2), pp. 83–89.
- Kuusisto-Arponen, Anna-Kaisa (2016). Myötätunnon politiikka ja tutkimusetiikka Suomeen yksin tulleiden maahanmuuttajanuorten arjen tutkimisessa [The Politics of Compassion and Research Ethics in Researching the Everyday Life of Unaccompanied Minor Immigrants in Finland]. Sosiologia 4, pp. 396–415.
- Kuusisto-Arponen, Anna-Kaisa (2016b). Perheettömiksi suojellut. Yksin tulleiden alaikäisten oikeus perheeseen [Protected Without Families. Unaccompanied Minor Asylum Seekers' Right to Family]. In Fingeroos, Outi; Tapaninen, Anna-Maria & Tiilikainen, Marja (eds.): Perheenyhdistäminen. Kuka saa perheen Suomeen, kuka ei ja miksi? [Family Reunification. Who gets Their Family into Finland, Who Doesn't, and Why?]. Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 89–109.
- Kvaale, Katja (2011). Something begotten in the state of Denmark? Immigrants, territorialized culture, and the Danes as an indigenous people. *Anthropological Theory* 11(2), pp. 223–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463499611407395
- Könönen, Jukka (2015). Tilapäinen elämä, joustava työ: rajat maahanmuuton ja työvoiman prekarisaation mekanismina [Temporary Life, Flexible Work: Borders as Mechanisms of Precarisation of Immigration and Labour]. Joensuu: Itä-Suomen yliopisto.
- Laakkonen, Ville & Juntunen, Marko (2019). "Mitä te tutkitte? Että mikä meissä mamuissa on vikana?" Musliminuorten yhteiskuntakriittinen ironia Turun Varissuolla ["What Are You Researching? Like What's Wrong With Us *Mamus*?" The Socially Critical Irony of Muslim Youth in Varissuo, Turku]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 37(2), pp. 70–83.
- Laitinen, Kari; Jukarainen, Pirjo & Boberg, Henri (2016). Maahanmuutto & turvallisuus arvioita nykytilasta ja ennusteita tulevaisuudelle [Immigration & Security Evaluations of the Present Condition and Prognoses about the Future]. Valtioneuvoston selvitys- ja tutkimustoiminnan julkaisusarja 7/2016. Available at:

- https://tietokayttoon.fi/documents/10616/2009122/7_Maahanmuutto+ja+turvalli suus.pdf/f436c89f-beff-4c65-b814-f4c1a44f6e46?version=1.0 [last accessed 8.4.2021].
- Lamont, Michèle & Bail, Christopher (2007). Bridging Boundaries: The Equalization Strategies of Stigmatized Ethno-racial Groups Compared. *Center for European Studies Working Paper Series* #154. Available at: http://www.ces.fas.harvard.edu/publications/docs/pdfs/Lamont_Bail_154.pdf [last accessed 26.3.2019].
- Larja, Liisa; Warius, Johanna; Sundbäck, Liselott; Liebkind, Karmela; Kandolin, Irja & Jasinskaja-Lahti, Inga (2012). *Discrimination in the Finnish Labor Market—An Overview and a Field Experiment on Recruitment*. Helsinki: Publications of Ministry of Employment and the Economy, Employment and Entrepreneurship 16/2012. Available at: https://yhdenvertaisuus.fi/documents/5232670/5376058/Discrimination+in+the +Finnish+Labour+Market [last accessed 14.4.2021].
- Lazar, Sian (ed.) (2013a). The Anthropology of Citizenship: A Reader. Malden: WileyBlackwell.
- Lazar, Sian (2013b). Introduction. In Lazar, Sian (ed.): *The Anthropology of Citizenship: A Reader*. Malden: WileyBlackwell, pp. 1–22.
- Lazar, Sian (2013c). Citizenship, political agency and technologies of the self in Argentinean trade unions. *Critique of Anthropology* 33(1), pp. 110–128.
- Lazar, Sian & Nuijten, Monique (2013). Citizenship, the self, and political agency. *Critique of Anthropology* 33(1), pp. 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308275X12466684
- Leach, Edmund (1967). An Anthropologist's Reflections on a Social Survey. In Jongmans, Douwe Geert & Gutkind, Peter Claus Wolfgang (eds.): *Anthropologists in the Field*. Assen: Van Gorcum, pp. 75–88.
- Lehmuskunnas, Petra; Sandqvist, Sakari & Roth, Sari (2020). *Selvitys maahanmuuttajien rekrytoimisesta* [Report on the Recruitment of Immigrants]. Available at: http://www.ely-keskus.fi/documents/10191/40158036/Selvitys+maahanmuuttajien+rekrytoimisest a/471b0885-695a-4c79-bcb3-e122f2b3ca48 [last accessed 10.6.2020].
- Lehtonen, Mikko; Löytty, Olli & Ruuska, Petri (2004). Suomi toisin sanoen [Finland in Other Words]. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Leinonen, Johanna (2012). Invisible Immigrants, Visible Expats? Americans in Finnish discourses on immigration and internationalization. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 2(3), pp. 213–223. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10202-011-0043-8
- Leinonen, Johanna & Pellander, Saara (2020). Temporality and everyday (in)security in the lives of separated refugee families. In Hiitola, Johanna; Turtiainen, Kati; Gruber, Sabine & Tiilikainen, Marja (eds.) Family Life in Transition: Borders, Transnational Mobility, and Welfare Society in Nordic Countries. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 118–128. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429024832
- Lentin, Alana & Titley, Gavan (2011). *The Crises of Multiculturalism: Racism in a Neoliberal Age*. London & New York: Zed Books.
- Lewellen, Ted (1983). *Political Anthropology: An Introduction*. Massachusetts: Bergin & Garvey Publishers, Inc.
- Lewis, Gail (2000). 'Race', Gender, Social Welfare. Encounters in a Postcolonial Society. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Lewis, Ioan M. (1961). A Pastoral Democracy: a study of pastoralism and politics among the northern Somali of the Horn of Africa. London and New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lewis, Ioan M. (1993). *Understanding Somalia and Somaliland*. London and New York: Oxford University Press.

- Lewis, Ioan M. (1998). Doing Violence to Ethnography: A Response to Catherine Besteman's "Representing Violence and 'Othering' Somalia". *Cultural Anthropology* 13(1), pp. 100–108. https://doi.org/10.1525/can.1998.13.1.100
- Lewis, Ioan M. (2004). Visible and Invisible Differences: The Somali Paradox. *Africa* 74(4), pp. 489–515. http://doi.org/10.3366/afr.2004.74.4.489
- Lively, Kathryn J. & Powell, Brian (2006). Emotional Expression at Work and at Home: Domain, Status, or Individual Characteristics? *Social Psychology Quarterly* 69(1), pp. 17–38. http://doi.org/10.1177/019027250606900103
- Loftsdóttir, Kristín (2017). Being "the Damned Foreigner": Affective National Sentiments and Racialization of Lithuanians in Iceland. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 7(2), pp. 70–78. http://doi.org/10.1515/nimr-2017-0012
- Loftsdóttir, Kristín & Jensen, Lars (eds.) (2012). Whiteness and Postcolonialism in the Nordic Region: Exceptionalism, Migrant Others and National Identities. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Lundström, Catrin (2017). The White Side of Migration: Reflections on race, citizenship and belonging in Sweden. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 7(2), pp. 79–87. http://doi.org/10.1515/njmr-2017-0014
- Luster, Tom; Qin, Desiree; Bates, Laura; Rana, Meenal & Ah Lee, Jung (2010). Successful adaptation among Sudanese unaccompanied minors: Perspectives of youth and foster parents. *Childhood* 17(2), pp. 197–211. http://doi.org/10.1177/0907568210365664
- Mack, Kenneth Walter (2012). Representing the Race: the Creation of the Civil Rights Lanyer. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Mahmood, Saba (2005). *Politics of Piety. The Islamic Revival and the Feminist Subject.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Malin, Maili (2019). School Performance of the Refugee Youth in Finland. Talk in X National Migration Symposium: In Which Direction Finland Is Evolving? The Dynamics of Mobility and Migration. Turku: Migration Institute of Finland.
- Malin, Maili & Kilpi-Jakonen, Elina (2019). Ulkomaalaistaustaisten nuorten koulutuspolut [The Educational Paths of Foreigner Background Youth]. In Kazi, Villiina; Alitolppa-Niitamo, Anne & Kaihovaara, Antti (eds.): Kotoutumisen kokonaiskatsaus 2019: Tutkimusartikkeleita kotoutumisesta [Overall Survey of Integration 2019: Research Articles on Integration]. Helsinki: Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriö. Available at: https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/162005/TEM_oppaat_10_2019_Tutkimusartikkeleita_kotoutumisesta_20012020.pdf?sequence=1&isAllow ed=y [last accessed 17.3.2021].
- Malinowski, Bronislaw (1978 [1935]). Coral Gardens and Their Magic: A Study of the Methods of Tilling the Soil and of Agricultural Rites of the Trobriand Islands. 2 vols. New York: American Book Company.
- Malkki, Liisa H. (1994). Citizens of Humanity. Internationalism and the Imagined Community of Nations. *Diaspora* 3(1), pp. 41–68. http://doi.org/10.1353/dsp.1994.0013
- Malkki, Liisa (1995). Refugees and Exile: From "Refugee Studies" to the National Order of Things. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 24, pp. 495–523. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.24.100195.002431
- Malkki, Liisa H. (1996). Speechless Emissaries: Refugees, Humanitarianism, and Dehistoricization. *Cultural Anthropology* 11(3), pp. 377–404. http://doi.org/10.1525/can.1996.11.3.02a00050
- Malkki, Liisa H. (2007). Tradition and Improvisation in Ethnographic Field Research. In Cerwonka, Allaine & Malkki, Liisa H.: Improvising Theory: Process and Temporality in

- Ethnographic Fieldwork. Chicago & London: The University of Chicago Press, pp. 162–187.
- Manning, Erin (2007). *Politics of Touch: Sense, Movement, Sovereignty*. Minneapolis and London: University of Minnesota Press.
- Marcus, George E. (1995). Ethnography in/of the World System: The Emergence of Multi-Sited Ethnography. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 24, pp. 95–117. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.24.100195.000523
- Marjeta, Maarit (1999). Äidit ja tyttäret kahdessa kulttuurissa. Somalinaiset, perhe ja muutos [Mothers and Daughters in Two Cultures. Somali Women, Family and Change]. Joensuu: Joensuun yliopisto.
- Martikainen, Tuomas; Saari, Matti & Korkiasaari, Jouni (2013). Kansainväliset muuttoliikkeet ja Suomi [International Migration and Finland]. In Martikainen, Tuomas; Saukkonen, Pasi & Säävälä, Minna (eds.): Muuttajat. Kansainvälinen muuttoliike ja suomalainen yhteiskunta [Migrants. International Migration and Finnish Society]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus, pp. 23–54.
- Martikainen, Tuomas & Tiilikainen, Marja (2007). Maahanmuuttajanaiset: kotoutuminen, perhe ja työ [Immigrant Women: Integration, Family and Work]. Helsinki: Väestöliitto.
- Martin, Jared; Rychlowska, Magdalena; Wood, Adrienne & Niedenthal, Paula (2017). Smiles as Multipurpose Social Signals. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 21(11), pp. 864–877. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.08.007
- Mauss, Marcel (1973 [1934]). Techniques of the Body. Economy and Society 2(1), pp. 70–88.
- Mbembé, Achille (2003). Necropolitics. *Public Culture* 15(1), pp. 11–40. http://doi.org/10.1215/08992363-15-1-11
- Mbembé, Achille (2007). Afropolitanism. In Njami, Simon (ed.): *Africa Remix: Contemporary Art of a Continent*. Johannesburg: Johannesburg Art Gallery, pp. 26–29.
- McBeth, Sally (1993). Myths of Objectivity and the Collaborative Process in Life History Research. In Brettell, Caroline B. (ed.): When They Read What We Write: The Politics of Ethnography. Westport, CT: Bergin and Garvey, pp. 145–162.
- McLean, David (2013). Lost Edinburgh: The Marine Gardens. *The Scotsman* 10.9.2013. Available at: https://www.scotsman.com/whats-on/arts-and-entertainment/lost-edinburgh-marine-gardens-1561867 [last accessed 30.3.2020].
- Mehu, Marc & Dunbar, Robin I. M. (2008). Naturalistic observations of smiling and laughter in human group interactions. *Behaviour* 145(12), pp. 1747–1780. http://doi.org/10.1163/156853908786279619
- Mezzadra, Sandro & Neilson, Brett (2012). Between Inclusion and Exclusion: On the Topology of Global Space and Borders. *Theory, Culture & Society* 29(4/5), pp. 58–75. http://doi.org/10.1177/0263276412443569
- Miles, Robert (1988). Beyond the 'Race' Concept: The Reproduction of Racism in England. *Sydney Studies in Society and Culture* 4, pp. 7–31.
- Miles, Robert (1989). Racism. London and New York: Routledge.
- Migri (2015a). Vireille tulleet turvapaikkahakemukset 1.1.2015–13.12.2015 [Started Asylum Application Processes 1.1.2015–13.12.2015]. Available at: https://migri.fi/documents/5202425/6160773/2015+Vireille+tulleet+turvapaikka hakemukset+%28fi%29.pdf/7dcf8b4d-d712-4337-a644d1f91d07fc3e/2015+Vireille+tulleet+turvapaikkahakemukset+%28fi%29.pdf? version=1.1&t=1554098533000 [last accessed 15.9.2020].
- Migri (2015b). Turvapaikanhakijat 1.1.–31.12.2014 [Asylum Seekers 1.1.–31.12.2014]. Available at:

- https://migri.fi/documents/5202425/6161882/2014+Turvapaikanhakijat+%28fi%29.pdf/b4bcc624-47e-42e4-80e6-
- 206770dbf0f8/2014+Turvapaikanhakijat+%28fi%29.pdf?version=1.1&t=15541041 22000 [last accessed 15.9.2020].
- Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment 2017. *Kotoutumissuunnitelma* [Integration Plan]. Available at: http://kotouttaminen.fi/kotoutumissuunnitelma [last accessed 25.8.2017].
- Ministry of the Interior (2020). Resettlement of Quota Refugees is One Way of Helping the Most Vulnerable. Available at: https://intermin.fi/en/areas-of-expertise/migration/refugees-and-asylum-seekers/quota-refugees [last accessed 7.1.2020].
- Ministry of the Interior (2012). Suomessa jo asuvien ulkomaalaisten henkilöllisyyden osoittaminen pankki- ja muussa asioinnissa. Turvapaikanhakijoiden asiointikorttia selvittäneen työryhmän loppuraportti [Proof of Identity for Foreigners Already Living in Finland in Banks and Other Services. Final Report of the Working Group on the Assessment of Asylum Seekers' Service Cards]. Helsinki: Sisäasiainministeriön julkaisuja 46/2012. Available at: http://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/79485/sm_462012.pdf [last accessed 10.2.2020].
- Molina, Irene 2005. Rasifiering. Ett teoretiskt perspektiv i analysen av diskriminering i Sverige [Racialization. A Theoretical Perspective in the Analysis of Discrimination in Sweden]. In de los Reyes, Paulina & Kamali, Masoud (eds.): Bortom Vi och Dom. Teoretiska reflektioner om makt, integration och strukturell diskriminering. Rapport av utredningen om makt, integration och strukturell diskriminering [Beyond Us and Them. Theoretical Reflections on Power, Integration and Structural Discrimination. Report of the Investigation on Power, Integration and Structural Discrimination]. Statens Offentliga Utrednigar 41, pp. 95–112. Available at: http://www.temaasyl.se/Documents/Offentliga%20utredningar%20och%20rappor ter%20(sv)/SOU%202005_41a.pdf [last accessed 24.1.2019].
- Morciano, Daniele; Scardigno, Anna Fausta; Manuti, Amelia & Pastore, Serafina (2014). An evaluation study of youth participation in youth work: a case study in Southern Italy. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice* 13, pp. 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-013-9150-8
- Mougne, Christine (2010). Trees Only Move in the Wind. A study of unaccompanied Afghan children in Europe. UNHCR: Policy development and evaluation service 2010/05. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/research/evalreports/4c1229669/trees-only-move-wind-study-unaccompanied-afghan-children-europe-christine.html?__cf_chl_jschl_tk__=jJq_KbRT94pQ9zXPTI8pPWbJAY1gkZYtXZ zxbxb.7sE-1637682780-0-gaNycGzNCv0 [last accessed 23.11.2021].
- Mukherjee, S. Romi (2011). Fragments and fissures: towards a political anthropology of the global. *International Social Science Journal* 61(202), pp. 339–350. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2451.2011.01777.x
- Mulinari, Diana; Keskinen, Suvi; Irni, Sari & Tuori, Salla 2009. Introduction: Postcolonialism and the Nordic Models of Welfare and Gender. In Keskinen, Suvi; Tuori, Salla; Irni, Sari & Mulinari, Diana (eds.): *Complying with Colonialism: Gender, Race and Ethnicity in the Nordic Region*. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 1–16.
- Mulinari, Diana & Neergaard, Anders (2017). Theorising Racism: Exploring the Swedish racial regime. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 7(2), pp. 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1515/njmr-2017-0016

- Muraja, Tuomas 2015. Uusnatsit hyökkäsivät tavarataloon ja pahoinpitelivät kolme ihmistä Jyväskylässä 32 otettiin kiinni [Neo-Nazis Attacked A Department Store And Beat Up Three People In Jyväskylä—32 Were Caught]. *Helsingin Sanomat* 1.8.2015. Available at http://www.hs.fi/kotimaa/a1438394131983 [last accessed 26.8.2015].
- Murphy, Elizabeth & Dingwall, Robert (2001). The Ethics of Ethnography. In Atkinson, Paul; Coffey, Amanda; Delamont, Sara; Lofland, John & Lofland, Lyn (eds.): Handbook of Ethnography. London: Sage Publications Ltd, pp. 339–351. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781848608337.n23
- Murphy, Elizabeth & Dingwall, Robert (2007). Informed consent, anticipatory regulation and ethnographic practice. *Social Science & Medicine* 65, pp. 2223–2234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.08.008
- Myrskylä, Pekka (2012). Hukassa Keitä ovat syrjäytyneet nuoret? [Lost—Who Are the Marginalized Youth?] Elinkeinoelämän valtuuskunta, analyysit. Available at: https://www.eva.fi/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Syrjaytyminen.pdf [last accessed 9.11.2020].
- Nadim, Marjan (2017). Ascribed representation: Ethnic and religious minorities in the mediated public sphere. In Midtbøen, Arnfinn H.; Steen-Johnsen, Kari; Thorbjørnsrud, Kjersti (eds.): Boundary Struggles: Contestations of Free Speech in the Norwegian Public Sphere. Oslo: Cappelen Damm Akademisk, pp. 229–256. Available at: https://press.nordicopenaccess.no/index.php/noasp/catalog/book/16 [last accessed 24.8.2018].
- Ngcobo, Ayanda (2018). The Politics of Representation in South African Museums. *ICOFOM Study Series* 46, pp. 147–166. Available at https://journals.openedition.org/iss/1058 [last accessed 31.3.2020]. https://doi.org/10.4000/iss.1058
- Nieminen, Suvi (2011). Kuulumisen politiikkaa: maahanmuuttajasairaanhoitajat, ammattikuntaan sisäänpääsy ja toimijuuden ehdot [Politics of Belonging: Immigrant Nurses, Access to the Profession and the Conditions of Agency]. Tampere: Tampere University Press.
- Nikunen, Kaarina (2015). Politics of Irony as the Emerging Sensibility of the Anti-Immigrant Debate. In Vitus, Kathrine & Andreassen, Rikke (eds.): *Affectivity and Race: Studies from Nordic Contexts*. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 21–41.
- Nisula, Tapio; Rastas, Anna & Kangaspunta, Kristiina (1995). Perinteen puhtaus ja somaliidentiteetti. Pakolaistytöt kulttuurinsa vaalijoina [The Purity of Tradition and Somali Identity]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 13(3), pp. 18–29.
- Non-discrimination Ombudsman (2020). Selvitys afrikkalaistaustaisten henkilöiden syrjinnästä [Report on the Discrimination of African Background Persons]. Avalaible at: https://www.syrjinta.fi/documents/10181/36404/Selvitys+afrikkalaistaustaisten+henkil%C3%B6iden+syrjinn%C3%A4st%C3%A4/47cdfad4-1fc5-4114-af0d-8a5d5999ffa1 [last accessed 10.6.2020].
- Nothias, Toussaint (2018). How Western Journalists *Actually* Write about Africa: Reassessing the myth of representations of Africa. *Journalism Studies* 19(8), pp. 1138–1159. http://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2016.1262748
- Ogbechie, S. Okwunodu (2008). "Afropolitanism": Africa without Africans II. In *AACHRONYM: Global African Arts with a focus on art-equity and cultural patrimony*. Available at: http://aachronym.blogspot.com/2008/04/afropolitanism-more-africa-without.html#!/2008/04/afropolitanism-more-africa-without.html [last accessed 11.10.2018].

- Olsson, Lennart; Jerneck, Anne; Thoren, Henrik; Persson, Johannes & O'Byrne, David (2015). Why resilience is unappealing to social science: Theoretical and empirical investigations of the scientific use of resilience. *Science Advances* 1(4), pp. e1400217. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1400217
- Olwig, Karen Fog & Hastrup, Kirsten (1997). Introduction. In Olwig, Karen Fog & Hastrup, Kirsten (eds.): *Siting Culture: The Shifting Anthropological Object.* London & New York: Routledge, pp. 1–14.
- Omi, Michael & Winant, Howard (1986). Racial Formation in the United States: From the 1960s to the 1980s. New York and London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Ong, Aihwa (1987). Spirits of Resistance and Capitalist Discipline: Factory Women in Malaysia. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Ong, Aihwa (1996). Cultural citizenship as subject-making: immigrants negotiate racial and cultural boundaries in the United States [and Comments and Reply]. *Current Anthropology* 37(5), pp. 737–762. https://doi.org/10.1086/204560
- Onodera, Henri & Zaidan, Ahmed (2021). "Miten ihmeessä Suomesta löytää töitä?" Kokemuksia tutkimuksellisen dokumenttielokuvan tekemisestä turvapaikanhakijoiden parissa ["How on Earth can one Find a Job in Finland?" Experiences of Making an Exploratory Documentary Movie with Asylum Seekers]. In Rättilä, Tiina & Honkatukia, Päivi (eds.): Tutkien ja tarinoiden. Kohti pakolaistaustaisten nuorten kestävää hyvinvointia [Researching and Narrating. Towards the Sustainable Well-being of Refugee Background Youth]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura, pp. 124–138.
- Oppedal, Brit; Guribye, Eugene & Kroger, Jane (2017). Vocational identity development among unaccompanied refugee minors. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations* 60, pp. 145–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2017.04.004
- Ortner, Sherry B. (2006). Anthropology and Social Theory. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Paakkinen, Erika (2016). Maahanmuutto ja julkisen sektorin työelämä [Immigration and Work in the Public Sector]. Keva. Available at: https://www.keva.fi/globalassets/2-tiedostot/tatiedostot/esitteet-ja-julkaisut/maahanmuutto-ja-julkisen-sektorin-tyoelama.pdf [last accessed 23.2.2021].
- Paakkunainen, Kari & Mykkänen, Juri (2021). Johdanto: nuorten poliittinen osallistuminen ja osallisuus kasvatuksen, talouskriisi-Euroopan ja antroposeenin ristipaineessa [Introduction: The Political Participation and Inclusion of Youth in the Rip Tide of Upbringing, the Europe of Economic Crisis and the Anthropocene]. In Paakkunainen, Kari & Mykkänen, Juri (eds.): Nuorisopolitiikka ja poliittinen nuoriso: objekteista subjekteiksi? [Youth Politics and Political Youth: from Objects to Subjects?]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura, pp. 7–28.
- Park, BoKyung; Qu, Yang; Chim, Louise; Blevins, Elizabeth; Knutson, Brian & Tsai, Jeanne L. (2018). Ventral striatal activity mediates cultural differences in affiliative judgments of smiles. *Culture and Brain* 6(2), pp. 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40167-018-0061-7
- Parkins, Wendy (2000). Protesting like a girl. Embodiment, dissent and feminist agency. Feminist Theory 1(1), pp. 59–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/14647000022229065
- Parkkinen, Pia (2020). Sudanista Suomeen lapsena muuttanut näyttelijä Geoffrey Erista: "Olen asunut Suomessa yli 25 vuotta ja tunnen itseni edelleen vieraaksi tässä yhteiskunnassa" [Actor Geoffrey Erista, who moved from Sudan to Finland as a child: "I have lived in Finland over 25 years and I still feel myself alien in this society." *Yle*

- *uutiset* [News of the Finnish Broadcasting Company] 27.9.2020. Available at: https://yle.fi/uutiset/3-11560683 [last accessed 28.9.2020].
- Passaro, Joanne (1997). "You Can't Take the Subway to the Field!": "Village" Epistemologies in the Global Village. In Gupta, Akhil & Ferguson, James (eds.): *Anthropological Locations: Boundaries and Grounds of a Field Science*. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, pp. 147–162.
- Pehkonen, Samu (2018). Impromptu facts and moral panic: the Roma people and local communities. In Ojala-Fulwood, Maija (ed.): *Migration and Multi-ethnic Communities: Mobile People from the Late Middle Ages to the Present.* Oldenbourg: De Gryuter, pp. 217–238. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110528879-010
- Pekkarinen, Elina (2015). Stadilaispojat, rikokset ja lastensuojelu. Viisi tapaustutkimusta kuudelta vuosikymmeneltä [Stadi-boys, Crime and Child Protection—Five Case Studies from Six Decades]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusseura.
- Personal Data Act (523/1999). Available at: https://finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/1999/19990523 [last accessed 4.2.2021].
- Peterson, V. Spike (2005). How (the Meaning of) Gender Matters in Political Economy. New Political Economy 10(4): pp. 499–521. http://doi.org/10.1080=13563460500344468
- Phillips, Anne (2007). Multiculturalism without Culture. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Pohjanpää, Kirsti; Paananen, Seppo & Nieminen, Mauri (2003). Maahanmuuttajien elinolot: venäläisten, virolaisten, somalialaisten ja vietnamilaisten elämää Suomessa 2002 [Immigrants' Living Standards: The Lives of Estonians, Somalians, and Vietnamese in Finland 2002]. *Elinolot* 2003: 1. Helsinki: Tilastokeskus.
- Pollock, David C. & Van Reken, Ruth E. (2001). *Third Culture Kids. The Experience of Growing up Among Worlds*. Boston: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- Puumala, Eeva; Maïche, Karim & Tuomaala-Özdemir, Salome (eds.) (2021). Naapurusto tarinoita moniäänisestä lähiöstä [Neighbourhood—Stories From a Polyphonic Suburb]. Helsinki: Into Kustannus.
- Puumala, Eeva; Väyrynen, Tarja; Kynsilehto, Anitta & Pehkonen, Samu (2011). Events of the Body Politic: A Nancian Reading of Asylum-seekers' Bodily Choreographies and Resistance. *Body & Society* 17(4), pp. 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034X11410453
- Puuronen, Vesa (2011). Rasistinen Suomi /Racist Finland/. Helsinki: Gaudeamus.
- Pöyhtäri, Reeta; Haara, Paula & Raittila, Pentti (2013). Vihapuhe sananvapautta kaventamassa [Hate Speech Narrowing Freedom of Speech]. Tampere: Tampere University Press.
- Rancière, Jacques (2016). Critical Questions on the Theory of Recognition. In Genel, Katia & Deranty, Jean-Philippe (eds.): Recognition or Disagreement. A Critical Encounter on the Politics of Freedom, Equality, and Identity. New York: Columbia University Press, pp. 83–95.
- Rapport, Nigel (2000). The narrative as fieldwork technique: processual ethnography for a world in motion. In Amit, Vered (ed.): *Constructing the Field: Ethnographic Fieldwork in the Contemporary World.* London & New York: Routledge, pp. 71–96.
- Rastas, Anna (2002). Katseilla merkityt, silminnähden erilaiset. Lasten ja nuorten kokemuksia rodullistavista katseista [Marked by Gazes, Visibly Different. Children and Young People's Experiences of Racializing Gazes]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 20(3), pp. 3–17.
- Rastas, Anna (2005). Rasismi oppeja, asenteita, toimintaa ja seurauksia [Racism—Doctrines, Attitudes, Action and Consequences]. In Rastas, Anna & Huttunen, Laura & Löytty, Olli (eds.): Suomalainen vieraskirja. Kuinka käsitellä monikulttuurisuutta [Finnish Visitor's Book. How to Handle Multiculturalism]. Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 69–116.

- Rastas, Anna (2005b). Racializing categorization among young people in Finland. *Young* 13(2), pp. 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1103308805051319
- Rastas, Anna (2007). Rasismi lasten ja nuorten arjessa. Transnationaalit juuret ja monikulttuuristuva Suomi [Racism in the Everyday Life of Children and Youths. Transnational Roots and Finland becoming Multicultural]. Tampere: Tampere University Press.
- Rastas, Anna (2013). Nimeämisen politiikka ja rasismin rajaamat sosiaaliset suhteet [The Politics of Naming and Social Relations Demarcated by Racism]. In Lehtonen, Mikko (ed.): Liikkuva maailma. Liike, rajat ja tieto [World in Motion. Mobility, Borders and Knowledge]. Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 153–175.
- Rastas, Anna (2019). The Emergence of Race as a Social Category in Northern Europe. In Essed, Philomena; Farquharson, Karen; Pillay, Kathryn; White, Elisa Joy (eds.): Relating Worlds of Racism. Dehumanisation, Belonging, and the Normativity of European Whiteness. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 357–381.
- Rastas, Anna & Koivunen, Anu (forthcoming). Marginaaleista museoihin [From Margins to Museums].
- Rogstad, Jon & Vestel, Viggo (2011). The Art of Articulation: Political Engagement and Social Movements in the Making among Young Adults in Multicultural Settings in Norway. *Social Movement Studies* 10(3), pp. 243–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/14742837.2011.590028
- Rosaldo, Renato (1994). Cultural citizenship in San Jose, California. *PoLAR* 17(2), pp. 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1525/pol.1994.17.2.57
- Rousseau, Cécile; Mekki-Berrada, Abdelwahed & Moreau, Sylvie (2001). Trauma and Extended Separation from Family among Latin American and African Refugees in Montreal. *Psychiatry* 64(1), pp. 40–59. https://doi.org/10.1521/psyc.64.1.40.18238
- Routley, Laura (2016). Teaching Africa, presenting, representing and the importance of who is in the classroom. *Politics* 36(4), pp. 482–494. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263395715618414
- Ruuska, Petri (2002). Kuviteltu Suomi: Globalisaation, nationalismin ja suomalaisuuden punos julkisissa sanoissa 1980–90 -luvuilla [Imagined Finland: Meshes of Globalisation, Nationalism and Finnishness in Public Words in the 1980–90s]. Tampere: University of Tampere.
- Rychlowska, Magdalena; Miyamoto, Yuri; Matsumoto, David; Hess, Ursula; Gilboa-Schechtman, Eva; Kamble, Shanmukh; Muluk, Hamdi; Masuda, Takahiko & Niedenthal, Paula Marie (2015). Heterogeneity of long-history migration explains cultural differences in reports of emotional expressivity and the functions of smiles. PNAS [Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America] 5/2015, 112(19), pp. E2429–E2436. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1413661112
- Rättilä, Tiina (2006). Nuorten (kunta)kansalaisuus valtasuhteena [Youth's (Municipal) Citizenship as a Power Relation]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 24(3), pp. 49–54.
- Rättilä, Tiina & Honkatukia, Päivi (eds.) (2021). Tutkien ja tarinoiden. Kohti pakolaistaustaisten nuorten kestävää hyvinvointia [Researching and Narrating. Towards the Sustainable Well-being of Refugee Background Youth]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura.
- Sadeghi, Sahar (2017). Racial boundaries, stigma, and the re-emergence of "always being foreigners": Iranians and the refugee crisis in Germany. *Ethnic and racial studies* 42(10), pp. 1613–1631. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2018.1506145
- Saukkonen, Pasi (2013). Maahanmuutto- ja kotouttamispolitiikka [Immigration and Integration Policy]. In Martikainen, Tuomas; Saukkonen, Pasi & Säävälä, Minna (eds.): Muuttajat. Kansainvälinen muuttoliike ja suomalainen yhteiskunta [Migrants. International Migration and Finnish Society]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus, pp. 81–97.

- Savonlahti, Sisko (2016). Historiantutkijan näkemys Peli poikki -mielenosoituksesta: Media huijasi tietämättömät mukaan banderolleissa vihapuhetta [A Historian's Interpretation of the Halt the Game Demonstration: How Media Tricked the Uninformed to Participate—Hate Speech on Banners]. Seura 28.9.2016. Available at: https://seura.fi/asiat/ajankohtaista/huijasiko-peli-poikki-mielenosoitus-viattomat-mukaan/ [last accessed 16.4.2020].
- Schclarek Mulinari, Leandro & Keskinen, Suvi (2020). Racial profiling in the racial welfare state. Examining the order of policing in the Nordic region. *Theoretical Criminology*, April 2020, pp. 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480620914914
- Scott, James (1985). Weapons of the Weak: Everyday Forms of Peasant Resistance. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Scott, Martin (2015). The Myth of Representations of Africa. *Journalism Studies* 18(2), pp. 191–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2015.1044557
- Sharma, Aradhana & Akhil Gupta (eds.) (2006). *The Anthropology of the State: A Reader*. Malden: Blackwell Publishing.
- Selasi, Taiye (2005). Bye-Bye Babar. *The LIP Magazine*, 3.3. 2005. Available at: http://thelip.robertsharp.co.uk/?p=76 [last accessed 1.10.2018].
- Silverstein, Paul A. (2005). Immigrant Racialization and the New Savage Slot: Race, Migration, and Immigration in the New Europe. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 34, pp. 363–384. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.34.081804.120338
- Slejpen, Marieke; ter Heide, F. Jackie June; Mooren, Trudy; Boeije, Hennie R. & Kleber, Rolf J. (2013). Bouncing forward of young refugees: a perspective on resilience research directions. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 4, pp. 20124. https://doi.org//10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.20124
- Smith Jervelund, Signe; Krasnik, Allan & Rosenkrantz de Lasson, Anne-Katrine (2020). Coming of Age in Exile. Health and Socio-Economic Inequalities in Young Refugees in the Nordic Welfare Societies. Copenhagen: University of Copenhagen. Available at: https://cage.ku.dk/publications/dokumenter/17665_MESU_CAGE_FinalReport_autospread_.pdf [last accessed 17.3.2021].
- Souto, Anne-Mari (2011). Arkipäivän rasismi koulussa. Etnografinen tutkimus suomalais- ja maahanmuuttajanuorten ryhmäsuhteista [Everyday Racism at School. Ethnographic Research about the Group Relationships of Finnish and Immigrant Youth]. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusverkosto/Nuorisotutkimusseura.
- Spencer, Jonathan (2007). Anthropology, Politics and the State: Democracy and Violence in South Asia. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Spivak, Gayatri Chakravorty (1988). Can the Subaltern Speak? In Nelson, Cary & Grossberg, Lawrence (eds.): *Marxism and the Interpretation of Culture*. Basingstoke: Macmillan Education, pp. 271–313.
- Spivak, Gayatri Chakravorty (1999). A Critique of Postcolonial Reason: Toward a History of the Vanishing Present. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Spivak, Gayatri Chakravorty; Landry, Donna & MacLean, Gerald (1996). *The Spivak Reader: Selected Works of Gayatri Chakravorty Spivak*. New York: Routledge.
- Statistics Finland (2021). Foreign Language Speakers. Available at: https://www.stat.fi/tup/maahanmuutto/maahanmuuttajat-vaestossa/vieraskieliset_en.html [last accessed 11.1.2021].
- Stepputat, Finn (2014). Governing the dead? Theoretical approaches. In Stepputat, Finn (ed.): Governing the dead. Sovereignty and the politics of dead bodies. Manchester and New York: Manchester University Press, pp. 11–32.

- Strathern, Marilyn (2004). Losing (out on) intellectual resources. In Pottage, Alain & Mundy, Martha (eds.): Law, Anthropology, and the Constitution of the Social: Making Persons and Things. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 201–233.
- Stratton, Jon & Ang, Ien (1998). Multicultural Imagined Communities. Cultural difference and national identity in the USA and Australia. In Bennett, David (ed.): *Multicultural States*. *Rethinking difference and identity*. London: Routledge, pp. 99–117.
- Suolahti, Eino E.; Manninen, Antero & Salo, Kalle (eds.) (1953). Kansakuntien Vaiheet. Maailmanhistoria Vanhasta Ajasta Nykypäiviin. V osa [Phases of Peoples. The World History from the Old Age to Modern-day. Part V]. Porvoo: WSOY.
- Tanu, Danau (2015). Towards an interdisciplinary analysis of the diversity of 'Third Culture Kids'. In Benjamin, Saija & Dervin, Fred (eds.): *Migration, Diversity, and Education: Beyond Third Culture Kids.* Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan, pp. 13–35.
- Taylor, Charles (1994). The Politics of Recognition. In Gutmann, Amy (ed.): *Multiculturalism:*Examining the Politics of Recognition. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, pp. 25–73
- TENK [Finnish National Board on Research Integrity] (2019). The ethical principles of research with human participants and ethical review in the human sciences in Finland. Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK guidelines 2019. Publications of the Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK 3/2019. Available at: https://www.tenk.fi/sites/tenk.fi/files/Ihmistieteiden_eettisen_ennakkoarvioinnin_ohje_2019.pdf [last accessed 30.4.2020].
- Tervo, Mervi (2014). From Appropriation to Translation: Localizing Rap Music to Finland. *Popular Music and Society* 37(2), pp. 169–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007766.2012.740819
- The Institute for the Languages of Finland (2020). *Kielitoimiston sanakirja [Dictionary of Contemporary Finnish.* Available at: https://www.kielitoimistonsanakirja.fi/#/ [last accessed 16.11.2020].
- Theis, Joachim (2009). Children as active citizens. An agenda for chidren's civil rights and civic engagement. In Thomas, Nigel & Percy-Smith, Barry (eds.): A Handbook of Children's and Young People's Participation. Perspectives from Theory and Practice. New York and Longon: Routledge, pp. 343–355.
- THL [Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos] (2018). Terveys- ja sosiaalipalvelujen henkilöstö 2014 [Health Care and Social Welfare Personnel 2014]. *Tilastoraportti 1/2018*. Available at: https://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/135915/Tr01_18.pdf?sequence=7 &isAllowed=y [last accessed 23.2.2021].
- Thomas, Nigel & Percy-Smith, Barry (2009). Introduction. In Thomas, Nigel & Percy-Smith, Barry (eds.): A Handbook of Children's and Young People's Participation. Perspectives from Theory and Practice. New York and Longon: Routledge, pp. 1–7.
- Ticktin, Miriam (2016). Thinking Beyond Humanitarian Borders. *Social Research: An International Quarterly* 83(2), pp. 255–271.
- Ticktin, Miriam (2017). Sorting Bodies at Border Walls. Talk at a seminar *Humanitarianism* and Body Economies, Danish Institute for International Studies [DIIS], 6.4.2017.
- Tiilikainen, Marja; Ismail, Abdirashid & Al-Sharmani, Mulki (2016). Somalialaiset perheet perinteiden, siirtolaisuuden ja sisällissodan välissä [Somalian Families between Traditions, Migration and Civil War]. In Fingeroos, Outi; Tapaninen, Anna-Maria & Tiilikainen, Marja (eds.): Perheenyhdistäminen. Kuka saa perheen Suomeen, kuka ei ja miksi?

- [Family Re-unification. Who gets Their Family into Finland, Who Doesn't, and Why?] Tampere: Vastapaino, pp. 43–63.
- Tokola, Nina; Rättilä, Tiina; Honkatukia, Päivi; Mubeen, Fath E. & Mustalahti, Irmeli (2019). "Haluan tulla nähdyksi huiviltani". Nuorten musliminaisten kokemuksia kuulumisesta työelämässä ["I Want to be Seen Despite my Scarf". Young Muslim Women's Experiences of Belonging in Work]. *Nuorisotutkimus* 37(2), pp. 21–35.
- Toivanen, Mari (2014). The Visual Lexica of (National) Belonging and Non-belonging in the Accounts of Young Kurds in Finland. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 4(4), pp. 192–200. https://doi.org/10.2478/njmr-2014-0027
- Trinh, T. Minh-ha (1989). Woman, Native, Other. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Tronto, Joan C. (1993). *Moral Boundaries: A Political Argument for an Ethic of Care*. New York and London: Routledge.
- Tsing, Anna Lowenthaup (1993). In the Realm of the Diamond Queen. Marginality in an Out-of-the-Way Place. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Tuominen, Pekka (2020). Historical and Spatial Layers of Cultural Intimacy: Urban Transformation of a Stigmatised Suburban Estate on the Periphery of Helsinki. *Social inclusion* 8(1), pp. 34–43. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v8i1.2329
- Tuori, Salla (2013). Enabling and disabling spaces within multicultural projects. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research* 3(1), pp. 36–39. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10202-012-0012-x
- Türegün, Adnan (2012). Rebuilding Professional Lives: Immigrant Professionals Working in the Ontario Settlement Service Sector. *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 14, pp. 597–614. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-012-0258-0
- Turjanmaa, Elina & Haikkola, Lotta (2020). Sukupolvet. Toisen sukupolven näkeminen maahanmuuttajina vaikeuttaa heidän kuulumistaan suomalaiseen yhteiskuntaan [Generations. Considering the Second Generation as Immigrants Hinders their Belonging to Finnish Society]. In Martikainen, Tuomas & Pitkänen, Pirkko (eds.): Muuttoliikkeiden vuosisata [A Century of Migrations]. Turku: Siirtolaisuusinstituutti, pp. 51–59.
- Tyler, Imogen (2006). 'Welcome to Britain'. The Cultural Politics of Asylum. *European Journal of Cultural Studies* 9(2), pp. 185–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549406063163
- Urban, Greg (2001). Metaculture: How Culture Moves through the World. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- v. Freiesleben, Mikaela A. (2016). Et Danmark af parallelsamfund: Segregering, ghettoisering og social sammenhængskraft: Parallelsamfundet i dansk diskurs 1968–2013 fra utopi til dystopi [A Denmark of Parallel Societies: Segregation, Ghettoization and Social Cohesion: Parallel Society in Danish Discourse 1968–2013 From Utopia to Dystopia]. Copenhagen: Københavns Universitet, Det Humanistiske Fakultet.
- Vaittinen, Tiina (2015): The Power of the Vulnerable Body. A New Political Understanding of Care. *International Feminist Journal of Politics* 17(1), pp. 100–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616742.2013.876301
- Valtonen, Kathleen (1999). The societal participation of Vietnamese refugees: case studies in Finland and Canada. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 25(3), pp. 469–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.1999.9976696
- Van Houtum, Henk; Kramsch, Olivier & Zierhofer, Wolfgang (eds.) (2005). *B/ordering Space*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Vedenpää, Ville (2015). Suomessa syntyy nyt omaperäistä englanninkielistä räppiä View ja Biniyam keräävät kehuja ulkomailla [The Current Development of English-language Rap in Finland—View and Biniyam Receive Plaudits Abroad]. Yle Uutiset [News of the

- Finnish Broadcasting Company] 1.12.2015. Available at: https://yle.fi/uutiset/3-8493601 [last accessed 8.10.2018].
- Verdasco, Andrea (2017). Understandings of self through the category of the 'unaccompanied asylum-seeking minor': a Danish ethnography. *Barn* Special Issue (2–3), pp. 43–47. https://doi.org/10.5324/barn.v35i2-3.3668
- Verdery, Katherine (1999). The Political Lives of Dead Bodies. New York: Columbia University

 Press
- Vertovec, Steven (2007). Super-diversity and its implications. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 30(6): pp. 1024–1054. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870701599465
- Vertovec, Steven (2009). Transnationalism. London & New York: Routledge.
- Vesa, Mikko (2016). Peli poikki -mielenosoituksessa nähty banderolli ihmetyttää ketä vastaan mieltä osoitettiin? [A Banner Seen in the Halt the Game Demonstration Surprises—Who was the Demonstration Against?] *Ilta-Sanomat* 25.9. 2016. Available at: https://www.is.fi/kotimaa/art-2000001268611.html [last accessed 16.4.2020].
- Vincent, Joan (2010 [1996]). Political Anthropology. In Barnard, Alan & Spencer, Jonathan (eds.): *The Routledge Encyclopedia of Social and Cultural Anthropology*. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 546–552.
- Vincent, Joan (2002). Introduction. In Vincent, Joan (ed.): *The Anthropology of Politics: A Reader in Ethnography, Theory, and Critique*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers Ltd, pp. 1–13.
- Väyrynen, Tarja (2019). Mundane peace and the politics of vulnerability: a nonsolid feminist research agenda. *Peacebuilding* 7(2), pp. 146–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/21647259.2019.1590081
- Väyrynen, Tarja; Puumala, Eeva; Pehkonen, Samu; Kynsilehto, Anitta & Vaittinen, Tiina (2017). *Choreographies of Resistance: Mobile Bodies and Relational Politics*. London: Rowman & Littlefield International.
- Wass, Hanna & Weide, Marjukka (2015). Äänestäminen osana poliittista kansalaisuutta. Maahanmuuttotaustaisten äänioikeutettujen osallistuminen vuoden 2012 kuntavaaleissa [Voting as Part of Political Citizenship. The Participation of Immigrant Background Eligible Voters in the Municipal Elections of 2012]. Ministry of Justice. Available at: http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-259-450-1 [last accessed 23.1.2020].
- Wernesjö, Ulrika (2011). Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children: Whose perspective? *Childhood* 19(4), pp. 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568211429625
- Westinen, Elina (2017). "Still Alive, Nigga." Multisemiotic Constructions of Self as Other in Finnish Rap Music Videos. In Leppänen, Sirpa; Westinen, Elina & Samu Kytölä (eds.): Social Media Discourse, (Dis)identifications and Diversities. New York: Routledge, pp. 335–360. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315624822
- Westinen, Elina (2019). Kuulumisen ja etnisyyden neuvottelua monimuotoisessa suomiräpissä [Negotiating Belonging and Ethnicity in Multiform Finnish Rap]. In Sykäri, Venla; Rantakallio, Inka; Westinen, Elina & Cvetanović, Dragana (eds.): Hiphop Suomessa: puheenvuoroja tutkijoilta ja tekijöiltä [Hip-hop in Finland: Contributions from Researchers and Authors]. Nuorisotutkimusverkoston julkaisuja 219. Helsinki: Nuorisotutkimusseura, pp. 232–267.
- White, Elisa Joy (2002). The new Irish storytelling: media, representations and racialised identities. In Lentin, Ronit & McVeigh, Robbie (eds.): Racism and anti-racism in Ireland. Belfast: Beyond the Pale Publications, pp. 102–115.
- Wilkinson, Sue & Kitzinger, Celia (eds.) (1996). Representing the Other. A Feminism & Psychology Reader. London: Sage Publications.

- Wimmer, Andreas (2008). Elementary Strategies of Ethnic Boundary Making. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 31(6), pp. 1025–1055. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870801905612
- Wood, Cynthia A. (2001). Authorizing Gender and Development. "Third World Women," Native Informants, and Speaking Nearby. *Nepantla: Views from South* 2(3), pp. 429–447.
- Wrede, Sirpa & Nordberg, Camilla (eds.) (2010). Vieraita työssä. Työelämän etnistyvä eriarvoisuus [Strangers at work. The ethnizising inequality of working life]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus.
- Wrede, Sirpa; Nordberg, Camilla & Forsander, Annika (2010). Etnistyvä eriarvoisuus ja keinot kohti tasa-arvoa [Ethnicizing Inequality and Means to Equality]. In Wrede, Sirpa & Nordberg, Camilla (eds.): Vieraita työssä. Työelämän etnistyvä eriarvoisuus [Strangers at work. The Ethnicized Inequality of Working Life]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus Helsinki University Press, pp. 274–281.
- Wynn, Lisa L. (2011). Ethnographers' Experiences of Institutional Ethics Oversight: Results from a Quantitative and Qualitative Survey. *The Journal of Policy History* 23(1), pp. 94–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0898030610000333
- Young, Iris Marion (1997). Deferring Group Representation. In Shapiro, Ian & Will Kymlicka (eds.): *Ethnicity and Group Rights: NOMOS XXXIX*. New York: New York University Press, pp. 334–376.
- Yuval-Davis, Nira; Wemyss, Georgie & Cassidy, Kathryn (2018). Everyday Bordering, Belonging and the Reorientation of British Immigration Legislation. *Sociology* 52(2), pp. 228–244. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038517702599
- Zanotti, Laura (2017). Reorienting IR: Ontological Entanglement, Agency, and Ethics. *International Studies Review* 19, pp. 362–380. https://doi.org/10.1093/isr/viw044

